
Document Number: 2733652 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM 
CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, 
ON MONDAY, NOVEMBER 3, 2025 AT 6:00 PM 

Watch Livestream at cnv.org/LiveStreaming 
View complete Agenda Package at cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 

The City of North Vancouver respectfully acknowledges that this Council meeting is held on the traditional 
and unceded territories of the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) and səl̓ílwətaɬ (Tsleil-Waututh) Nations. 

CALL TO ORDER 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, November 3, 2025

PROCLAMATIONS 

Veterans’ Week – November 5-11, 2025 

Indigenous Veterans’ Day – November 8, 2025 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, October 20, 2025

3. Council Workshop Minutes, October 27, 2025

PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 

CONSENT AGENDA 

Items *4, *5 and *6 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 

BYLAWS – ADOPTION 

*4. “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 2025,
No. 9126” 

*5. “Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142”

REPORT 

*6. Advisory Committee Terms of Reference Updates

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 

https://www.cnv.org/City-Hall/Council-Meetings/Council-Meeting-Live-Streaming
https://www.cnv.org/City-Hall/Council-Meetings/Council-Agendas,-Minutes-,-a-,amp;-Videos


THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 2 

REPORTS 

7. Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan

8. 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan

BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 

9. “Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, Amendment
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (Revised Financial Plan)

REPORTS 

10. Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition
Process

Correspondence from the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society,
October 15, 2025

11. Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St.
Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street

BYLAWS – FIRST READING 

12. “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025,
No. 9131” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, Land Use
Designation and Permitted Height Change)

13. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132”
(1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306)

14. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and
215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental Housing Commitments)

REPORT 

15. 2026 General Local Election Planning Update

PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 

COUNCIL INQUIRIES 

NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

NOTICES OF MOTION 

ADJOURN 



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 3 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, November 3, 2025 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Veterans’ Week – November 5-11, 2025 

Indigenous Veterans’ Day – November 8, 2025 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, October 20, 2025 
 
3. Council Workshop Minutes, October 27, 2025 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, 
No. 8500.”  The time allotted for each speaker addressing Council during the Public Input Period is 2 
minutes, with the number of speakers set at 5 persons.  Speakers’ comments will be audio recorded, 
as well as live-streamed on the City’s website, and will form part of the public record. 
 
Speakers may only speak on the same matter once in a 3-month period. 
 
Speakers during the Public Input Period are permitted to join the meeting in person in the Council 
Chamber or electronically via Webex.  There are 2 ways to sign up to speak during the Public Input 
Period. 
 

1) IN PERSON:  Speakers who choose to participate in person must sign the speaker list located 
outside the Council Chamber between 5:30 and 5:50 pm on the day of the Council meeting. 

 
2) ELECTRONICALLY VIA WEBEX:  Speakers who choose to participate electronically must 

pre-register by 12:00 pm on the day of the Council meeting by completing the online form at 
cnv.org/PublicInputPeriod, or by phoning 604-990-4234.  These pre-registrants will receive 
instructions by email or phone on the afternoon before the Council meeting. 

 
If a speaker has written material to accompany their comments, the material must be sent to the 
Corporate Officer at clerks@cnv.org no later than 12:00 pm on the day of the Council Meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period provides an opportunity for comment only and places the speaker’s concern 
on record, without the expectation of a response from Council.  Speakers must comply with the 
General Rules of Conduct set out in section 5.1 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and 
may not speak with respect to items as listed in section 12.25(2), including Zoning Bylaws for which a 
Public Hearing will not be held or is prohibited under section 464 of the Local Government Act. 
 
Speakers are requested not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded Public 
Hearing/Public Meeting or to Public Hearings, Public Meetings and Committee meetings when those 
matters are scheduled on the same evening’s agenda, as an opportunity for public input is provided 
when the particular item comes forward for discussion. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Your Worship” or “Mayor, followed by their surname”.  Councillors 
should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”.  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 4 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Items *4, *5 and *6 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, 

No. 9126” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 
2025, No. 9126” be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and 
affixed with the corporate seal. 
 

*5. “Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142” be 
adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the 
corporate seal. 

 
REPORT 
 
*6. Advisory Committee Terms of Reference Updates – File: 01-0360-01-0001/2025 
 

Report: Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer, October 15, 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate 
Officer, dated October 15, 2025, entitled “Advisory Committee Terms of 
Reference Updates”: 
 
THAT the revised Terms of Reference for the following Advisory Committees be 
approved: 
 

• Advisory Design Panel; 
• Advisory Planning Commission; 
• Community Safety Advisory Committee; 
• Heritage Advisory Committee; 
• Integrated Transportation Committee; and 
• Social Planning Advisory Committee. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 5 
 
FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
Re: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan – File: 05-1700-01-0001/2025 
 
Chair: Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 
Purpose: The purpose of the Finance Committee Meeting is to present the City of 

North Vancouver's Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan for consideration. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Presentation – Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan – Chief Financial Officer 
 

2. Public Comments – 3 minutes per speaker 
 

Members of the community are provided an opportunity to submit written 
comments prior to the Finance Committee Meeting or attend the meeting 
in person, by phone or by Webex. 

 
3. Questions and Comments from the Finance Committee 

 
4. Adjourn 

 
Recommendation to be considered under Item 7. 

 
REPORTS 
 
7. Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan – File: 05-1700-01-0001/2026 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, October 15, 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated October 15, 2025, 
entitled “Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan”: 
 
THAT Council provide feedback on the 2026 Draft Operating Budget, 2026 Draft 
Shipyards Budget, 2026 Draft Curb Access and Parking Budget, and Proposed 
New Items that reflect a baseline tax rate increase of 0.68%, transfers to Capital 
of 2.0% and New Items of 0.24%; 
 
THAT Council provide feedback on the 2026 Draft Cemetery Budget; 
 
THAT Council provide feedback on the 2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan; 
 
AND THAT the 2026 Draft Operating Budget, 2026 Draft Curb Access and 
Parking Budget, 2026 Draft Shipyards Budget, 2026 Draft Cemetery Budget, and 
2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan be adjusted on the basis of feedback received and 
brought back at a subsequent meeting for consideration.  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 6 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
8. 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan – File: 05-1715-20-0020/2025 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, October 15, 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated October 15, 2025, 
entitled “2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan”: 
 
THAT the amendments to the 2025-2029 Financial Plan for emerging priority 
projects to be funded from the General Capital Reserve Fund and Civic Amenity 
Reserve Fund be endorsed;  
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2530) an amount of $50,000 be appropriated 
from the Civic Amenity Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding the 2025-2029 
Revised Financial Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2531) an amount of $375,000 be appropriated 
from the General Capital Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding the 2025-2029 
Revised Financial Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2533) an amount of $4,950,000 be appropriated 
from the Parkland and Park Improvements DCC Reserve Fund for the purpose of 
funding the 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan; 
 
THAT funding in an amount of $200,000 be transferred to the “HJCRC Outside 
Consulting” project from the “Fire Hall Dormitory” project; 
 
AND THAT “Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (Revised Financial Plan) be considered for 
readings. 
 
Item 9 refers. 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
9. “Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, Amendment 

Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (Revised Financial Plan) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (Revised Financial Plan) be given first, 
second and third readings. 

 
 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 7 
 
REPORTS 
 
10. Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition 

Process – File: 13-6750-20-0006/1 
 

Report: Manager, Economic Development, October 15, 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Option 1 – City-Led Process: 
 
PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Economic Development, dated 
October 15, 2025, entitled “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 
Formation Bylaw and Petition Process”: 
 
THAT staff be directed to initiate a petition against process, in accordance with 
Section 213 of the Community Charter, for the proposed creation of the Central 
Lonsdale Business Improvement Area; 
 
AND THAT “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Service 
Establishment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138” be considered for first, second and third 
readings. 
 
OR 
 
Option 2 – Society-Led Process: 
 
PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Economic Development, dated 
October 15, 2025, entitled “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 
Formation Bylaw and Petition Process”: 
 
THAT staff be directed to inform the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement 
Area Society of the Petition for a Local Area Service process under Section 212 
of the Community Charter. 

 
 

Correspondence from the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society, 
October 15, 2025 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 8 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
11. Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. 

Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street – File: 08-3400-20-0160/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, October 15, 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated October 15, 2025, entitled 
“Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. 
Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street”: 
 
THAT the following bylaws be considered for readings and referred to a Public 
Hearing: 
 

• “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 
2025, No. 9131” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, 
Land Use Designation and Permitted Height Change); 

• “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132” 
(1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306); 

 
THAT notification be published in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue 
and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental Housing Commitments) be 
considered for readings; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits listed in the sections “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” and the off-site works and infrastructure improvements 
listed in the section “Off-Site Works and Infrastructure Upgrades” be delivered or 
secured through agreements, including those listed in the section “Legal 
Agreements”, prior to or concurrently with final adoption. 
 
Items 12, 13 and 14 refer. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST READING 
 
12. “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, 

No. 9131” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, Land Use 
Designation and Permitted Height Change) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 
2025, No. 9131” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, Land 
Use Designation and Permitted Height Change) be given first reading. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – November 3, 2025 Page 9 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST READING – Continued  

 
13. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132” 

(1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132” 
(1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306) be given first 
reading. 

 
14. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 

215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental Housing Commitments) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue 
and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental Housing Commitments) be given 
first reading. 

 
REPORT 
 
15. 2026 General Local Election Planning Update – File: 09-4200-20-0077/1 
 

Report: Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer, October 15, 2025 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate 
Officer, dated October 15, 2025, entitled “2026 General Local Election Planning 
Update”: 
 
THAT the report of the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer, 
dated October 15, 2025, entitled “2026 General Local Election Planning Update”, 
be received for information. 

 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
ADJOURN 
 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 
 

Document Number: 1914910 v4 

PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES 
 
The purpose of Public Hearings is to provide members of the public an opportunity to 
provide written submissions and make representations to Council regarding proposed 
changes to zoning bylaws, heritage designations or the Official Community Plan (OCP). 
Public Hearings are included as part of a Regular Council agenda and governed by the 
provisions of the Local Government Act. Recent changes to the Act provide that Public 
Hearings are prohibited in respect of some zoning bylaws and not required in respect of 
others.  
 
The purpose of Public Meetings is to provide members of the public an opportunity to 
make representations to Council regarding various issues and/or proposed changes 
that have never required a Public Hearing, such as a Development Variance Permit or 
Temporary Use Permit. North Vancouver residents can participate in the civic process 
of a Public Meeting on such permit matters that may affect their community, property 
and interests. These opportunities are generally held in conjunction with Regular 
Council Meetings.  
 
Subject to the provisions of the Act prohibiting or otherwise not requiring a Public 
Hearing on certain zoning bylaws, all persons who believe their interest in property is 
affected by a proposed bylaw or permit are afforded a reasonable opportunity at a 
Public Hearing or Public Meeting to be heard, voice concerns or present written 
submissions regarding matters contained within the bylaw/permit. Where a zoning 
bylaw will not be going to Public Hearing, written submissions are the only 
means by which the public may address the bylaw.  
 
All written submissions, regardless of whether a Public Hearing or Public Meeting is 
held, and all representations made at a Public Hearing or Public Meeting, will form part 
of the official public record.  Minutes of any Public Hearing or Public Meeting and a 
video recording of the proceedings will be posted on the City’s website at cnv.org. 
 
To provide written input:  All written submissions must include your name and 
address.  If this information is not provided, it cannot be included as part of the public 
record.  Email submissions addressed to the Corporate Officer at input@cnv.org are 
preferred, and hand-delivered or mailed submissions will also be accepted.  The 
deadline for submit written submissions is 12:00 noon on the day of the Public 
Hearing/Public Meeting or, in the case of no Public Hearing on a zoning bylaw, at 
a 12 noon on the day of the Council Meeting set for first reading of the bylaw. 
 
To speak at a Public Hearing or Public Meeting: 
 
In person at City Hall: On the day of the meeting, a sign-up sheet will be available in the 
lobby, outside the Council Chamber, from 5:30 to 5:50 pm.  Enter City Hall through the 
doors at the southwest corner of the building (off 13th Street) after 5:30pm. 
 
 
 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 
 

Document Number: 1914910 v4 

 
 
Via Webex/Phone: Pre-register by completing the online form at 
cnv.org/PublicHearings, or by phoning 604-990-4234 to provide contact details, so call-
in instructions can be forwarded to you. All Webex/phone pre-registration must be 
submitted no later than 12:00 noon on the day of the Public Hearing/Public 
Meeting. 
 
Non-registered speakers: Speakers who have not pre-registered will also have an 
opportunity to provide input.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES 
 
Comments from the public must specifically relate to the proposed bylaw/permit or 
subject of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting.  Speakers are asked to avoid repetitive 
comments and not to divert to other matters. 
 
Speakers will be asked to confirm their name for the record and will be provided one 5-
minute opportunity to present their comments.  Everyone will be given a reasonable 
opportunity to be heard and no one should feel discouraged or prevented from making 
their views known. 
 
Procedural rules for the conduct of a Public Hearing/Public Meeting are set at the call of 
the Chair.  Council’s main function is to listen to the views of the public regarding the 
change of land use in the proposed bylaw/permit.  It is not the function of Council to 
debate the merits of an application with speakers.  Questions from members of the 
public and Council must be addressed through the Chair. 
 
Once the Public Hearing/Public Meeting concludes, no further information or 
submissions can be considered by Council until the bylaw or permit is approved or 
rejected. 
 
Following adjournment of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting, the Regular meeting of 
Council reconvenes and the bylaw/permit is discussed and debated by members of 
Council, followed by consideration of third reading of the bylaw or approval of the 
permit. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Office of the Mayor 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BRITISH COLUMBIA 

Proclamation 
VETERANS’ WEEK 

Whereas Canada has grown into a vibrant country, a nation shaped by its 
people, their courage and their commitment to protecting and 
defending human rights whenever and wherever they are threatened; 

Whereas Peace and Freedom are not just words; they are values and beliefs 
worthy of sacrifice yesterday, today and tomorrow; 

Whereas Canada has a long history of helping defend and maintain peace 
around the world, with more than 125,000 Canadian Armed Forces 
members having served in international peacekeeping efforts in 
dozens of countries; 

And Whereas 
Canadian sacrifice and valour will be remembered for the
extraordinary efforts and sacrifices to offer a rich legacy of peace, 
freedom and identity; 

Now Therefore 
I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, do hereby
proclaim November 5 to 11, 2025 as Veterans’ Week in the City of 
North Vancouver, the traditional territories of the Squamish and 
Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 

So proclaimed on Monday, November 3, 2025 

__________________________________ 
Mayor Linda Buchanan 



Office of the Mayor 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BRITISH COLUMBIA 

Proclamation 
INDIGENOUS VETERANS’ DAY 

Whereas on Indigenous Veterans’ Day, we commemorate Indigenous veterans 
who, throughout their history of service, have made incredible 
contributions to Canada and countries around the world; 

Whereas Indigenous peoples have a long and deep history of military service. 
Approximately 12,000 First Nations, Inuit and Metis people served in 
the First and Second World Wars as well as the Korean War.  Today, 
there are as many as 2,700 Indigenous peoples in uniform; 

Whereas among those who returned from combat overseas, many faced 
discrimination, such as denial of benefits, loss of Indian Status and 
expropriation of their land.  For generations, Indigenous veterans 
were not recognized for their service; 

And Whereas 
the City of North Vancouver acknowledges Indigenous veterans,
whose bravery, courage, service and sacrifice helps protect the peace 
and freedom we enjoy today.  We pause, remember and honour all 
Indigenous veterans who have served and continue to serve; 

Now Therefore 
I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, do hereby
proclaim November 8, 2025 as Indigenous Veterans’ Day in the City 
of North Vancouver, the traditional territories of the Squamish and 
Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 

So proclaimed on Monday, November 3, 2025 

__________________________________ 
Mayor Linda Buchanan 



Document Number: 2730427 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM CITY 
HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON 
MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 

PRESENT 

COUNCIL MEMBERS STAFF MEMBERS 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor S. Shahriari 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO
B. Pearce, Deputy CAO
A. Cifarelli, Director, Legislative Services/Corporate Officer
J. Peters, Manager, Legislative and Election Services
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer
A. Pogosjan, City Solicitor
K. Magnusson, General Manager, Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks
M. Kwaterska, Manager, The Shipyards and Waterfront
M. Chan, General Manager, Planning, Development & Real Estate
S. Galloway, Director, Planning
D. Fergusson, Manager, Planning (City Design and Planning)
G. Schalk, General Manager, Public Safety & Fire Chief
A. Gibbs, Director, Communications & Engagement
S. Peters, Manager, Special Projects & Initiatives
T. Huckell, Legislative Services Advisor

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 

1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, October 20, 2025
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

R2025-10-20/1 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 

2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, October 6, 2025
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

R2025-10-20/2 

PROCLAMATION 

Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamation: 

Sister City Chiba – 55th Anniversary 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT the Public Input Period be extended to hear all the speakers listed on the sign-
up sheet. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

• Tony Rudner, North Vancouver, spoke regarding the upfront construction costs and 
the impact on small construction companies. 

• Lesley Henry, North Vancouver, spoke in opposition to the proposed TransLink 
development site. 

• Louise Nicholson, North Vancouver, spoke regarding the quality of life in North 
Vancouver. 

• Mike Tancredi, North Vancouver, spoke regarding a skate park feasibility study. 
• Wendy Chivers, North Vancouver, expressed concerns regarding the effects of 

installing parking meters. 
• Tooranj Amiri, North Vancouver, expressed concerns regarding the effects of installing 

parking meters. 
• Dariush Mehregan, North Vancouver, expressed concerns regarding the effects of 

installing parking meters. 
• John Christie, North Vancouver, spoke in opposition of the proposed TransLink 

development site. 
• Mohammed Rajaeieh, North Vancouver, expressed concerns regarding the effects of 

installing parking meters. 
• Patricia McClung, North Vancouver, spoke in opposition of the proposed TransLink 

development site. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
3. “City of North Vancouver Hydronic Energy Service Bylaw, 2004, No. 7575, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9116” (Schedule C and Other Fees) 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT “City of North Vancouver Hydronic Energy Service Bylaw, 2004, No. 7575, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9116” (Schedule C and Other Fees) be adopted, signed 
by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 
 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY CONSENT) 
R2025-10-20/3 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION – Continued 
 
4. “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2025, No. 9130” 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2025, No. 9130” be adopted, signed by the Mayor 
and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 
 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY CONSENT) 
R2025-10-20/4 

 
5. “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2025, No. 9144” (2025 

Capital Plan Funding) 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2025, No. 9144” 
(2025 Capital Plan Funding) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer 
and affixed with the corporate seal. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY CONSENT) 
R2025-10-20/5 

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

Cultural Programming Support Recommendations – Manager, The Shipyards and 
Waterfront 

 
Infrastructure, Transportation and Parks staff provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding 
“Cultural Programming Support Recommendations” and responded to questions from 
Council. 
 
REPORTS 
 
6. Cultural Programming Support Recommendations – File: 01-0360-20-0117/2025 
 

Report: Manager, The Shipyards and Waterfront, October 1, 2025 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, The Shipyards and Waterfront, dated 
October 1, 2025, entitled “Cultural Programming Support Recommendations”: 
 
THAT staff be directed to undertake three pilot initiatives to support local cultural 
organizations in event and festival production, which include: 
 

Continued… 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

REPORTS – Continued 
 
6. Cultural Programming Support Recommendations – File: 01-0360-20-0117/2025  
 – Continued 
 

• Contribute: Establish a grant program to support local cultural organizations; 
• Facilitate: Offer information sessions and collaborative workshops to build 

capacity and strengthen local participation; and 
• Amplify: Launch a City-led marketing campaign to showcase cultural impact 

and engage residents; 
 
AND THAT, following grant criteria development, staff return to Council as part of the 
2026-2030 Financial Planning process, with a request for the additional funds to 
support the pilot project. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
R2025-10-20/6 

 
7. Provincial Legislation Alignment: Regional Context Statement – File: 13-6500-20-0001/1 
 

Report: Manager, Planning (City Design and Planning), October 1, 2025 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Planning (City Design and Planning), dated 
October 1, 2025, entitled “Provincial Legislation Alignment: Regional Context 
Statement”: 
 
THAT “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 
9141” (City Initiated Amendment to Update Regional Context Statement) be 
considered for readings and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
AND THAT notification be published in accordance with the Local Government Act. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
R2025-10-20/7 

 
BYLAW – FIRST READING 
 
8. “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9141” 

(City Initiated Amendment to Update Regional Context Statement) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Shahriari 
 

THAT “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 
9141” (City Initiated Amendment to Update Regional Context Statement) be given first 
reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
R2025-10-20/8 

 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

REPORT AND BYLAW – THIRD READING, AS AMENDED 
 
9. Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds (“Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 

2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126”) – File: 09-3900-30-0010/1 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, October 1, 2025 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated October 1, 2025, entitled 
“Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds”: 
 
THAT third reading of “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126” be rescinded; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, 
No. 9126” be amended as follows: 
 

(a) In Section 3.B., by deleting the words “prior to the approval” and replacing 
them with “at the time of approval”; 

 
(b) in Schedule “A”, by deleting the words “Protection Services (Fire & Police)” 

and replacing them with “Fire Services”; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, 
No. 9126” be given third reading, as amended; 
 
AND THAT “Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142” be 
considered for readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
R2025-10-20/9 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142” 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charges Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142” be given 
first, second and third readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
R2025-10-20/10 

 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
11. Veterans Licence Plate Parking Fee Exemption – File: 11-5480-08-0001/2025 
 
 Submitted by Councillor Bell 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 

 
WHEREAS the dedication, sacrifice and service veterans have made and continue to 
make to and for our Country are recognized in many ways, including the provision for 
Veterans Vehicle Licence Plates in many provinces in Canada; 
 
WHEREAS the Province of British Columbia provides such vehicle licence plates to 
eligible veterans in our province; 
 
AND WHEREAS several municipalities in the Metro Vancouver area provide special 
exclusion from municipal paid parking programs; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City of North Vancouver exempt veterans 
with BC Veterans Vehicle Licence Plates from City pay parking fees and requirements, 
while time limits and any other posted regulations would still apply. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

R2025-10-20/11 
 

PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
Nil. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 7 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant to the 
Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(e) [land matter], 90(1)(j) [information privacy] and 
90(1)(k) [contract negotiations/proposed service]. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, at 7:26 pm and 
reconvened at 8:22 pm with all members of Council present. 
 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

THAT the actions directed regarding the following items from the Committee of the 
Whole (Closed Session) of October 20, 2025, be ratified: 
 

12. Community Safety Advisory Committee – Pilot Extension – File: 01-0360-20-0120/2025 
 

Report: Public Safety General Manager and Fire Chief and Director, Legislative 
Services and Corporate Officer, October 1, 2025 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Public Safety General Manager and Fire Chief and the 
Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer, dated October 1, 2025, entitled 
“Community Safety Advisory Committee – Pilot Extension”: 
 
THAT the Community Safety Advisory Committee pilot be continued until December 
31, 2026; 
 
THAT staff be directed to make the necessary changes to the Community Safety 
Advisory Committee Terms of Reference to reflect the extension to the pilot;  

 
AND THAT the wording of the resolution be released and the report of the Public 
Safety General Manager and Fire Chief and the Director, Legislative Services and 
Corporate Officer, dated October 1, 2025, entitled “Community Safety Advisory 
Committee – Pilot Extension”, remain in the Closed session. 

R2025-10-20/12 
 

13. Contract Negotiations/Proposed Service – File: 01-0230-20-0016/2025 
 
Report: Public Safety General Manager and Fire Chief, October 1, 2025 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Public Safety General Manager and Fire Chief, dated 
October 1, 2025, regarding contract negotiations/proposed service: 

 
THAT the wording of the resolution and the report of the Public Safety General 
Manager and Fire Chief, dated October 1, 2025, remain in the Closed session. 
 

R2025-10-20/13 
 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 8 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of October 20, 2025 

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) – Continued 
 
14. Land Matter – File: 06-2380-01-0001/2025 

 
Report: Manager, Real Estate, and General Manager, Planning, Development 

and Real Estate, October 1, 2025 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Real Estate, and the General Manager, 
Planning, Development and Real Estate, dated October 1, 2025, regarding a land 
matter: 

 
THAT the wording of the resolution and the report of the Manager, Real Estate, and 
the General Manager, Planning, Development and Real Estate, dated October 1, 
2025, remain in the Closed session. 

R2025-10-20/14 
 

15. Land Matter / Contract Negotiations/Proposed Service – File: 02-0890-20-0044/1 
 
Report: Manager, Real Estate, and General Manager, Planning, Development 

and Real Estate, October 1, 2025 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Real Estate, and the General Manager, 
Planning, Development and Real Estate, dated October 1, 2025, regarding a land 
matter and contract negotiations/proposed service: 

 
THAT the wording of the resolution and the report of the Manager, Real Estate, and 
the General Manager, Planning, Development and Real Estate, dated October 1, 
2025, remain in the Closed session. 

R2025-10-20/15 
 

16. Land Matter – File: 06-2360-01-0001/2025 
 
Report: Manager, Development Services, October 1, 2025 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Development Services, dated October 1, 
2025, regarding a land matter: 

 
THAT the wording of the resolution and the report of the Manager, Development 
Services, dated October 1, 2025, remain in the Closed session. 

R2025-10-20/16 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:23 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
____________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



Document Number: 2732935 

MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL WORKSHOP HELD IN CONFERENCE 
ROOM A/B, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BC, ON MONDAY, OCTOBER 27, 2025 

PRESENT 

COUNCIL MEMBERS STAFF MEMBERS 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor S. Shahriari 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO
B. Pearce, Deputy CAO
A. Cifarelli, Director, Legislative Services & Corporate Officer
J. Peters, Manager, Legislative & Election Services
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer
R. McRaven, Manager, Corporate Planning
K. Magnusson, General Manager, Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks
M. Chan, General Manager, Planning, Development & Real Estate
E. Doran, General Manager, Corporate Services
S. Peters, Manager, Projects & Initiatives

The workshop was called to order at 6:00 pm. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 

1. Council Workshop Agenda, October 27, 2025
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

W2025-10-27/1 

MOTION TO SUSPEND THE RULES OF PROCEDURE 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 

THAT the Rules of Procedure be suspended for the purposes of informal consideration 
of the Workshop matters. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

PRESENTATION 

Performance Measurement Framework Update – Manager, Corporate Planning 

Finance and Economic Development staff provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding the 
“Performance Measurement Framework Update” and responded to questions from Council. 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Council Workshop Minutes of October 27, 2025 

RECESS TO THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE, CLOSED WORKSHOP 
 
Moved by Councillor Shahriari, seconded by Councillor Back 

 
THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Workshop pursuant to 
the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(k) [contract negotiations / proposed service]. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The workshop recessed to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Workshop at 7:09 pm. 
 
At 9:16 pm, Mayor Buchanan declared the Workshop adjourned. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
____________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126 Document: 2687400-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9126 

A Bylaw to amend “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charges
Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126”.

2. “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2015, No. 8471” is amended as follows:

A. By deleting the enacting clause in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

“WHEREAS pursuant to the Local Government Act, Council of the Corporation of The
City of North Vancouver may, by bylaw, impose development cost charges for the
purpose of providing funds to assist the municipality to pay the capital cost of providing,
constructing, altering, or expanding fire protection, police, solid waste, recycling,
sewage, water drainage, and highway facilities or of providing and improving park land,
in order to serve, directly or indirectly, the development in respect of which the charges
are imposed;

WHEREAS in fixing development cost charges imposed by this bylaw, Council has
taken into consideration future land use patterns and development, the phasing or
works and services, the provision of park land descried in an official community plan,
how development designed to result in a low environmental impact may affect the
capital costs of infrastructure and whether the charges:

a. are excessive in relation to the capital cost of prevailing standards of service in
the municipality;

b. will deter development in the municipality;
c. will discourage the construction of reasonably priced housing or the provision of

reasonably priced serviced land in the municipality; or
d. will discourage development designed to result in a low environmental impact;

AND WHEREAS, in the opinion of Council, the charges imposed by this bylaw are 
related to capital costs attributable to projects included in the capital expenditure 
program of the municipality; 

NOW THEREFORE Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in 
open meeting assembled, enacts as follows:” 

B. Immediately before Section 2, by adding the title “DEFINITIONS”.

C. In Section 2, by adding the following definitions:

“Apartment with 5 or more Storeys” means a building that is five or more storeys and
containing more than on dwelling unit and that is not a multiple unit.

“Dwelling Unit” means Dwelling Unit as defined in the Zoning Bylaw.



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126 Document: 2687400-v4 

“Multiple Unit” means a building that contains 2 or more dwelling units with each 
dwelling unit (other than lock-off suites) having a separate direct access to the 
outdoors. 
 
“Other Apartment” means a building that is less than five storeys and containing more 
than one dwelling unit and that is not a multiple unit. 
 
“Secondary Suite” means “Accessory Secondary Suite” as defined in the Zoning 
Bylaw. 
 
“Single Family” means a building that contains only one dwelling unit (and, for clarity, 
the building containing the dwelling unit does not also include a secondary suite). 
 

D. In Section 2, by deleting the definition for “Building permit” in its entirety and replacing 
it with the following: 

 
“Building permit” means a City building permit that authorizes the construction, 
alteration or extension of a building or structure. 
 

E. In Section 2, by deleting the definition for “Commercial” and replacing it with the 
following: 
 
“Commercial” means a building intended to be used for a use that is not an industrial 
use or residential use, including institutional uses, retail, professional services and 
office uses. 

 
F. In Section 2, by deleting the definition for “Industrial” and replacing it with the following: 

 
“Industrial” means a building intended to be used for an industrial use under the Zoning 
Bylaw. 

 
G. Immediately before Section 3, by adding the title “TIMING AND COLLECTION OF 

DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES”. 
 
H. In Section 3.B., by deleting the words “prior to the approval” and replacing them with 

“at the time of approval”. 
 

I. After Section 3, by adding a new section as follows and renumbering subsequent 
section numbers: 

 
“4. For a building intended to be used for more than one use type among residential, 

commercial and industrial uses, the development cost charges payable shall be 
calculated separately for each portion of the building containing a different use 
type.” 

 
J. Immediately before Section 5, by adding the title “EXEMPTIONS FROM 

DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES”. 
 

K. In Section 5, by deleting the sentence in its entirety and replacing it with the following: 
 

“No development cost charges are payable in any of the following circumstances:” 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126 Document: 2687400-v4 

L. In Section 5C, by deleting the paragraph in its entirety and replacing it with the 
following: 

 
“In relation to the construction, alteration or extension of self-contained dwelling units 
in a building authorized under a building permit if the size of each dwelling unit is 29 
square metres or less and each dwelling unit is to be put to no other use other than 
the residential use in those dwelling units; or” 

 
M. In Section 5E, by deleting the paragraph in its entirety and replacing it with the 

following: 
 

“The building permit authorizes the construction, alternation or extension of a building 
that will, after the construction, alteration or extension, contain fewer than four self-
contained dwelling units and be put to no other use than the residential use in those 
dwelling units; or” 

 
N. In Section 5, by adding subsection F as follows: 

 
F. “The development does not impose any new capital cost burdens on the 

municipality.” 
 

O. By deleting Schedule “A” in its entirety and replacing it with the new Schedule “A” 
attached to this bylaw. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 14th day of July, 2025. 

READ a second time on the 14th day of July, 
2025. 

READ a third time on the 14th day of July, 2025. 

RESCINDED third reading on the 20th day of 
October, 2025. 

READ a third time, as amended, on the 20th day 
of October, 2025.  

RECEIVED APPROVAL FROM THE 
INSPECTOR OF MUNICIPALITIES, pursuant 
to section 560 of the Local Government Act, on 
the 23rd day of October, 2025. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9126 Document: 2687400-v4 

Schedule “A” 
 
 

Service 

Residential Charge per Dwelling Unit based on Building Type Commercial Industrial 

Single Family Multiple Other 
Apartments 

Apartment 
with 5+ 
Storeys 

Charge per 
Square Metre 
of Gross Floor 

Area 

Charge per 
Square Metre 

of Gross 
Floor Area

Fire Services $1,098 $921 $779 $637 $8.56 $8.56 
Sanitary $1,101 $923 $781 $639 $8.58 $8.58 
Water $930 $780 $660 $540 $7.25 $7.25 
Storm Drainage $1,221 $1,024 $866 $709 $9.52 $9.52 
Parkland & Park Improvement $6,902 $5,789 $4,898 $4,008 $17.76 $17.76 
Solid Waste & Recycling $244 $205 $173 $142 $1.90 $1.90 
Transportation (Highways) $6,251 $5,242 $4,436 $3,629 $94.69 $56.80 
Total Charge Per Unit $17,747 $14,884 $12,593 $10,304 $148.26 $110.37 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142 Document: 2717404-v3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9142 

A Bylaw to establish development cost charges reserve funds 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charges
Reserve Funds Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142”.

2. Pursuant to section 188 of the Community Charter, Council hereby establishes the following
statutory development cost charges reserve funds:

A. Fire Services DCC Reserve
B. Sanitary DCC Reserve
C. Water DCC Reserve
D. Storm Drainage DCC Reserve
E. Parkland & Park Improvement DCC Reserve
F. Solid Waste & Recycling DCC Reserve
G. Transportation DCC Reserve

3. All monies paid to the City under “Development Cost Charge Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471” for fire
services, sanitary, water, storm drainage, parkland and park improvement, solid waste and
recycling, and transportation shall be deposited into the applicable DCC Reserve Fund that
corresponds to the purpose for which the development cost charge was imposed.

4. In accordance with section 566(2) of the Local Government Act, money in the DCC Reserve
Funds, including interest earned or accrued, may be used and expended only for the
following:

A. To pay capital costs of projects or capital works related to the purpose for which the
development cost charge was imposed;

B. To pay principal and interest on a debt incurred by the City as a result of an
expenditure under paragraph 4(A); or

C. To pay in person subject to a development cost charge for some or all of the capital
costs the person incurred in completing a project described in 4(A) if:

(1) the project was completed under an agreement between the person and the City;
and

(2) the project is included in the calculation used to determine the amount of that
development cost charge.



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9142 Document: 2717404-v3 

5. If any portion of this bylaw is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the 
invalid portion must be severed, and the remainder of the Bylaw is deemed to have been 
adopted without the severed section, subject, paragraph, subparagraph, clause or phrase. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of October, 
2025. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of 
October, 2025. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of October, 
2025. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



Document Number: 2718029 

_________ 
General 
Manager 

_________ 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
  OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Amelia Cifarelli, Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer 

Subject: ADVISORY COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE UPDATES 

Date: October 15, 2025 File No:  01-0360-01-0001/2025 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.  Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate 
Officer, dated October 15, 2025, entitled “Advisory Committee Terms of 
Reference Updates”: 

THAT the revised Terms of Reference for the following Advisory Committees be 
approved: 

• Advisory Design Panel;
• Advisory Planning Commission;
• Community Safety Advisory Committee;
• Heritage Advisory Committee;
• Integrated Transportation Committee; and
• Social Planning Advisory Committee.

ATTACHMENTS 

Tracked Changes versions of Terms of Reference for: 

1. Advisory Design Panel (CityDocs 2610760)
2. Advisory Planning Commission (CityDocs 2607085)
3. Community Safety Advisory Committee (CityDocs 2610716)
4. Heritage Advisory Committee (CityDocs 2607236)
5. Integrated Transportation Committee (CityDocs 2606328)
6. Social Planning Advisory Committee (CityDocs 2608214)



REPORT: Advisory Committee Terms of Reference Updates 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 3 

SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to introduce proposed changes to six Advisory Committee 
Terms of Reference for Council’s consideration. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Currently, the City’s guidelines for Advisory Committee members require the community 
members to be City residents. The Terms of Reference did not specify what was to 
occur when a member moved outside the City of North Vancouver. The current practice 
has been to allow members to remain on the Committee until they complete their term. 
Staff propose to formalize the process by adding language in each of the Terms of 
Reference to allow a member to choose to either remain on the Advisory Committee 
until the end of their current term or resign if they move outside of North Vancouver. 
 
Additionally, Council passed the following resolution at the October 20, 2025 meeting 
regarding the extension to the pilot of the Community Safety Advisory Committee 
(CSAC): 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Public Safety General Manager and Fire Chief 
and the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer, dated October 1, 
2025, entitled “Community Safety Advisory Committee – Pilot Extension”: 
 
THAT the Community Safety Advisory Committee pilot be continued until 
December 31, 2026; 
 
THAT staff be directed to make the necessary changes to the Community Safety 
Advisory Committee Terms of Reference to reflect the extension to the pilot;  
 
AND THAT the wording of the resolution be released and the report of the Public 
Safety General Manager and Fire Chief and the Director, Legislative Services 
and Corporate Officer, dated October 1, 2025, entitled “Community Safety 
Advisory Committee – Pilot Extension”, remain in the Closed session. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
Staff have added proposed language to the six Terms of Reference, attached to this 
report, for Council’s consideration that states the following: 
 

“Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District of North 
Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North Vancouver during their term, the 
member can either complete their current term or resign from the Committee by 
providing written notice to the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or Chief 
Administrative Officer may permit an exception under special circumstances.” 

 
Additionally, the CSAC Terms of Reference have been updated to reflect the extension 
to the Committee’s pilot. 
 
 
 



REPORT: Advisory Committee Terms of Reference Updates 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 3 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications associated with the proposed new Terms of Reference. 
 
INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The proposed new Terms of Reference provides clarity for the members and staff in the 
case of when a member moves during their term of service. Departmental staff from 
Planning, Development & Real Estate, as well as Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks, 
have concurred on the changes to the Terms of Reference. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The updated Terms of Reference is consistent with the Vision and Goals in the Official 
Community Plan, as well as the Community Wellbeing Strategy to promote Council’s 
strategic priority for a Prosperous, Vibrant City for People. 
 
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 Amelia Cifarelli 
Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer 

 



Document Number: 2610760 V1 Page 1 of 4 

Advisory Design Panel 
Terms of Reference 

Committee 
Name 

Advisory Design Panel (ADP) 

Vision / Goal 
Statement 

To encourage a high-quality built environment throughout the 
community in support of Council’s strategic priority to foster a well-
built City for People. 

Mandate The ADP’s role is to consider and made recommendations on all 
applications for renovations, additions, or new construction for all 
development, except residential development of less than 6 dwelling 
units (other than those specifically referred by Council or staff), based 
on the following considerations: 

1. the relationship of the building(s) to one another, to the site and
to other properties in the immediate vicinity;

2. the impact upon the subject property and upon both natural and
man-made elements (rock outcrops, steep slopes, ravines,
watercourses, soil & trees, existing buildings and structures, etc.);

3. the mass or bulk and scale of the building(s);
4. architectural or design consistency;
5. the role and quality of the landscape architecture;
6. the impact in design terms, upon adjacent properties;
7. type and quality of exterior finishing and colours to be employed;
8. crime prevention through environmental design.

The ADP may make recommendations regarding Zoning Bylaw 
amendments while undertaking the foregoing considerations. 

If requested by Council or staff, the ADP may also consider and 
make recommendations in respect of major development proposals 
on public streets, parks, and other public properties, as well as sign 
applications not covered or allowed by the Sign Bylaw.  

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 1�



 Page 2 of 4 

Voting 
Members 

The Advisory Design Panel will be comprised of up to 10 voting 
members in accordance with the following provisions: 
 
1. Architect Members (up to 3, preferably living and working in the 

CNV, recommended by the AIBC and appointed by Council) 
2. Landscape Architect Members ( up to 2, preferably living and 

working in the CNV, recommended by the BCSLA and appointed 
by Council) 

3. Representative from the Business Community (1 appointed by 
Council from either the Urban Development Institute or the CNV 
Business Community) 

4. Representative from the Construction Industry (1, preferably 
working within the CNV, or at least on the North Shore, and not a 
member of UDI, appointed by Council) 

5. Representative from the Community at Large (1 CNV resident 
appointed by Council) 

6. Representative of the North Shore Arts Community (1 
recommended by NVRCC’s public art advisory committee and 
appointed by Council) 

7. Representative from the North Vancouver RCMP detachment (1 
designated by Officer in Command) 

Non-Voting 
Members 

The ADP will include 1 seat for the following non-voting members: 
1. Council Liaison (1 appointed annually by Council) 

Terms of 
Service 

The following terms are applicable to the Voting and Non-Voting 
Members of the Advisory Design Panel: 
1. Terms for all Voting Members other than the RCMP designate are 

for 2 years to a maximum of 2 terms (Architect members subject 
to AIBC consent for 2nd term). Mid-term vacancies may be 
addressed immediately or at the end of a term. 

2. Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District of 
North Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North Vancouver 
during their term, the member can either complete their current 
term or resign from the Committee by providing written notice to 
the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or Chief 
Administrative Officer may permit an exception under special 
circumstances. 

3. Terms for Council Liaisons and RCMP members are continuous, 
revolving 1-year terms, subject only to: 
a. the elected office or good standing of the member; and 
b. the designation of the member as the organization’s 

representative for the year or portion thereof. 



 Page 3 of 4 

Advisory 
Design Panel 
Resources 

The Panel shall have the following resources: 
1. Internal: 

a. Primary staff support and oversight will be the responsibility of 
the Director of Planning and Development. The Director or 
their designate will act as liaison between the Panel and an 
applicant 

b. Secondary staff support may be provided by other 
departments 

c. Clerical staff support will be provided by the Legislative 
Services Division of the DCAO’s Office 

2. External: As appropriate, representatives may be invited by staff 
from external governments or agencies to provide specialized 
knowledge and perspectives to the Panel. 

Chair A Chair is to be chosen annually from amongst the voting members. 
In the event of the Chair's absence, the Panel will select from 
amongst its voting members an Acting Chair.  

Quorum A quorum shall consist of 4 voting members, 1 of whom must be an 
Architect. If no Landscape Architect present, meeting may be 
postponed or landscape matters deferred to the next meeting.  

Attendance Members shall advise the Clerk of their intent to attend or to be 
absent from a meeting. Any member who is absent from three 
consecutive meetings of the ADP without leave of absence from the 
Panel, or a reason satisfactory to the Panel, shall by Panel 
resolution cease to be a member of the ADP. Section 144 of the 
Community Charter gives Council the power to rescind an 
appointment at any time. 

Meeting 
Frequency 

The Panel shall meet monthly subject to cancellation by the Clerk 
due to impending lack of quorum or matters for consideration by the 
Commission.  

Reporting ADP recommendations shall be communicated through staff along 
with annual reporting on work plan accomplishments, expenses and 
alignment of Council priorities with planned work for the coming year 
per City of North Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures, as 
amended from time to time. 

Governance* Community Charter and “Advisory Design Panel Bylaw, 1997, No. 
6839”, as amended. 
*Any conflict between this Terms of Reference and Bylaw 6839 shall 
be governed by the Bylaw. 



 Page 4 of 4 

Rules of 
Procedure 
and Conduct 

City of North Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures, as amended 
from time to time, including but not limited to:  
1. Advisory Body Appointee Agreement, to be signed at 1st meeting;
2. Respectful Communication Policy; 
3. Respectful Workplace Policy No. 203; 
4. Social Media Policy No. 212; 
5. “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” (excerpts applicable 

to Advisory Bodies). 

 
Adopted on February 10, 2025 



Document Number: 2607085 Page 1 of 3 

Advisory Planning Commission 
Terms of Reference 

Committee 
Name 

Advisory Planning Commission (APC) 

Vision / Goal 
Statement 

To provide a community perspective on general planning and land 
use issues in support of Council’s strategic priority to foster a 
Prosperous, Vibrant City for People. 

Mandate The Commission’s role is to provide advice on the community 
planning aspects of the following: 

(a) the Official Community Plan, including proposed amendments;

(b) Federal, Provincial, regional or neighbouring municipality
development plans which may affect the City's Official
Community Plan;

(c) zoning bylaws and amendments which are referred to the
Advisory Planning Commission by the Director of Planning and
Development under the authority of Development Procedures
Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343;

(d) matters respecting proposed bylaws and permits under Part 14,
Divisions 4-14 and section 546 of the Local Government Act that
are referred to it by Council or the Director of Planning and
Development;

(e) any other Community Planning matter referred by Council.
Voting 
Members 

The Commission will be comprised of up to 9 voting members in 
accordance with the following provisions: 

(a) Members of the Community at Large reflecting the demographic
diversity of the City, at least 2/3 of whom are City residents
(up to 9 appointed by Council)

Non-Voting 
Members 

The Commission will include 3 seats for the following non-voting 
members: 
(a) Council Liaisons (up to 2 appointed annually by Council)
(b) Representative from School District  No. 44 (1 designated

annually by SD44)

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 2�



 Page 2 of 3 

Terms of 
Service 

The following terms are applicable to the Voting and Non-Voting 
Members of the Commission: 
(a) Terms for Community Members are for 3 years to a maximum of 

2 terms. Mid-term vacancies may be addressed immediately or 
at the end of a term. 

(b) Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District 
of North Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North 
Vancouver during their term, the member can either complete 
their current term or resign from the Committee by providing 
written notice to the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or 
Chief Administrative Officer may permit an exception under 
special circumstances. 

(c) Terms for Council Liaisons and School District 44 members are 
continuous, revolving 1 year terms, subject only to: 
(i) the elected office or good standing of the member; and 
(ii) the designation of the member as the organization’s 

representative for the year or portion thereof. 
Commission 
Resources 

The Commission shall have the following resources: 
(a) Internal: 

(i) Primary staff support and oversight will be the responsibility 
of the Director of Planning and Development through their 
designated professional staff for the provision of: 
A. annual work plans in alignment with the Committee’s 

mandate, and 
B. agendas and meeting materials reflecting the annual 

work plans,  
in general support of the Committee; 

(ii) Secondary staff support may be provided by other 
departments 

(iii) Clerical staff support will be provided by the Legislative 
Services Division of the DCAO’s Office 

(b) External: As appropriate, representatives may be invited from 
external governments, agencies or organizations to provide 
specialized knowledge and perspectives to the Committee.  

Chair A Chair is to be chosen annually from amongst the voting members. 
In the event of the Chair's absence, the Commission will select from 
amongst its voting members an Acting Chair. 



 Page 3 of 3 

Quorum A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Commission’s voting 
members. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes following the 
time at which the meeting was to commence, the Clerk shall record 
the names of the members present at the meeting, and the meeting 
shall stand adjourned. 

Attendance Members shall advise the Clerk of their intent to attend or to be 
absent from a meeting. Any member who is absent from three 
consecutive meetings of the Committee without leave of absence 
from the Commission, or a reason satisfactory to the Commission, 
shall by Commission resolution cease to be a member of the 
Commission. 
 
Section 144 of the Community Charter gives Council the power to 
rescind an appointment at any time. 

Meeting 
Frequency 

The Commission shall meet monthly on the second Wednesday of 
each month, subject to cancellation by the Clerk due to impending 
lack of quorum or matters for consideration by the Commission as 
determined by the Director, Planning and Development.  

Reporting Committee recommendations shall be communicated through staff 
along with annual reporting on work plan accomplishments, 
expenses and alignment of Council priorities with planned work for 
the coming year per the CNV Advisory Body Procedures Manual. 

Governance* Section 461 of the Local Government Act 
Advisory Planning Commission Bylaw, 1990, No. 6138, as amended 
*Any conflict between this Terms of Reference and Bylaw 6138 shall 
be governed by the Bylaw. 

Rules of 
Procedure 
and Conduct 

City of North Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures Manual, including 
but not limited to:  
1. Advisory Body Appointee Agreement, to be signed at first meeting 
2. Respectful Communication Policy  
3. Respectful Workplace Policy No. 203  
4. Social Media Policy No. 212  
5. “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” (excerpts applicable 

to Advisory Bodies) 
*This refers to the most recent version. 

 
Adopted on January 27, 2025 



Document Number: 2606328 V1 Page 1 of 3 

Community Safety Advisory Committee 
Terms of Reference 

Committee 
Name 

Community Safety Advisory Committee (CSAC) 

Vision / Goal 
Statement 

To facilitate Council decision making on matters of public safety to 
advance Council’s Priority of being A City for People: an equitable, 
accessible and healthy community that is inclusive, welcoming and 
safe.  

Mandate The Committee’s role is to develop and test new ways to support the 
following longer-term goals: 

1. Help inform the development and implementation of a
Community Safety Strategy;

2. Increase the community’s feelings of safety;
3. Improve health and wellness through the reduction of safety risk;
4. Improve community resilience through collaboration of

community networks and resources;
5. Increase the delivery of public education to support safety

mindfulness;
6. Develop both physical and perceived safe spaces within the

community;
7. Build community capacity and empower our citizens with life

safety education and awareness;
8. Support vulnerable populations;
9. Develop and foster initiatives that focus on cultivating community

and cultural relationships to enhance cross-cultural and other
bonds which promote safety within the community; and

10. Provide the community with a forum for public input and the
ability to contribute to discussions on community safety priorities,
initiatives and safety issues.

Voting 
Members 

The Committee will be comprised of up to 11 voting members in 
accordance with the following provisions: 

1. Members of Council (2 appointed by Council)
2. Members of the Community at Large reflecting the demographic

diversity of the City (up to 5 appointed by Council with preference
given to Indigenous applicants)

3. Representative of the City of North Vancouver’s Public Safety
Division (1 designated by Director/Fire Chief)

4. Representative from the North Vancouver RCMP detachment (1
designated by Officer in Command)

5. Squamish Nation Public Safety Director (1 designated by SN)
6. Community Safety Manager from Tsleil-Waututh Nation (1

designated by TWN)

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 3�



 Page 2 of 3 

Non-Voting 
Members 

None 

Terms of 
Service 

The following terms are applicable to the Voting and Non-Voting 
Members of the Committee: 
1. Terms for Community Members are for 2 years to a maximum of 

2 terms*. (*For the pilot extension in 2026, Committee 
appointments will only be one year. Following the pilot extension, 
the terms of appointment will follow provision 1, listed above.)). 
Mid-term vacancies may be addressed immediately or at the end 
of a term. 

2. Terms for Council Liaisons are for 1 year. 
3. All other terms are ongoing (after pilot extension is completed at 

the end of 2026). 
4. Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District of 

North Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North Vancouver 
during their term, the member can either complete their current 
term or resign from the Committee by providing written notice to 
the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or Chief 
Administrative Officer may permit an exception under special 
circumstances. 

Committee 
Resources 

The Committee shall have the following resources: 
1. Primary staff support and oversight will be the responsibility of the 

Public Safety Director and Fire Chief or their designate 
2. Clerical staff support will be provided by the Legislative Services 

Division of the DCAO’s Office 
Chair One of the Council members will serve as Chair and the other will 

serve as Vice-Chair.  
Quorum A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Committee’s voting 

members. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes following the 
time at which the meeting was to commence, the Committee Clerk 
shall record the names of the members present at the meeting, and 
the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

Attendance Any representative member who, without an excused absence, fails 
to attend three (3) consecutive meetings will have their membership 
reviewed by the Chair. A request for an excused absence must be 
submitted to the Chair at least 24 hours prior to a scheduled meeting 
of the Committee and may be reviewed by the Committee at the 
discretion of the Chair.  
 
Section 144 of the Community Charter gives Council the power to 
rescind an appointment at any time. 

Deleted: First year pilot – if continued, second year for 
CMs

Deleted: 1st year 



 Page 3 of 3 

Meeting 
Frequency 

The Committee shall meet monthly on the second Tuesday of each 
month, subject to cancellation by the Committee Clerk due to 
impending lack of quorum or lack of matters for consideration by the 
Committee.  

Reporting Committee recommendations shall be communicated through staff 
along with annual reporting on work plan accomplishments, 
expenses and alignment of Council priorities with planned work for 
the coming year per CNV Advisory Body Procedures. 

Governance Community Charter; section 142 

Rules of 
Procedure 
and Conduct 

City of North Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures*, including but 
not limited to:  
1. Advisory Body Appointee Agreement, to be signed at first meeting 
2. Respectful Communication Policy  
3. Respectful Workplace Policy No. 203  
4. Social Media Policy No. 212  
5. Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500 (excerpts applicable to 

Advisory Bodies); 
*This refers to the most recent version. 

 
Adopted on <> 



Document Number: 2607236 Page 1 of 3 

Heritage Advisory Committee 
Terms of Reference 

Committee 
Name 

Heritage Advisory Committee (HAC) 

Vision / Goal 
Statement 

To provide community perspectives on heritage awareness and 
conservation in support of Council’s strategic priority to foster a 
Vibrant City where dynamic public spaces and places provide 
opportunities for connection and enable residents to engage with 
their community, and celebrate their culture and history. 

Mandate The Committee’s role is to provide recommendations on matters 
referred by Council or staff related to the City's Heritage Program 
including: 

(a) support for heritage education and public awareness through
programs such as Heritage Week displays, heritage awards, and
the heritage plaque program;

(b) maintenance of the community heritage register;
(c) planning applications pertaining to heritage property;
(d) land use and planning matters that have potential heritage

implications.

Voting 
Members 

The Committee will be comprised of up to 5 voting members in 
accordance with the following provisions: 
(a) members of the Community at Large reflecting the demographic

diversity of the City and being either residents of the City or
owners of property listed in the City of North Vancouver Heritage
Register (up to 4 appointed by Council);

(b) member of the AIBC (1 recommended by AIBC and appointed
by Council)

Non-Voting 
Members 

The Committee will include 1 seat for the following non-voting 
member: 
(a) Council Liaison (1 appointed annually by Council)

Terms of 
Service 

The following terms are applicable to the Voting and Non-Voting 
Members of the Committee: 
(a) Terms for Architect Members are for 2 years (renewable once,

subject to AIBC consent).
(b) Terms for Community Members are for 2 years to a maximum of

4 terms.
(c) Terms for Council Liaisons are for 1 year.
(d) Mid-term vacancies may be addressed immediately or at the

end of a term.
(e) Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District

of North Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 4�



 Page 2 of 3 

Vancouver during their term, the member can either complete 
their current term or resign from the Committee by providing 
written notice to the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or 
Chief Administrative Officer may permit an exception under 
special circumstances. 

Committee 
Resources 

The Committee shall have the following resources: 
(a) Primary staff support and oversight will be the responsibility of 

the Director of Planning and Development through their 
designated professional staff for the provision of: 
(i) annual work plans in alignment with the Committee’s 

mandate, and 
(ii) agendas and meeting materials reflecting annual work 

plans,  
in general support of the Committee; 

(b) Clerical staff support will be provided by the Legislative Services 
Division of the DCAO’s Office 

Chair A Chair is to be chosen annually from amongst the voting members. 
In the event of the Chair's absence, the Committee will select from 
amongst its voting members an Acting Chair. 

Quorum A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Committee’s voting 
members. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes following the 
time at which the meeting was to commence, the Committee Clerk 
shall record the names of the members present at the meeting, and 
the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

Attendance Members shall advise the Committee Clerk of their intent to attend 
or to be absent from a meeting. Any member who is absent from 
three consecutive meetings of the Committee without leave of 
absence from the Committee, or a reason satisfactory to the 
Committee, shall by Committee resolution cease to be a member of 
the Committee. 

Section 144 of the Community Charter gives Council the power to 
rescind an appointment at any time. 

Meeting 
Frequency 

The Committee shall meet monthly subject to cancellation by the 
Committee Clerk due to impending lack of quorum or lack of matters 
for consideration by the Committee, as determined by the Director, 
Planning and Development.  

Reporting Committee recommendations shall be communicated through staff 
along with annual reporting on work plan accomplishments, 
expenses and alignment of Council priorities with planned work for 
the coming year per City of North Vancouver Advisory Body 
Procedures, as amended from time to time. 



 Page 3 of 3 

Governance Community Charter, section 142; and  
Heritage Advisory Committee Bylaw, 2025, No.9109 
*Any conflict between this Terms of Reference and Bylaw 9109 shall 
be governed by the Bylaw. 

Rules of 
Procedure 
and Conduct 

Procedure and conduct shall be in accordance with the City of North 
Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures, as amended from time to 
time, including but not limited to:  
(a) Advisory Body Appointee Agreement, to be signed at first 

meeting 
(b) Respectful Communication Policy  
(c) Respectful Workplace Policy No. 203  
(d) Social Media Policy No. 212  
(e) “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” (excerpts applicable 

to Advisory Bodies) 
 
Adopted on January 27, 2025 



Document Number: 2606328 V1 Page 1 of 3 

Integrated Transportation Committee (ITC) 
Terms of Reference 

Committee 
Name 

Integrated Transportation Committee (ITC) 

Vision / Goal 
Statement 

To provide input and feedback to the City on multi-modal 
transportation related matters in support of Council’s strategic priority 
for a Connected City, which provides active and sustainable ways for 
people and goods to move to, from and within the City safely and 
efficiently.  

Mandate The Committee’s role is to provide advice on multi-modal 
transportation matters within the City, including active transportation 
(walking, rolling and cycling), transit, vehicles and goods movement, 
as well as multi-modal integration. 

Items that may be referred to the Committee by Council or staff 
include:  
(a) Transportation or transportation-related capital and policy

projects, pilots and programs to:
(i) seek feedback on their alignment with the Mobility Strategy;

and
(ii) test or shape education and engagement materials for the

public;
(b) Unique, major or complex development applications that:

(i) fall outside of established City policy, such as the Official
Community Plan or Mobility Strategy; and

(ii) include unique opportunities for public realm improvements
or active transportation.

Voting 
Members 

The Committee will be comprised of up to 11 voting members in 
accordance with the following provisions: 

(a) Members of the Community at Large reflecting the demographic
diversity of the City and the perspectives of pedestrians, cyclists,
new mobility users, transit users, drivers, those in the goods
movement industry, those who use mobility devices and other
modes of transportation (9 appointed by Council)

(b) Representative from the City of North Vancouver Business
Community (1 appointed by Council)

(c) Representative from School District  No. 44 (1 designated
annually in September by SD44)

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 5�



 Page 2 of 3 

Non-Voting 
Members 

The Committee will include 4 seats for the following non-voting 
members: 
(a) Council Liaison (1 appointed annually by Council) 
(b) Representative from Squamish Nation (1 designated annually 

by Sḵwx̱wú7mesh) 
(c) Representative from Port of Vancouver (1 designated annually 

by Vancouver Fraser Port Authority) 
(d) Representative from North Vancouver RCMP (1 designated 

annually by NV RCMP) 
Terms of 
Service 

The following terms are applicable to the Voting and Non-Voting 
Members of the Committee: 
(a) Terms for Community Members and the Business Community 

representative are for 2 years to a maximum of 2 terms. Mid-
term vacancies may be addressed immediately or at the end of 
a term at the option of the supporting staff Director(s). 

(b) Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District 
of North Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North 
Vancouver during their term, the member can either complete 
their current term or resign from the Committee by providing 
written notice to the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or 
Chief Administrative Officer may permit an exception under 
special circumstances. 

(c) All other terms for voting and non-voting members are 
continuous, subject only to: 
(i) the elected office or good standing of the member; and 
(ii) the designation of the member as the organization’s 

representative for the year or portion thereof. 
Committee 
Resources 

The Committee shall have the following resources: 
(a) Internal: 

(i) Primary staff support and oversight will be the shared 
responsibility of the Director of Planning and Development 
and the Director of Engineering, Parks and Environment 
through their designated professional staff for the provision 
of the following in general support of the Committee: 
A. annual work plans in alignment with the Committee’s 

mandate, and 
B. agendas and meeting materials reflecting the annual 

work plans,  
(ii) Secondary staff support may be provided by other 

departments; 
(iii) Clerical staff support will be provided by the Legislative 

Services Division of the DCAO’s Office. 



 Page 3 of 3 

(b) External: Intergovernmental partners and transportation 
advocacy groups may be invited as appropriate to provide 
specialized knowledge and perspectives to the Committee.  

Chair A Chair is to be chosen annually from amongst the voting members. 
In the event of the Chair's absence, the Committee will select from 
amongst its voting members an Acting Chair. 

Quorum A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Committee’s voting 
members. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes following the 
time at which the meeting was to commence, the Committee Clerk 
shall record the names of the members present at the meeting, and 
the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

Attendance Members shall advise the Committee Clerk of their intent to attend 
or to be absent from a meeting. Any member who is absent from 
three consecutive meetings of the Committee, without leave of 
absence from the Committee, or a reason satisfactory to the 
Committee, shall by Committee resolution cease to be a member of 
the Committee. 
 
Section 144 of the Community Charter gives Council the power to 
rescind an appointment at any time. 

Meeting 
Frequency 

The Committee shall meet monthly subject to cancellation by the 
Committee Clerk due to impending lack of quorum or lack of matters 
for consideration by the Committee.  

Reporting  Committee recommendations shall be communicated regularly 
through staff along with annual reporting on work plan 
accomplishments, expenses and alignment of Council priorities with 
planned work for the coming year per the City of North  
Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures Manual, as amended from 
time to time. 

Governance Community Charter, Section 142 
Rules of 
Procedure 
and Conduct 

City of North Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures Manual, as 
amended from time to time, including but not limited to:  
(a) Advisory Body Appointee Agreement, to be signed at first 

meeting; 
(b) Respectful Communication Policy;  
(c) Respectful Workplace Policy No. 203; 
(d) Social Media Policy No. 212; 
(e) “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” (excerpts applicable 

to Advisory Bodies). 
 
Adopted on January 27, 2025 



Document Number: 2608214 V1 Page 1 of 3 

Social Planning Advisory Committee 
Terms of Reference 

Committee 
Name 

Social Planning Advisory Committee (SPAC) 

Vision / Goal 
Statement 

To provide community input on advancing the pathways of the 
Community Wellbeing Strategy, especially Pathway 6: Partnerships, 
Advocacy & Financial Supports with respect to the Committee’s role 
in reviewing community grants, helping promote Council’s strategic 
priorities for a Prosperous, Vibrant City for People. 

Mandate The Committee will: 
(a) Advise Council on community social needs (facilities, programs,

etc.), appropriate responses, and the allocation of community
grants.

(b) Review, monitor and advise on the City’s social and community
planning goals, objectives, policies and priorities as guided by
Council’s Strategic Plan, including consideration of the
Community Wellbeing Strategy and implications of major City-
led planning and development projects.

Voting 
Members 

The Committee will be comprised of up to 9 voting members in 
accordance with the following provisions: 

(a) Members of the Community at Large reflecting a diversity of
experiences and perspectives and the demographic diversity of
the City and (9 appointed by Council).

Non-Voting 
Members 

The Committee will include 1 seat for the following non-voting 
member: 
(a) Council Liaison (1 appointed annually by Council – member to

be excluded from consideration of grant applications)

Terms of 
Service 

The following terms are applicable to the Voting and Non-Voting 
Members of the Committee: 
(a) Terms for Community Members are for 2 years to a maximum of

3 terms. Mid-term vacancies may be addressed immediately or
at the end of a term at the option of the supporting staff
Director(s).

(b) Membership is contingent on residing within the City or District
of North Vancouver. If a member moves outside of North 
Vancouver during their term, the member can either complete 
their current term or resign from the Committee by providing 
written notice to the Committee Clerk. The Corporate Officer or 
Chief Administrative Officer may permit an exception under 
special circumstances. 

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 6
�



 Page 2 of 3 

(c) All other terms for voting and non-voting members are 
continuous, subject only to: 
(i) the elected office or good standing of the member; and 
(ii) the designation of the member as the organization’s 

representative for the year or portion thereof. 

Committee 
Resources 

The Committee shall have the following resources: 
(a) Internal: 

(i) Primary staff support and oversight will be the responsibility 
of the Director of Planning and Development through their 
designated professional staff for the provision of: 
A. annual work plans in alignment with the Committee’s 

mandate, and 
B. agendas and meeting materials reflecting the annual 

work plans,  
in general support of the Committee; 

(ii) Secondary staff support may be provided by other 
departments; 

(iii) Clerical staff support will be provided by the Legislative 
Services Division of the DCAO’s Office 

(b) External: As appropriate, representatives may be invited from 
external agencies and community serving organizations to 
provide specialized knowledge and perspectives to the 
Committee.  

Chair A Chair is to be chosen annually from amongst the voting members. 
In the event of the Chair's absence, the Committee will select from 
amongst its voting members an Acting Chair. 

Quorum A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Committee’s voting 
members. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes following the 
time at which the meeting was to commence, the Committee Clerk 
shall record the names of the members present at the meeting, and 
the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

Attendance Members shall advise the Committee Clerk of their intent to attend 
or to be absent from a meeting. Any member who is absent from 
three consecutive meetings of the Committee without leave of 
absence from the Committee, or a reason satisfactory to the 
Committee, shall by Committee resolution cease to be a member of 
the Committee. 
 
Section 144 of the Community Charter gives Council the power to 
rescind an appointment at any time. 



 Page 3 of 3 

Meeting 
Frequency 

The Committee shall meet monthly, subject to cancellation by the 
Committee Clerk due to impending lack of quorum or lack of matters 
for consideration by the Committee.  

Reporting  Committee recommendations shall be communicated regularly 
through staff along with annual reporting on work plan 
accomplishments, expenses and alignment of Council priorities with 
planned work for the coming year per the City of North Vancouver 
Advisory Body Procedures Manual, as amended from time to time. 

Governance Community Charter, Section 142 
Rules of 
Procedure 
and 
Conduct 

City of North Vancouver Advisory Body Procedures Manual, as 
amended from time to time, including but not limited to:  
(a) Advisory Body Appointee Agreement, to be signed at first 

meeting; 
(b) Respectful Communication Policy; 
(c) Respectful Workplace Policy No. 203; 
(d) Social Media Policy No. 212;  
(e) “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” (excerpts applicable 

to Advisory Bodies). 
 
Adopted on January 27, 2025 



2026-2030 Financial Plan
Finance Committee Meeting

Presented November 3, 2025
Finance



Summary
• A new Council Strategic Plan was completed in mid-2023

• A 2026-2030 Financial Plan is needed to support a 2026 Tax Rate Bylaw, 
which must be passed before May 15

• A Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan has been prepared and is summarized 
in this presentation

Increased non-tax revenue and tax roll growth keep the property tax 
increase lower than would otherwise be the needed

The Capital Plan is fully funded and maintains reasonable reserves to 
ensure financial resilience 

Net parking revenues invested in public safety programs

2



• Background

• Key 2026 Initiatives

• Financial Plan Overview

• Draft 2026 Operating Budget

• Draft 2026-2030 Capital Plan

• Summary and Next Steps

Outline

3



Background



Background

5

0
2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000

Surrey Coquitlam Burnaby CNV Richmond DNV Vancouver New
Westminster

DWV

2025 Taxes and Charges on a representative Single Family Residential Property

• CNV’s taxes are competitive in the region

Per The Province of BC’s LGDE schedule 704 – Taxes and Charges on a Representative House 2025



• Staff Presented a 2026-2030 Budget Outlook to Council in September that noted key 2026 tax rate 
drivers, most creating increasing budget pressures 

• Council provided feedback to staff:
– Taxpayer ability to pay in this economic climate is a primary concern
– Look to find efficiencies
– No appetite to decrease service levels
– Not looking to defer needed work (ie asset management) 
– Not looking to stop projects already underway, but be cautious with new initiatives

• Staff have prepared a draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan that advances Council’s Strategic Plan with the 
above feedback in mind

Background

6



Key Initiatives



8

Council’s Priorities

A Connected City  |  A Resilient City  | A Vibrant City  |  A Prosperous City  |  A City for People

City Services & OperationsOrganization
Enablers

A Responsible Organization
A Modern Organization
A Human Organization

Development  Services|  Public Safety
Utilities  |  Health, Social Services, & Housing

Transportation & Transit|  Parks, Recreation & Culture

CNV Workplan
Framework

The 2026-2030 Financial Plan funds initiatives that advance 
all of Councils Strategic Priorities.



9

A City for People

Harry Jerome Community Recreation & Silver Harbour Senior Activity Centre
• Scheduled for completion in Q2 2026
• Project remains within $230 million budget 

North Shore Neighbourhood House Phase 2 
• Includes 18-storey mass timber building with 179 rental homes (30% below-market rentals) 
• Construction expected to complete in 2028.

Development Approval Process Review Continuation
• Streamlining internal workflows, improving transparency, and enhancing customer 

experience; including acquiring new software to support these changes



10

A Vibrant City

Kings Mill Walk Park Implementation
• Park construction beginning in 2026 with flood protection works and foreshore 

enhancements

Lonsdale Great Street
• Reimagine, revitalize and repurpose Central Lonsdale Avenue as a “great street” to 

support commercial activity, enhance esthetics, walkability, vibrancy and history

City Wide Parks & Public Spaces Comprehensive Plan
• Taking a systems-based and data-driven approach to city-wide parks and public space 

planning. Currently collecting baseline data.



11

A Resilient City

Urban Forest Plan
• In addition to tree planting, includes wildfire mitigation, hazard tree abatement, rain 

water management, and creek health

Noise
• Monitoring stations were installed to measure noise pollution in the city and identify 

mitigations that contribute to a healthier urban life for residents

Rain Garden Program
• Modelling the system for resiliency planning; Closing gaps in the piped conveyance 

system, and introducing new raingardens



12

A Connected City

Eastside Connector
• Provides a clear connection between the Casano-Loutet Overpass and Grand Boulevard,  

including intersection improvements, upgrades to the cycle path and improved lighting.

Overpass from Casano to Loutet
• A new pedestrian and cycling overpass over Highway 1, linking the city’s Loutet and Cedar 

Village neighbourhoods

Priority Mobility: Lonsdale Highway 1 overpass
• Upgrades being explored to improve accessibility, safety and comfort for people using 

active modes of transportation



13

A Prosperous City

Health & Life Science Cluster
• Focused on attracting businesses and investment in the Health and Life Sciences sector in 

the Lonsdale area

Business Licensing
• Modernize the business licensing system and support continuous innovations in the 

delivery of City services to support businesses and attract investments

Strategic Land Stewardship Model
• Developing a list of target acquisition sites and identifying CNV properties for disposition, 

development or public use



14

Organizational Enablers

Modern Organization
• Website Replacement
• Land Data Management

Responsible Organization
• Corporate Planning Enhancements
• Asset Management

Human Organization
• Customer Experience Strategy
• E-Learning



Financial Plan Overview



2026-2030 Financial Plan Highlights

Harry Jerome CRC Revenue Growth DCCs Affordability

Biggest project in 
CNV’s history 
continues on 
budget and on 
track for opening 
in mid-2026

Tax rate increase of 
0.9% for operating 
programs, plus 2% 
for capital

16

Curbside 
Management to fund 
public safety 
improvement and to 
take pressure off tax 
rate increases

Updated Bylaw 
unlocks ability to 
fund Council’s 
priority projects



Efficiency Initiatives Underway

• Development Application Process Review Program Implementation
• Delegation of Authority Update
• Project Management, Creating a Centre of Excellence 
• Business Transformation Division Establishment
• Pool Vehicle Centralization
• Revenue Management Modernization
• Purchasing Cards Software Upgrade

17



Financial Plan Components
Increase/

(Decrease)20262025
$M’s

4.7114.2109.5Operating

0.81.50.7Curb Access & Parking

-21.521.5Water*

-36.136.1Sewerage & Drainage*

-4.44.4Solid Waste*

0.53.22.7Shipyards

0.10.70.6Cemetery

(23.6)64.187.7Capital Plan

4.666.261.6Collection for Other Organizations

(4.0)33.137.1Other Items

(16.9)345.0361.9Total

• 2026 Operating Budget 
informed by recent collective 
agreements

• Capital Plan decreasing due 
to large projects (HJCRC, 
NSNH, Kings Mill Walk, etc) 
being funded in prior years.

18

*Utility Rate Review anticipated to come to Council on November 17, 2025



Draft Operating Budget



% of total% IncreaseVariance $2026 Budget2025 BudgetRevenues ($000s)

38.04%3.20%2,80090,30087,500Property Value Tax
2.72%3.23%2006,4006,200Licenses and Permits

27.17%64.52%2,0005,1003,100Fines and Fees
0.00%0%01,2001,200Rent
2.72%4.00%2005,2005,000Interest and Penalties
0.00%0%01,1001,100Sale of Services
0.00%0%0100100Rebates and Recoveries
2.72%4.88%2004,3004,100Grants
-8.15%-54.55%-6005001,100Transfers
0.00%0%01,0001,000External Contributions
100%4.35%4,800115,200110,400Total Revenues

• Revenues excluding property taxes are increasing 4% in 2026

Property tax increase assumptions on slide 22

New parking revenue as well as annual 
update to Fees & Charges.

Draft Revenue

20



% IncreaseVariance2026 Budget2025 BudgetDepartment (000’s)

(2.5%)(187)11,03011,216Corporate Services
42.5%3,22722,73419,507Finance & Economic Development
1.8%13512,98512,851Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks
1.3%1013,3173,261Office of the Deputy CAO
1.5%11110,82710,715Planning, Development & Real Estate
0.2%131,2631,250Public Safety - Bylaw
2.1%16315,01414,852Public Safety - Fire

10.0%76021,50020,739Public Safety - Police
4.2%31716,43016,113The Offices of the CAO & Mayor
4.2%4,641115,101110,460Total Operating Expenses

RCMP Contract, Specialized 
Policing Units, & IHIT increases

Provisions for salary increases CNV wide, and 
2% increase of Tax Levy to Capital and NSNH

 Departmental operating expenses are increasing 4% in 2026

New Items are not included and are discussed separately on slide 21 

Draft Operating Expenses

21

Inflationary increases in funding to major 
external agencies (IE NVRC, NVCL, Monova)



Tax Impact$(000’s)
2.88%2,230Salary and Other Provisions
1.04%805RCMP – Contract, Wages and Benefits
0.46%360Major Agencies and Community Agencies
0.08%63New Capital Infrastructure Maintenance

(1.78%)(1,378)Curbside Access & Parking Plan
(0.23%)(178)Updated Fees & Charges
(0.43%)(331)Increase in Non-Tax Revenues
(0.43%)(331)Other Items (various)
(0.92%)(714)Tax Roll Growth
0.68%5262025 Net Operating Program Increase
1.00%775Increase of Annual Tax Levy to Capital
1.00%775NSNH + City Parks Levy
2.68%2,0762025 Draft Tax Rate Increase before New Items
0.24%185New Items
2.92%2,2612025 Draft Tax Rate Increase after New Items

Draft Property Tax Impact

Curb Access & Parking Plan 
revenues (slides 24-5)

RCMP, Special Police Unit, & IHIT 
increases (slide 23)

To ensure funding for Infrastructure 
Replacement and debt servicing 
(slide 26-7)

New items, include Health & Safety, 
public engagement, and volunteer 
appreciation. 

22



RCMP Contract and E-COMM
Tax Impact$(000’s)

0.57%440RCMP Contract Costs1

0.27%207Specialized Police & IHIT2

0.83%647Sub-total RCMP
0.18%140Tele-com (net) 3

0.00%4Police Shared Services
0.02%14Other Changes
0.20%158Sub-total Civilian Costs
1.04%805Total

1. Police Contract cost increases driven by the National Police Federation Agreement contract, primarily 
covering RCMP wages and benefits.

2. Specialized Police & IHIT – Integrated Homicide Investigation Team (IHIT) services are delivered by the 
Province of BC and the increase of 26.9% at $148,400 driven by two new investigative teams and one new 
surveillance team being added to the unit over the next 3 years

3. Tele-com (net) - E-COMM provides this service, and has indicated costs will increase $300K (6.3%) in 2026.

23



Change20262025($000’s)
2,2183,5161,298Revenue
8411,546705Expenses

1,3781,970593Net

Curbside Access & Parking Plan – 2026 Forecast

• Preliminary draft forecast before 
going live was for a 2026 tax rate 
offset of 1 ½%

• Figures have now been revised 
based on actual experience.

• Net surplus projected to create a 
1.8% tax rate offset

24



Curbside Access & Parking Plan
Surplus to Public Safety

As part of Council’s endorsement, the 
following resolution was adopted:

“… THAT a Parking Revenue 
Reserve Fund [Parking Fund] be 
created to collect net parking 
revenues and fund public safety 
programs and asset 
management including road and 
sidewalk improvements…” 

The use of net curbside management 
revenues was to be considered as part 
of the 2026-2030 financial planning 
process.

25

21.5 M

15.0 M

3.3 M
1.3 M0.5 M

0.4 M0.4 M

0.3 M0.2 M

0.2 M
0.1 M

0.1 M

2025 Safety Related Expenses ($43.3M) Public Safety - Police
Public Safety - Fire
Mobility Network Implem.

Public Safety - Bylaw
Traffic Signal Upgrades
Pedestrian crossing facilities

Ped. and roadway lighting
Street Design Guidelines
Sidewalks - Infill

Firesmart
New sidewalks
Street Light Upgrades

Surplus revenues help fund these important program and services



General CapitalYear

1%2017
-2018

2%2019
-2020
-2021

2%2022
1%2023

-2024
1%2025
1%2026

0.8%Average

• Common municipal practice to 
increase 1% each year to fund 
infrastructure deficits.

• CNV’s 10-year average for the 
levy increase is 0.8%

• The transfer to Capital provides 
general/unrestricted funds, which 
are often the only eligible funding 
source for maintenance and 
replacement projects. 

• Removing 1% takes $4M of 
general funds out of the 5-year 
Capital plan.

1% tax rate increase raises $775K

Transfer to Capital

26



NSNH & City Parks Levy
• A portion of the NSNH and City Park debt can be paid with the Housing Accelerator Fund, 

to take pressure off of the tax rate.

• Assuming the full 2028 HAF surplus balance of $15.3M is used to offset the debt, the 
amount required to be borrowed will drop from $55.7M to $38.6M.

27

NSNHYear

-2022
-2023

0.5%2024
0.25%2025
1.0%2026

1.75%Total

• Additional tax rate increases totaling 2.7% will be needed 
from 2026 to 2028 to support debt repayment costs

• An increase of 1.00% is recommended at this time.



Draft Capital Plan



Capital Plan Overview

• 2026-2030 spending of 
$177M covering each of 
Council’s Priorities.

• The Draft Capital plan 
is fully funded

29



The draft plan 
supports all of 

Council’s Strategic 
Priorities …

2026-2030 Capital Plan Overview

… builds organizational 
capacity to enable 

delivery of Council’s 
Strategic Plan ...

… and enables infrastructure replacement.

30

General Provisions, 15.0 M, 8%

A City for People, 7.3 M, 4%

A Connected City, 61.9 M, 35%

A Prosperous City, 13.8 M, 
8%

A Resilient City, 5.3 M, 3%

A Vibrant City, 23.9 M, 14%

A Modern, Responsible, & 
Human Org., 18.3 M, 10%

Maintenance, Repair and 
Replacement, 31.2 M, 18%

Vision & Priorities



2026 Capital Plan Summary
2026-30% of ‘262026Project Name ($ Millions)

25.05%3.3Mobility Network Implementation
8.13%1.7New Sidewalks To Complete The Pedestrian Network
5.53%1.6Operations Vehicle/Equipment Replacement Program
9.02%1.5Pavement Management: Streets & Lanes
1.12%1.1IT Disaster Recovery (DR) 
2.21%0.8Marine Structures Repairs & Proactive Maintenance
1.61%0.8Enterprise Development Applications and Permits Software
2.41%0.7Land Management Strategy & Implementation

86.327%17.5Other Projects
35.455%35.1General Provisions

176.6100%64.1Total*

31

• Other key projects (HJCRC, NSNH, etc.) are already funded



Key Funding Assumptions
DetailsItem

Balances above $20M to maintain a “Financial Safety Net”Tax Sale Land Principle Reserve 

Accounts for updates made through the 2025 DCC Rates Review.DCCs

Supports a number of Council initiatives and fully allocated in 2026Growing Communities Fund

Remaining amounts in the Housing Accelerator Fund offset future 
financing costs

NSNH & City Parks

$109M of debt to be repaid through disposition of Harry Jerome 
Neighborhood Lands, consistent with the Harry Jerome Financing 
Strategy endorsed by Council in January 2022.  No new debt planned.

Debt Funding

32

Overall, the Financial Plan is fully funded



Summary and Next Steps



34

Summary

• The Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
• Incorporates Council’s feedback 
• Supports the delivery of Council’s Strategic Plan
• Is fully funded
• Relies on a tax rate increase of only 0.9% for operating programs, 

and includes an optional 2% for capital



Next Steps

• Adjust the 2026-2030 Financial Plan based on Council 
feedback and direction

• Present an updated plan to Council for further consideration

35



Thank you.



Document Number: 2725378 

_________ 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 FINANCE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

Subject: DRAFT 2026-2030 FINANCIAL PLAN 

Date: October 15, 2025 File No:  05-1700-01-0001/2026 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.  Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated October 15, 2025, 
entitled “Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan”: 

THAT Council provide feedback on the 2026 Draft Operating Budget, 2026 Draft 
Shipyards Budget, 2026 Draft Curb Access and Parking Budget, and Proposed 
New Items that reflect a baseline tax rate increase of 0.68%, transfers to Capital 
of 2.0% and New Items of 0.24%; 

THAT Council provide feedback on the 2026 Draft Cemetery Budget; 

THAT Council provide feedback on the 2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan; 

AND THAT the 2026 Draft Operating Budget, 2026 Draft Curb Access and 
Parking Budget, 2026 Draft Shipyards Budget, 2026 Draft Cemetery Budget, and 
2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan be adjusted on the basis of feedback received and 
brought back at a subsequent meeting for consideration. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2026 Draft Operating Budget (CityDocs 2729512)
2. 2026 Draft Curb Access & Parking Budget (CityDocs 2728349)
3. 2026 Draft Shipyards Budget (CityDocs 2728345)
4. 2026 Draft Cemetery Budget (CityDocs 2728340)
5. 2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan (CityDocs 2725384)



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 19 

SUMMARY 
 
The Draft 2026–2030 Financial Plan balances affordability with the City of North 
Vancouver’s current and future needs. It proposes an operating property tax rate 
increase of 0.92%—below inflation—without reducing services levels, along with an 
additional 2.0% dedicated to capital investments that will sustain infrastructure and 
protect community assets over the long term. 
 
The Financial Plan strengthens public safety by allocating $1.97 million from the new 
Curb Access & Parking Plan (“CAPP”) fund to public safety programs and asset 
management, including road and sidewalk improvements, while also advancing CNV’s 
goal of diversifying revenues and reducing reliance on property taxes. 
 
The proposed Capital Plan, fully funded, supports all of Council’s strategic priorities as 
outlined in the 2022–2026 Strategic Plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In mid 2023, Council created its 2022-2026 Strategic Plan, which was published on 
November 1, 2023.  The 2026-2030 Draft Financial Plan has been developed to 
advance the priorities in Council’s currently adopted 2022-2026 Strategic Plan. 
 
CNV’s Financial Plan is based on an Operating Budget, a 5-year Capital Plan, 3 Utility 
Budgets (Water, Sewerage & Drainage, and Solid Waste), accompanied by budgets for 
the Curb Access & Parking Plan, the Shipyards, the Cemetery, as well as other items 
such as Collections for Other Organizations and Depreciation.  CNV strives to develop a 
Financial Plan that balances the needs of residents, maintains services in light of 
increasing costs, and keeps taxes at a reasonable level.  The Financial Plan addresses 
current issues as well as longer-term issues and needs. The amount of specificity is 
greatest for the earliest years, yet the Financial Plan remains a valuable tool enabling 
CNV to be proactive in meeting infrastructure maintenance, replacement, and other 
challenges.  
 
The Community Charter requires that Council adopt a five-year Financial Plan to include 
both operating and capital items before May 15 in each year.   
 
Finance and departmental staff have worked together to prepare and review all 
budgetary forecasts, with the goal of funding the delivery of the initiatives in Council’s 
2022-2026 Strategic Plan, while keeping the base tax rate increase at a minimum level 
and adhering to CNV’s budget objectives that emphasize efficiency, accountability, and 
value for money.  Included in this process is a review of all revenue programs to 
determine best estimates into the future.   
 
 
  



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 19 

DISCUSSION 
 
The 2026-2030 Draft Financial Plan includes 2026 expenditures totalling $345M, which 
are comprised of the following: 

 2025 2026 Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

Operating1,2 $109.5 $114.2 $4.7 
Curb Access & Parking Plan4 0.7 1.5 0.8 
Water3 21.5 21.5 - 
Sewerage & Drainage3 36.1 36.1 - 
Solid Waste3 4.4 4.4 - 
Shipyards2,4 2.7 3.2 0.5 
Cemetery4 0.6 0.7 0.1 
Capital Plan 87.7 64.1 (23.6) 
Collection for Other Organizations 61.6 66.2 4.6 
Other Items 37.1 33.1 (4.0) 
    
Total $ 361.9M $ 345.0M ($16.9M) 

 

1 Operating Budget figures displayed do not yet include proposed New Items of $184.5K. 
2 Contribution to Shipyards from the tax base ($955.7K in 2026) is shown within “Shipyards Budget” in this table. 
In Attachment 1, this contribution is also included within Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks operating budget 
resulting in a total operating budget of $115.1M. 
3 Utilities budgets to be brought to Council for consideration as a part of the 2026 Utility Rate Review and Asset 
Management Update at the Regular Meeting of November 17, 2025. 
4 Curbside, Shipyard and Cemetery rows include related capital, which was previously consolidated in the Capital 
Plan. 

 
 
Operating Budget        
 
The Draft 2026 Operating Budget (Attachment #1) includes operational expenditures, 
such as salaries, maintenance, on-going programs, and energy costs, which are 
relatively continuous and are funded by property taxation revenue and other non-tax 
revenue sources.  The Draft 2026 Operating Budget provides detailed accounts at the 
Department level, including where there have been transfers of budget and budget 
responsibility between departments.  The discussion below explains changes year over 
year that are driving the annual tax rate increase. 
 
The annual tax rate increase is driven primarily by increased operating expenditures 
and offset by increased non-tax revenue.  It is also impacted by items outside of the 
Draft Operating Budget, such as changing funding requirements for the Shipyards and 
Capital Plan, as well as changes to the size of the tax roll. The following table provides 
a summary of the proposed tax rate increase: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 19 

Current Overall Increases and Decreases from 2025 to 2026 
 $ (000’s) Tax Rate 

Impact 
2026 General Operating Plan Increase   

   Salary and other wage provisions 2,230 2.88% 
   RCMP and Civilian programs 805 1.04% 
   Major and Community Agencies 360 0.46% 
   New Capital Infrastructure Maintenance 63 0.08% 
   Other Items - Net (331) (0.43%) 
   Curb Access & Parking (1,378) (1.78%) 
   Provision for updated Fees & Charges (178) (0.23%) 
   Non-Tax Revenues (331) (0.43%) 
   Tax Roll Growth (714) (0.92%) 
2026 Draft Base Tax Rate Increase  $526 0.68% 
   Increase of annual tax levy to capital 2 775 1.00% 
   Increase of annual tax levy to NSNH/City parks loan 775 1.00% 
2026 Draft Tax Rate Increase before New Items  $2,076 2.68% 
   New Items - Operating 185 0.24% 
2026 Draft Tax Rate Increase $2,261 2.92% 

1 A 1% tax rate increase generates approximately $775,000 in tax revenue for CNV 
 
1.  General Operating Plan Increases:  0.68%  
 
Salary and Other Wage Provisions – $2,230,000 increase 
The Draft 2026 Operating Budget provides for 2026 contractual (unsettled) 
commitments, benefit premiums and other corporate provisions. Additional drivers of 
this increase include New Items approved in 2025 ($271,500 or 0.35%) providing 
additional resources for the development of CNV’s project management framework for 
managing IT projects for the organization, and additional resources to lead 
modernization of the Business Licensing System. 
 
RCMP and Civilian Programs – $805,300 net increase 
The Police budget adjustment includes two components: 

 
RCMP Contract Increase1   $647,200 
Civilian Programs Increase2 $158,200 
Total $805,300 
 

1. RCMP Contract, Specialized Police Teams and Integrated Homicide 
Investigations Team (“IHIT”) – $647,200 increase:   
 
This increase is the combined amount of a projected inflationary cost increase for 
member pay and direct operating costs, including the Specialized Police Teams 
and IHIT.  

 
 
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 5 of 19 

 2025 Budget 2026 Budget Increase ($) Increase (%) 
RCMP Contract Costs 13,291,600 13,719,000 427,400 3.2% 
Specialized Police & IHIT 1,896,900 2,116,700 219,800 11.6% 
Total 15,188,500 15,835,700 647,200 4.3% 

 
The $647,200 increase can be attributed to a 3.5% personnel wage contract 
increase, and a general inflationary increase of 2.2% that has been applied to 
other program costs.  
 
Specialized Police – An increase of $71,400 for the Integrated Teams and the 
Real Time Intelligence Centre is an overall net inflationary increase for these 
specialized units. 
 
Integrated Homicide Investigation Team (“IHIT”) services are delivered by the 
Province of BC and the increase of 27% at $148,400 is driven by the added cost 
of two new investigative teams and one new surveillance team being added to the 
unit over the next 3 years.  

 
2. RCMP Civilian Costs - $158,200 increase:   
 

Civilian services are the police operations outside of the RCMP.  Funds for these 
services are shared with District of North Vancouver (“DNV”) on an agreed 
sharing formula basis.  The $158,200 cost increase is primarily driven by an 
increased E-COMM levy to improve system capacity and resiliency, and due to 
an annual adjustment of the cost share allocation % between CNV and DNV, 
which is a function of population growth, calls for service, and criminal code 
offenses in each municipality. 
  

Major and Community Agencies – $360,000 increase  
The increase in funding is mainly due to inflationary impacts.  The net Agency increases 
are summarized as follows: 
 

North Vancouver Recreation & Culture (net)1 195,567 
City Library2 117,875 
North Vancouver Museum & Archives3 18,964 
Community Agencies4 27,116 
Total $359,522 

 

1 The North Vancouver Recreation & Culture Commission’s (“NVRC”) operating costs 
are split between CNV and DNV as outlined in “North Vancouver Recreation and 
Culture Commission Establishing Bylaw, 2009, No. 8020, Amendment Bylaw, 2014, No. 
8380”. The bulk of the costs are shared based on CNV and DNV resident use of the 
facilities and services.  CNV’s share of the budgeted increase, not including the new 
Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre (“HJCRC”), is $195,567 (2.7% increase 
over 2024), which is primarily being driven by inflationary increases, offset by increased 
revenue.  This increase was reduced from $314,357 (4.3%) due to event planning and 
HJCRC grounds keeping work being returned to CNV. The event planning increment of 
$34,000 is shown in the Shipyards 2026 budget (Attachment #3) and the HJCRC 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 6 of 19 

grounds keeping work will primarily be an Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks 
Department 2027 budget addition for New Capital Infrastructure Maintenance. 
 
Starting in 2013, CNV used a 1% tax rate increase to set aside funds for the HJCRC. 
This funding is contributing $2.6M per year into the Civic Amenity – Harry Jerome 
Reserve in 2026 as part of the HJCRC Financing Strategy.  Starting in 2027, this $2.6M 
in annual revenues will be converted into annual operating budget revenues and can be 
used to cover the incremental operating costs of the new, larger facility starting in 2027.   
  
2 The City Library’s municipal contribution increase (2.10%) is due to salary obligations 
(0.99%), demand for library materials (0.79%) and utilities and insurance expense 
increases (0.46%), offset by increases in sales and rentals (-0.18%).  
 

3 The North Vancouver Museum & Archives (“M&A”) is 50% funded by CNV. The 
municipal contribution increase (2.33%) is driven by inflation.  
 

4 Contributions to Community Agencies are budgeted to increase by 1.79%.  
Community Agencies included in the budget are the same as currently approved by 
Council.  Actual contributions are typically considered by Council in mid-2026 and can 
be adjusted at that time.  
 
New Capital Infrastructure Maintenance – $62,700 increase 
It is CNV’s practice to budget for increased maintenance costs for new/enhanced 
infrastructure and equipment after the capital projects have been completed and 
implemented.  The 2026 increase can be summarized as follows: 
 

Engineering Infrastructure1 $52,700 
Facilities2 10,000 
Total $62,700 

 
1 Engineering Infrastructure’s increase is comprised of Street Lighting ($24K), New 
Traffic Signals ($3K), Mahon Park Washrooms ($12K) and landscape maintenance 
previously done by NVRC ($12K). 
 
2 Facilities’ increase is the 2026 component of a 2025 capital maintenance increase 
relating to EV infrastructure, including electrical upgrades for the Operations Centre and 
Fire Hall. 
 
Other Items - Net – $330,700 decrease 
The other items include various reductions, summarized by department below:  
 

Corporate Services1 ($184,900) 
Offices of the CAO and Deputy CAO (4,700) 
Finance & Economic Development2 (193,200) 
Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks (19,000) 
Planning, Development & Real Estate3 (34,100) 
Public Safety – Fire & Bylaw4 71,200 
Shipyards5 34,000 
Other Non-Wage Expenses ($330,700) 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 7 of 19 

1 Corporate Services decreases relate to increased recoveries from CNV Utilities for 
services provided annually, which fluctuate in relation to Utilities’ proportion of overall 
staffing costs.  
 
2 Finance decreases are related to interest (i.e. paid on pre-authorized property tax 
payments) resulting from lower interest rates and increased recoveries from CNV 
Utilities. These decreases are offset by increased insurance rates driven by factors 
including increased replacement cost asset values and increased probability of claims 
stemming from climate change impacts, and increased banking charges due to higher 
volumes. 
 
3 Planning, Development & Real Estate is impacted by decreased investment income 
being generated in the Lower Lonsdale Legacy Reserve fund resulting in decreased 
Community Services Grant funds available for distribution. 
 
4 Public Safety – Fire and Bylaw is increasing by $71K, driven by increasing fuel cost for 
Fire Apparatus, as well as insurance costs. 
 
5 Event programming previously performed by NVRC has been discontinued and will be 
administered by the Shipyards going forward. Accordingly, $34K of CNV funding 
contributions have been reallocated from NVRC to the Shipyards. There is $nil property 
tax impact. See Attachment #3 for additional information. 
 
Curb Access & Parking – $1,377,000 property tax-offset 
On April 14, 2025, Council endorsed the City of North Vancouver Curb Access and 
Parking Plan (“CAPP”), which requires capital for implementation, operating budget for 
staffing, maintenance and equipment fees, as well as amendments to the Fees and 
Charges Bylaw.  As directed by Council, a Parking Revenue Fund was subsequently 
created to manage new revenue and expenses relating to CAPP.  Based on that 
approval and experience to date, a draft 2026 budget has been prepared for the new 
fund, and has been included as Attachment 2.  That budget, as well as an explanation 
of the underlying assumptions, is provided below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 8 of 19 

Parking Revenue Reserve Fund 
($000’s) 2025 2026 Increase 

($) 
Increase 

(%) 
Revenue:     
  Parking meters1 321 1,843 1,522 474% 
  Permit parking2 90 323 233 260% 
  Fees/fines3 887 1,350 463 52% 
Total Operating Revenue: 1,298 3,516 2,218 171% 
     
Expenses:     
  Wages & benefits 107 317 210 197% 
  Pay station & sign maintenance 75 233 158 212% 
  Internal loan repayment4 17 181 164 974% 
  Transfer to capital5 - 150 150 - 
   Wages & benefits 507 665 158 31% 
Total Operating Expenses: 706 1,546 840 119% 
  Surplus 592 1,970 1,378 233% 
 

1 Parking meters – 1,306 pay parking stalls were activated starting September 15, 2025.  
Revenue for 2026 is based on actual usage in the first month or operations.  
 
2 Permit parking – Based on anticipated permits from households in the permit areas 
(resident monthly rate of $8.33 for a 1st vehicle and $12.50 for a 2nd vehicle).  
 
3 Fees/fines – Assumptions are informed by historical ticket revenue with an increase 
proportional to the new meters. 
 

4 Internal loan repayment – as a part of the 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan Council 
Report (dated April 16, 2025), CAPP implementation was initially funded through 
internal borrowing from the Civic Amenity Reserve in an amount of $1.073M. Since 
then, $250K has been returned to reserves as the capital portion of the project was 
delivered under budget.  The remaining $823K is to be repaid with interest over 5 years.  
 
5 Transfer to capital – Funding for asset management, including future occupancy 
studies and/or installation of new meters, as anticipated. 
 

As part of Council’s endorsement of CAPP, it also adopted the following resolution: 
 

“… THAT a Parking Revenue Reserve Fund [Parking Fund] be created to collect 
net parking revenues and fund public safety programs and asset management 
including road and sidewalk improvements…”  

 
The use of net parking revenues was to be considered as part of the 2026-2030 
financial planning process. 
 
Public safety is of utmost importance to residents and is a pillar of municipal 
government.   Related expenses accounted for 35% of CNV’s 2025 operating budget at 
a total cost of $37M.  The 2026 operating budgets for the RCMP, Police Support 
Services, Bylaw, and the Fire Department (including provision for wage increases not 
yet collectively bargained) are anticipated increase by approximately $2.5M in 2026.  



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 9 of 19 

CNV also funds a number of infrastructure items, including its mobility network, traffic 
signals, pedestrian crossings, roadway lighting, and sidewalks.  The $1.97M surplus 
generated by CAPP in 2026 will be able fund a portion of the increases required by 
these areas to protect residents and fund its asset management program.  
 
Provision for Updated Fees & Charges – $178,100 increase 
At the regular Council meeting of July 22, 2024, CNV established a single Fees & 
Charges Bylaw to improve the visibility of, and transparency behind, fees and charges.  
The Fees & Charges Bylaw also provided Staff and Council with an improved tool to 
implement annual fee recommendations, helping to ensure CNV’s fiscal responsibility.   
 
The latest annual review and update of CNV’s Fees & Charges was presented to 
Council on October 6, 2025.  The 2026 adjustments included a 1.7% inflationary 
increase to keep pace with rising costs, and in a few cases included changes by 
amounts differing from inflation, typically to align fee changes with partners (i.e. DNV, 
Technical Safety BC), or incent certain behaviour.   
 
Council’s approved changes to CNV’s Fees and Charges Bylaw reduced CNV’s needed 
tax rate increase in 2026 by ¼%.  
 
Non-Tax Revenue – $331,100 increase 
The following table summarizes non-tax revenue adjustments: 
 

Interest and Penalties on Taxes1 $125,000 
Grants in Lieu2 94,000 
Finance & Economic Development (various)3 82,700 
Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks (various)4 20,000 
Public Safety - Fire5 9,400 
Non-Tax Revenue Increase (net) $331,100 

 

1 Interest and Penalties on Taxes – Driven by higher assessed values of properties 
within the city and the application of prescribed rates for interest and penalties. 
 
2 Grants in Lieu – Higher assessed values of properties within the city have resulted in 
increased Grants in Lieu (Provincial Government - $46K, Port Authority - $38K, Federal 
Government - $10K). 
 

3 Finance & Economic Development (various) – This group includes increases of $78K 
in investment income and $5K for issuance of Tax certificates. 
 
4 Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks (various) – Increased Grants (Translink - $10K) 
as well as volume-based increases in Streets use permits and Parks user fees. 
 

5 Fire – Fees for False Alarms and Fire Inspections for building permits revenues are 
increasing $4.8K and $4.6K respectively based on increasing volume over the past 
years.  
 
 
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 10 of 19 

Tax Roll Growth – $714,000 property tax offset 
The budget assumes CNV will receive approximately $714,000 more in property taxes 
in 2026 than 2025 from new growth.  This estimate is based on the 5-year average 
annual growth.  The BC Assessment final revised roll will be received in the spring. 
 
2.  Increase of Annual Tax Levy to Capital:  1.00% 
 
Staff recommend that $13.4M (15% of the City’s 2026 annual tax levy) be used to fund 
the 2026-2030 Capital Plan; a $775,000 increase.  It has been CNV’s practice to 
prioritize funding for projects that maintain base infrastructure and this funding transfer 
aims to address increasing costs for infrastructure maintenance.  This increase is 
consistent with common municipal practice to fund infrastructure replacement and has 
added importance given the recently elevated inflationary environment (Vancouver’s 
Non-Residential Building Construction price index increased 4.0% year over year Q2 
2025).  With this recommended 1% transfer, CNV’s Annual Tax Levy to General Capital 
will have increased an average of 0.8% per annum over the past decade.   
 
3.  Increase in Annual Tax Levy to NSNH/ City Parks Loan:  1.00% 
 
On July 8, 2024, Council Adopted Bylaw No. 9032, a bylaw to authorise temporary 
borrowing for the purpose of the design and construction of a new North Shore 
Neighbourhood House and City Parks (Kings Mill Walk Park and 1600 Eastern Park) in 
the amount of $55.7M. 
 
The NSNH Redevelopment Program (the “HUB”) is a multiphase redevelopment of an 
existing CNV owned site. The NSNH site will support the provision of a range of 
services aimed at improving the lives of community members, with a special focus on 
those who are most vulnerable.  The services will include seniors’ respite care, 
childcare and children’s programs, as well as community programs and services that 
service diverse needs, including food security, service navigators, edible gardens, lunch 
programs for new parents, seniors, and teens.  The site will also support a new park for 
all. 
 
Kings Mill Walk Park is getting a major upgrade as part of the revitalization of the 
Harbourside neighbourhood and climate-resilient shoreline improvements.   
 
1600 Eastern Park is being developed to help achieve a goal in CNV’s Parks Master 
Plan that all CNV residents are within a 5-minute walk from any park or public open 
space. 
 
At the September 23, 2024 Regular Meeting of Council, the following motion was 
carried unanimously: 
 

THAT staff be directed to review the Housing Accelerator Fund to determine if a 
portion of the fund can be used for the North Shore Neighbourhood House 
project to cover the estimated 1.6% per annum financing costs of providing social 
housing infrastructure.  

 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 11 of 19 

The Housing Accelerator Fund (“HAF”) contribution agreement allows for HAF funding 
to be used for community related infrastructure that supports housing, for which CMHC 
has indicated the North Shore Neighbourhood House would qualify.   Based on the 
schedule of advances, withdrawals to date and anticipated interest, there is $15.3M 
forecasted to be available in the HAF reserve as of December 31, 2027. Advances of 
HAF funding are dependent on CNV meeting its obligations as outlined in the Housing 
Accelerator Fund Contribution Agreement; in general, these obligations include the 
satisfactory progress of project milestones as well as achievement of CNV’s Housing 
Supply Growth Target. Should CNV not be able to meet the obligations outlined in the 
agreement, CMHC may reduce or withhold funds that have not yet been provided, or in 
some cases require repayment of funds that have already been issued.  
 
After debt is drawn during the construction period and offset using HAF funds, the 
remainder is expected to be converted to long-term debt.  The annual debt servicing 
costs would be approximately $2.6 M, assuming current borrowing rates.  Additional tax 
rate increases totaling 2.7% will be needed from 2026 to 2028 to support debt 
repayment costs.   
 
A further tax rate increase for the NSNH of 1.0% is recommended at this time.  
 
4.  New Items – Operating:  0.24% 
 
Only the highest priority New Items are being brought forward to Council to manage tax 
rate impacts on property owners.  The complete New Items listing in Attachment #1 
(page 3) provides detailed information on each of the proposed items.   
 
 
2026 Shipyards Budget  
 
The Shipyards is a vibrant public space on the city’s waterfront, offering year-round 
events, activities, and a variety of shopping and dining experiences.  Popularity has 
increased consistently since it opened in 2021.  
 

Shipyards Revenues ($000’s) 2025 2026 Increase % 
   Rent 920 1,000 80 8.7% 
   Parking and Filming Agreements 325 331 6 1.6% 
   Sale of Services 260 304 44 17.1% 
   Other Revenues 235 234 (1) -0.5% 
   City Contribution 922 956 34 3.7% 
Total 2,662 2,825 162 6.1% 

 
Shipyards Expenses ($000’s) 2025 2026 Increase % 
   Shipyards Admin 344 351 7 2.1% 
   Events & Programming 500 655 154 30.8% 
   Marketing & Promotion 52 53 1 2.1% 
   Operations & Maintenance 1,579 1,579 0 0% 
   Site Hosts 187 187 0 0% 
Total 2,662 2,825 162 6.1% 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 12 of 19 

In response to its growing popularity, The Shipyards plans to enhance its public events 
and services in 2026. To support this enhancement, a new program manager position is 
planned to strengthen event planning, delivery and oversight.  
 
The Shipyard’s expenses are primarily funded from externally generated revenues (2/3) 
with the remaining expenses tax-funded (1/3) by way of a City Contribution ($922,000 in 
2025).  In 2026, the tax-funded proportion of the Shipyards expenses is projected to 
decrease slightly from 34.6% of expenses, to 33.8% of expenses. 
 
See Attachment #3 for further detail. 
 
2026 Cemetery Budget  
 
The primary objective established for the development of the Cemetery budget is that 
the Cemetery will generate annual surpluses sufficient so that, when the Cemetery’s 
inventory of plots are projected to be exhausted in the 2060s, there will be sufficient 
funds in the Cemetery’s Perpetual Care Fund to support ongoing operations.  The 
Cemetery does not require financial support from the tax base. 
 

Cemetery Revenues 2025 2026 Increase % 
   Cemetery Administration 620,389 661,182 40,793 6.6% 
   Filming Admin - Cemetery 27,050 27,050 0 0.0% 
Total $647,439 $688,232 40,793 6.3% 

 
Cemetery Expenses 2025 2026 Increase % 
   Cemetery Administration 189,642 244,930 55,288 29.2% 
   Cemetery Operations  457,797 443,302 (14,495) -3.2% 
Total $647,439 $688,232 40,793 6.3% 

 
Year over year, changes to Cemetery revenues and expenses incorporate inflationary 
increases and changes in the expected sales of plots. 
 
See Attachment #4 for further detail. 
 
Capital Plan 
 
The Draft 2026-2030 Capital Plan includes proposed projects totaling $177M. The 2026 
proposed projects total $64M and are funded by CNV reserves, debt funding, and 
leverage external contributions. 
 
The 2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan lists the projects proposed by staff for inclusion, and 
includes projects that, over the next 5 years, advance all of the Strategic Priorities in 
Council’s Strategic Plan, as illustrated below: 
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 13 of 19 

  
 
 
The projects proposed for the 2026-2030 Capital Plan are summarized by type, as 
follows:  
 

$ millions 2026 2026-2030 
Land/Major Investments 34.8 34.8 
Buildings   2.7 10.3 
Structures* 13.8 85.4 
IT/Vehicle & Equipment/Block Funding   9.1 39.7 
Studies and Other   3.7 6.4 
Total 64.1 176.6 

  *Includes Streets & Transportation, and Parks & Environment  
 
Highlights for 2026 are shown below:  
 
Land/Major Investments ($34.8M) 
 
This section of the Plan includes provisions for strategic land ($11.6M) and park 
acquisition ($7.9M) projects from dedicated reserves, should opportunities present 
themselves, which would then be brought forward for Council consideration.  It also 
allows for receipt of external funding to support major investments ($15.0M) if made 
available. 
 
Buildings ($2.7M) 
 

• Council Chambers Update ($0.7M)  
o To update and re-configure Council Chambers to make meetings more 

accessible. 
 

General Provisions, 
15.0 M, 8%

A City for People, 7.3 …

A Connected City, 61.9 
M, 35%

A Prosperous City, 
13.8 M, 8%

A Resilient City, 5.3 M, 
3%

A Vibrant City, 23.9 M, 
14%

A Modern, Responsible, 
& Human Org., 18.3 M, 

10%
Maintenance, Repair 

and Replacement, 31.2 
M, 18%

Vision & Priorities



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 14 of 19 

• EV Fleet Transition Infrastructure ($0.3M) 
o Implementation of the required electrical upgrades and associated 

infrastructure for the Operations Centre and Fire Hall to enable CNV’s 
transition to an EV fleet as detailed in the EV Fleet Transition roadmap 
and report.  

 
• Mickey McDougal Building Retrofit and Flicka Renovation ($0.1M) 

o This project is the renovations to the existing facility to improve the 
overall energy efficiency, accessibility, and fire life safety systems of 
the building, along with interior renovations to accommodate the Flicka 
Gymnastics Club.  The $100,000 amount represents the last tranche of 
senior government funding.  

 
Structures ($13.8M) 
 

• Mobility Network Implementation ($3.3M) 
o This project will execute on the community engagement, design and 

construction of priority corridors identified in the Council approved 
Priority Mobility Network Strategy (2019) and continue to prioritize 
future work based on approved evaluation criteria. This work will result 
in infrastructure tailored to the unique street context and suitable for a 
broad range of human and electrified mobility devices like bicycles and 
scooters with users of All Ages and Abilities. Focus for the 2026 will be 
on the portion of the Mid-town Corridor from West Grand Boulevard to 
the overpass from Casano to Loutet, known as the East Side 
Connector. 

 
• Eastview Park Improvements ($0.3M) 

o Phase II public consultation and the conceptual design for a 
neighbourhood scale disc golf course has highlighted additional 
opportunities to improve accessibility for all park users. 

 
IT, Vehicles & Equipment, and Block Funding ($9.1M) 
 

• EPE Operations Vehicle/Equipment Replacement Program ($1.6M) 
o Funding for the ongoing replacement of vehicles and equipment to 

ensure Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks Operations has reliable 
vehicles and equipment to meet operational needs. 
 

• IT Disaster Recovery ($1.1M) 
o This project will set up new full-service alternate Data Centre that 

provides faster IT continuity in the event of a disaster.  
• Block Funding ($0.6M) 

o To enable maintenance and replacement of equipment under $10,000 
across CNV. 

 
  



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 15 of 19 

Studies and Other ($3.7M)  
 

• Community Engagement Framework Implementation ($0.3M)  
o As part of the implementation of the CNV Community Engagement 

Framework, CNV needs dedicated resources for the implementation of 
the Community Engagement Action Plan, including the development of 
guidelines, tools and enhanced analysis and reporting. 
 

• Implementation of the Customer Experience Strategy ($0.2M) 
o A one-time increase to the 2026 General Local Election Budget, based 

on historical costs. 
 
For a full listing of Projects with descriptions in the plan, please refer to Attachment #5. 
 
Funding Sources 
 
The 2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan is funded from various sources, including the annual 
tax transfer (discussed above), reserves and their anticipated future contributions 
(including grants and proceeds from land sales), as well as short-term low-cost debt 
from the Municipal Finance Authority (“MFA”).  
 
Reserves:  
 
Primarily, the project in the Capital Plan is funded from various reserves. Reserves are 
financial tools used to set aside funding, therefore guaranteeing funding availability for 
specific purposes such as for items of a significant value like fire trucks, bridge 
replacements, and community centres.  Smaller items are often funded on a pay-as-
you-go basis. When funds are set aside in reserves, they are “locked-in” for the purpose 
for which the reserve was established. Consequently, funding should be set aside in 
reserves only if a use and timeline for appropriation has been identified. Funding for the 
HJCRC project is a good example.  Here, CNV had set aside funding in the Civic 
Amenity Reserve Fund for the project for several years prior to construction.  This 
strategy, implemented at Council’s previous direction, reduced the need for borrowing 
and kept CNV’s financial risk profile low (borrowing under the HJCRC Financial Strategy 
was only 20% of the amount that CNV could qualify for under legislation at the time).  
 
The General Capital Reserve is CNV’s most flexible reserve and provides unrestricted 
funding for Capital Plan projects.  The reserve is primarily funded from portions of the 
annual tax levy and annual operating surpluses when they materialize ($3.5M included 
from 2024).  This reserve typically funds maintenance and replacement capital projects 
and is typically fully utilized over any planning period.   
 
The Capital Plan also includes a provision funded from the Tax Sale Land Principle 
Reserve for CNV to be able to take advantage of strategic land purchases, should the 
opportunity arise.  This Capital Plan make a total of $11.6M available by way of a 
provision for this purpose, ensuring minimum balances in the reserve are always 
maintained at levels ($20M) that enable CNV to retain financial flexibility as approved by 
Council in the HJCRC Financial Strategy.     
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 16 of 19 

The Civic Amenity Reserve, which holds the Civic Amenity Contributions received from 
developments, is used for many of the new initiatives included in the Plan. Annual Civic 
Amenity Contributions of $4.8M, based on prior year actuals, are budgeted annually in 
this Plan from 2027-2030, with none conservatively being assumed in 2026.  Consistent 
with the assumptions in the 2025-2029 Financial Plan, the 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
assumes the monetization of the Harry Jerome Neighborhood Lands in 2027 (as 
Council has previously directed in the HJCRC Financial Strategy).   
 
The Affordable Housing Reserve was established in 1998 to support affordable housing 
and housing for those with special needs and respond to community-based initiatives 
related to CNV’s housing goals.  Monies in this fund are intended for capital projects 
and land, including the extension or renewal of existing capital works, or finishes or 
fixtures relating to the provision of projects or units of affordable housing or housing for 
those with special needs as defined by CNV Policy, and consistent with CNV’s Housing 
Policy objectives. In 2024, the Affordable Housing Reserve Fund Bylaw was amended 
to allow CNV to withdraw the foregone rent or market value of land contributed to 
affordable housing, to disperse amongst other civic projects.  This reserve only funds a 
provision in the 2026-2030 Capital Plan should an opportunity present itself.  Material 
draws from this reserve are not anticipated until the reserve’s Terms of Reference and 
any associated bylaws are updated (Housing Accelerator Fund Initiative #4 noted 
below). 
 
Development Cost Charge (“DCC”) Reserves hold levies collected by local 
governments to assist in financing the costs of infrastructure required to service new 
growth. Section 559 of the Local Government Act (“LGA”) provides the authority for 
municipalities to collect DCCs through its DCC bylaw. The intent of a DCC program is to 
ensure that new development pays their equitable share of growth-related costs. DCCs 
are a dedicated source of funding and must be used to acquire or construct the works 
for which they were intended for. Any funds collected through DCCs must be retained in 
a separate reserve fund and, together with the earned interest, set aside for future DCC 
projects.  The Province recently passed legislation to amend the LGA to facilitate 
increased housing supply as part of the Province’s Homes for People Action Plan. This 
legislation, specifically Bill 46 – 2023 Housing Statutes (Development Financing), 
expands the scope of eligible services to be funded through DCC’s by adding new 
categories of infrastructure (fire protection, police, solid waste and recycling, highway 
facilities cost-shared with the Province).  CNV is in the process of updating its DCC 
rates and categories, which will unlock funding in these reserves to fund Council’s 
priorities. 
 
On February 10, 2023, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs (the “Ministry”) announced the 
Growing Communities Fund (“GCF”), a $1 billion one-time investment in B.C.’s 188 
local governments.  The objective of the GCF is to support communities that are 
increasing housing supply with funding to help them make new investments in 
infrastructure and amenities.  CNV’s grant was received on March 23, 2023, and is 
expected to be deployed within 5 years (i.e. by March 2028).  The 2026-2030 Capital 
Plan allocates CNV’s GCF funding to projects as outlined in the table below.   
  



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 17 of 19 

GCF Appropriations ($000’s): 2023 2024 2025 2026 Total 
Opening Balance 10,986 9,610 7,441 695      10,986  
     Interest  374 671 429 0 1474 
Available Balance 11,360 10,281 7,870 695 12,460 

  

Lonsdale Great Street 360 1,640 - - 2,000 
Mobility Network Implementation 400 1,000 6,875 695 8,970 
Waterfront Connections & Wayfinding 800 0 400 0 1,200 
Enhanced Bicycle Parking Facilities 100 0 (100)* 0 0 
Lonsdale Highway Overpass Mobility 
Improvements 90 200 0 0 290 

    1,750 2,840 7,175 695 12,460 
  

Closing balance 9,610 7,441 695 0               -    
*Budget returned Oct 7, 2025. 

 
On March 1, 2024, CNV was awarded an $18.6M grant from the Federal Housing 
Accelerator Fund (“HAF”). CNV’s application was focused on expanding the supply and 
improving the quality, diversity, and affordability of housing in the city.  To achieve these 
goals, CNV developed nine initiatives (see table below) to build more homes faster.  
 

HAF Appropriations ($000’s): 2024 2025 2026 2027 Total 
Opening Balance - 1,084 6,008 10,940 0 
     Contributions 4,650 4,650 4,650 4,650 18,600 
     Interest  109 274 282 0 391 
Available Balance 4,759 6,008 10,940 15,590 18,991 

  

1. Multi-Plex Housing 375 - - - 375 
Previously “Legislated Infill Changes” 

2. Prezoning R5 -* - - - - 
Previously “Pre-Zoning Opportunities” 
3. Parking 60 - - - 60 
4. Affordable Housing Reserve Fund 80 - - - 80 
5. Mid-Market Rental Policy  100 - - - 100 
6. Alternative Housing Construction 250 - - - 250 
7. Zoning Bylaw 225 - - - 225 
8. Inclusionary Housing Policy 200 - - - 200 
9. Development Approval Process 675 - - - 675 
Resources to Deliver Housing Initiatives* 1,710 - - - 1,710 
NSNH - - - 15,590 15,316 
  3,675 - - 15,590 18,991 

  

Closing balance 1,084 6,008 10,940 - - 
* Initiative number 2 is supported by internal resources funded by “Resources to Deliver Housing Initiatives” 
 
Advances of HAF funding are dependent on CNV meeting its obligations as outlined in 
the Housing Accelerator Fund Contribution Agreement.  In general, these obligations 
include satisfactory progress reaching project milestones as well as achievement of 
CNV’s Housing Supply Growth Target.  Should CNV not be able to meet the obligations 
outlined in the agreement, CMHC may reduce or withhold funds that have not yet been 
provided, or in some cases require repayment of funds that have already been issued.   
 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 18 of 19 

At its meeting on September 23, 2024, Council directed staff to “review the Housing 
Accelerator Fund to determine if a portion of that fund can be used for the North Shore 
Neighborhood House project to cover the estimated 1.6% per annum financing costs of 
providing that social housing infrastructure”.  This Financial Plan allocates CNV’s HAF 
funding remaining after funding delivery of the 9 HAF initiatives to repaying debt drawn 
to deliver the NSNH project when the risk of HAF funding being withdrawn is eliminated. 
 
See Attachment #5 (pg 24-9) for more information on CNV’s Capital Reserves. 
 
Municipal Financing Authority (“MFA”) Debt: 
 

 
The HJCRC Financing Strategy, which was endorsed by Council on January 21, 2022, 
recommended that CNV borrow short-term debt to its then full capacity of $109M within 
its ascent free zone in order to fund construction of the facility. The disposition of the 
Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands (“HJNL”) is planned for 2026 (consistent with the 
assumptions in the 2024-2028 Financial Plan) and would enable retirement of this MFA 
loan.  The first advances on the $109M HJCRC loan were made in Q1 2025. 
 
On January 22, 2024, Council considered a report on the North Shore Neighbourhood 
House & City Parks Loan Authorization Bylaw. This report initiated the process to obtain 
$55.7M of low-cost debt financing from the MFA to fund CNV’s portion of the NSNH 
Phase 2 Redevelopment, Kings Mill Walk Park, and 1600 Eastern Park projects.  The 
borrowing under this bylaw that is not retired from available Housing Accelerator Fund 
balances can be converted to long-term debt following the construction period.  
 
No new debt is proposed in the 2026-2030 Financial Plan. 
 
2026 Collections for Other Organizations 
 
CNV collects approximately $66M in taxes on behalf of other organizations, including 
BC Assessment, Metro Vancouver, Translink, the MFA, and any Business Improvement 
Association (“BIA”) operating in the city.  CNV also collects the Provincial School Tax 
from property owners.  These taxes are generally set by the other governments and 
agencies and taxation levels are outside of CNV’s control.  The exception is any BIA 
levy, which is approved by Council. 
 
  

MFA Debt ($M’s) Harry Jerome CRC NSNH + City Park 
Total Authorized Borrowing 109 55.7 
Total Advances (as of October 14, 2025) (34.4) (4.2) 
Remaining Borrowing 74.6 51.5 



REPORT: Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 19 of 19 

2026 Other Items 
 
The Community Charter requires that all proposed expenditures be set out in the 
Financial Plan, including non-cash depreciation expenses and transfers to or between 
funds:  
 2025 2026 Increase/ 

(Decrease) 
   Depreciation1 $18.2 $18.5 $0.3 
   Non-statutory Reserve Transfers2  18.9 14.6 (4.3) 
Total $37.1 M $33.1 M ($4.0 M) 
 

1 Depreciation items are accounting entries driven by past capital spending and are not future capital expenditures, 
which are included in CNV’s other budgets and capital plans. 2026 depreciation is based on actual 2024 depreciation 
of $17.7M and inflationary estimates for 2025 and 2026. 
2 The non-statutory reserve transfers include possible amounts needed for emergency/unexpected expenditures or 
are set aside for specific known future spending already approved by Council.  The year-over-year decrease is 
largely due to reduced transfers required to (1) fund/provision for collective agreement settlements already approved 
by Council, (2) manage transfers to/from the Permit Revenue Reserve expected in 2026, and (3) allocate Safe 
Restart Grant funding as that program winds down.  
 
The above amounts have also been incorporated into the proposed 2026-2030 
Financial Plan. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial implications are discussed throughout the report and in additional materials 
provided. 
 
INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The 2026-2030 Draft Financial Plan is a reflection of CNV’s policies and the work plans 
of all CNV departments. Finance staff relied on their close working relationships with 
staff in other departments and CNV’s shared-cost agencies when developing this Plan.  
The draft Plan presented here has been reviewed by the Leadership Team. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The preparation and approval of this Financial Plan is consistent with the requirements 
of the Community Charter, with several of the objectives of CNV’s 2014 Official 
Community Plan, is consistent with CNV’s emerging Strategies, and was prepared with 
consideration of the 2022-2026 Council Strategic Plan. 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:  

 
 Larry Sawrenko  

Chief Financial Officer 
 



Attachment 1 

2026 DRAFT OPERATING BUDGET 
October 15, 2025 



Table of Contents 
2026 Departmental Financial Summaries

Executive Summary 1
All Departments Financial Summary 5
Corporate Services 6 
Finance & Economic Development 9 
Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks 14 
Office of the Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 19
Planning, Development & Real Estate 22 
Public Safety – Bylaw 27
Public Safety – Fire 30 
Public Safety – Police 33 
The Offices of the Chief Administrative Officer and Mayor 38



Executive Summary 

In mid-2023, Council created its 2022-2026 Strategic Plan, which was published on November 
1, 2023.  The 2026-2030 Draft Financial Plan has been developed to advance the priorities in 
Council’s currently adopted 2022-2026 Strategic Plan. 

Finance and departmental staff have worked together to prepare and review all budgetary 
forecasts, with the goal of funding the delivery of the initiatives in Council’s 2022-2026 Strategic 
Plan, while keeping the base tax rate increase at a minimum level and adhering to CNV’s 
budget objectives that emphasize efficiency, accountability, and value for money.  Included in 
this process is a review of all revenue programs to determine best estimates into the future. 

The Draft 2026 Operating Budget includes operational expenditures, such as salaries, 
maintenance, on-going programs, and energy costs, which are relatively continuous.  The 
Operating Budget is funded by property taxation revenue and other non-tax revenue sources. 

The Operating Budget is balanced, relying on an overall tax rate increase of 2.92% as follows:  

Item Tax Rate 
Impact 

Details 

Base Increase for 
Existing Operations 0.68% 

Inflationary provisions, RCMP costs, external agencies 
and other, offset by increased non-tax revenue and tax 
roll growth 

New Items 0.24% Additions for items as listed below 
Increase of Annual 
Tax Levy to Capital 1.00% Funding for increased costs of maintaining base 

infrastructure and infrastructure replacement 
North Shore 
Neighbourhood 
House Levy 

1.00% 
Funding for the North Shore Neighbourhood House 
Redevelopment Program. 

Overall 2026 Draft 
Tax Rate Increase 2.92% 

Base Increase for Existing Operations – Significant Drivers: 

The Draft 2026 Operating Budget provides for 2026 contractual (unsettled) commitments, 
benefit premiums and other corporate provisions. Additional drivers of this increase include New 
Items approved in 2025. 

The Budget also accounts for RCMP contract increases that can be attributed to two main 
factors: a rise in RCMP contract costs due to the recently negotiated National Police Federation 
Agreement contract and an increment from negotiated contracts related to the Integrated 
Homicide Investigations Team and other specialized teams, primarily covering RCMP wages 
and benefits. 

CNV actively seeks out ways to reduce its reliance on property tax by increasing non-tax 
revenue. Highlights in 2026 include Curbside Access & Parking Planning which allocates 
$1.97M of net revenue to public safety and infrastructure programs, and updates to the Fees & 
Charges bylaw, created in 2024, which allows for inflationary increases to be more easily 
implemented to user fees, offsetting the need for further property tax increases.  

1



Staff forecast that CNV will receive additional taxes from new development in 2025.  The final 
revised roll will be received from BC Assessment in the spring. 

New Items: 

Only the highest priority New Items are being brought forward to Council to manage tax rate 
impacts on property owners. The table below provides detailed information on each of the 
proposed items, including costs and benefits.   

2



Department 
& Division

 2026 
Budget 

2026 Tax 
Impact

Annual 
Cost

Office of the Deputy CAO
Legislative Services 80,000      0.10% 80,000      

9,400        0.01% 9,400        

Communications & 
Engagement

15,000      0.02% 15,000      

104,400    0.13% 104,400    
Finance & Economic Development
Financ 40,000      0.05% 40,000      

25,000      0.03% 25,000      

65,000      0.08% 65,000      
Corporate Services

People & Culture 
Services

15,100      0.02% 15,100      

15,100      0.02% 15,100      

Grand Total 184,500    0.24% 184,500    

2026 NEW ITEMS LISTING

Description

Legislative Services conducts the General Local Elections for the City of 
North Vancouver. This request is to increase the annual contribution to the 
General Local Elections account to cover the 2030 Election cost.

This funding is dedicated to a pillar in the CNV Community Engagement 
Framework Action Plan. Digital engagement plays a critial and growing role 
for the public when it comes to expanding participation in community 
engagement. Those who may have barriers to physical participation, 
limited time or resources can now participate at their convenience. City 
staff are working on securing a new  platform with enhanced 
functionality. 

Legislative Services annually hosts City Council's Volunteer Appreciation 
Event for the advisory committee volunteers. The additional funding would 
support Legislative Services in maintaining the same level of service for 
the 2026 event.

Support the accurate and reliable processing of payroll services include 
legislative and provincial filings.

Ensuring compliance with WorkSafe BC's changes to occupational first aid 
certification requirements.

Municipalities are required to produce an Annual Municip  Report 
(AMR) which state their goals and objectives for the 
coming year and demonstrates what progress has been made toward 
the preceding year's goals and objectives. This project supports the 
production, design and distribution of  with the goal of 
providing increased transparency to the public and 

.

Financ

Legislative Services

3



Increase of Annual Tax Levy to Capital: 

It has been Council policy to prioritize funding for projects that maintain base infrastructure and 
this funding transfer aims to address increasing costs for infrastructure maintenance and 
replacement.  This increase is consistent with common municipal practice and has added 
importance in given current inflationary environment experienced over the past few years. 

 

North Shore Neighbourhood House and City Parks Loan Levy: 

On July 8, 2024, Council Adopted Bylaw No. 9032, a bylaw to authorize temporary borrowing for 
the purpose of the design and construction of a new North Shore Neighbourhood House and 
two City Parks (Kings Mill Walk Park and 1600 Eastern Park). A further tax rate increase is 
recommended at this time to offset the financial impact to CNV anticipated when this borrowing 
converts to long-term debt upon completion of the projects. 

  

4



*The 2025 Annual Budget in the table above is the same total amount as the Revised 2025 Operating Budget dated May 12, 2025 
approved by Council.  Some 2025 accounts in the table above have however been reallocated between departments to reflect 
CNV's current organizational structure so that the numbers presented for 2026 are comparable to those for 2025. 
 
Detailed information on the changes impacting each departments' budgets are outlined in the 
following pages.   

  

REVENUES
Property Tax 87,491,545 90,281,213 2,789,668
Finance & Economic Development 12,943,815 13,696,419 752,604
Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks 1,573,720 1,198,220 -375,500
Planning, Development & Real Estate 6,620,870 7,150,200 529,330
Public Safety - Bylaw 125,500 139,300 13,800
Public Safety - Fire 450,200 611,600 161,400
Public Safety - Police 1,160,400 1,965,681 805,281
The Offices of the CAO & Mayor 94,252 94,252 0
Total Operating Revenues 110,460,302 115,136,885 4,676,583

EXPENSES
Corporate Services 11,216,167 11,029,579 -186,588
Finance & Economic Development 19,506,992 22,733,734 3,226,742
Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks 12,850,558 12,987,243 136,685
Office of the Deputy CAO 3,216,300 3,317,300 101,000
Planning, Development & Real Estate 10,715,954 10,826,670 110,716
Public Safety - Bylaw 1,250,183 1,263,283 13,100
Public Safety - Fire 14,851,558 15,014,558 163,000
Public Safety - Police 20,739,205 21,533,686 794,481
The Offices of the CAO & Mayor 16,113,385 16,430,832 317,447
Total Operating Expenses 110,460,302 115,136,885 4,676,583

ALL DEPARTMENTS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

 2025 *
Annual
Budget 

 2026
Annual
Budget 

 Variance 
2026 Annual

to
2025 Annual 

5



Corporate Services 
Corporate Services provides a range of services to support and enable the organization through 
its People & Culture, IT, Facilities, Business transformation and Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 
divisions. The Department works closely with all other groups to deliver effective and efficient 
services so that they may achieve their priorities in delivering City services. 
 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

 Talent Acquisition 
 Talent Management 
 Learning & Development 
 Employee Engagement 
 Health, Safety and Wellness 
 Compensation and Benefits Management 
 Employee and Labour Relations 
 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 
 Organization Development & Change Management 
 Continuous Improvement & Transformation Support 
 Civic facilities management & operations 
 Civic facilities asset management 
 Enterprise technology  
 Improve client experience through the use of information systems 
 Deliver mapping and reporting services to support Council and CNV departments 
 Connect the City through core technology communication services 
 Provide City agencies with information technology systems and services 

 

DIVISIONS 

 People & Culture Services 
 Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 
 Information Technology & Data 
 Business Support & Transformation 
 Facilities 

 

 

 

 

 

  

6



CORPORATE SERVICES EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

ADMINISTRATION AND SUPPORT  
P&C Management Services 1510 2,594,030 2,582,230 -11,800
P&C Dept Administration 1513 4,500 4,500 0

Total Administration And Support 2,598,530 2,586,730 -11,800

PEOPLE & CULTURE SERVICES
Recruitment 1520 95,000 50,000 -45,000
Wellness & Disability Management 1545 50,500 50,500 0
Organizational Training 1561 138,000 138,000 0
Education & Career Development 1564 35,000 35,000 0
Professional Memberships 1565 55,000 120,000 65,000
Employee Engagement 1570 30,000 30,000 0
Health & Safety 1590 61,440 61,440 0

Total People & Culture Services 464,940 484,940 20,000

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY & DATA
IT Administration 2510 -18,346 -448,734 -430,388
IT Enterprise Platforms 2530 2,661,703 2,940,303 278,600
IT Data Services 2540 842,856 883,656 40,800
IT Infrastructure & Operations 2550 2,657,670 2,657,270 -400
IT Security Services 2560 351,314 493,014 141,700

Total Information Technology 6,495,197 6,525,509 30,312

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
Property Management 1971 164,100 144,100 -20,000
Conference "A" Vending 2135 3,500 3,500 0
Facilities Management 2140 914,900 767,100 -147,800
FM - Janitorial 2148 430,000 372,700 -57,300
FM - Security 2149 205,000 205,000 0
Facility Capital OH Recovery 2151 -60,000 -60,000 0

Total Facilities Management 1,657,500 1,432,400 -225,100

11,216,167 11,029,579 -186,588

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Corporate Services Expenses

7



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Corporate Services

2025 Expenditure Budget 11,216,167         

Salaries Obligation (133,200)             
Facilities Management Expenses (87,200)               
Facilities Recoveries (59,000)               
Information Technology Recoveries (33,788)               
Capital Cost Impacts 10,000                
Other (4,900)                 

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) (308,088)             -2.75%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments 121,500              

2026 Expenditure Budget 11,029,579         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) (186,588)             -1.66%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) (308,088)             
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) -0.40%

8



Finance & Economic Development 
Finance & Economic Development provides services to City Council, CNV departments, and the 
business community. 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

 Annual Municipal Report 
 Financial Plan 
 Property Taxes 
 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
 Statement of Financial Information 
 Utility Fees 
 Procurement 
 Risk Management and Claims Handling 
 Payroll 
 Business licensing & services  
 Organizational Workplans 

 
DIVISIONS 

 Financial Accounting 
 Financial Planning & Analysis 
 Treasury 
 Purchasing 
 Risk Management 
 Internal Control & Performance 
 Economic Development 
 Corporate Planning 

 

  

9



FINANCE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

PURCHASING & RISK MANAGEMENT
Purchasing 2130 67,000 67,000 0
Risk Liability and Insurance 2150 78,800 78,800 0

Total Purchasing & Risk Management Revenues 145,800 145,800 0

FINANCIAL SERVICES
Taxes 2302 4,869,200 5,093,850 224,650
Other Revenues 2303 3,000 3,050 50
Payroll 2200 2,000 2,000 0

Total Financial Services Revenues 4,874,200 5,098,900 224,700

FINANCIAL PLANNING AND ANALYSIS
Treasury 2192 4,614,115 4,692,300 78,185

Total Financial Planning and Analysis Revenues 4,614,115 4,692,300 78,185

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Intermunicipal Program 1800 40,000 40,000 0
Business License 1900 1,677,200 1,704,200 27,000

Total Economic Development 1,717,200 1,744,200 27,000

Total Finance Programs Revenues 11,351,315 11,681,200 329,885

FINANCE CORPORATE PROGRAMS
Financial Planning Contingency 2401 1,000,000 1,000,000 0
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 592,500 1,015,219 422,719

Total Finance Corporate Programs Revenues 1,592,500 2,015,219 422,719

12,943,815 13,696,419 752,604

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Finance & Economic Development Revenues

10



FINANCE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

FINANCE ADMIN
Management and Support 2110 594,000 610,300 16,300
Fin Budget Savings 2117 -15,000 -15,000 0

Total Finance Admin Expenses 579,000 595,300 16,300

PURCHASING & RISK MANAGEMENT
Purchasing 2130 427,100 422,700 -4,400
Risk Liability and Insurance 2150 361,600 365,392 3,792

Total Purchasing & Risk Management Expenses 788,700 788,092 -608

FINANCIAL SERVICES
Taxes 2302 884,200 697,950 -186,250
Payroll 2200 364,075 367,575 3,500
Financial Accounting 2170 598,300 578,600 -19,700
Accounts Payable 2180 224,576 201,776 -22,800

Total Financial Services Expenses 2,071,151 1,845,901 -225,250

FINANCIAL PLANNING & ANALYSIS
Treasury 2192 304,700 314,600 9,900
Financial Planning 2400 769,300 775,200 5,900

Total Financial Planning & Analysis Expenses 1,074,000 1,089,800 15,800

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

11



FINANCE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES (continued)

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

INTERNAL CONTROL & PERFORMANCE
Internal Controls 2195 185,200 185,200 0

Total Internal Control & Performance Expenses 185,200 185,200 0

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Economic Development 1150 575,100 437,700 -137,400
Tourism Development Fund 1151 20,000 20,000 0
Intermunicipal Program 1800 20,700 20,700 0
Business License 1900 197,300 200,200 2,900
NV Chamber of Commerce 8500 15,000 15,000 0

Total Economic Development Expenses 828,100 693,600 -134,500

5,526,151 5,197,893 -328,258

FINANCE CORPORATE PROGRAMS
Financial Planning Contingency 2401 1,000,000 1,000,000 0
Planning 2420 12,980,841 16,535,841 3,555,000

Total Finance Corporate Programs Expenses 13,980,841 17,535,841 3,555,000

19,506,992 22,733,734 3,226,742

Total Finance Programs Expenses

Total Finance & Economic Development Expenses

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

12



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Finance & Economic Development

2025 Revenue Budget 12,943,815         

Grants in Lieu 94,000                
Interest & Penalties on Taxes 125,000              
Interest Income 78,185                
Provision - Annual Fees & Charges Review 28,300                
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 422,719              
Other 4,400                  

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 752,604              5.81%
% change

2026 Revenue Budget 13,696,419         
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 752,604              5.81%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 19,506,992         

Provisions and Other Obligations 1,991,600           
Increased Transfer to Capital and Reserves 1,550,000           
Interest Expense (185,000)             
Treasury Service Charges 10,000                
Other (18,150)               

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 3,348,450           17.17%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (121,708)             

2026 Expenditure Budget 22,733,734         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 3,226,742           16.54%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 2,595,846           
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 3.35%

13



Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks 
The Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks department provides and maintains essential 
municipal services, public spaces and infrastructure. 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

To create safe, resilient, inviting and cost effective public infrastructure that supports the 
community and enables it to thrive.  

 

DIVISIONS 

 Infrastructure Management 
 Parks & Public Spaces 
 Shipyards and Waterfront 
 Public Works 
 Transportation 
 Project Delivery 

    

   

  

14



INFRASTRUCTURE, TRANSPORTATION & PARKS REVENUES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

PARKS & PUBLIC SPACES
Parks & Natural Spaces   

Parks Film Restoration Contrib 5062 10,000 5,000 -5,000
Parks Operations 5070 190,000 200,000 10,000
Sports Fields Users 5073 62,220 62,220 0
Parks Admin 5075 48,200 49,000 800

Total Parks & Natural Spaces 310,420 316,220 5,800

Shipyards & Waterfront   
Filming Administration 1360 189,000 193,400 4,400

Total Shipyards & Waterfront 189,000 193,400 4,400

Total Parks & Public Spaces Revenues 499,420 509,620 10,200

TRANSPORTATION
Transportation Planning  

Congestion & Curbside Mgmt 1931 15,600 46,800 31,200
Total Transportation Planning 15,600 46,800 31,200

Public Realm
Public Realm 5171 4,000 4,000 0
Commercial Bike Racks 3260 5,000 6,000 1,000

Total Public Realm 9,000 10,000 1,000

Total Transportation Revenues 24,600 56,800 32,200

INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT
Streets Operations 5160 480,000 490,000 10,000
Streets Admin 5165 569,700 141,800 -427,900

Total Infrastructure Management Revenues 1,049,700 631,800 -417,900

Total Infr, Transp & Parks Revenues 1,573,720 1,198,220 -375,500

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

15



INFRASTRUCTURE, TRANSPORTATION & PARKS EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

ADMINISTRATION AND SUPPORT
NS Adv Cmt Disability I 3120 7,000 7,000 0
Admin Engineering 5010 506,452 237,352 -269,100
Engineering Budget Savings 5017 -30,000 -30,000 0
Survey 5170 33,031 25,031 -8,000

Total Administration and Support Expenses 516,483 239,383 -277,100

PARKS & PUBLIC SPACES  
Parks & Natural Spaces   

Environment Stewardship 5040 68,200 58,500 -9,700
Parks Film Restoration Contrib 5062 5,000 0 -5,000
Parks Operations 5070 3,095,756 3,123,000 27,244
Special Event Support 5071 85,022 85,022 0
Sports Fields Users 5073 263,325 263,325 0
Streetscapes Greenways 5074 1,051,565 1,051,565 0
Parks Admin 5075 1,581,936 1,591,944 10,008
Overhead Parks Capital 5077 -15,000 -15,000 0

Total Parks & Natural Spaces 6,135,804 6,158,356 22,552

Shipyards & Waterfront  
Shipyards Contribution 1130 921,700 955,700 34,000
Filming Administration 1360 140,200 140,200 0
School Anti-Violence 8231 20,000 20,000 0
Child Youth & Family Friendly 8300 17,000 17,000 0
Studio in the City 8301 50,000 50,000 0
Youth Services 8305 29,650 29,650 0
Youth Initiatives Grants 8360 20,500 20,500 0
Family Events in Civic Plaza 8370 20,000 20,000 0

Total Shipyards & Waterfront 1,219,050 1,253,050 34,000

Total Parks & Public Spaces Expenses 7,354,854 7,411,406 56,552

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

16



INFRASTRUCTURE, TRANSPORTATION & PARKS EXPENSES (continued)

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT  
Streets Operations 5160 2,568,023 2,507,037 -60,986
Streets Extreme Weather 5161 0 86,951 86,951
Streets Admin 5165 1,687,228 1,823,266 136,038
Overhead Streets Capital 5167 -66,100 -66,100 0
Traffic and Transp Operations 5180 9,700 9,700 0
Vehicle Fleet Admin 2160 31,700 33,600 1,900

Total Infrastructure Management Expenses 4,230,551 4,394,454 163,903

TRANSPORTATION
Transportation Planning  

Public Transportation Alternatives 1543 7,500 7,500 0
Transportation 1930 502,300 696,600 194,300
Bicycle Promotions 3261 1,970 0 -1,970
Integrated Transportation Committee 2805 8,800 8,800 0
School Crossing Guard 8232 93,800 93,800 0

Total Transportation Planning 614,370 806,700 192,330

Public Realm
Public Realm 5171 129,300 129,300 0
Commercial Bike Racks 3260 5,000 6,000 1,000

Total Public Realm 134,300 135,300 1,000

Total Transportation Expenses 748,670 942,000 193,330

12,850,558 12,987,243 136,685Total Infr, Transp & Parks Expenses

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

17



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Infrastructure, Transportation & Parks

2025 Revenue Budget 1,573,720           

Grants 10,000                
User Fees 5,000                  
Permits 4,000                  
Commission Bike Rack Program 1,000                  
Provision - Annual Fees & Charges Review 38,200                

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 58,200                3.70%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (433,700)             

2026 Revenue Budget 1,198,220           
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) (375,500)             -23.86%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 12,850,558         

Salaries Obligation 76,668                
Capital Cost Impacts 52,700                
Street Operations (89,442)               
Streets Extreme Weather 86,951                
Shipyards Contribution 34,000                
Parks Film Restoration Contribution (5,000)                 
Other (11,550)               

Expenditure Budget Increase (Decrease) 144,327              1.12%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (7,642)                 

2026 Expenditure Budget Operating 12,987,243         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 136,685              1.06%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 86,127                
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.11%

18



Office of the Deputy Chief Administrative Officer 
The Office of the Deputy Chief Administrative Officer leads key services that provide support to 
the organization, Mayor and Council, and the public. Key services include supporting Council 
decision-making processes, delivery of timely and relevant communications to the public, 
planning and construction of new civic infrastructure, and provision of legal advice and service 
to the organization. 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES  

 Deliver public development projects from 
inception to completion, including the Harry 
Jerome Community Recreation Centre and 
Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre 

 Responsible for statutory requirements 
regarding conduct of Council operations, 
advisory bodies, and general location 
elections  

 Manage and deliver City information to both 
the public and organization including: 
 Corporate records management services 
 Information and records regarding Council business 
 Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act requests 
 Media relations, communications, and issues management  
 Civic engagement on City initiatives 

 Deliver legal services, including provision of advice, legal agreements, policies, and by-law 
reviews   

 Support the City’s inter-governmental relationships 

 

DIVISIONS  

 Strategic Initiatives  
 Civic Development  
 Legislative Services 
 Legal Services 
 Communications and Engagement  

  

19



OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

MANAGEMENT AND SUPPORT
Management and Support 1710 181,800 182,600 800
DCAO Dept Savings 1717 -15,000 -15,000 0

166,800 167,600 800

LEGISLATIVE SERVICES  
Clerk's Admin 1310 931,300 946,900 15,600
Legal Advertising 1162 29,000 29,000 0
Volunteer Appreciation 1341 7,600 7,600 0
Election Administration 1350 70,000 70,000 0
Records Management 1380 16,200 16,200 0
Board of Variance 2750 500 500 0

1,054,600 1,070,200 15,600

LEGAL SERVICES  
Legal Services 1410 379,600 372,500 -7,100

379,600 372,500 -7,100

COMMUNICATIONS & ENGAGEMENT
Communications & Engagement 1160 971,900 1,063,600 91,700
Design & Production 1161 20,500 20,500 0
Awareness Campaigns 1163 48,100 48,100 0
Photography 1164 18,800 18,800 0

1,059,300 1,151,000 91,700

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES  
Strategic Initiatives 1140 556,000 556,000 0

556,000 556,000 0

3,216,300 3,317,300 101,000Total Office of the DCAO Expenses

Total Management and Support Expenses

Total Legislative Services Expenses

Total Communications & Engagement Expenses

Total Strategic Initiatives

Total Legal Services Expenses

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

20



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Office of the Deputy Chief Administrative Officer

2025 Expenditure Budget 3,216,300           

Salaries Obligation 105,400              
Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 105,400              3.28%

% change
Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (4,400)                 

2026 Expenditure Budget 3,317,300           
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 101,000              3.14%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 105,400              
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.14%

21



Planning, Development & Real Estate 
Planning and Development assists Mayor and Council in setting community goals and 
objectives, creating plans, and implementing these plans through policies, bylaws, regulations 
and development. Real Estate oversees, plans and manages municipally-owned lands, 
including management, acquisition, and disposition. 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

Long range and land use planning
Community and social planning
Environmental planning and sustainability
Development planning
Building permits
Zoning administration
Code interpretation and regulation
Construction approvals
Subdivision
Strata Applications
Off-site Works
Engineering Works and Coordination
Urban Design
Heritage Planning
Data and Analytics
Municipal lands acquisition and disposition
Developer negotiations
Leases & licenses
Property management

DIVISIONS 

Planning
Development Services
Development Planning
Real Estate

22



PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & REAL ESTATE REVENUES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
Client & Processing Services

Permits and Fees 1770 3,911,400 4,428,500 517,100
Total Client & Processing Services 3,911,400 4,428,500 517,100

Development Services
Development Services 1725 463,120 471,000 7,880

Total Development Services 463,120 471,000 7,880

Total Development Services Revenues 4,374,520 4,899,500 524,980

PLANNING
City Planning & Design

EV Charging Stations 1976 60,000 61,000 1,000
Total City Planning & Design 60,000 61,000 1,000

Development Planning
Development Approvals 1730 164,200 166,900 2,700
Tree Bylaw 1941 30,400 30,900 500

Total Development Planning 194,600 197,800 3,200

Urban Regeneration & Analytics
Community Services Grant 2731 160,000 104,800 -55,200

Total Urban Regeneration & Analytics 160,000 104,800 -55,200

Total Planning Revenues 414,600 363,600 -51,000

REAL ESTATE
City Lands 1960 0 5,350 5,350
Parking 1973 582,400 632,400 50,000
Real Estate 1980 1,249,350 1,249,350 0

Total Real Estate Revenues 1,831,750 1,887,100 55,350

6,620,870 7,150,200 529,330

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Planning, Dev't & Real Estate Revenues

23



PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & REAL ESTATE EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

MANAGEMENT AND SUPPORT
Management & Support 1910 770,049 1,115,320 345,271
PD Dept Savings 1917 -15,000 -15,000 0
Advisory Design Panel 2720 6,649 6,649 0
Social Planning Advisory Committee 2730 3,266 3,266 0
Advisory Planning 2740 5,582 5,582 0
Heritage Advisory 2760 3,637 3,637 0
Substance Use Committee 3310 1,000 1,000 0

Total Management and Support Expenses 775,183 1,120,454 345,271

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
Building Services

Permits and Inspections 1760 2,101,721 2,068,400 -33,321
Total Building Services 2,101,721 2,068,400 -33,321

Client & Processing Services
Permits and Fees 1770 1,112,400 1,077,900 -34,500
Client & Processing Services 1771 62,400 62,400 0

Total Client & Processing Services 1,174,800 1,140,300 -34,500

Development Services
Development Services 1725 493,800 460,200 -33,600

Total Development Services 493,800 460,200 -33,600

Total Development Services Expenses 3,770,321 3,668,900 -101,421

PLANNING
City Planning & Design

City Planning 1920 803,550 803,300 -250
Urban Regeneration & Analytics 1940 568,300 572,800 4,500
EV Charging Stations 1976 50,000 50,000 0

Total City Planning & Design 1,421,850 1,426,100 4,250

Development Planning
Development Planning 1720 1,028,600 1,045,900 17,300
Tree Bylaw 1941 10,000 0 -10,000
Heritage Planning 1950 1,500 1,500 0

Total Development Planning 1,040,100 1,047,400 7,300

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

24



PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & REAL ESTATE EXPENSES (continued)

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

Urban Regeneration & Analytics
Community Services Grant 2731 260,000 204,800 -55,200
Homeless Prevention Program 8150 76,400 76,400 0
NV Restorative Justice 3360 42,005 42,845 840
Family Services North Shore 8112 59,955 61,154 1,199
Capilano Community Services 8120 13,591 13,591 0
Cap Community Svcs - Youth Worker 8121 77,465 77,465 0
NS Community Resources Society 8125 63,920 65,198 1,278
Silver Harbour Centre 8130 190,200 194,000 3,800
NSNH - NS Neighbourhood House 8140 80,316 81,922 1,606
NSNH - Young Parent Program 8311 13,550 13,821 271
NSNH - Queen Mary School 8312 91,611 93,443 1,832
NSNH - Youth Lounge Operating 8313 11,055 11,276 221
NSNH - Youth Worker 8314 135,278 137,984 2,706
NSNH - Youth Lounge Youth Worker 8317 67,639 68,992 1,353
NSNH - Golden Circle 8318 4,464 4,553 89
NSNH - Learning Together 8319 6,701 6,835 134
NSNH - QM Community Project 8320 20,011 20,411 400
NSNH - Community Schools Prog 8321 25,332 25,839 507
NSNH - Solutions Navigator 8322 76,500 78,030 1,530
NS Crisis Services Society 8351 12,004 12,244 240
NS Women's Centre 8352 14,705 14,999 294
Harvest Project 8353 11,769 12,125 356
NSNH - John Braithwaite Com Ctr 8604 422,979 431,439 8,460

Total Urban Regeneration & Analytics 1,777,450 1,749,366 -28,084

Total Planning Expenses 4,239,400 4,222,866 -16,534

REAL ESTATE  
City Lands 1960 747,000 598,300 -148,700
Parking 1973 157,000 207,000 50,000
Real Estate 1980 1,027,050 1,009,150 -17,900

Total Real Estate Expenses 1,931,050 1,814,450 -116,600

10,715,954 10,826,670 110,716

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Planning, Dev't & Real Estate Expenses

25



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Planning, Development & Real Estate

2025 Revenue Budget 6,620,870           

Community Services Grant - interest revenue from LL Legacy Reserve (55,200)               
Provision - Annual Fees & Charges Review 95,480                
Off-Street Parking 50,000                
Other 5,350                  

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 95,630                1.44%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments 433,700              

2026 Revenue Budget 7,150,200           
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 529,330              7.99%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 10,715,954         

Salaries Obligation 84,200                
Community Services Grant - use of LL Legacy Reserve interest revenue (55,200)               
Core Funded Agencies 27,116                
Insurance 12,100                
Other 9,000                  

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 77,216                0.80%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments 33,500                

2026 Expenditure Budget 10,826,670         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 110,716              1.15%

% change
 

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) (18,414)               
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) -0.02%

26



Public Safety – Bylaw Services 
Bylaw Services is responsible for the enforcement of the City’s Bylaws.  Bylaw Officers work to 
educate the community about bylaws, enforce fairly and consistently, and resolve any bylaw 
conflicts in a collaborative way. 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

 Parking Enforcement 
 Bylaw Enforcement 
 Animal Control 

 

 

  

27



PUBLIC SAFETY - BYLAW REVENUES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

BYLAW MANAGEMENT
Bylaw Enforcement 1392 62,000 62,000 0
Animal Control 8210 63,500 64,600 1,100
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 0 12,700 12,700

Total Bylaw Management Revenues 125,500 139,300 13,800

125,500 139,300 13,800

PUBLIC SAFETY - BYLAW EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

BYLAW MANAGEMENT
Bylaw Enforcement 1392 986,595 973,195 -13,400
Bylaw Dispute Registry 1396 6,000 6,000 0
Animal Control 8210 247,588 274,088 26,500
VCH - Municipal Services 3350 10,000 10,000 0

1,250,183 1,263,283 13,100

1,250,183 1,263,283 13,100

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Bylaw Revenues

Total Bylaw Expenses

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Bylaw Management Expenses

28



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Public Safety - Bylaw

2025 Revenue Budget 125,500              

Provision - Annual Fees & Charges Review 1,100                  
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 12,700                

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 13,800                11.00%
% change

 
2026 Revenue Budget 139,300              
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 13,800                11.00%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 1,250,183           

Salaries Obligation 12,700                
Other 1,100                  

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 13,800                1.10%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (700)                    

2026 Expenditure Budget 1,263,283           
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 13,100                1.05%

% change
 

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) -                      
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.00%

29



Public Safety – Fire Department 
To safeguard and serve our community through the promotion and provision of education, 
emergency medical and fire services in order to protect life, property and the environment. 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

 Operations and Support 
 Fire Prevention and Public Education 
 Emergency Management and Planning 
 Public Safety and Community Service 
 Administration 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



PUBLIC SAFETY - FIRE REVENUES  

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

FIRE PREVENTION & PUBLIC SAFETY
Fire Prevention 4040 450,200 465,400 15,200
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 0 146,200 146,200

Total Fire Prevention & Public Safety Revenues 450,200 611,600 161,400

Total Fire Revenues 450,200 611,600 161,400

PUBLIC SAFETY - FIRE EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

FIRE ADMINISTRATION
Admin Fire Department 4010 1,750,942 1,755,742 4,800
Fire Budget Savings 4017 -15,000 -15,000 0

Total Fire Administration 1,735,942 1,740,742 4,800

FIRE OPERATIONS & SUPPORT
Fire Apparatus 4020 385,000 436,900 51,900
Fire Operations 4030 10,667,029 10,774,229 107,200
Dispatch Services 4044 394,662 394,662 0
General Preparedness 3010 15,000 15,000 0
North Shore Emergency Management 8205 449,661 449,661 0
North Shore Rescue 8208 19,301 19,301 0

Total Fire Operations & Support Expenses 11,930,653 12,089,753 159,100

FIRE PREVENTION & PUBLIC SAFETY
Fire Prevention 4040 1,184,963 1,184,063 -900

Total Fire Prevention & Public Safety Expenses 1,184,963 1,184,063 -900

Total Fire Expenses 14,851,558 15,014,558 163,000

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

31



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Public Safety - Fire

2025 Revenue Budget 450,200              

False Alarms 4,800                  
Fees Fire Inspection 4,600                  
Provision - Annual Fees & Charges Review 5,800                  
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 146,200              

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 161,400              35.85%
% change

2026 Revenue Budget 611,600              
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 161,400              35.85%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 14,851,558         

Salaries Obligation 91,300                
Goods & Supplies, including Fuel 45,000                
Other 25,100                

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 161,400              1.09%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments 1,600                  

2026 Expenditure Budget 15,014,558         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 163,000              1.10%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) -                      
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.00%

32



Public Safety – Police 
The RCMP, with Police Support Services, serves and protects the City. 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES 

 Municipal traffic enforcement 
 Investigative services 
 Crime reduction and prevention 
 Community policing 
 Youth intervention 
 Mental Health Integrated Outreach Team 
 Integrated First Nations Unit 

 

 

  

33



PUBLIC SAFETY - POLICE (RCMP) REVENUES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

NON-SHARED (CNV ONLY) PROGRAMS
Police Finance & Administration

Administrative Police Non-Shared 4710 785,400 794,600 9,200
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 0 148,836 148,836

Total Police Finance & Administration 785,400 943,436 158,036

Police Contract
Transfer from Reserves 4700 375,000 375,000 0
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety 0 647,245 647,245

Total Police Contract 375,000 1,022,245 647,245

Total Non-Shared (CNV Only) Revenues 1,160,400 1,965,681 805,281

1,160,400 1,965,681 805,281

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total Police (RCMP) Revenues

34



PUBLIC SAFETY - POLICE (RCMP) EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

MUNICIPAL SHARED PROGRAMS
Police Finance & Administration

Administrative Police Shared 4610 1,134,800 1,237,800 103,000
Telecom 4620 4,720,100 4,937,300 217,200

Total Police Finance & Administration 5,854,900 6,175,100 320,200

Police Administration Support
Records & Information 4615 1,612,600 1,603,100 -9,500

Total Police Administration Support 1,612,600 1,603,100 -9,500

Police Operations Support
North Shore Dispatch Police 4621 183,800 0 -183,800
Operational Support 4623 836,400 702,300 -134,100
Keep of Prisoners 4630 425,300 433,400 8,100
Client Services Support 4640 1,197,700 1,236,800 39,100
Member Support 4660 310,000 315,700 5,700

Total Police Operations Support 2,953,200 2,688,200 -265,000

Police Community Support   
GBB Facility Operations 4600 706,100 697,800 -8,300
Front Counter 4622 663,500 697,200 33,700
Victim Services 4641 381,127 500,650 119,523
Crime Prevention 4642 110,510 105,900 -4,610
Block Watch 4643 96,750 87,700 -9,050
Crime Reduction Team 4645 15,000 5,000 -10,000
False Alarm Reduction 4646 8,000 0 -8,000
At Risk Youth Schools 4653 7,250 7,250 0
Youth Intervention 4655 10,000 10,000 0

Total Police Community Support 1,998,237 2,111,500 113,263

Police Auxiliary
Auxiliary Police 4644 0 5,000 5,000

Total Police Auxiliary 0 5,000 5,000

Total Shared Program Expenses 12,418,937 12,582,900 163,963

Recovery for Shared Costs 4701 -6,706,018 -6,724,145 -18,127
Administrative Police Non-Shared 4710 -294,300 -296,400 -2,100

Total Recoveries for Shared Programs Expenses -7,000,318 -7,020,545 -20,227

Net Municipal Shared Programs Expenses 5,418,619 5,562,355 143,736

Variance
2026 Annual

to 
2025 Annual

 Programs 

35



PUBLIC SAFETY - POLICE (RCMP) EXPENSES (continued)

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

NON-SHARED (CNV ONLY) PROGRAMS
Police Community Support   

CNV Community Policing 4720 125,900 129,400 3,500
Crimestoppers 8220 6,200 6,200 0

Total Police Community Support 132,100 135,600 3,500

Police Contract   
Police Contract 4700 15,188,486 15,835,731 647,245

Total Police Contract (CNV Only) 15,188,486 15,835,731 647,245

Total Non-Shared (CNV Only) Expenses 15,320,586 15,971,331 650,745

20,739,205 21,533,686 794,481Total Police (RCMP) Expenses

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

36



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Public Safety - Police 
 CNV Share (1)

2025 Revenue Budget 1,160,400           

Provision - Annual Fees & Charges Review 9,200                  
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety - PSS 148,836              
Curbside Surplus to Public Safety - RCMP Contract 647,245              

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 805,281              69.40%
% change

2026 Revenue Budget 1,965,681           
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 805,281              69.40%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 20,739,205         

Salaries Obligation 94,900                
Recoveries, due to updated cost sharing (CNV/DNV) 171,353              
North Shore Dispatch, savings from move to E-COMM (183,800)             
Telecom program (E-COMM Levy increase) 139,620              
Other (42,925)               
Insurance (21,112)               
RCMP Contract Increase 647,245              

2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 805,281              3.88%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (10,800)               

2026 Expenditure Budget 21,533,686         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 794,481              3.83%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) -                      
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.00%

(1) For 2026, CNV Share is 46.54% and DNV Share is 53.46%

37



The Offices of the Chief Administrative Officer and Mayor 
Mayor & Council provide governance for the City of North Vancouver and the government 
organization.  The Chief Administrative Officer provides executive leadership to the organization 
and is responsible for overseeing municipal operations and staff. The Mayor’s office staff 
provide administrative, communications and research support for the Mayor.  

 
KEY RESPONSIBILITIES  

Mayor, Council, and CAO 

 Mayor and Council govern the municipality through 
o Policy-making 
o Budget approval 
o Representation of the City on various committees 
o Oversight of organizational outcomes and the Chief 

Administrative Officer 
 

 CAO 
o Work with Council to develop and implement its strategic priorities  
o Liaise between Mayor, Council and CNV staff 
o Oversee the affairs and operations of CNV and its departments 
o Advise Council and CNV staff on obligations, legislative interpretation and the extent 

of municipal authority 

External Boards & Commissions  
 North Vancouver City Library:  

o Provides an inclusive space supporting lifelong learning and community 
connection.  

o Offers free and equitable access to information and ideas in various formats 
 
 Museum & Archives ("MONOVA")  

o Cares for the City's cultural, archival, and museum collections 
 

 North Vancouver Recreation and Culture  
o Improves health and well-being of North Vancouver residents 
o Inspires community through quality recreation and cultural opportunities 

 

DIVISIONS 

 Mayor, Council, and CAO 
 

 External Boards and Commissions 
o North Vancouver City Library 
o Museum & Archives of North Vancouver 
o North Vancouver Recreation and Culture 

  

38



THE OFFICES OF THE CAO & MAYOR EXPENSES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

CAO AND MAYOR & COUNCIL
Management and Support 1110 & 2610 1,111,947 1,107,647 -4,300
CAO Contingency 1111 40,000 40,000 0
City Sponsorship & Event Attendance 1115 30,000 30,000 0
Admin CAO Corporate 1120 266,100 267,950 1,850
Civic Engagement 1125 10,000 10,000 0
Council 2620 804,105 791,596 -12,509
Sister Cities 2631 10,000 10,000 0
Regional Legislative Meetings 3340 643 643 0
Council Grants 8401 30,000 30,000 0
Travel Grants 8410 2,500 2,500 0

Total CAO and Mayor & Council 2,305,295 2,290,336 (14,959)

2,305,295 2,290,336 -14,959

MAJOR EXTERNAL BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
City Library 8601 5,610,960 5,728,835 117,875
Museum & Archives 8602 813,791 832,755 18,964
NV Rec & Culture Commission 8603 7,342,339 7,537,906 195,567
Public Art Admin 8031 6,000 6,000 0
Public Art Maintenance 8032 20,000 20,000 0
Community Art Program 8040 15,000 15,000 0

Total Boards and Commissions 13,808,090 14,140,496 332,406

13,808,090 14,140,496 332,406

16,113,385 16,430,832 317,447

THE OFFICES OF THE CAO & MAYOR REVENUES

2025 Annual
Budget

2026 Annual
Budget

MAJOR EXTERNAL BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
NV Recreation and Culture 8603 94,252 94,252 0

Total Major External Boards and Commissions Revenue 94,252 94,252 0

94,252 94,252 0Total Offices of the CAO & Mayor Revenues

Total Major External Boards and Commissions Expenses

Total Offices of the CAO & Mayor Expenses

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

 Programs 
Variance

2026 Annual
to 

2025 Annual

Total CAO and Mayor & Council Expenses

39



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - The Offices of the CAO and Mayor
CAO incl. Mayor & Council

2025 Revenue Budget 94,252                

2026 Revenue Budget 94,252                
2026 Revenue Budget Increase (Decrease) -                      0.00%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 16,113,385         

Salaries Obligation 1,100                  
Other (4,709)                 
Major Agencies 332,406              

Library 117,875         
Museum & Archives 18,964           
North Vancouver Recreation Commission 195,567         

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 328,797              2.04%
% change

Budget Transfers to/from other City Departments (11,350)               

2026 Expenditure Budget 16,430,832         
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase (Decrease) 317,447              1.97%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 328,797              
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.42%

40



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - Library

2025 Revenue Budget 225,212              

Sales and Rentals 10,655                
Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 10,655                4.73%

% change

2026 Revenue Budget 235,867              
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) 10,655                4.73%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 5,836,172           

Salaries Obligation 57,700                
Library Materials 45,825                
Heat, Hydro, Water & Sewer 21,040                
Other 3,965                  

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 128,530              2.20%
% change

2026 Expenditure Budget 5,964,702           
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 128,530              2.20%

% change

2025 Municipal Contribution 5,610,960           

2026 Municipal Contribution 5,728,835           
Municipal Contribution Increase/(Decrease) 117,875              2.10%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 117,875              
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.15%

41



2026 Operating Budget Analysis - MONOVA
Museum Budget CNV Share (50%)

2025 Revenue Budget 758,500         

Provincial and Federal Grants (50,000)          
Other Earned Income (23,025)          

Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) (73,025)          

2026 Revenue Budget 685,475         
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) (73,025)          (36,513)               -9.63%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 2,386,082      

Salaries Obligation 44,400           
Marketing (10,000)          
Exhibit Items (20,000)          
Strata Costs (20,216)          
Repair and Maintenance (22,844)          
Other (6,437)            

Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) (35,097)          

2026 Expenditure Budget 2,350,985      
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) (35,097)          (17,549)               -1.47%

% change
2025 Municipal Contribution 1,627,582      813,791              

2026 Municipal Contribution 1,665,510      832,755              
Municipal Contribution Increase/(Decrease) 37,928           18,964                2.33%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 18,964                
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.02%

42



2026 Budget Analysis - North Vancouver Recreation and Culture Commission

NVRC Budget

2025 Revenue Budget 16,720,733    
 
Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) -                 

2026 Revenue Budget 16,720,733    
2026 Revenue Budget Increase/(Decrease) -                 0.00%

% change

2025 Expenditure Budget 38,262,678    

Expenses, net 1,248,048      
Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 1,248,048      

2026 Expenditure Budget 39,510,726    
2026 Expenditure Budget Increase/(Decrease) 1,248,048      3.26%

% change
City Share(1)

2025 Municipal Contribution 21,541,945    7,342,339           
2026 Municipal Contribution 22,789,993    7,537,906           
Municipal Contribution Increase/(Decrease) 1,248,048      195,567              2.66%

% change

2026 Net Tax Draw $ Increase/(Decrease) 195,567              
2026 Overall Tax Impact (assuming 1% tax increase = $775K) 0.25%

Notes
(1) CNV Share
 - CNV contribution for Recreation Services is 33.94%
 - CNV contribution for Pinnacle Pool is 100%
 - CNV contribution for Arts and Culture Grants is 50%
 - CNV contribution for Building Utilities is by building ownership

43



Attachment 2

2025 
Annual 

Budget ($)

2026 
Annual

Budget ($)

Variance 
2025 to 2026 

($)
Variance (%) Notes

CURB ACCESS AND PARKING PLAN REVENUES

CAPP - Transportation

          Parking Meters 320,800       1,842,600    1,521,800       474%
1,306 pay parking stallswere activated starting September 15, 
2025.  Revenue for 2026 is budgeted based on actual usage in 
the first month. 

          Permits Parking 89,800         323,300       233,500          260%
Budget is based on anticipated permits from households in the 
permit areas (resident monthly rate of $8.33 for a 1st vehicle 
and $12.50 for a 2nd vehicle). 

CAPP - Bylaw

  Fees/Fines 887,100       1,350,000    462,900          52% Budget assumes an increase due to additional meters.

1,297,700 3,515,900 2,218,200 171%

CURB ACCESS AND PARKING PLAN EXPENSES

CAPP - Transportation

          Wages & Benefits 106,700       317,300       210,600 197%

          Pay Station & Sign Maintenance 74,700         233,300       158,600 212%

          Internal Loan Repayment 16,800         180,500       163,700 974% Repayments of internal borrowing from the Civic Amenity 
Reserve Fund, including interest

          Transfer to Capital - 150,000 150,000 - Funding for asset management, including future occupancy
studies and/or installation of new meters as required.

CAPP - Bylaw

          Wages & Benefits 507,000       664,600       157,600 31% Budgets assume existing costs, but for a full year of operations 
adjusted for inflation

705,200 1,545,700 840,500 119%

592,500 1,970,200 1,377,700 233%

 Programs 

 Total Revenues 

 Total  Expenses 

2026 Draft Curb Access & Parking Plan Budget

 Net 

Budgets assume existing costs, but for a full year of operations 
adjusted for inflation

1



 2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

CAPP
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

CAPP1 Provision for Curb Access & Parking 
Planning

Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

150,000 -            -            -            -            150,000 Funding for future occupancy studies and/or installation of new meters, if required.

Total Funding Requested 150,000 -            -            -            -            150,000 
Total Contributions - -            -            -            -            - 
Net Funding Requested 150,000 -            -            -            -            150,000 

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

2



Attachment 3

2026 DRAFT SHIPYARDS BUDGET

2025 
Annual 

Budget ($)

2026 
Annual

Budget ($)

Variance 
2025 to 
2026 ($)

Variance 
(%) Notes

SHIPYARDS REVENUES

Rent 920,000        1,000,000     80,000         8.7% Rent revenues increased due to a boost from contractual

Parking and Filming Agreements 325,500        330,600        5,100

Sale of Services 260,000        304,400        44,400

Other Revenues 235,000        233,800        (1,200)

shared profits with tenants and annual rent increments.

1.6%

17.1% Skate rental revenue increased due to increases in demand. 

-0.5%

Total Shipyards Revenue 1,740,500 1,868,800     128,300       7.4%

City Contribution 921,700 955,700 34,000 3.7%

City's contribution increase is related to some event 
management previously performed by NVRC for CNV that 
has been moved to the Shipyards, offset by reduced costs 
paid to NVRC.

2,662,200 2,824,500 162,300 6.1%

SHIPYARDS EXPENSES

 Shipyards Admin 344,000 351,200        7,200 2.1%

 Events & Programming 500,700 654,700        154,000 30.8%

Addition of a new programming manger to improve public 
event quality, and also generate increased revenue through 
more venue rentals and attraction of additional outside 
financial support.

 Marketing & Promotion 51,900 53,000          1,100 2.1%

 Ops & Maintenance 1,578,700 1,578,700     0 0.0%

 Site Hosts 186,900 186,900        0 0.0%

2,662,200 2,824,500 162,300 6.1%

 Programs 

 Total Shipyards Revenues 

 Total Shipyards Expenses 

1



 2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Shipyards and Waterfront
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

S1

Block Funding - The Shipyards

Parks & Public 
Spaces: 
Shipyards & 
Waterfront

35,000 35,000      35,000      35,000      35,000      175,000 Block Funding to acquire capital items under $10,000 for The Shipyards public spaces (Shipyards 
Commons, Cates Deck, Shipbuilders' Square, St. Roch Dock and Burrard Dry Dock Pier).

S2
The Shipyards Furnishings Repairs & 
Maintenance

Parks & Public 
Spaces: 
Shipyards & 
Waterfront

30,000 30,000      30,000      30,000      30,000      150,000 This project aims to maintain user experience and visitor comfort by replacing aging furniture with new 
tables, chairs umbrellas and picnic tables. The large CNV umbrellas will offer shade from the heat in 
Shipbuilders Square paired with seating throughout public areas.

S3

FIFA

Parks & Public 
Spaces: 
Shipyards & 
Waterfront

100,000 -            -            -            -            100,000 Funding support is requested to cover key production, programming, and public safety expenses related 
the live broadcast and public viewing of the full FIFA tournament schedule.

S4

The Shipyards Plan - Implementation

Parks & Public 
Spaces: 
Shipyards & 
Waterfront

175,000 175,000    -            -            -            350,000 This project will strengthen the City’s events and festivals delivery by supporting community and cultural 
groups, enhancing event delivery across public spaces, and advancing the goals of The Shipyards Plan 
to foster a vibrant and inclusive city.

Total Funding Requested 340,000 240,000    65,000      65,000      65,000      775,000 
Total Contributions - -            -            -            -            - 
Net Funding Requested 340,000 240,000    65,000      65,000      65,000      775,000 

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

2



Attachment 4

2025 
Annual 

Budget ($)

2026 
Annual

Budget ($)

Variance 
2025 to 
2026 ($)

Variance 
(%) Notes

CEMETERY REVENUES

Cemetery Administration 620,389        661,182       40,793        6.6%
Cemetery revenues are projected to increase, driven by 
changes in the amount of plots sold and inflation."

Filming Admin - Cemetery 27,050          27,050         0 0.0%

647,439 688,232 40,793 6.3%

CEMETERY EXPENSES

Cemetery Operations 457,797        443,302       (14,495) -3.2%

Cemetery Administration 189,642        244,930       55,288 29.2%

Auxiliary staff costs reallocated to the Admin program, 
partially offset by inflationary increases in materials and 
services.
Expenses are projected to increase, driven by changes 
in the amount of plots sold and inflation.

647,439 688,232 40,793 6.3%

 Programs 

 Total Cemetery Revenues 

 Total Cemetery Expenses 

2026 Draft Cemetery Budget

1



 2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Cemetery
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

C1 City Cemetery Infill and Infrastructure 
Program

Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

- -            100,000    -            100,000    200,000           Dedicated funding from the Cemetery Reserve to finance the construction of new burial and cremation 
options to meet community needs. This project will involve necessary geotechnical investigations and 
contracted services to construct new burial plots.

Total Funding Requested - -            100,000    -            100,000    200,000           
Total Contributions - -            -            -            -            - 
Net Funding Requested - -            100,000    -            100,000    200,000           

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

2



2026-2030 DRAFT CAPITAL PLAN 

OCTOBER , 2025  

1



 

Table of Contents 
2026-2030 Draft Capital Plan 

 
 
Summary                                                                                                                                   3 
Land and Major Investments                                                                                                     4 
Buildings                                                                                                                                    5 
Streets and Transportation                                                                                                        7 
Parks and Environment                                                                                                           10 
Information Technology                                                                                                           12 
Vehicles and Equipment                                                                                                          17 
Block Funding                                                                                                                          19 
Other Projects                                                                                                                          21 
2026-2030 Funding                                                                                                                  24 

 
  

2



Summary 

The Capital Plan provides a framework to organize and prioritize capital projects for the 
construction of new facilities and infrastructure in the City, the maintenance and replacement of 
existing capital assets, and delivery of various other projects. Plan informs Council and the public 
of the projects and their descriptions and timing, and allows for guidance and feedback. It also 
enables planning for the funding of these projects. The Corporation of the City of North 
Vancouver ("CNV") is planning capital spending of $17  million over the next 5 years. This 
spending is advancing all of the priorities in Council’s Strategic Plan. 

2026-2030 Capital Plan Summary 

$s Base Program  
(a)  

New Initiatives 
(b) Total 

Land and Major Investments      34,805,520   -      34,805,520  
Buildings        8,283,693        1,988,537      10,272,230  
Streets and Transportation      17,183,000      50,329,623      67,512,623  
Parks and Environment      10,145,000        ,750,000      1 ,895,000  
Vehicles and Equipment      14,644,562           180,000      14,824,562  
Information Technology      13,034,600        8,828,900      21,863,500  
Studies and Other        3,864,338        2,502,000        6,366,338  
Block Funding        3,070,000   -        3,070,000  

 Total    105,030,713      ,579,060    17 ,609,773  

2026 Capital Plan Summary 

$s Base Program 
(a)  

New Initiatives 
(b) Total 

Land and Major Investments          34,805,520  - 34,805,520
Buildings            1,384,253         1,323,714  2,707,967
Streets and Transportation            3,650,000         7,655,923  11,305,923
Parks and Environment            1,620,000            855,000           2,475,000  
Vehicles and Equipment            2,174,476            100,000           2,274,476  
Information Technology            2,094,500         4,090,000           6,184,500  
Studies and Other            2,434,338         1,292,000           3,726,338  
Block Funding 600,000  - 600,000

 Total           48,763,086       15,316,637         64,079,723  
(a) Base Program: Projects involving the maintenance and repair of infrastructure, and ongoing program delivery.
(b) New Initiatives: Projects that provide new facilities or levels of service to the community.

3



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Land and Major Investments
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

1 - 01 Provision for External Contribution Finance & 
Economic 
Development

15,000,000    -          -          -          -          15,000,000    Project to use external funding and contributions unsecured at the time of Financial Plan 
preparation, should they become available.

1 - 02 Provision for Affordable Housing Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

215,520         -          -          -          -          215,520         General provision of funding to be available for purchase of a building, site or a portion 
thereof, likely in partnership with BC Housing, CMHC, or a non-profit society, to facilitate the 
creation of new affordable housing. The Affordable Housing Reserve Fund was established 
to facilitate CNV's housing objectives with the current balance in the Fund the result of 
continual funding from amenity contributions to meet these goals.

1- 03 Strategic Land Acquisition Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

11,600,000    -          -          -          -          11,600,000    Funds for strategic land purchases that may be required to achieve Council's vision and 
priorities. Funds would be drawn from the Tax Sale Land Reserve where use of funds are 
permitted for land acquisitions.Tax Sale Land Reserve balances would at all times remain 
above $20 million as a "Financial Safety Net", ensuring CNV's financial resiliency.

1 - 04 Provision for Park Acquisition Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

7,890,000      -          -          -          -          7,890,000      Project to use external funding and contributions unsecured at the time of Financial Plan 
preparation, should they become available.

1 - 05 Real Estate Consultant Advice Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

100,000         -          -          -          -          100,000         Consulting services are required on a recurring basis throughout each year to deal with 
emerging potential acquisitions, dispositions or calculations of Community Amenity 
Contributions.  Advice reuqired includes:  real Estate consultants, surveyors, financial 
advisors, lawyers, etc.

Total Funding Requested 34,805,520    -          -          -          -          34,805,520    
Total Contributions 15,000,000    -          -          -          -          15,000,000    
Net Funding Requested 19,805,520    -          -          -          -          19,805,520    

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

4



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Buildings
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

2 - 01 Mickey McDougall Building Retrofit 
and Flicka Renovations

Office of the 
Deputy CAO

112,651          -               -               -               -               112,651          Renovations will be undertaken to improve the overall energy efficiency, accessibility and fire 
life safety systems of the Mickey McDougall Recreation Centre, along with interior 
renovations to accommodate the Flicka Gymnastics Club through a lease arrangement with 
the City of North Vancouver.

2 - 02 Fuel pump upgrades - Operations Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

120,000          -               -               -               -               120,000          Fuel pump are at end of life. Upgrades are needed for hardware and software. Fuel pumps 
are used by Operations staff, Bylaw, NSEM, and the Fire Department making them a critical 
piece of the City's emergency infrastructure.

2 - 03 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement – 
HJCRC

NVRC 75,000            150,000       150,000       200,000       -               575,000          This funding will address any post construction matters that impact service or functionality in 
the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre once NVRC is operating the facility.

2 - 04 John Braithwaite Community Centre NVRC 450,000          115,000       80,000         130,000       80,000         855,000          This project will deliver functional upgrades, accessibiity improvements and planned major 
components replacement in the John Braithwaite Community Centre.

2 - 05 Centennial Theatre - repair / 
replacement

NVRC 110,000          680,000       625,000       650,000       50,000         2,115,000       This project will deliver functional upgrades, accessibiity improvements and planned major 
components replacement in the Centennial Theatre.

2 - 06 City Heritage Buildings M&R Corporate 
Services

200,000          -               -               -               -               200,000          Assessment, maintenance and repair of City-owned heritage buildings as recommended by 
an independent expert specialising in heritage preservation.

2 - 07 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
City Hall

Corporate 
Services

186,023          156,800       -               -               -               342,823          Portion of the funding for maintenance, repair and replacement of equipment and building 
component of the City Hall Building.

2 - 08 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
Gerry Brewer Building

Corporate 
Services

31,182            351,842       449,316       380,511       148,556       1,361,407       Funding for maintenance, repair and replacement of equipment and building component of 
the Gerry Brewer Building. 

2 - 08 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
Gerry Brewer Building

Corporate 
Services

35,818            404,158       516,124       437,089       170,644       1,563,833       Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

2 - 09 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
Fire Hall

Corporate 
Services

26,575            22,400         33,600         33,600         56,000         172,175          Funding for maintenance, repair and replacement of equipment and building components of 
the Fire Hall

2 - 10 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
Civic Library

Corporate 
Services

33,218            56,000         56,000         84,000         84,000         313,218          Funding for maintenance, repair and replacement of equipment and building components at 
the City Library

2 - 11 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
City Owned / Non-City Used Buildings

Corporate 
Services

26,575            22,400         33,600         56,000         56,000         194,575          Funding for maintenance, repair and replacement of equipment and building component for 
Non-CNV used properties (i.e. rental properties, 15 Chesterfield, holding properties, etc...). 

2 - 12 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
Parks Buildings

Corporate 
Services

13,287            22,400         56,000         56,000         56,000         203,687          Funding for repair and replacement of facilities equipment and building components relating 
to City Parks.

2 - 13 Maintenance, Repair & Replacement - 
Operations Centre

Corporate 
Services

26,575            22,400         56,000         56,000         56,000         216,975          Funding for maintenance, repair and replacement of equipment and building components of 
the Operations Centre.

2 - 14 EV Fleet Transition Infrastructure Corporate 
Services

311,063          62,399         296,032       123,035       183,357       975,886          Implementation of the required electrical upgrades and associated infrastructure for the 
Operations Centre and Fire Hall to enable the CNV transition to an EV fleet as detailed in the 
EV Fleet Transition roadmap and report.

2 - 15 Fire Hall Assessment and Lifecycle 
Analysis

Corporate 
Services

50,000            -               -               -               -               50,000            To conduct an assesment of the City's Fire Hall including conducting a life cycle analysis to 
determine the current condition, lifespan, and likely capital investment required for a 10 year 
period.  

2 - 16 Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

200,000          -               -               -               -               200,000          This project is to prepare for and implement the disposition of the City-owned Harry Jerome 
Neighbourhood Lands, which is intended to be disposed of for redevelopment as part of the 
2022 Council approved funding strategy for the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation 
Centre.  This complex project includes external expertise for:  preparing and conducting the 
procurement process; market and financial analysis; proponent selection; negotiations; 
surveying; engineering analysis; and legal services.

5



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Buildings
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

2 - 17 Council Chambers Update Office of the 
Deputy CAO

700,000          -               -               -               -               700,000          To update and re-configure Council Chambers to make meetings more accessible. 

Total Funding Requested 2,707,967       2,065,799    2,351,672    2,206,235    940,557       10,272,230     
Total Contributions 148,469          404,158       516,124       437,089       170,644       1,676,484       
Net Funding Requested 2,559,498       1,661,641    1,835,547    1,769,146    769,913       8,595,746       

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

6



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Streets and Transportation
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

3 - 01 Pavement Management: Streets & 
Lanes

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

1,500,000     1,500,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  9,000,000     Cracksealing, patching, resurfacing, reconstructing pavements and related works in 
streets and lanes to preserve or extend useful life and may also include replacing 
sections of curbs, curb and gutter, and/or sidewalks. Will also include periodic 
pavement condition data collection. The implications of this project not proceeding is 
the risk of asset deterioration to an unacceptable state creating more costly repairs and 
impactful construction delays.

3 - 02 Marine Structures Repairs & 
Proactive Maintenance

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

800,000        1,383,000  -             -             -             2,183,000     Complete structural repairs of deficiencies as well as preventative maintenance work 
identified through the Waterfront & Marine Structures Inspections completed in May 
2024. The repair and maintenance work will be carried out over three seasons to 
reduce impact on the Shipyards and waterfront access.

3 - 03 Provision for Local Area Services - 
City Share

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

500,000        -             -             -             -             500,000        Local Area Services are municipal works or services that benefit specific properties in a 
limited area and the cost of which is recovered in whole or in part by a special tax on 
those properties. Typical projects include lane paving, street lighting, sidewalks, and 
slope stabilization works with costs being shared between the benefiting properties and 
the City-at-large. Note, there have been very few successful petitions over the past 
decade and it is difficult to anticipate future demand. 

3 - 04 Mobility Data Collection and 
Monitoring

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

100,000        200,000     200,000     200,000     200,000     900,000        This project will fund staffing, procurement, development and application of various 
transportation data collection, analysis and communication tools, including: automated 
volume and speed counters, transportation forecasting system, traffic modelling, 
intercept surveys, open data platforms, and third-party data licensing.

3 - 05 Neighbourhood Traffic Safety and 
Infrastructure Improvements 
Program

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

400,000        500,000     500,000     500,000     500,000     2,400,000     This project will address site-specific safety issues in various City neighbourhoods and 
develop a new approach to neighbourhood traffic safety and access to guide future 
improvement plans. Works may include, but are not limited to, the installation of new 
and updated traffic signs, pavement markings, intersection safety improvements, traffic 
calming elements (speed bumps, bump outs) and pedestrian beacon installation. Also, 
this project will implement infrastructure recommended by School Travel Plans at the 
City's elementary and high schools if warranted. Improvements will consist of measures 
to address vehicle circulation and parking issues, filling gaps in the active 
transportation network and enhance the comfort and safety on identified popular 
walking routes to school - elements may include: bumpouts, sidewalks, signage and 
pavement markings etc. Project will also support annual planning and coordination work 
with the school district. Public requests for improvements received are prioritized 
through data collection and analysis prepared by CNV Staff. 

3 - 06 New Traffic Signal Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

656,000        900,000     950,000     1,000,000  530,000     4,036,000     Installation of pedestrian crossing facilities at locations where signal is warranted based 
on existing pedestrian, cyclist and vehicular traffic volume. The requested funds are 
needed for design and construction of new traffic controlled device such as traffic 
signal. Proposed 2026 deliverables will be determined later this year. Brooksbank and 
East 5th Street is under consideration.

3 - 07 New Pedestrian Crossing Facilities Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

420,000        500,000     350,000     400,000     400,000     2,070,000     equested funds are needed for design and construction of new pedestrian crossing 
facilities including but not limited to, new special crosswalks and rectangular rapid 
flashing beacon (RRFB). Queensbury and 7th/4th, and St. Georges and 16th" are 
under consideration.

3 - 08 Pedestrian and Roadway Lighting 
Implementation 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

400,000        550,000     450,000     450,000     450,000     2,300,000     Design and construction of new roadway and pedestrian level lighting throughout the 
City as per the street lighting implementation plan completed in 2019.

3 - 09 City-Wide LED Street Light Upgrade Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

100,000        60,000       60,000       60,000       60,000       340,000        Deliver remaining LED upgrade which involves extensive pole  and fixture replacement 
of old style pedestrian fixture that are incompatible with our current LED fixtures. In 
2026, implementation of a Street Lighting Central Management System is being 
prioritized.

7



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Streets and Transportation
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

3 - 10 Street Lighting and Traffic Signal 
Pole Replacement

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

200,000        250,000     250,000     300,000     300,000     1,300,000     Planned replacement of deteriorated street light and traffic signal poles as prioritized 
based on 2022 condition assessment.  The City's inventory of street light and traffic 
signal poles comprises of approximately 2000 poles, replacement also includes 
associated pole bases and electrical conduits.

3 - 11 Traffic Signal Upgrades Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

500,000        550,000     550,000     560,000     540,000     2,700,000     Upgrade of existing traffic signal equipment in the City. Locations and project details to 
be determined per results from various traffic engineering analysis and prioritized to 
improve traffic signal reliability. 

3 - 12 Multi-modal Network Plan Update Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

50,000         300,000     300,000     -             -             650,000        This project lays the groundwork for updating the OCP Transportation Network Road 
Classification Map to reflect a city-wide, multi-modal network enabling a systems-based 
approach to transportation planning. It builds on the Mobility Strategy to ensure all 
modes remain integrated and relevant within ongoing initiatives such as Bus Rapid 
Transit and the Lonsdale Great Streets project. The work addresses the need for 
clearer modal priorities in constrained corridors and includes updating regulatory tools 
to secure road space and implementation authority. Aligned with existing mobility efforts 
and using current staff resources, this project will inform future Street Design 
Guidelines.

3 - 13 Street Design Guidelines Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

348,000        -             -             -             -             348,000        This project will establish street design guidelines to support safe, consistent, and 
inclusive street design across the City. The guidelines will improve the efficiency of 
planning and implementation processes, ensuring alignment with Council’s Strategic 
Priorities and adopted Strategies. They will also enhance staff’s ability to respond to 
development applications and capital project requirements. 

3 - 14 Rapid Transit Studies Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

125,000        125,000     -             -             -             250,000        This project involves conducting supporting transportation studies to complement 
TransLink’s ongoing planning for future rapid transit along key east-west and north-
south corridors. These studies will identify infrastructure needs, policy considerations, 
and partnership opportunities to enhance the efficiency and equity of transit service, 
aligning with the City’s strategic priorities including climate action and sustainable 
growth. Funding is essential to deliver the local analysis required to support 
coordinated decision-making and ensure successful implementation in partnership with 
TransLink, North Shore municipalities, and First Nations governments.

3 - 15 Greening Streets Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

-               200,000     -             -             2,000,000  2,200,000     This project will deliver street renovations that target the hottest blocks in the City to 
transform them into spaces that better align with broader climate, enviornment, mobility 
and livability goals that still support the core functions of the street for emergency 
reponse and resident access. The first block identified for rennovation to capitalize on 
redevelopment is the 200 block East 16th Street. 

3 - 16 Mobility Network Implementation Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

2,270,060     2,760,000  5,000,000  5,000,000  5,000,000  20,030,060   This project will execute on the community engagement, design and construction of 
priority corridors identified in the Council approved Priority Mobility Network Strategy 
(2019) and continue to prioritize future work based on approved evaluation criteria. This 
work will result in infrastructure tailored to the unique street context and suitable for a 
broad range of human and electrified mobility devices like bicycles and scooters with 
users of All Ages and Abilities. Focus for the next 4 years of the plan will be on the 
Upper Levels Greenway, the Mid-town Corridor,  and the Chesterfield Corridor. 

3 - 16 Mobility Network Implementation Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

1,000,000     -             1,500,000  1,500,000  1,000,000  5,000,000     Portion of the work expected to be funded by Translink and Province.

3 - 17 New Sidewalks To Complete The 
Pedestrian Network

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

1,551,863     1,984,700  1,500,000  1,500,000  1,500,000  8,036,563     This project will enable the design, public engagement and construction of new 
sidewalk segments to complete the pedestrian network. 

8



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Streets and Transportation
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

3 - 17 New Sidewalks To Complete The 
Pedestrian Network

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

105,000        -             -             -             -             105,000        Portion of the work expected to be funded by Translink and Province.

3 - 18 Transit Improvement Program Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

100,000        110,000     207,000     285,000     60,000       762,000        This program will support technical study, design and implementation of transit priority 
interventions like bus lanes, signal priority and bus bulges as well as accessibility 
upgrades to improve access to transit. This project will also deliver new transit shelters 
at key locations where additional capacity is required.

3 - 18 Transit Improvement Program Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

-               25,000       100,000     -             -             125,000        Portion of the work expected to be funded by Translink and Province.

3 - 19 Public Realm Improvements Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

30,000         30,000       115,000     30,000       30,000       235,000        Provides streetscape elements to enhance the experience of the public realm. 
Elements may include, but are not limited to, benches, shelters, signage, water 
fountains, misting stations, waste receptacles, bike racks, tactile walking surface 
indicators, accessibility improvements, and holiday lighting. The program will also 
support updating boulevard guidelines to respond to evolving community needs and 
best practices. 

3 - 20 Sidewalks - Infill and Reconstruction Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

150,000        200,000     200,000     225,000     225,000     1,000,000     This project will replace deteriorated sidewalks to eliminate tripping hazards, upgrade 
deficient sidewalks no longer meeting community needs, and complete small infill 
projects to better connect capital or development projects with the surrounding network. 
The implications of this project not proceeding is an inability to replace deteriorating 
and deficient sidewalks and an increase in operational risk by not eliminating tripping 
hazards and reducing conflict between sidewalk users, parked cars and other elements.

3 - 21 Foot of Lonsdale Streetscape 
Upgrade

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

-               148,500     893,500     -             -             1,042,000     In 2016, CNV launched a successful pilot to create a vibrant restaurant zone at the foot 
of Lonsdale by expanding the patio area and constructing a wooden boardwalk to 
continue to provide space for pedestrians. The boardwalk is approaching end of life and 
needs to be replaced. This project will design, engage on, and construct a refreshed 
streetscape experience that aligns with the high quality aesthetic standard of the 
Shipyards area with larger patios, a concrete sidewalk to replace the wooden 
boardwalk, new street trees, pick-up/drop-off zones and other character defining 
elements.

Total Funding Requested 11,305,923   12,276,200 15,125,500 14,010,000 14,795,000 67,512,623   
Total Contributions 1,105,000     25,000       1,600,000  1,500,000  1,000,000  5,230,000     
Net Funding Requested 10,200,923   12,251,200 13,525,500 12,510,000 13,795,000 62,282,623   

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

9



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Parks and Environment
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

4 - 01 Dog Friendly City Action Items Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

250,000        200,000     -             -             -             450,000         To improve accessibility and refresh intensively used off-leash areas, the 2026 funding 
is for a system-wide upgrade to the surfacing material. 

4 - 02 Kings Mill Walk Park Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

-               305,000     310,000     -             -             615,000        The new Kingsmill Walk Park as outlined in the Council approved master Plan will 
include an off-leash area, playground, washroom building, celebration of Squamish 
Nation cultural history, habitat enhancement, and improved Spirit Trail. The funding 
request is for project management fees and project overhead.

4 - 03 Sport Court Infrastructure 
Replacement 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

325,000        -             250,000     -             250,000     825,000        This project will result in the replacement of aging infrastructure and amenity upgrades 
to existing sport courts to improve usability and player safety as well as delivery 4 
temporary volleyball courts at Waterfront Park South with support amenities to 
compensate for lost courts at Kingsmill Walk during construction. 

4 - 04 Eastview Park Improvements Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

250,000        -             -             -             -             250,000        The completion of phase II public consultation and the conceptual design for a 
neighbourhood scale disc golf course has highlighted additional opportunities to 
improve accessibility for all park users.  

4 - 05 New Public Washrooms Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

150,000        1,050,000  -             -             -             1,200,000     This project involves the installation and construction of new permanent public 
washrooms.  The washroom location(s) will address identified gaps in public washroom 
service levels while supporting enhanced programming of the park system and increase 
City wide walking and rolling. Location to be determined following completion of a 2025 
Study.

4 - 06 Hemlock Looper Impact Tree 
Removal & Restoration 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

300,000        -             -             -             -             300,000        In 2021 CNV's urban forest was significantly impacted due to damages caused by the 
Western Hemlock Looper infestation coupled with extreme heat and drought resulting in 
trees declining and requiring removal and restoration planning and implementation. In 
2025 the final round of tree removals will begin along with the starting the restorations 
planting work. 

4 - 07 Encampment Management Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

100,000        -             -             -             -             100,000        This funding will be used to recruit and/or direct appropriate resources to respond to 
increasing clean ups in the City, in order to deliver safe and comfortable park and 
public spaces.

4 - 08 FireSmart Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

50,000         50,000       50,000       50,000       50,000       250,000        Through completion of a wildfire threat assessment of the City, the Community Wildfire 
Protection Plan (CWPP) identified priority FireSmart fuel treatment areas. This project 
will continue to advance treatment in parks to reduce the likelihood of a wildfire. 
Greenwood Park will be completed in 2024/2025, with Kealy Woods Park and Mosquito 
Creek Park targeted to begin in 2025. Following Kealy Woods would be Tempe Park, 
and finally Heywood Park.  It will also advance implementation of the CWPP, which will 
reduce the risk of wildfire entering our community, as well as the impacts and losses to 
property and critical infrastructure, and prevent economic and social losses. The project 
will also enhance and develop emergency plans, emergency response, evacuation 
plans, bylaw development in areas of fire risk, communication and education programs.

4 - 08 FireSmart Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

100,000        100,000     100,000     100,000     100,000     500,000        Portion of the work expected to be funded by Province.

4 - 09 Streetscape Renovations Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

20,000         20,000       20,000       20,000       20,000       100,000        This funding will be used for planting renewals and design elements that will improve 
reslilency and reduce overall operating costs in the long term. Project example includes 
the refresh planned for Stella Jo Dean Plaza and 14th Street. 

10



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Parks and Environment
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

4 - 10 Grass Sports Field Renovations Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- 170,000     -             180,000     -             350,000        The City's sand-based grass fields are more than 35 years old and are in need of 
renovation. Surface remediation coupled with drainage & irrigation systems replacement 
required in order to keep the fields safe, resilient and playable. Loutet #2 field was 
completed in 2016, Loutet #1 in 2019, and Chris Zuehlke field in 2025. Remaining fields 
to be completed are Loutet Field #3, Kinsmen Stadium Field, and Ray Perrault Field. 

4 - 11 Confederation Field Turf and Fence 
Replacement 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- 275,000     2,100,000  -             -             2,375,000     The synthetic turf at Confederation Field was replaced in 2014 and has an expected life 
of approximately 10 years.  Based on that projected life expectancy, the turf was 
tentatively scheduled for replacement in 2025 but is demonstrating the ability to last 
longer than originally anticipated before requiring replacement. Funding also to review 
condition of Kinsmen Field to determine opportunity for future conversion to synthetic 
turf

4 - 12 Fen Burdett Field Turf Replacement Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- -             275,000     2,100,000  -             2,375,000     Fen Burdett field was converted to artificial turf in 2017. Typically, the functional life of 
turf is 10 years and, after that, the playability is reduced and maintenance is greatly 
increased. Based on that life expectancy, the turf is tentatively scheduled for 
replacement in 2029.  

4 - 13 Bewicke and Mosquito Creek Trail 
Public Realm Safety Improvements 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

75,000         -             -             -             -             75,000         Pedestrain scale lighting will be installed along the greenway and operations centre 
parking lot to improve public safety. 

4 - 14 Park Infrastructure Renewal Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

150,000        150,000     150,000     150,000     150,000     750,000        Annual funding for capital repair and replacement of park infrastructure including 
furnishings, lighting, signs, structures and other amenities in need of replacement due to 
age, condition, or safety requirement.

4 - 15 Urban Forest Implementation and 
Watershed Management

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

410,000        320,000     330,000     340,000     -             1,400,000     Continued investment reporting, mapping and data collection to plan and deliver trees 
and associated infrastructure to expand the urban forest. Will establish base line studies 
for street trees within priority high use pedestrian networks, identify priority areas for 
street tree planting and identify strategies to respond to rapid decline in street tree 
health to save elder trees and implement new sustainable plantings. Building on the 
studies, new methodologies to provide supportive infrastructure conditions to elements 
which may include, but are not limited to storm water management, trees and 
streetscapes in prioritized areas.

4 - 16 Open Streets Central Lonsdale - 
Maintenance

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

135,000        135,000     -             -             -             270,000        This project supports the year-round maintenance and safety needs of Open Streets, 
Central Lonsdale in expanded sidewalk sections between the 1400-1700 blocks of 
Lonsdale Avenue. This project includes the upkeep of 4 parklets, 100+ urban barrier 
gardens, 100+ street seats, and decked areas along the 1400 and 1500 East block of 
Lonsdale, in addition to lighting, signage and concrete barriers.

4 - 17 Placemaking in the City Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

130,000        130,000     130,000     130,000     130,000     650,000        This project supports the Play CNV Program and related placemaking initiatives. 
Includes seasonal animation, neighbourhood based programming and mid-scale events 
that offer family friendly experiences, advance a sense of place and foster sociability. 
This project includes piloting new installations and programming in City parks and public 
spaces and the general maintenance of parklets (outside of Open Streets), urban 
gardens and assets within activated laneways, plazas and other community spaces. 

4 - 18 Pier and Wharf Repairs and 
Maintenance

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

30,000         30,000       -             -             -             60,000         This project will fund repairs and maintenance to St Roch, Goldsworthy, and Burrard 
Pier to enhance public use, safety, and enjoyment.

4 - 19 Parks and Public Space 
Implementation Phase I

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- -             5,000,000  -             -             5,000,000     Provision to enable Council-directed outcomes of the Parks and Public Spaces 
Comprehensive Plan.

Total Funding Requested 2,475,000     2,935,000  8,715,000  3,070,000  700,000     17,895,000   
Total Contributions 100,000        100,000     100,000     100,000     100,000     500,000        
Net Funding Requested 2,375,000     2,835,000  8,615,000  2,970,000  600,000     17,395,000   

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

11



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Information Technology
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

5 - 01 Website Renewal Library 10,000         25,000       10,000       10,000       25,000       80,000         Ongoing development of City Library's digital branch at nvcl.ca, which sees over 
700,000 visits per year. Funding supports improvements to functionality and critical 
security upgrades, integration of new library services into the digital space, and 
provision of a seamless and accessible experience for library patrons of all ages and 
abilities. 

5 - 02 Integrated Library System (ILS) 
Renewal

Library 35,000         -             -             13,000       8,000         56,000         Hardware and software upgrades and replacements to maintain and update the 
Integrated Library System (ILS) that powers the bulk of City Library's day-to-day 
business of cataloguing and lending library materials - and to sustain functionality, 
speed, security and responsiveness while minimizing overhead for technical support.

5 - 03 Automated Materials Handling, 
RFID & Self-Service Payment 
System Replacements

Library 30,000         25,000       59,000       69,000       103,500     286,500        Replacement of end-of-life system components including the automated sorting 
machine, sort bins, self-service checkouts and self-service payment stations - to extend 
equipment lifespan and ensure ongoing functionality, reliability  compatibility and 
security. These heavily-used systems automate repetitive, labour-intensive tasks to 
reduce risk of workplace inury and increase service effectiveness and efficiency.

5 - 04 A/V, Multimedia and Instructional 
Systems Renewal

Library 10,500         46,600       25,600       38,000       52,400       173,100        Replacement of end-of-life A/V, multimedia and instructional systems in community 
meeting rooms, classrooms and public spaces to ensure equipment is reliable, up-to-
date and compatible with current technology standards. This equipment is heavily used 
to support technology access and learning and supports over 1,000 library programs 
and 500 community meetings annually.

5 - 05 Enterprise Development 
Applications and Permits Software

Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

800,000        789,900     -             -             -             1,589,900     This continuing technology project will enable the Planning and Development 
department to improve efficiency and customer satisfaction by implementing a new 
Permitting and Licensing software solution. The new system will enable easy, self-
service applications and digital-first processes, allowing customers and staff to 
collaborate smoothly for streamlined processing.

5 - 06 Parcel Lifecycle Management

 

252,000        -             -             -             -             252,000        To improve data integration between GIS and Infor Public Sector (IPS), with a focus on 
developing automated workflows for land parcel data and addresses. 

5 - 07 Engineering Enterprise System & 
Process Optimization 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

648,000        650,000     -             -             -             1,298,000     This project will modernize how the City tracks infrastructure work, responds to service 
requests, and manages engineering data. By improving integration between key 
systems, like asset management, payroll, and public service portals, it will reduce 
manual work, improve response times, and provide clearer, more accurate information 
to staff and residents.

5 - 08 Street Use & Event Permit 
Management Transformation

Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

100,000        -             -             -             -             100,000        Optimize street use, filming and event permit management processes, including permit 
intake, planning, conflict resolution, and public notifications

5 - 09 Design Record & Asset Data 
Management (Phase 1)

Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

100,000        -             -             -             -             100,000        Improve design record management and drawing standards as well as standardize and 
automate asset data management across systems

5 - 10 Enterprise System Update Finance & 
Economic 
Development

- -             -             4,400,000  -             4,400,000     To ensure the City's ERP system is optimized and meets the current and future needs 
to the organization

5 - 11 Modernizing Tax Services Finance & 
Economic 
Development

48,000         -             -             -             -             48,000         To provide our taxpayers with a new alternative to receive their tax bill through e-Billing 
online and also pay their bill with a creditcard. 

5 - 12 Property Tax and Utility System 
Update

Finance & 
Economic 
Development

150,000        -             -             -             1,579,000  1,729,000     To replace the property tax and utility system that aligns with the City's focus on being 
a Modern Organization. The current system was put in place in 1994 and needs 
additional capability to handle more volume and complex transactions including Home 
Owner Grants, Tax Deferrals and complex tax calculations. With property taxes and 
utilities accounting for the largest source of revenue for the City, a modernized and 
evolving software solution is essential in safeguarding these revenues.

12



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Information Technology
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

5 - 13 Land Management Strategy & 
Implementation

Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

700,000        1,400,000  300,000     -             -             2,400,000     To deliver the Land Strategy Assessment improvements which will improve the way 
Land Data is managed optimally. 

5 - 14 User Device Replacements Corporate 
Services

225,000        200,000     200,000     200,000     200,000     1,025,000     Planned replacement of end user devices e.g. laptops and desktop computers. As a 
device reaches end of life it is replaced.

5 - 15 Data Centre Infrastructure Corporate 
Services

310,000        310,000     490,000     420,000     310,000     1,840,000     To maintain the CNV'S data centre infrastructure, and network. Maintenance includes 
storage, servers, wireless access points, switches, and network security devices. 
Upgrade and replacement of infrastructure items as part of a regular refresh program. 

5 - 16 Microsoft Cloud Services Extension Corporate 
Services

250,000        -             -             -             -             250,000        This initiative will build out the cloud computing capability which will enable the CNV to 
leverage the Microsoft 365 suite of productivity tools (Office, MS Teams, cloud 
collaboration and workforce tools). In addition the Microsoft Cloud platform will provide 
the CNV with enhanced security tools, a rich set of cloud applications and a platform to 
build rapid solutions instead of the traditional on-premise applications.

5 - 17 AV Improvements Corporate 
Services

- 150,000     -             150,000     -             300,000        Refresh and enhance existing Audio Visual equipment to provide improved meeting 
room experience. 

5 - 18 Fibre Infrastructure Corporate 
Services

50,000         50,000       50,000       50,000       50,000       250,000        To maintain the CNV's existing fibre infrastructure that interconnects CNV buildings with 
CNV services while also growing that infrastructure as the city grows. 

5 - 19 Cyber Security Program Corporate 
Services

- 500,000     500,000     -             -             1,000,000     To sustain and enhance CNV's IT security posture, the IT Security will focus on 
governance, risk management and continuous improvement. Based on the findings 
from the Cybersecurity Maturity Assessment, this project will implement strategic 
measures in 2025-2029 to safeguard CNV's digital assets. This project is vital for 
ensuring long-term resilience and aligning CNV's security practices with evolving 
threats in order to protect sensitive information thereby maintaining public trust.

5 - 20 Network Security Corporate 
Services

274,000        -             -             -             -             274,000        This work is to enhance network security (firewalls, intrusion detection, and prevention) 
and the management of CNV's fibre network.

5 - 21 Business Intelligence and Analytics Corporate 
Services

50,000         50,000       50,000       -             -             150,000        This workstream is part of the IT Master Plan that will improve the utilization and 
analysis of current and future municipal data and information to increase transparency 
and further develop a culture of data driven decision-making.Deliverables will include a 
Business Intelligence and Analytics Plan, determination of a Primary Data Analytics 
Platform, and proof of concept of a data lake and analysis tools.

5 - 22 IT Disaster Recovery Corporate 
Services

1,100,000     -             -             -             -             1,100,000     The City hosts all its systems in a Data Centre at City Hall and a data backup at the 
Fire Hall. This project will establish a new full service Data Centre that provides faster 
IT continuity in the event of a disaster.

5 - 23 Telestaff Upgrade Corporate 
Services

32,000         -             -             -             -             32,000         The Fire Department uses the Telestaff system to schedule staff into shifts and manage 
payroll based on work done. The Telestaff system is moving to a "software as a 
service" model in the cloud and will no longer to provided in its current form by the 
vendor. This project will enable the cloud version and ensure seamless transition to the 
new solution.

5 - 24 Integration Hub Corporate 
Services

500,000        100,000     30,000       -             -             630,000        The vision to become a Smart City requires investment in modernizing current systems 
into an integrated digital set of platforms that helps staff work more efficiently and 
improving the experience and touchpoints for residents with the City. By connecting all 
the systems, staff and residents will be able to reduce duplication, speed up service 
delivery, and make better use of data and digital services. A critical component to 
connect the technologies is an Integration Hub as it allows different systems to 
communicate with each other and share information.

13



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Information Technology
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

5 - 25 Enterprise Applications Corporate 
Services

200,000        200,000     200,000     200,000     200,000     1,000,000     To continue modernizing and enhancing the City's enterprise application platforms, 
enabling the enterprise applications to change with City needs. This includes system 
upgrades, changes to use new features, installation and configuration, and may include 
the purchase of new modules and new licences.

5 - 26 IT Refresh MONOVA 5,000           5,000         5,000         5,000         5,000         25,000         Scheduled replacement and enhancement of IT equipment and supporting hardware for 
MONOVA is based on a technology refresh program designed by the District of North 
Vancouver, which provides IT equipment and support for users (staff and public). Public 
computers, meeting room A/V, videoconferencing and public wifi enhance the 
community's and tourists' experience of the Museum and Archives as a fun, welcoming, 
inclusive, safe and accessible space.  Both the Archives in the District and the new 
Museum location in the City are serviced by DNV IT, using available fibre-optic cables 
and configured through a City and District cabling agreement, which fulfills the New 
Museum Project goals.  Funds are matched by the District.

5 - 26 IT Refresh MONOVA 5,000           5,000         5,000         5,000         5,000         25,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

5 - 27 NVRC Network Hardware 
Replacement

NVRC 50,000         -             -             -             -             50,000         This funding will allow the replacement of end-of-life networking equipment at NVRC-
operated facilities; ensuring continued protection against security threats and 
maintaining dependable phone, internet, and other essential services. 

5 - 27 NVRC Network Hardware 
Replacement

NVRC 100,000        -             -             -             -             100,000        Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

5 - 28 NVRC Network Hardware 
Maintenance 

NVRC -               10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000       40,000         This funding ensures the regular maintenance and replacement of network equipment 
at NVRC-operated recreation facilities. Functional and modern equipment is necessary 
to support efficiency and security.

5 - 28 NVRC Network Hardware 
Maintenance 

NVRC -               20,000       20,000       20,000       20,000       80,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

5 - 29 NVRC Facility Technology 
Equipment Refresh

NVRC 25,000         25,000       25,000       25,000       30,000       130,000        NVRC maintains all workplace technology equipment within recreation centres and 
Centennial Theatre, including computers, monitors, phones, scanners, printers, and 
related hardware. This funding ensures workplace technology equipment meets modern 
standards, enabling the efficient and secure delivery of services to the public. 
        

5 - 29 NVRC Facility Technology 
Equipment Refresh

NVRC 50,000         50,000       50,000       50,000       60,000       260,000        Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

5 - 30 Recreation Management Software 
Implementation

NVRC -               65,000       65,000       -             -             130,000        This funding will support the implementation of a user-friendly recreation management 
system. A system will be selected which improves resident experiences when exploring, 
registering, and paying for recreation and culture programs and services, strengthens 
coordination with community partners and organizations, and streamlines the booking 
process for indoor and outdoor public spaces. It will also enhance data collection and 
reporting. This project encompasses software acquisition, data migration, system 
integration, staff training, and implementation support.

5 - 30 Recreation Management Software 
Implementation

NVRC -               130,000     130,000     -             -             260,000        Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

5 - 31 JBCC Video Surveillance 
Replacement

NVRC -               -             80,000       -             -             80,000         Replacement of the end-of-life video surveillance system at John Braithwaite 
Community Centre. Functional video surveillance supports safety and security of 
property, staff, and public.  

5 - 32 CNV Recreation Centre WI-FI 
Replacement

NVRC -               -             40,000       -             -             40,000         This project replaces WIFI equipment installed in 2017 and is essential to meet public 
expectations and enable staff to work efficiently and to serve the public.

5 - 33 Facility Audio/Visual Systems 
Maintenance & Replacement

NVRC 15,000         25,000       25,000       25,000       30,000       120,000        Maintenance and scheduled replacements of Audio Visual systems at NVRC-operated 
City facilities. These systems include digital signage, projectors, TVs, speakers, 
microphones, paging systems etc. which are used for facility rentals, promotion, 
programming, events and operation.

14



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Information Technology
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

5 - 34 Implement Recruitment Process 
Improvement & System

Corporate 
Services

-               -             100,000     -             -             100,000        Enhance attraction and recruitment to CNV through implementation of new recruitment 
system and processes

5 - 35 Update Working in Isolation 
Program and Policy & Systems 

Corporate 
Services

60,000         -             -             -             -             60,000         Enhanced Workplace safety and employee engagement through updating policy, 
processes, technology and tools to ensure alignment with legislative requirements.

Total Funding Requested 6,184,500        4,831,500     2,469,600     5,690,000     2,687,900     21,863,500      
Total Contributions 155,000           205,000        205,000        75,000          85,000          725,000           
Net Funding Requested 6,029,500        4,626,500     2,264,600     5,615,000     2,602,900     21,138,500      

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

15



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Vehicles and Equipment
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

6 - 01 Library Shelving Replacement Library - 77,510       - - - 77,510 Replacement of end-of-life library shelving.

6 - 02 Library Furniture Renewal Library 59,800 63,000       54,000       73,000       42,000       291,800        Repair, refurbishment and replacement of end-of-life furniture to ensure community 
spaces are well-equipped with safe, functional furnishings that are in good repair and fit 
for purpose. The library contains over 300 seats and receives over 1600 visitors daily, 
resulting in wear and tear to public seating, desks, tables, etc.

6 - 03 Urban Forestry E-Bikes and Trailers Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

30,000 - - - - 30,000 This initiative enhances urban sustainability by utilizing pedal assist cargo bikes for tree 
pruning, reducing carbon emissions and traffic disruption in our community. By 
implementing this environmentally friendly approach, we can ensure safe and accessible 
bike lanes while maintaining the health of our urban forest, fostering a greener, more 
livable city for all residents.

6 - 04 EPE Operations Vehicle/Equipment 
Replacement Program

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

1,610,000     1,175,000  935,000     1,145,000  630,000     5,495,000     Funding for the ongoing replacement of vehicles and equipment to ensure Engineering, 
Parks and Environment Operations has reliable vehicles and equipment to meet 
operational needs. In 2026, vehicles and equipment to be replaced include 3 pickup 
trucks, 3 1/2 ton vans, 1 roller, 1 riding mower, 1 sweeper, and 1 garbage truck. The 
implications of this project not proceeding are increased repair, maintenance, and rental 
costs in combination with decreasing reciprocal value.

6 - 05 Tandem Belly Plow Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- 80,000       - - - 80,000 CNV Operations requires 1 new tandem belly plow attachment for the tandem dump 
trucks. This will allow greater service levels during extreme weather events and provide 
backup to other trucks being out of service. 

6 - 06 Hoe Pac for Backhoe Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

20,000 - - - - 20,000 CNV's Operation Centre requires 1 new hoe pac for use on the backhoes. Hoe pack 
allows for proper compaction of materials at greater depths than other methods. 

6 - 07 Electric Brine Unit Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- 35,000       - - - 35,000 CNV's Operations Centre requires 1 new electric brine unit to be used for the F550.

6 - 08 Ford Maverick Hybrid Pickup Truck Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- 55,000       - - - 55,000 CNV's Operation Centre requires 1 new ford maverick hybrid pickup truck to be shared 
by the Parks, Turf Supervisor and Assistant Supervisor. This would be used to check on 
crews, assess service levels, respond to resident complaints and isssues, and attend 
meetings. It would also be used in peak seasons to transport workers to sites and to 
cover vehicles that are being repaired or maintained. 

6 - 09 Ford Maverick Hybrid Pickup Truck Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

- 55,000       - - - 55,000 CNV's Operation Centre requires 1 new ford maverick hybrid pickup truck to be shared 
by the Parks, Urban Forestry Supervisor and their crew. This would be used to check on 
crews, assess service levels, respond to resident complaints and isssues, and attend 
meetings. It would also be used in peak seasons to transport workers to sites and to 
cover vehicles that are being repaired or maintained. 

6 - 10 Pool Car Replacement Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

81,000 81,000       75,000       75,000       65,000       377,000        Pool Cars allow for staff to go to visits, sites meeting, using City vehicles that are 
electric, reducing emissions and reducing the need and reliance on private vehicles. The 
vehicle scheduled for replacement in 2026 is a 2012 Ford Transit Van and one E-Bike. 
The Transit Van was able to be used longer than its typical 10 year service life. The 
current Van is fuel only and will be replace with an electric or hybrid. The City Mechanic 
has confirmed that the Van model is no longer made and parts have become difficult to 
source. The E-Bike is nearing the end of life with wear and tear.

16



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Vehicles and Equipment
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

6 - 11 Critical Preservation: Upgrading 
Archive Storage Systems

MONOVA 25,000 - - - - 25,000 The city and district archives, containing invaluable records and photographs, face 
significant risk of deterioration due to excessive light exposure from both interior sources 
and windows.  These records include over 100,000 community resources, vast 
photographic collections, maps, planning documents, and essential municipal records. 
Urgent upgrades are needed to protect these materials and ensure their preservation for 
future generations. These improvements will not only safeguard historical records but 
also enhance the building’s energy efficiency by reducing heat infiltration, creating a 
sustainable and cost-effective solution. Investing in this project means securing our 
shared history while making the archives more resilient and environmentally 
responsible.

6 - 11 Critical Preservation: Upgrading 
Archive Storage Systems

MONOVA 25,000 - - - - 25,000 Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

6 - 12 Mobile Exhibitions MONOVA 7,500 15,000       - - - 22,500 MONOVA's Mobile Exhibits aim to bring North Vancouver history, culture, education, 
and storytelling out into the community. Past displays at NVRC locations include 
Delbrook, Lions Gate, Jon Braithwaite, and new possible exhibits at Lynn Creek 
Community Centre and the new Harry Jerome. Mobile exhibits can also be created in 
partnership with City and District libraries, and a mobile exhibit is currently on display at 
Lions Gate Hospital. Many of the existing displays are old, outdated, and require 
updating, and requests for new exhibits come in for new rec centres and libraries. This 
capital project will fund the creation, installation, and some upkeep of these mobile 
exhibits in community spaces throughout North Vancouver.

6 - 12 Mobile Exhibitions MONOVA 7,500 15,000       - - - 22,500 Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

6 - 13 NVRC Recreation Program 
Equipment

NVRC 120,000        115,000     325,000     100,000     150,000     810,000        Equipment required to deliver NVRC services; such as weight room, sport, recreation 
and art equipment, activity room furnishings & equipment, theatre performance 
equipment for Centennial Theatre, Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and 
John Braithwaite Community Centre.  A portion of the fitness centre equipment at Harry 
Jerome CRC and John Braithwaite CC is replaced each year to ensure it is safe, 
reliable and meeting public needs.  Centennial Theatre auditorium lighting and audio 
visual equipment are updated to ensure reliable theatre performance.

6 - 14 NVRC Maintenance Vehicles NVRC - - - - 90,000       90,000 Replacement of NVRC maintenance vehicles in 2030.  A total of five maintenance 
vehicles will be replaced with electric vehicles.

6 - 14 NVRC Maintenance Vehicles NVRC - - - - 180,000     180,000        Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

6 - 15 Bylaw Services Vehicle 
Replacement

Public Safety - 45,000       - - 60,000       105,000        ehicles are required for the Bylaw Enforcement Officers to assist with their mobility, 
visibility and responsiveness. 

6 - 16 Fire Equipment Replacement Public Safety 205,000        1,165,000  1,930,000  1,160,000  1,745,000  6,205,000     Maintain a regular replacement cycle for critical structural firefighting protective 
equipment including Turnout Gear, Hazardous Materials equipment and Technical 
Rescue Equipment. New for 2026 is an additional multi-use vehicle  to the fire 
department fleet to better support the overall operational demands including chief on call 
response as well as training and fire prevention divisions. 

6 - 17 Municipal Police Pool Vehicle 
Replacement

Public Safety - 27,900       - - - 27,900 Replacement of a municipal pool vehicle used for transportation for business, events, 
and emergencies, plus cargo transportation, including property recovery and disposal, 
supplies, equipment, displays, materials, resources, and etc. 

6 - 17 Municipal Police Pool Vehicle 
Replacement

Public Safety - 32,100      - - - 32,100 Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

17



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Vehicles and Equipment
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

6 - 18 Civic Buildings - Furniture and 
Equipment

Corporate 
Services

26,575 22,400       56,000       56,000       112,000     272,975        Funding to enable the replacement / purchase of furniture and equipment in all civic 
buildings. Maintains suitable working conditions and ensures timely replacement of 
equipment as required. 

6 - 19 Gerry Brewer Furniture & Equipment Corporate 
Services

26,575 22,400       33,600       56,000       89,600       228,175        Funding to enable the replacement / purchase of furniture and equipment in the Gerry 
Brewer building. Maintains suitable working conditions and ensures timely replacement 
of equipment as required. Also contains consulting fees for space planning.

6 - 19 Gerry Brewer Furniture & Equipment Corporate 
Services

30,526 25,731       38,596       64,327       102,923     262,102        Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

Total Funding Requested 2,274,476     3,107,041  3,447,196  2,729,327  3,266,523  14,824,561   
Total Contributions 63,026 72,831       38,596       64,327       282,923     521,702        
Net Funding Requested 2,211,449     3,034,210  3,408,600  2,665,000  2,983,600  14,302,859   

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

18



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Block Funding
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

7 - 01 Block Funding - Library Library 20,000         20,000       20,000       20,000       20,000       100,000        Block funding for maintenance and replacement of equipment and furnishings under 
$10,000.

7 - 02 Block Funding - Parks Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

80,000         80,000       80,000       80,000       80,000       400,000        Since 2005, Parks Infrastructure Block Funding has supported a variety of small scale 
park infrastructure upgrades with individual project values of less than $10,000, and 
provides staff with the resources to respond immediately to time-sensitive, smaller 
infrastructure replacement issues, in order to ensure public safety and maintain levels 
of service.  

7 - 03 Block Funding - Engineering 
Equipment

Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

50,000         50,000       50,000       50,000       50,000       250,000        Block funding for unplanned Engineering Operations Equipment expenses. Serves the 
purpose to maintain, replace, and/or acquire equipment under $10,000.

7 - 04 Block Funding - Transportation Infrastructure, 
Transportation & 
Parks

30,000         30,000       30,000       30,000       30,000       150,000        Block funding is a capital account to be used by the Transportation Division to fund 
small unforeseen capital projects which arise each year. Examples of possible projects 
are geometry improvements, traffic signal designs, minor street and signal system 
improvements. This funding is used for acquisition of small capital items under $10,000.

7 - 05 Block Funding Computer 
Equipment

Corporate Services 100,000        100,000     100,000     100,000     100,000     500,000        Annual IT spending required to support CNV's technology needs. This is for the 
unplanned repairs and replacement of technology.

7 - 06 Block Funding - MONOVA MONOVA 10,000         10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000       50,000         Annual Block funding is used by the Museum & Archives for purchasing or replacing 
minor capital assets such as exhibit and programs equipment, technology, or 
specialized storage and display components used in the delivery of community 
programs, in the management and stewardship of the museum and archival collections, 
and in the public operations of the Museum & Archives.  

7 - 06 Block Funding - MONOVA MONOVA 10,000         10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000       50,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

7 - 07 NVRC Emergency Capital 
Replacement Fund

NVRC 40,000         40,000       40,000       40,000       40,000       200,000        Replacement or major repairs of critical building systems due to unanticipated failures 
or unforeseen circumstances.

7 - 08 NVRC Minor Capital Projects NVRC 60,000         60,000       60,000       60,000       60,000       300,000        Block funding for minor capital projects

7 - 09 Block Funding - Dev. Services Planning, 
Development & 
Real Estate

10,000         10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000       50,000         The provision of the block funding requested supports the Development Services and 
Building Division's efforts to remain leaders in innovative, constantly evolving 
construction administration.

7 - 10 Block Funding - Fire & Bylaw Public Safety 50,000         50,000       50,000       50,000       50,000       250,000        Maintenance and replacement of Fire Department and Bylaws equipment and supplies 
under $10,000

7 - 11 Block Funding - POLICE Public Safety 23,270         23,270       23,270       23,270       23,270       116,350        These funds are typically used for replacement, maintenance and repair of small office 
equipment and gym equipment. Per unit price is under 10K. 

7 - 11 Block Funding - POLICE Public Safety 26,730         26,730       26,730       26,730       26,730       133,650        Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

7 - 12 Block Funding - City Used 
Buildings

Corporate Services 40,000         40,000       40,000       40,000       40,000       200,000        Block funding to acquire / undertake capital items and projects under $10,000 for CNV-
Used properties (i.e. City Hall, Fire Hall, Shipyards Office, Operations Centre). 

7 - 13 Block Funding - Gerry Brewer 
Building

Corporate Services 13,962         13,962       13,962       13,962       13,962       69,810         Block funding to acquire / undertake capital items and projects under $10,000 for Gerry 
Brewer Buidling. 

7 - 13 Block Funding - Gerry Brewer 
Building

Corporate Services 16,038         16,038       16,038       16,038       16,038       80,190         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

7 - 14 Block Funding - Non-City Used 
Buildings

Corporate Services 20,000         20,000       30,000       50,000       50,000       170,000        Block funding to acquire / undertake capital items and projects under $10,000 for CNV-
Used properties (i.e. City Hall, Fire Hall, Shipyards Office, Operations Centre). 

Total Funding Requested 600,000        600,000     610,000     630,000     630,000     3,070,000     
Total Contributions 52,768         52,768       52,768       52,768       52,768       263,840        
Net Funding Requested 547,232        547,232     557,232     577,232     577,232     2,806,160     

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

19



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Studies and Other
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

8 - 01 Accessibility improvements Library 25,000         -             -             -             -             25,000         This project will deliver low-cost, high-impact actions to reduce barriers to access in line 
with the library's accessibility plan (mandated by the Accessible BC Act) and inclusion 
framework (developed in coordination with the City's diversity, equity and inclusion 
framework).

8 - 02 2026 General Local Election Office of the 
Deputy CAO

165,000        -             -             -             -             165,000        For a one-time increase to the 2026 General Local Election Budget.

8 - 03 Visual Standards Update Office of the 
Deputy CAO

50,000         -             -             -             -             50,000         A consistent and accessible set of visual tools linked to organizational priorities is 
essential for CNV to build trust and confidence, and to engage and connect with all 
residents and visitors. This project aims to enhance CNV's strategic communications 
with an updated set of visual standards and production ready tools to include signage, 
wayfinding and collateral ranging from online tools to printed reports. The objectives are 
improved customer service and day to day business operations, improved resident and 
employee relations; delivery of visual tools compliant with provincial accessibility 
standards; and enhanced capacity for business attraction and tourism.

8 - 04 Community Engagement 
Framework Implementation

Office of the 
Deputy CAO

306,000        -             -             -             -             306,000        As part of the implementation of the CNV Community Engagement Framework, the City 
needs dedicated resources to help develop and implement the Community Engagement 
Action Plan including the development of guidelines, tools and enhanced analysis and 
reporting. 

8 - 05 Public Works and Parks Week 
Open House 

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

20,000         -             -             -             -             20,000         Every year National Public Works Week occurs in May. The number of participating 
municipalities continues to grow, which means the number of citizens who are exposed 
to the value of public works grows. This funding supports the intiation of planning, 
organzing and implementing as a pilot the first ever Public Works Week in the City, 
with the end of the week cuminalting in a Open House public event where the main 
goals are to educate and engage with the general public by showcasing equipment and 
a variety of booths/tents that demonstrate the valuable programs and services that the 
City provides in parks and public works.

8 - 06 Asset Management Program Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

-               500,000     500,000     -             -             1,000,000     Continue to advance and expand the City's asset management practice with 
preparation of plans and strategies, completion of inventory and condition assessment 
studies and development infrastructure specific asset management plans including 
natural assets, signage & pavement markings, street lighting & signals

8 - 07 Citywide Slope Stability 
Assessment Update & DP 
Guidelines

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

-               250,000     -             -             -             250,000        Update cityside slope stability assessment (last updated 2009) and complete DP 
guidelines. This will give direction for owners within the hazard area wishing to 
redevelop and manage risk.

8 - 08 Multicultural Festival Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

50,000         50,000       -             -             -             100,000        Based on the Multicultural Festival Needs Assessment, this funding will support cultural 
organizations in showcasing their heritage through education, events, and festivals.

8 - 09 Micromobility Services Planning and 
Coordination

Infrastructure, 
Transportation 
& Parks

70,000         70,000       70,000       -             -             210,000        This project will support staffing for the three year contract for e-bike share services 
(shared in thirds across CNV, DNV, DWV) and supplementary consultant services to 
develop & deliver guidelines, regulations and pilots for new and emerging personal, 
shared or commercial mobility services and devices (eg. participation in BC MoTI's e-
scooter pilot, ridehailing, e-cargo bike share pilot, e-bikeshare system, etc.) in the city. 
These will be delivered in partnership with the Districts of North Vancouver and West 
Vancouver, and in coordination with Squamish Nation. 

8 - 10 Financing Costs HJCRC Finance & 
Economic 
Development

2,094,338     -             -             -             -             2,094,338     Short-term debt servicing costs for HJCRC loan ($109M) based on current cashflow 
forecasts

20



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Studies and Other
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

8 - 11 Fundraiser MONOVA 37,500         37,500       -             -             -             75,000         MONOVA has been open for almost 3 years and requires a fundaising contractor to 
allow M&A to continue to grow. A dedicated fundraiser will ensure financial stability, 
foster relationships, and build awareness of the museum and archives particularly with 
donors and foundations. Having a dedicated fundraiser will help ensure financial 
sustainability which is one of the strategic priorities laid out in the 2024-2027 Strategic 

 Plan. 
8 - 11 Fundraiser MONOVA 37,500         37,500       -             -             -             75,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

8 - 12 Public Art Civic Program NVRC 85,000         85,000       85,000       85,000       85,000       425,000        The annual Civic Public Art Program provides for the inclusion of public art projects in 
coordination with civic engineering and parks capital projects each year.  Public art 
celebrates the City’s unique cultural identity, adds to community vibrancy, makes art 
free and accessible to all, promotes cultural expression/inclusion and provides a 
cultural legacy for the future.   

8 - 13 NVRC Leadership Training NVRC 17,000         -             -             -             -             17,000         NVRC employs approximately 900 staff to deliver services 7 days per week in the City 
and District of North Vancouver. Operations of this scale requires effective people 
leaders at all levels of the organization. Through an employee engagement initiative in 
2025, the need for a targetted leadership training program was identified. This project 
will develop and deliver a leadership training program for all managers and supervisory 
staff (approx. 90 people).  

8 - 13 NVRC Leadership Training NVRC 33,000         -             -             -             -             33,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

8 - 14 NVRC Employee Onboarding 
Review 

NVRC 17,000         -             -             -             -             17,000         This project will include the development and implementation of an updated Employee 
Onboarding process to support new staff joining the organization. With approximately 
900 employees, including more than 600 auxiliary and casual staff, more complex work 
processes and an increasingly competitive job market, a comprensive and effective 
onboarding process is critical. A successful program will help new employees acquire 
the knowledge, skills, and behaviors needed to integrate into NVRC.  

8 - 14 NVRC Employee Onboarding 
R i

NVRC 33,000         -             -             -             -             33,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

8 - 15 NVRC Performance Development 
Framework 

NVRC 17,000         -             -             -             -             17,000         This project will design and implement a Performance Development Framework for 
managing individual, team and organisational performance that will enhance NVRC's 
ability to meet the needs of the community. The framework will create a modernized 
formal structure to help guide employee performance and development, and linked to 
overarching organisational goals.

8 - 15 NVRC Performance Development 
Framework 

NVRC 33,000         -             -             -             -             33,000         Portion of funding provided by the District of North Vancouver.

8 - 16 Land Use, Long Range Studies and 
Neighourhood Structure Plans

Planning, 
Development 
& Real Estate

-               35,000       35,000       -             -             70,000         To support the completion of special studies, neighbourhood or structure plans, corridor 
plans, land use studies and site plans including the Western Precinct Plan, Waterfront 
Neighbourhood Study, and Heritage Special Study, and/or other land use studies in 
response to emerging needs and issues.  In addition, will support studies, data, 
consultation and other small projects as they arise to further support implementation of 
the OCP and the strategies.

8 - 17 Legislative Requirements, Zoning 
Bylaw and OCP Alignment

Planning, 
Development 
& Real Estate

70,000         -             -             -             -             70,000         Responding to new Provincial legislative requirements through land use studies, 
heritage studies, policy development, guideline development, and/or technical studies 
to update the Zoning Bylaw and/or Official Community Plan.

8 - 18 Neighbourhood Profiles Planning, 
Development 
& Real Estate

22,000         -             -             -             -             22,000         This project will create neighbourhood-level community data profiles to provide a clear 
picture of who lives in each City of North Vancouver neighbourhood, how people live, 
and how neighbourhoods are evolving. By drawing on local-level data, these profiles will 
highlight the impacts of planning decisions, support more responsive and equitable 
approaches, and equip Staff and the Public with a shared foundation of knowledge to 
make informed, transparent decisions about the future of the City. 

21



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Studies and Other
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

8 - 19 Official Community Plan Update Planning, 
Development 
& Real Estate

-               172,500     170,000     157,500     -             500,000        To support the updating of the Official Community Plan, which is required by legislation 
to be updated every 5 years. Work includes land use studies, Housing Needs Report, 
policy development, guideline development, technical studies, data acquisition and 
analysis, community and interest holder engagement, and related work.

8 - 20 Implmenation of Customer 
Experience Strategy

Corporate 
Services

150,000        -             -             -             -             150,000        This project will support Phase 1 of implementing the City’s Customer Service Strategy, 
which is planned for 2025–2026. As part of this phase, the City will develop and test a 
prototype to pilot key elements of the strategy. This proactive approach reflects our 
commitment to improving how we serve and engage with residents and businesses.

8 - 21 Accessibility Plan Implementation 
Support

Corporate 
Services

80,000         -             -             -             -             80,000         Support the implementation of the City’s first Accessibility Plan by allocating resources 
for emerging accessibility-related expenses, particularly in the first two years. This may 
include costs for audits, assessments, document remediation, and training. While 
departments are responsible for budgeting their own accessibility actions, additional 
support may be needed as the organization builds its understanding of barriers and 
integrates accessibility into day-to-day work.

8 - 22 NVCFD Service Priority Plan Public Safety -               15,000       -             -             -             15,000         Refresh the fire departments multi-year service priority plan that will align a new set of 
goals and objectives with the City's Stategic Plan, Corporate Business Plan and 
Community Safety Strategy. 

8 - 23 Business Service Support and 
Licencing Reforms

Finance & 
Economic 
Development

125,000        -             -             -             -             125,000        This project is to deliver enhanced business service support to the local business 
community and enable economic growth in accordance with the Economic Strategy.  
The scope will include the delivery of targeted services and improve overall CNV 
interactions and support of the local business community.

8 - 24 Health Cluster Finance & 
Economic 
Development

12,000         -             -             -             -             12,000         Following initial work in 2024 to complete background research, a high-level investment 
attraction sector profile, and investment monitoring, staff worked with a consultant to 
complete a situational assessment of the current Health and Life Sciences sector in the 
City that identified the primary business types and activities, developed a SWOT 
analysis of the typical cluster elements, and identified site selection elements as they 
apply to the City.  The situational assessment identified a number of potential 
opportunities.  Work on the next phase of this initiative is underway. This project will 
also align with Lonsdale Great Street, as a health and bioscience district would ideally 
be developed within Central Lonsdale. 

8 - 24 Health Cluster Finance & 
Economic 
Development

12,000         -             -             -             -             12,000         Portion of the work expected to be funded by Federal contribution.

8 - 25 Long Term Plan for City Fire Halls Public Safety 50,000         -             -             -             -             50,000         To obtain expert advice on available options, pros and cons and recommend approach 
for the delivery of fire services including the possible establishment of a second fire hall 
in the city, including phasing, sequencing and related implications.

8 - 26 Electronic Discovery Reference 
Model – Design

Office of the 
Deputy CAO

-               150,000     -             -             -             150,000        This is a productivity efficiency project that lay the groundwork to modernize the current 
document and records management solution (CityDocs). The project will examine the 
implementation of a new solution that will streamline employee productivity and enable 
cross business unit efficiency.

22



  2026-2030 CAPITAL PLAN

Studies and Other
Ref# Project Name Department 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2026-2030 Description

8 - 27 Secondary Suite Conformance 
Initiative

Planning & 
Development

50,000         -             -             -             -             50,000         This project is dedicated to researching and developing a municipal program to guide 
homeowners in bringing existing secondary suites into conformance with safety and 
building standards. It will analyze best practices and design strategies to transform 
informal housing into safe, approved accommodations, thereby enhancing housing 
quality and supply. A core objective of this development effort is to focus on 
streamlined processes to prevent tenant displacement. This research and development 
initiative will lay the groundwork for a future program that supports homeowners in 
navigating the upgrade process, ultimately supporting a stable and secure living 
environment for all residents.

8 - 28 Rodent Management Public Safety 15,000         -             -             -             -             15,000         To reduce rodent populations, protect public health, safeguard infastructure and 
enhance community livability through proactive, coordinated and sustainable rodent 
management practices.

8 - 29 Strategic Lands Stewardship Model Planning, 
Development 
& Real Estate

50,000         50,000       -             -             -             100,000        The Strategic Lands Stewardship Model is a stated priority in Council's Strategic Plan. 
These requested funds are to engage external expertise to assist in developing the 
Model, which will include deeper analysis of major City-owned lands to assess, plan 
and prepare them for future disposition, and respond to potential developer inquiries for 
acquisition or density transfer that may expedite the goals of the Strategic Lands 
Stewardship Model.  External expertise includes:  legal; surveyors; architects; 
engineering analysis; financial, market and developmnent analysis. 

Total Funding Requested 3,726,338     1,452,500  860,000     242,500     85,000       6,366,338     
Total Contributions 148,500        37,500       -             -             -             186,000        
Net Funding Requested 3,577,838        1,415,000     860,000        242,500        85,000          6,180,338        

External Contribution
Base Programs

New Items

23



2026-2030 Funding:

The projects in the Plan are expected to be financed from funds in existing reserves with balances 
at the beginning of 2026, new funds transferred to reserves, as well external grants, contributions 
and debt. A significant portion of the reserve revenues expected to be generated in 2026-2030 
are generated from the following sources: 

• Contributions from the annual tax levy. Funding in 2026 is based on the 2026 tax levy.
Future amounts are assumptions for planning purposes only. In 2026, the recommended amount
be transferred to capital projects equals approximately 1 % of total taxes.

• Development Cost Charges, with the related policy that was approved in Q4 2025.

• Interest on the reserve balances. The interest rate is forecasted on the basis of the rate of
return on CNV’s present investments, which are conservatively placed in fixed income vehicles
and investment accounts managed by the Municipal Finance Authority as restricted by the
Community Charter.

• Land sales, based on the estimated value of the land and the forecast date of sale.

• The Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre is initially being funded by a $109 million
Municipal Finance Authority loan approved in 2022. The North Shore Neighborhood House, Kings
Mill Walk Park, and 1600 Eastern Park projects are being partially funded by a $55.7 million
Municipal Finance Authority loan.

Draws from each of CNV’s capital reserve funds are shown in the table below: 

Capital Reserve Balances 

General Capital Reserve 

 Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

General Capital Reserve 8.2 M .  M  M 0 M  M M 

The General Capital Reserve is a non-statutory reserve that provides unrestricted funding for 
Capital Plan projects; as such, it can be used to fund any capital project.  The reserve is funded 
from various sources including portions of the annual tax levy and annual surpluses. 

The balance in this reserve decreases as it’s used to fund the projects in 2026-2030 Capital 
Plan.  The annual transfer to the GCR is the property tax contribution, which is assumed to 
increase by $775K (1%) each year of the plan. Fluctuations in this increase year to year 
seen above are a result of allocations to other reserves such as Fire Equipment. 

  

24



Tax Sale Land Principal Reserve 

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

Tax Sale Land Principal 
Reserve 20.4 M 20.0 M 20.0 M 20.0 M 20.0 M 20.0 M 

The Tax Sale Lands Principal Reserve is made up of the proceeds of sale of all lands sold by 
CNV which originally became CNV property though non-payment of taxes.  Most of this land 
came to CNV in the 1930’s, during the Great Depression. The balance in the Tax Sale Principal 
Reserve is used to invest in projects that have a prospective rate of return equal to or greater 
than CNV's benchmark rate of return; to invest in infrastructure and land management, in order 
to enhance marketability and increase the value of marketed lands, or to invest in the purchase 
of land assets to be held by CNV. A minimum balance of $20 million is currently being 
maintained in this reserve as a "financial safety net". 

The balance in this reserve decreases from $32M as at year-end 2025 to $20M in 2026 through 
to 2030 to fund the $11.6M provision for Strategic Land Acquisitions should an opportunity 
present itself.  Balances in this reserve are always above $20M to ensure CNV maintains the 
“financial safety net” originally established as part of the Harry Jerome Community Recreation 
Center Financial Strategy.   

Civic Amenity Reserve 

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

Civic Amenity Reserve 3.8 M 1.2 M 39.  M  M  M 4 .  M 

The Civic Amenity Reserve Fund is specifically dedicated to fund capital projects, which will 
enhance the use and enjoyment of the City, by members of the public.  Eligible projects 
include parks, recreation centers, libraries, plazas, and other community amenities. This 
reserve is funded by and land sales that were not 
because of non-payment of taxes.    

The reserve is shown as being funded mainly by Developers Contributions (80% go here with 
the remaining 20% to Affordable Housing Reserve).  The capital plan assumes that amounts 
received under the new ACC program, which is still under development, will be consistent with 
the prior CAC program. Revenue also includes interest earned and being used only on specific 
projects, as per restrictive nature of this reserve. The main change occurring over the 5-years 
is the revenue from surplus of sale of HJNL budgeted for year 2027. 

25



Affordable Housing Reserve 

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

Affordable Housing 
Reserve 0.0 M 0.0 M 1.2 M 2.5 M 3.8 M 5.2 M 

The Affordable Housing Reserve Fund was established in 1998 to support affordable housing 
and housing for those with special needs and respond to community-based initiatives related 
to the CNV's housing goals.  Funds are intended for capital projects and land, including the 
extension or renewal of existing capital works, or finishes or fixtures relating to the provision of 
projects or units of affordable housing or housing for those with special needs as defined by 
CNV Policy, and consistent with CNV Housing Policy objectives. 

The reserve is shown as being funded mainly by Developers Contributions (20% go here with 
the remaining 80% to Civic Amenity Reserve). These funds will continue to grow until an 
appropriate project is selected for them to be utilized.  

DCC Reserves  

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

DCC Reserves 9.0 M 0.0 M 2.8 M 6.9 M 11.2 M 17.2 M 

DCC’s in general are to be used to create capital works required due to growth, therefore the 
CNV plans to use these funds to provide mprovements in areas 

The reserve shown is being funded Developer Contribution Charges as well as interest 
revenue earned on reserve balances.  Funds are only used for specific projects, as per  
restrictive nature of this reserve. Following completion of the 2025 DCC review, there will be 
more opportunity to utilize these funds and offset tax dollars going to growth related projects. 

26



Growing Communities Reserve 

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

Growing Communities 
Reserve  0.7 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 

The principle objective of the GCF is to support communities that are increasing the local 
housing supply with funding to help them make new investments in community 
infrastructure and amenities.  

On February 10, 2023, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs (the “Ministry”) announced the Growing 
Communities Fund (“GCF”), a $1 billion one-time investment in B.C.’s 188 municipalities and 
regional districts.  CNV’s grant of $10,986,000 was received on March 23, 2023.  The principle 
objective of the GCF is to support communities that are increasing the local housing supply with 
funding to help them make new investments in community infrastructure and amenities.   

Projects funded from this reserve are: 

Lonsdale Great Street
Mobility Network Implementation
Waterfront Connections & Wayfinding
Lonsdale Highway Overpass Mobility Improvements
Transit Experience Improvement Plan

The funding is budgeted to be fully appropriated by year 2026. 

27



Housing Accelerator Fund 

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

Housing Accelerator 
Fund 6.0 M 6.0 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 0.0 M 

Housing Accelerator Funding was provided to CNV to enable it accommodate faster 
housing growth.  Funds are first being utilized to complete 9 projects that will 
accelerate the delivery of new housing.  The remaining funds are allocated to repaying 
debt related to the North Shore Neighborhood House project. 

On March 1, 2024, CNV was awarded an $18.6 million grant as part of the Federal Housing 
Accelerator Fund (HAF) Initiative. CNV’s HAF application to CMHC was focused on the goals 
of expanding the supply and improving the quality, diversity, and affordability of housing in the 
ity.  The first installment ($4,649,775) of CNV’s $18.6 million grant, announced on March 1, 

2024, has been received, and the remaining three installments of equal amounts are expected 
annually thereafter. 

The HAF will allow staff to proceed with the delivery of CNV’s (HAF) initiatives that are required 
as a part of the Federal government’s HAF grants.  Funds are first being utilized to complete 9 
projects that will accelerate the delivery of new housing: (1) Multi-plex Housing; (2) Prezoning 
R5; (3) Parking; (4) Affordable Housing Reserve; (5) Mid-Market Rental Policy; (6) Alternative 
Housing Construction; (7) Zoning Bylaw; (8) Inclusionary Housing Policy; and (9) Development 
Approvals Process. 

The final draw of funds occurring in 2027 is the redirecting surplus funds to repay a portion of 
the NSNH and City Parks loan, as motioned by Council in September 2024. 

28



Other Capital Reserves 

Capital Reserves  Opening 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

Other Capital Reserves 9.0 M 3.4 M 2.0 M 2.0 M 2.1 M 2.2 M 

Other capital reserve funds of lesser balances include: 
Lower Lonsdale Amenity, Marine
NSNH and City Parks Fund, General Building, 
Reserves (Engineering, Computer, General, Fire),
Carbon Fund, Heritage, Environmental Stewardship Fund and
Improvements. 

29



 

 
 
 

 
 

141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC 

V7M 1H9 
 

T. 604.985.7761 
F. 604.985.9417 

 
cnv.org 

info@cnv.org 

30



Document Number: 2727037 

_________ 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 FINANCE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

Subject: 2025-2029 REVISED FINANCIAL PLAN 

Date: October 15, 2025 File No:  05-1715-20-0020/2025 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.  Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated October 15, 2025, 
entitled “2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan”: 

THAT the amendments to the 2025-2029 Financial Plan for emerging priority 
projects to be funded from the General Capital Reserve Fund and Civic Amenity 
Reserve Fund be endorsed;  

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2530) an amount of $50,000 be appropriated 
from the Civic Amenity Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding the 2025-2029 
Revised Financial Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2531) an amount of $375,000 be appropriated 
from the General Capital Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding the 2025-2029 
Revised Financial Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2533) an amount of $4,950,000 be appropriated 
from the Parkland and Park Improvements DCC Reserve Fund for the purpose of 
funding the 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan; 

THAT funding in an amount of $200,000 be transferred to the “HJCRC Outside 
Consulting” project from the “Fire Hall Dormitory” project; 

AND THAT “Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (Revised Financial Plan) be considered for 
readings. 



REPORT: 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 4 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
1. 2025-2029 Revised Capital Plan – Projects (CityDocs 2723488) 
2. “Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, Amendment 

Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (CityDocs 2722545) 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report proposes amendments to the 2025-2029 Financial Plan in order to advance 
three advancing and emerging projects. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Community Charter requires CNV to prepare and adopt a 5-year Financial Plan.  
On May 5, 2025, Council considered CNV’s current 2025 - 2029 Financial Plan.  
Expenditures for items not included in the plan are unlawful, but amendments to the 
Financial Plan are allowed, by bylaw, at any time.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The three advancing and emerging projects proposed for inclusion in the Revised 2025-
2029 Financial Plan are listed in Attachment #1 and are as follows: 
 
Future Park Development Enhancements - $21,000,000 ($5M CNV, $16M external) 
 
The “2025 Development Cost Charge Review and Update” Council report considered by 
Council on July 14th identified $17.4M for Future Park Development Enhancements. 
This newly created project will be a provision for future park related work to support 
growth. 
 
Website Renewal - $325,000 
 
CNV’s website is a decade old and is in need of an update to ensure it is accessible, 
modern and can meet the needs of residents and organizations while integrating with 
CNV's public facing online services and back of house functionalities. Municipal 
government websites are now the main conduit by which the public connect with their 
local governments and, increasingly, have become the platform for the delivery of 
transparent, timely and useful information ranging from emergency management to 
access to Council meetings, documents and minutes.  
 
Significantly, CNV’s website needs to work harder to be a portal to important online 
services ranging from permitting and licensing to the payment of parking tickets and 
property taxes. A renewed website will reduce staff time and labour by updating aging 
digital infrastructure and therefore providing time-saving self-serve and accessibility 
options for visitors, and improving customer service. 
 
  



REPORT: 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 4 

HJCRC Outside Consulting (“HJNL Project”) - $200,000 
 
In 2022, Council approved a $230 million funding strategy for the new Harry Jerome 
Community Recreation Centre (“HJCRC”), which is scheduled to open in 2026. This 
Council approved funding strategy includes the disposition of Harry Jerome 
Neighbourhood Lands (“HJNL”). Some of the HJNL site has already been leased and 
developed into the Lonsdale Square and Sunrise Senior Living projects.  The remaining 
lands, excluding the portion being retained for park uses, are intended to be monetized 
to provide funding for the HJCRC capital program. In order to implement the Council 
approved funding strategy, CNV is working with consultants to prepare for the future 
HJNL disposition. 
 
The HJNL Project was originally established at $200,000 in 2022.  Now that the scope 
of the work is better understood, additional funding for consulting services to enable the 
site to be listed for disposition is required.  Additional consulting services are needed for 
additional market analysis, servicing and infrastructure requirements analysis, legal 
analysis, and to prepare a Request for Proposals document.   
 
Funding of $100,000 was transferred to the project in September 2025, bringing total 
approved funding from $200,000 to $300,000.  A final $200,000, for a total budget of 
$500,000, is needed to take the project to the point where a Request for Proposals is 
ready for the market.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The bylaw recommended for adoption in this report (Attachment #2) incorporates the 
above discussed changes.  The immediate funding proposed for the discussed projects 
is summarized as follows: 
 
Table 1 
Project ($000’s) Parks 

DCC  
Civic 

Amenity 
General 
Capital 

Project 
Transfer External 2025 

Total 
Future Park 
Development 
Enhancements 

4,950 50 - - 16,000 21,000 

Website Renewal - - 325 - - 325 
HJNL - - - 200 - 200 
Total 4,950 50 325 200 16,000 21,525

 
The “2025 Development Cost Charge Review and Update” Council report 
considered by Council on October 20th identified $17.4M for Future Park 
Development Enhancements to be funded by DCCs. 
 
CNV’s Civic Amenity and General Capital reserves have adequate 2025 balances to 
accommodate the new projects. 
 
CNV’s previously approved and appropriated Fire Hall Dormitory project has been 
occupied by users since June 2025 and is substantially completed.  This project was 



REPORT: 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 4 

also completed under budget, and has sufficient unused funding available that can 
be transferred to cover the remaining needs ($200,000) of the HJNL Project.  
 
INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The new projects recommended in this report have been reviewed by CNV’s Leadership 
Team. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Revised 2025-2029 Financial Plan has been prepared to support the delivery of 
Council’s 2022-2026 Strategic Plan. 
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:  

 Larry Sawrenko  
Chief Financial Officer 

 



2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan

Project Name Division 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2026-2030 Description

Future Park Development Enhancements Parks & Public Spaces: Shipyards & Waterfront 5,000,000     -            -            -            -            5,000,000 

Future Park Development Enhancements Parks & Public Spaces: Shipyards & Waterfront 16,000,000   -            -            -            -            16,000,000         

Website Renewal Communications & Engagement 325,000        -            -            -            -            325,000 

CNV's website is a decade old, and is in need of an update to ensure it is 
accessible, modern and can meet the needs of residents and organizations while 
integrating with the orgqanization's public facing online services and back of 
house functionalities. 

HJCRC Outside Consulting Real Estate 200,000        -            -            -            -            200,000 
Consulting costs to prepare for the future disposition of the HJNL, in alignment 
with the Council approved funding strategy for the Harry Jerome Community 
Recreation Centre. 

Total Funding Requested 21,525,000   -            - -            - 21,525,000         
Total Contributions 16,000,000   -            - -            - 16,000,000         
Net Funding Requested 5,525,000     -            - -            - 5,525,000 

Provision for future park related work to support growth

Document Number: 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145 Document: 2722545-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9145 

Financial Plan for the Years 2025 to 2029 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Financial Plan for the Years 2025
to 2029 Bylaw, 2025, No. 9107, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145” (Revised Financial
Plan).

2. Schedule “A” attached hereto is the Financial Plan of The Corporation of the City of North
Vancouver for the period commencing January 1, 2025, and ending December 31, 2029.

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2025. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

MAYOR 

CORPORATE OFFICER 



SCHEDULE “A” TO BYLAW NO. 9145 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER FINANCIAL PLAN 

FOR THE YEARS 2025 – 2029 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145 Document: 2722545-v1 

(1) 2025 – 2029 Financial Plan ($000’s) 
 

 
  

For years ended December 31 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Revenue
Property Value Tax 87,492 90,112 92,934 95,835 98,818
Levies (Storm and Eco) 6,192 6,987 7,904 8,874 9,899
Revenue from Fees and Services 60,856 67,134 75,291 82,461 88,335
Revenue from Other Sources 4,623 4,674 4,725 4,776 4,829

159,163 168,907 180,854 191,946 201,881

Transfers
Collections for Other Governments 61,640 62,873 64,130 65,413 66,721
Transfer from Reserves 102,667 62,577 51,132 59,821 41,936
External Contributions 41,643 3,191 4,712 4,444 4,328
Transfer from Capital Assets 18,160 18,523 163,893 19,271 19,656

224,110 147,165 283,867 148,948 132,640

Total Revenues 383,273 316,072 464,721 340,894 334,521

Expenditures
Operating Expenses

General Government 30,836 32,169 33,547 34,972 36,446
Transportation and Transit 9,510 9,498 9,688 9,882 10,080
Health, Social Services, Housing 3,751 3,826 3,903 3,981 4,061
Development Services 10,134 10,337 10,544 10,755 10,970
Protective Services 37,656 38,268 39,033 39,814 40,610
Parks, Recreation and Culture 29,885 30,483 31,093 31,715 32,349
Water 14,335 15,275 15,865 16,448 16,841
Sewer 21,696 26,166 29,766 33,460 37,108
Solid Waste 4,476 4,610 4,748 4,890 5,036

162,279 170,632 178,187 185,917 193,501

Capital Expenditures 121,760 44,823 40,712 52,610 36,421

Transfers
Collections for Other Governments 61,640 62,873 64,130 65,413 66,721

Equity 20,349 19,364 19,751 20,146 20,549
Reserves 12,704 15,633 51,816 15,071 14,207
Debt Servicing 4,541 2,746 110,124 1,738 3,122

99,234 100,616 245,821 102,367 104,600

Total Expenditures 383,273 316,072 464,721 340,894 334,521



SCHEDULE “A” TO BYLAW NO. 9145 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER FINANCIAL PLAN 

FOR THE YEARS 2025 – 2029 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145 Document: 2722545-v1 

(2) Revenue Proportions by Funding Source 
      (Excluding Transfers) 

 
 
Background: Property Taxes are CNV’s major source of revenue. CNV’s reliance on property 
tax as a source of revenue has increased gradually over the past several years. This trend is 
partially due to the lack of access to other types of revenues.  Where feasible, CNV charges user 
fees for services, however this is not possible for many services. The 2025 – 2029 Financial Plan 
projects the percentage of revenue coming from property taxes to decrease gradually, due to the 
assumptions in place surrounding growth of revenue from Fees and Services, particularly within 
Utilities where rate increases need to account for significant future costs from Metro Vancouver. 
 
Policy: CNV will continue to look for ways to reduce the overall percentage of revenue that comes 
from property tax, by pursuing alternate revenue sources, and remains committed to charging 
user fees for services where feasible.  
 
 
(3) Distribution of Property Taxes among the Property Classes 
  

Percentage of Taxes Collected 
by Property Class 

2024 
% 

2025* 
% 

1 Residential 57.37% 57.78% 
2 Utilities 0.43% 0.41% 
4 Major Industry 11.09% 10.95% 
5 Light Industry 0.95% 0.89% 
6 Business And Other 30.12% 29.92% 
8 Recreation/Non-Profit 0.04% 0.05% 

*2025 estimate based on Completed Roll data 
 
Background: Council adopted a Long Term Property Tax Strategy to shift taxes from the 
Business and Other and Light Industry tax classes to the Residential tax class. The goal of this 
strategy was to move CNV’s tax rates and tax rate ratios to a competitive position within the Metro 
Vancouver Region, while maintaining principles of fairness and equity.  As CNV’s tax rates and 
tax rate ratios are now competitive within the region, Council endorsed an across the board tax 
rate increase for 2025.   
  
Policy: CNV will continue to distribute property taxes among the various property classes to keep 
tax rates and tax rate ratios competitive within the Metro Vancouver Region, while maintaining 
the principles of fairness and equity. 
 
  

($000's)
2025 % 2026 % 2027 % 2028 % 2029 %

Property Value Tax 87,492     55 90,112     53 92,934     51 95,835     50 98,818     49
Levies (Storm and Eco) 6,192       4 6,987       4 7,904       4 8,874       5 9,899       5
Revenue from Fees and Services 60,856     38 67,134     40 75,291     42 82,461     43 88,335     44
Revenue from Other Sources 4,623       3 4,674       3 4,725       3 4,776       2 4,829       2

Total Revenues 159,163   100 168,907   100 180,854   100 191,946   100 201,881   100



SCHEDULE “A” TO BYLAW NO. 9145 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER FINANCIAL PLAN 

FOR THE YEARS 2025 – 2029 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9145 Document: 2722545-v1 

(4) Use of Permissive Tax Exemptions 
 
Background: Council currently allows Permissive Tax Exemptions to organizations within the 
City, in accordance with authority provided under the Community Charter. The Community 
Charter shows various types of institutions as eligible, including religious institutions, providers of 
social housing, and not for profit societies and service organizations.  
  
Policy: CNV has adopted a policy that includes a set of criteria for approving Permissive Tax 
Exemptions.  This criteria links taxation exemptions to desired community needs and outcomes. 
Applications are also assessed on whether or not uses are available to a significant portion of 
community residents, if there is ongoing involvement of community volunteers, if benefiting 
organizations have competent management, and if funding comes from multiple sources. Council 
also carefully considers the total amount of Permissive Tax Exemptions granted each year when 
reviewing the annual Property Tax Exemption bylaw, giving consideration to the equity of shifting 
the exempted tax burden to other property owners in the City. 
  
All existing Permissive Tax Exemptions are reviewed each year and staff continue to work with 
all organizations who receive a Permissive Tax Exemption to ensure that their services align with 
Council’s Strategic plan. 
 

 



Document Number: 2702865 

____________ 
General 
Manager 

_________ 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 FINANCE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Vito Grammatico, Manager, Economic Development 

Subject: CENTRAL LONSDALE BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AREA FORMATION 
BYLAW AND PETITION PROCESS 

Date: October 15, 2025 File No:  13-6750-20-0006/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.  Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION 

Option 1 – City-Led Process: 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Economic Development, dated 
October 15, 2025, entitled “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 
Formation Bylaw and Petition Process”: 

THAT staff be directed to initiate a petition against process, in accordance with 
Section 213 of the Community Charter, for the proposed creation of the Central 
Lonsdale Business Improvement Area; 

AND THAT “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Service 
Establishment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138” be considered for first, second and third 
readings. 

Option 2 – Society-Led Process: 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Economic Development, dated 
October 15, 2025, entitled “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 
Formation Bylaw and Petition Process”: 

THAT staff be directed to inform the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement 
Area Society of the Petition for a Local Area Service process under Section 212 
of the Community Charter. 



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 10 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
1. Proposed BIA Boundary Map (CityDocs 2708228) 
2. Draft Letter to Property Owners and Petition Against Form (CityDocs 2711004) 
3. Draft Society Financial Statements (CityDocs 2710649) 
4. BIA Brochure (CityDocs 2708218) 
5. Proposed “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Service Establishment 

Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138” (CityDocs 2705439) 
 

PURPOSE 
 
The Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society (the Society) was 
established in 2024, and since then has been leading the establishment of a new 
Business Improvement Area (BIA) for the central Lonsdale area. The Society has 
conducted engagement and outreach, and the Society believes it is now ready to 
proceed with the formal establishment of the new BIA.  
 
The Society has requested that Council initiate a petition against process and proceed 
with consideration of a proposed bylaw, which are required procedural steps to enable 
the formation of the proposed BIA pursuant to the Community Charter.  This report 
provides information on the Society’s efforts to date, their request for the BIA, the 
process involved, and next steps.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Society was incorporated on May 13, 2024, to lead the establishment of a BIA for 
central Lonsdale. The Society is governed by an executive board representing a range 
of business sectors, including finance, food services, and health care. The Society’s 
Board of Directors consists of: 
 

• Shaun Mitha – Hatz Hair Studio – President 
• Bruce Peters – Zazou Salon & Academy Lonsdale – Vice President 
• Lynne Chrismas – AMC Insurance – Administrator 
• Juliana Bolognese – Royal Bank of Canada – Treasurer 
• Noel Scott – Eighties Restaurant – Director 
• Carl McCreath – Steamworks North Shore- Director 
• Dr. Bo Gregson – Lonsdale Wellness – Director 
• Heny Mustikasari – Summerhill Parc– Director 
• Dr. James Tjorhom – Pacific View Dental Centre – Director 
• Shane Dembiske – OEB Breakfast Co. – Director 
• Fahim Rahman – Westview Accounting & Tax Services – Director 

 
In 2024, the Society submitted a grant request for $30,000 to support outreach and 
administrative costs associated with BIA formation. On July 8, 2024, Council approved 
this request, enabling the Society to conduct additional outreach to local business and 
property owners in preparation for a formal petition process. 
 



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 10 

Since 2024, the Society has been conducting outreach with business operators and 
commercial property owners which included one-on-one meetings, door-to-door 
engagement, email updates, individual follow-ups, and group information sessions. The 
Society also developed communication materials and a preliminary budget outlining 
planned expenditures for the first year of the proposed BIA’s operation.  
 
This is the second attempt to establish a BIA Service in the central Lonsdale area. An 
earlier initiative in 2022 received Council support and funding; however, the organizing 
committee at that time faced challenges in mobilizing the business community in the 
post-pandemic context and ultimately returned the City’s grant in full. That earlier effort 
was led by a different group of individuals than those involved in the current Society. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The Society has proposed the main elements that have been incorporated into the 
proposed bylaw (see Attachment 5), including:   
 

• the purposes of the BIA; 
• the proposed boundary:  the area shown in blue outline on the proposed BIA 

boundary map (see Attachment 1) proposed to be designated as the Central 
Lonsdale Business Improvement Area, including parcels fronting both sides of all 
boundary streets;  

• the properties subject to the annual BIA levy: Class 5 (Light Industry) and Class 6 
(Business and Other) within the proposed BIA boundary (281 total properties);  

• the proposed budget for the first year of the BIA’s operation of $725,000; and 
• the maximum budget over the eight-year term of $6,446,950, based on an initial 

levy of $725,000 in Year 1 with a potential three percent (3%) annual increase 
thereafter. 

 
The attached proposed “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Service 
Establishment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138” would establish a BIA service under the 
Community Charter. Section 215 of the Community Charter provides that the bylaw 
establishing a BIA service must identify the “business promotion scheme” for the BIA. 
The proposed Bylaw states: 
 

“‘Central Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme’ means: 
 

(1) carrying out studies or making reports respecting the Central Lonsdale 
Business Improvement Area where business or commerce is carried on; 

 
(2) improving, beautifying or maintaining streets, sidewalks or municipally 

owned land, buildings or other structures in the Central Lonsdale 
Business Improvement Area, subject to approval by the City of any 
works or improvements proposed for municipally owned streets, 
sidewalks, land, buildings or other structures; 

 



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 10 

(3) the removal of graffiti from buildings and other structures in the Central 
Lonsdale Business Improvement Area; and 

 
(4) Encouraging Business in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement 

Area; 
 

‘Encouraging Business’ includes, but not limited to: 
 
(1) creating a strong “Central Lonsdale” brand and distinct identity for 

businesses in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area; 
 
(2) developing and implementing a marketing strategy to promote goods 

and services from the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area to 
local, regional and tourist markets; 

 
(3) promoting new investment in commercial, residential and mixed-use 

developments in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area that 
supports the viability of local businesses; 

 
(4) representing interests of the business community in the Central 

Lonsdale Business Improvement Area in local government processes; 
 
(5) encouraging businesses from the Central Lonsdale Business 

Improvement Area to participate in established major events in the 
community, planning and implementing other special events and 
promotions; and 

 
(6) promoting and implementing streetscape improvements and public 

amenities to enhance the visitor experience in the Central Lonsdale 
Business Improvement Area.” 

 
Formation Process 
 
A BIA is a local service area established by a municipal council where business and 
property owners finance activities to promote business in that area. The service (BIA 
Service) being provided under the proposed Bylaw is the provision of annual grants 
from the City to the Society for the purpose of planning and implementing the Central 
Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme, as outlined above. The City recoups the cost of 
the BIA Service (i.e. the amount of the grants) through levying a Local Service Tax on 
the Class 5 and Class 6 property owners within the defined area, further discussed 
under the Financial Implications section.  While property owners are legally responsible 
to pay the BIA Service levy to the municipality, in practice, most property owners pass 
this cost onto their business tenants through the terms of their commercial leases. The 
Local Service Tax is based on the assessed value of each property.  
 
The Community Charter provides the authority for a municipality to create a BIA Service 
by bylaw, and sets out the rules for the establishment and operation of such an area. 
Before a BIA Service can be created, the property owners in the area must indicate 
whether they are in favour of or oppose its creation.  



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 5 of 10 

Under the Community Charter, there are two ways to establish a BIA: 
 

• A BIA may be created on Council initiative (Section 213 – “Local area service on 
council initiative – subject to petition against”), where Council gives notice, 
publicly and to the owners of the subject parcels, of its intention to establish a 
BIA Service, and Council may then proceed with establishing the BIA Service 
(including adopting the BIA bylaw) unless a petition against is received during the 
minimum 30-day petition period. In order to be considered a sufficient petition 
against, the petition against must be signed by the owners of at least 50% of the 
parcels that would be subject to the Local Service Tax (and the persons signing 
must be the owners of parcels that in total represent 50% of the assessed value 
of land and improvements that would be subject to the Local Service Tax). 
 

• Alternatively, a BIA may be created by petition of property owners (Section 212 – 
“Petition for local area service”), where the petition to establish the BIA Service 
must be signed by the owners of at least 50% of the parcels that would be 
subject to the Local Service Tax (and the persons signing must be the owners of 
parcels that in total represent 50% of the assessed value of land and 
improvements that would be subject to the Local Service Tax). 

 
In this case, the BIA Society has requested that the City proceed by way of the petition 
against process. The City previously used the petition against process when the Lower 
Lonsdale Business Improvement Association was established. The petition against 
process also appears to be the predominant way in which BIAs are created in the 
Province.  
 
For Option 1 of the petition process (petition-against process), in addition to publishing 
the required notice by newspaper (as outlined in the Community Charter), the City will 
mail notification letters (Attachment 2) to all owners of parcels within the defined area 
that would be subject to the Local Service Tax. Public notice will also be posted at the 
City’s public notice locations in City Hall (141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC) 
and on the City’s website (www.cnv.org).  For Option 2 (petition-for process), it would be 
the responsibility of the Society to lead this process and to obtain signatures from at 
least 50% of the affected property owners, representing at least 50% of the assessed 
value of the Class 5 and 6 properties within the proposed boundary. The Society would 
be responsible for drafting and mailing a notification letter to owners of parcels within 
the defined area that would be subject to the Local Service Tax. 
 
After the deadline for submitting the petition forms, the City’s Corporate Officer will 
determine the sufficiency and validity of the petition forms and certify this determination, 
in accordance with the Community Charter. The proposed Bylaw will proceed to Council 
for consideration of adoption (and Council could still decide not to adopt the proposed 
Bylaw) if the necessary threshold for the petition is met. 
 
For Option 1 (petition-against process), the proposed Bylaw (and the BIA Service) will 
not proceed, and Council will not be able to propose the same service within a period of 
one year after the presentation of the petition against if: 
 



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 6 of 10 

• at least 50% of the Class 5 and Class 6 owners in the defined area oppose the 
BIA, and  

• the persons signing to vote against the BIA represent at least 50% of the 
assessed value of Class 5 and Class 6 land and improvements in the defined 
area. 

 
For Option 2 (petition-for process), the proposed Bylaw (and the BIA Service) will not 
proceed if: 
 

• less than 50% of the Class 5 and Class 6 owners in the defined area support the 
BIA, and  

• the persons signing to vote for the BIA represent less than 50% of the assessed 
value of Class 5 and Class 6 land and improvements in the defined area. 

 
Current Economic Climate 
 
The proposal to establish a BIA comes at a time when many businesses are facing 
economic uncertainty.  Higher interest rates, rising operating costs, including labour, 
rent, and insurance, combined with ongoing global supply chain pressures and new 
trade tariffs, are increasing financial strain on businesses.  BIAs can provide value by 
pooling and coordinating resources for marketing, advocacy, and streetscape 
improvements that would not be feasible for individual businesses to undertake alone.  
 
At the same time, the introduction of a new Local Service Tax represents an additional 
cost for property owners, and primarily the business tenants who typically pay the new 
Local Service Tax by virtue of the terms of their commercial leases, which may add 
financial strain to businesses already navigating a challenging economic climate. City 
Staff are work closely with the BIA to help ensure local businesses are aware of the 
additional Local Service Tax required to fund the BIA should it advance, including 
vetting related informational materials for accuracy and clarity.  
 
Boundary Map 
 
The proposed BIA boundary (Attachment 1) encompasses a large service area, 
covering the commercial corridor identified as central Lonsdale. This area aligns with 
the boundaries used in the Lonsdale Great Street planning work and includes a diverse 
range of businesses, from small independent retailers to large mixed-use 
developments. While this boundary captures the broader economic heart of central 
Lonsdale, its size and diversity present challenges in ensuring that BIA programs and 
investments deliver tangible value across the entire area. Businesses at the north and 
south ends of the corridor, for example, may experience different priorities, customer 
bases, and development pressures. The Society will need to carefully consider how to 
equitably distribute services, promotions, and streetscape initiatives in its annual 
planning to ensure that the benefits of the BIA are felt consistently throughout the 
district. 
 
  



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 7 of 10 

Engagement Efforts 
 
As discussed, the Society has been conducting outreach with business operators and 
commercial property owners.  This outreach has included one-on-one meetings, door-
to-door engagement, email updates, individual follow-ups, and group information 
sessions. The Society appears to have made substantial effort to engage businesses 
and property owners within the proposed boundary.  Success at reaching the ultimate 
property owners, as opposed to leaseholder businesses, has however proven 
challenging, but those challenges do not appear to be for lack of effort and are 
consistent with the City’s experiences.  The Society appears committed to ongoing 
outreach, which will continue to play an important role in building awareness and 
support ahead of the petition process. 
 
Petition Options 
 
As discussed, under the Community Charter, there are two mechanisms available for 
establishing a Business Improvement Area (BIA) Service: 
 

• Option 1 – Council Initiative (Petition-Against Process): 
Council may proceed to establish the BIA Service by bylaw, subject to a petition 
against process under Section 213 of the Community Charter. In this approach, 
Council would direct staff to provide formal notice to all affected property owners, 
including details of the proposed bylaw and service area, and allow a minimum 
30-day petition period. Unless a sufficient petition against is received, meaning 
opposition from at least 50% of property owners within the boundary representing 
at least 50% of the total assessed value of Class 5 and 6 properties, Council may 
then consider adoption of the bylaw and creation of the BIA Service. 

 
• Option 2 – Property Owner Petition (Petition-For Process): 

Council could alternatively require the BIA Service to be established only if the 
proponent Society secures a sufficient petition in favour under Section 212 of the 
Community Charter. This would place the responsibility on the Society to obtain 
signatures from at least 50% of the affected property owners, representing at 
least 50% of the assessed value of the Class 5 and 6 properties within the 
proposed boundary. Only if this threshold were met would Council be able to 
proceed with adoption of the bylaw. 

 
Option 1 reflects standard practice across British Columbia and was the approach used 
to establish the Lower Lonsdale BIA. It provides a transparent, time-limited process led 
by the City, ensuring property owners are formally notified and have a fair opportunity to 
register opposition. This safeguard is particularly relevant in the current economic 
climate, where many businesses face higher financing, labour, and insurance costs. 
By contrast, Option 2 places the full responsibility of canvassing and signature collection 
on the Society. This approach is rarely used in practice, as it is resource-intensive and 
difficult to achieve in areas with large and diverse ownership. In Central Lonsdale, with 
approximately 281 Class 6 properties, obtaining sufficient signatures would be 
especially challenging. 
 
  



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 8 of 10 

Next Steps 
 
If Council chooses to proceed with the petition-against process (Option 1), the next 
steps will be: 
 

1. Legislative Services staff will place two notices in the North Shore News (notices 
must be placed in the newspaper, one each week, for 2 consecutive weeks). 
 

2. Legislative Services staff will have delivered the notice and petition against to 
each Class 5 and Class 6 property owner within the defined area. While Canada 
Post is the preferred method, alternate delivery options such as Purolator may 
need to be considered if the current postal strike persists. 
 

3. At the end of the 30-day response period (to begin after the second newspaper 
notice), Legislative Services will tabulate the results and the Corporate Officer 
will bring a report with the final results to Council. 

 
If Council selects the petition-for process (Option 2), the next steps will be: 
 

1. The proponent Society will be responsible for collecting signatures from at least 
50% of property owners within the proposed boundary, representing at least 50% 
of the total assessed value of affected Class 5 and Class 6 properties. 
 

2. Once the petition results have been verified for sufficiency, staff will report back 
to Council with the findings and next steps for bylaw consideration. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
If the BIA is successfully established, all funding for its programs will be raised through 
the Local Service Tax, which is a property levy on Class 5 (Light Industry) and Class 6 
(Business and Other) properties within the proposed BIA boundary. This levy will be 
administered by the City and fully disbursed to the Society in accordance with the terms 
of the proposed Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Service Establishment 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138. As all funding will be raised through the Local Service Tax, 
there are no anticipated direct financial contributions from the City that would be 
required. 
 
The levy is collected as a property value tax calculated per $1,000 of assessed property 
value (land and improvements). The estimated Local Service Tax rate for the BIA to 
collect the first-year proposed budget amount of $725,000 is approximately $0.66227 
per $1,000 of assessed value for 2025. There are a total of 281 Class 6 properties 
within the proposed BIA boundary that would be the subject of the Local Service Tax. 
There are currently no Class 5 properties within the proposed BIA boundary. The 
approximate median annual levy in the BIA is $792 based on the approximate median 
assessment value of $1,200,000. The estimated Local Service Tax in the first year 
based on the 2025 assessed value for some sample properties are shown in the 
following table: 
  



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 9 of 10 

Business Taxable Assessment Estimated Levy 
$500,000 $331 

$2,000,000 $1,325 
$5,000,000 $3,311 
$10,000,000 $6,623 
$20,000,000 $13,245 
$50,000,000 $33,114 

 
There are approximately 22 properties within the proposed BIA boundary with a net 
taxable value of over $10 million. Of these, 9 properties exceed $20 million, and 2 
properties exceed $50 million in net taxable value. The petition-against process will 
provide an opportunity for property owners, including those with higher-value holdings, 
to register any opposition to the establishment of the BIA. The results of the petition-
against will be reported back to Council for consideration prior to any decision on 
adoption of the bylaw. 
 
The proposed Bylaw includes provisions to address potential overpayments resulting 
from property assessment appeals or corrections to reconcile the total levy collected 
with the revised property values. This provision is intended to ensure fairness and 
compliance with BC Assessment data and taxation regulations. The Society will be 
notified of any such adjustments in writing. 
 
The cost in the first year is proposed to be $725,000. The proposed Bylaw provides that 
the aggregate amount of annual grants to the Society shall not exceed $6,446,950 over 
the term of the service. One hundred percent (100%) of the annual cost will be 
recovered through a property value tax on all parcels within the Central Lonsdale 
Business Improvement Area that are classified as Class 5 (Light Industry) and Class 6 
(Business and Other). The proposed Bylaw also requires the Society to submit annual 
budgets and audited financial statements for review by the City. 
 
The Society has requested that the aggregate amount of annual grants be calculated on 
the basis of a potential three percent (3%) annual inflationary increase to the Local 
Service Tax. The Society has advised that this approach is intended to provide stability 
for long-term planning and account for cost escalation over the eight-year term of the BIA 
Service. For context, the Bank of Canada’s monetary policy aims to maintain inflation at 
a two percent (2%) target rate over the medium term. The following table illustrates the 
projected levy amounts under this calculation: 
 

Year 1 (2026): $725,000 
Year 2 (2027): $746,750 
Year 3 (2028): $769,153 
Year 4 (2029): $792,228 
Year 5 (2030): $815,995 
Year 6 (2031): $840,475 
Year 7 (2032): $865,689 
Year 8 (2033): $891,660 

The Society’s rationale for consideration of an annual three percent (3%) inflationary 
increase to the levy is that this adjustment would help maintain service levels over time, 



REPORT: Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Formation Bylaw and Petition Process  
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 10 of 10 

reflecting cost pressures that may grow faster than headline inflation such as staffing, 
insurance, and program delivery.  The Society’s position is that a predictable, modest 
annual increase offers a safeguard against underfunding and provides long-term 
certainty for program delivery. 

Once a BIA is established, it is managed by the Society, and the City’s involvement 
primarily relates to the annual funding process, monitoring BIA budgets in accordance 
with the proposed Bylaw, and acting as a liaison between the BIA and City departments. 
 
INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Legislative Services, Finance, and Communications have been consulted regarding the 
proposed bylaw and petition against process. Legislative Services will lead the petition-
against process, with Communications and Economic Development providing support 
as required.  If Council decides to proceed with the petition-for process instead, then 
that process would be led by the Society.  For both petition options, the City’s Corporate 
Officer will determine the sufficiency and validity of the petition forms 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The establishment of a BIA in Central Lonsdale would deliver on the following priority in 
the Council Strategic Plan for 2022-2026: 
 

• A Prosperous City: Foster the expansion of Business Improvement Associations 
throughout the City. 

 
This initiative also supports an objective of the OCP in relation to the role of Lonsdale as 
the urban core of the City as part of its designation as a Regional City Centre. The 
City’s Economic Strategy would also be able to leverage the creation of a BIA to support 
medium and longer-term efforts to create world-class multi-functional public places and 
build a future-focused and resilient local economy. 
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 Vito Grammatico 
Manager, Economic Development 

 



W 2nd St

St
.G

eo
rg

es
Av

e
St

. G
eo

rg
es

Av
e

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

 A
ve

W 25th St

E 28th St

W 4th St

E 25th St

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

Av
e

Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

Trans Canada Hwy

E 23rd St

E 20th St

R
id

ge
w

ay
 A

ve

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

 A
ve

E 19th St

E 18th St

E 17th St

Tem
pe

Cres

M
ah

on
 A

ve

E 16th St

Se
m

isc
h A

ve

E 15th St

Jo
ne

s 
Av

e

E 13th StW 8th St

E 12th St

W 21st St

E 10th St

E 11th St

E 9th StE Keith Rd E 8th St

Lyon Pl

Vi
ct

or
ia

ParkAve W

E 14th St

W Keith Rd

W 13th St

W 14th St

W 15th St

W 16th St

W
es

te
rn

 A
ve

W 3rd St
E 4th St

Brand
St

W 23rd St

W 24th St

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

Av
e

Larson Cres

W 26th St

W 27th St

W 28th St

W 5th St

E 22nd St

E 21st St

Ea
st

er
n 

Av
e

E 27th St

Ea
st

er
n 

Av
e

W 22nd St

E 6th St

W 12th St

E 26th St

E 24th St

W 17th St

W 18th St

W 19th St

W 20th St

E 5th St

W 6th St

City of North Vancouver

Proposed Central
Lonsdale BIA
Boundaries

PUBLISHED: July 17, 2025

PATH: H:\GISStaff\CNV_Projects\Community_and_Partner_Engagement\CentralLonsdaleBIA\Proposed_Lonsdale_Centre_BIA_Boundaries\

COORDINATE SYSTEM: NAD 83, UTM Zone 10

GIS Division, Information Technology,
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North
Vancouver's Geographic Information System.
Data provided herein is derived from sources
with varying levels of accuracy and detail.
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 50 100 150 200
Meters

FILE: Proposed_Lonsdale_Centre_BIA_Boundaries

Legend

Proposed Lonsdale
Centre BIA Boundaries



[1] 

(DRAFT) CITY LETTERHEAD 

NAMES OF REGISTERED OWNER(S) 

ADDRESS OF REGISTERED OWNER(S) SET OUT IN LAST REVISED ASSESSMENT ROLL 

Dear Property Owner: 

Re: Notice of Proposed Establishment of Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 

This letter is to notify you pursuant to s. 213(1)(b) of the Community Charter, that the City of 
North Vancouver intends to adopt the “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 
Establishing Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138” to create the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 
(BIA).  

The Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society (Society) has asked the City to 
create a new BIA for an eight-year (8) period from January 1, 2026 to December 31, 2033, for 
the area outlined in blue on the map shown on page 3. 

What is a Business Improvement Area (BIA)? 

A BIA is a local service area established by a municipal council where business and light 
industry property owners finance activities to promote business.  

Purpose of the Central Lonsdale BIA: 

The purpose of the Central Lonsdale BIA is to provide annual funding to the Society, who will 
plan and implement a business promotion scheme for this area, which will in turn be funded by 
an annual property value tax levy (specifically known as a Local Service Tax). The scheme, 
financed by the taxation, is to carry out the following activities: 

• carry out studies or make reports respecting the Central Lonsdale BIA;
• improve, beautify, or maintain streets, sidewalks, or City owned land, buildings or other

structures in the Central Lonsdale BIA;
• remove graffiti from buildings and other structures in the Central Lonsdale BIA;
• conserve heritage property in the Central Lonsdale BIA; and
• encourage business in the Central Lonsdale BIA.

Proposed Taxes 

The total budget for the eight-year term is set at $6,446,950, with an annual budget shown 
below: 

Year 1 (2026): $725,000 
Year 2 (2027): $746,750 
Year 3 (2028): $769,153 
Year 4 (2029): $792,228 
Year 5 (2030): $815,995 

Attachment 2 



[2] 
 

Year 6 (2031): $840,475 
Year 7 (2032): $865,689 
Year 8 (2033): $891,660 

Through a City-initiated Local Service Tax, Class 5 [light industry] and Class 6 [business and 
other] property owners and occupiers of municipal land in the Central Lonsdale BIA will pay 
100% of the cost of the funding given to the Society for the business promotion scheme.  

Bylaw Adoption Process for the Creation of the Central Lonsdale BIA 

Council may proceed with the creation of the Central Lonsdale BIA unless it receives eligible 
signed petitions opposing the creation by [TIME] on MONTH DAY, 2025: 

• from property owners plus occupiers of municipal land that together make up at least 
50% of the parcels that would be subject to the Local Service Tax; and 

• the persons signing the petition against form must represent at least 50% of the 
assessed value of land and improvements that would be subject to the Local Service 
Tax. 

If there are two or more owners registered to an eligible property, a majority of the owners must 
sign the petition against in order for the property to be counted as not in support of the proposed 
Central Lonsdale BIA. 

How to Participate (For Eligible Property Owners Only) 

If you SUPPORT the creation of the Central Lonsdale BIA, no action is required. 

If you DO NOT SUPPORT the creation of the Central Lonsdale BIA, please complete the 
petition against form (mailed to eligible property owners), and sign on the space provided and 
return to the City of North Vancouver by [TIME] on MONTH DAY, 2025 via: 

Mail: Legislative Services, 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 
Scan and email: clerks@cnv.org 
Fax: 604-990-4202 
In person: Legislative Services, 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

Additional Information 

The proposed “Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Establishing Bylaw, 2025, No. 
9138” and a copy of the petition against form are available for viewing on the City’s website at: 
[INSERT LINK OF EXACT WEBPAGE]. For more information, visit the City’s website at: 
[INSERT LINK OF EXACT WEBPAGE] or contact ______________ by phone: ___________ or 
email: clerks@cnv.org. 

The personal informaƟon collected as part of the Proposed Establishment of the Central Lonsdale 
Business Improvement Area is retained in accordance with SecƟon 26(a) of the Freedom of InformaƟon 
and ProtecƟon of Privacy Act. If you have any quesƟons about the collecƟon of your personal 
informaƟon, please contact LegislaƟve Services at 604-985-7761. 
  



[3] 
 

Map of Proposed Central Lonsdale BIA Boundaries 

 

 



 

PETITION AGAINST CREATION OF THE CENTRAL LONSDALE BIA 

Description of my (our) property within the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area: 

Property Street Address:   
  
Legal Description (optional):   
  
Parcel Identifier (optional):    

By signing this form:  

• I declare that I am the registered owner of the above-noted property. If I am signing this 
form on behalf of a company or society who is the registered owner of the above-noted 
property, I represent that I am duly authorized to execute this form on behalf of the 
company or society; and 

• I am petitioning against the creation of the Central Lonsdale BIA. 

Full Name of Property Owner*:  
  
 
 
 

  

Signature:  Signature Date: 
 

Full Name of Property Owner* (if applicable):  
 _ 
 
 
 

  

Signature:  Signature Date: 
 

Full Name of Property Owner* (if applicable):  
  
 
 
 

  

Signature:  Signature Date: 

 

* If there is more than one registered owner of this property, the majority of owners must sign 
this petition against form. If the registered owner of this property is a company, please print the 
full company name and print the name of each person signing on behalf of the company. 



LONSDALE CENTRE BIA SOCIETY
Income Statement 2025-01-01 to 2025-08-22

REVENUE

Levy Revenue
BIA Levy 0.00

Total Levy 0.00

Non-Levy Revenue
Grants 0.00

Net Sales 0.00

TOTAL REVENUE 0.00

EXPENSE

Business Incorp & Set-Up Costs
Accounting & Legal 2,460.00
Business Fees & Licenses 55.00

Total Business Incorp & Set-U... 2,515.00

Contracted & Event Services
Professional Fees 3,587.50

Total Contracted & Event Servi... 3,587.50

Insurance & Liabilty Assurance
Directors Insurance 850.00

Total Insurance & Liability Ass... 850.00

Marketing & Promotion
Advertising & Campaigns 5,241.06
Branding & Design 300.00
Community Engagement 0.00

Total Marketing & Promotion 5,541.06

Membership Management Syst...
Membership Database & Registr... 300.00

Total Membership Managemen... 300.00

Meetings, Events & Guest Serv...
Meeting Expense 512.50

Total Meetings, Events & Gues... 512.50

Placemaking (Beautification)
Infastructure & Public Art 2,050.00

Total Placemaking 2,050.00

Website Development & ON Se...
Website Development Costs 5,843.37
Domain Registration & Renewal 393.60
Website Hosting & Cloud Storage 41.00

Total Website Development & ... 6,277.97

General & Administration
Interest & Bank Charges 82.00
Office Expense 786.75
Supplies Expense 1,986.97

Total General & Admin. Expen... 2,855.72

TOTAL EXPENSE 24,489.75

NET INCOME -24,489.75

Printed On: 2025-08-22



LONSDALE CENTRE BIA SOCIETY

Balance Sheet As at 2025-08-22

ASSET

Current Assets
RBC Bank Account 3,833.14
Total Cash 3,833.14
Accounts Receivable 549.70
Total Receivable 549.70

Total Current Assets 4,382.84

TOTAL ASSET 4,382.84

LIABILITY 

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 3,369.00

Total Current Liabilities 3,369.00

Long Term Liabilities
Loans from Director (Shaun Mitha) 457.85

Total Long Term Liabilities 457.85

TOTAL LIABILITY 3,826.85

EQUITY

Retained Earnings
Retained Earnings - Previous Year 25,045.74
Current Earnings -24,489.75

Total Retained Earnings 555.99

TOTAL EQUITY 555.99

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 4,382.84

Printed On: 2025-08-22



Central Lonsdale BIA Society 
Budget Overview – January to August 22, 2025 

Budget Overview 
Total budget: $30,000.00 
Total used: $29,993.71 
Remaining surplus balance: $6.29 

Note: Excluding GST (rebate receivable), the total budget used is $29,444.01. A 2025 GST rebate of $549.70 
will be received in 2026. 

Accounts Payable (Total: $3,826.85) 
$457.85 – Reimbursement owed to Shaun (paid personally) 
$2,100.00 – Lori Consulting (processing) 
$525.00 – Sumerhill Parc (processing) 
$300.00 – Andrew Klavar 
$24.00 – Monthly bank charges (Sep–Dec @ $6/month) 
$420.00 – Lighthouse Tax Solutions Inc. (Financial Statements) 

Accounts Receivable 
$549.70 – GST rebate (to be received in 2026) 

Bank Position 
Current balance (as of Aug 22, 2025): $3,833.14 
Less accounts payable: $3,826.85 
Net available in bank: $6.29 







The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9138 

A Bylaw to establish the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Service 

WHEREAS Council may, pursuant to section 215 of the Community Charter, as amended, grant 
money to an organization that has one of its aims, functions, and purposes, the planning and 
implementation of a business promotion scheme; 

AND WHEREAS Council, at the request of the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area 
Society, wishes to establish a new Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area as a local area 
service; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Central Lonsdale Business
Improvement Area Service Establishment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138”.

2. Definitions

“Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area” means the area described in section 3.A.

“Central Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme” means:

(1) carrying out studies or making reports respecting the Central Lonsdale Business
Improvement Area where business or commerce is carried on;

(2) improving, beautifying or maintaining streets, sidewalks or municipally owned
land, buildings or other structures in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement
Area, subject to approval by the City of any works or improvements proposed for
municipally owned streets, sidewalks, land, buildings or other structures;

(3) the removal of graffiti from buildings and other structures in the Central Lonsdale
Business Improvement Area; and

(4) Encouraging Business in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area;

“Encouraging Business” includes, but is not limited to: 

(1) creating a strong “Central Lonsdale” brand and distinct identity for businesses in
the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area;

(2) developing and implementing a marketing strategy to promote goods and
services from the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area to local, regional
and tourist markets;

(3) promoting new investment in commercial, residential and mixed-use
developments in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area that supports
the viability of local businesses;

Attachment 5



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

(4) representing interests of the business community in the Central Lonsdale 
Business Improvement Area in local government processes; 

 
(5) encouraging businesses from the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area 

to participate in established major events in the community, planning and 
implementing other special events and promotions; and 

 
(6) promoting and implementing streetscape improvements and public amenities to 

enhance the visitor experience in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement 
Area. 

 
“Chief Financial Officer” means the financial officer for the City under section 149 of the 
Community Charter. 
 
“City” means The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver. 
 
“Council” means the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver. 

 
“Local Service Tax” means the property value tax imposed pursuant to section 6.A of this 
bylaw. 
 
“Shortfall” has the meaning set out in section 5.F. 
 
“Society” means the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society. 
 
“Term” means the period set out in section 3.C. 
 

3. Business Improvement Area Service 
 
A. The area shown in blue outline on the map attached as Schedule A is designated as 

the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area, including parcels fronting both 
sides of all boundary streets.  

 
B. The following is hereby established as a business improvement area service in 

accordance with section 215 of the Community Charter, as amended: 
 
(1) the provision of monetary grants to the Society for the planning and 

implementation of the Central Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme. 
 

C. The term of the service for the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area is eight 
(8) years, commencing on January 1, 2026 and ending on December 31, 2033. 

 
4. Grants 

 
A. Pursuant to section 215(2) of the Community Charter, the amount of money granted 

to the Society under this bylaw shall not exceed 
 
(1) the sum of $6,446,950 for the Term; and 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

(2) an annual amount reasonably based on the annual budget submitted by the 
Society and approved by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 5.B(1), 
but in all cases shall not exceed the following amounts in each year of the Term: 

Year 1 (2026): $725,000 
Year 2 (2027): $746,750 
Year 3 (2028): $769,153 
Year 4 (2029): $792,228 
Year 5 (2030): $815,995 
Year 6 (2031): $840,475 
Year 7 (2032): $865,689 
Year 8 (2033): $891,660 

 
B. Provided the Society is in compliance with this bylaw, the City shall pay all annual 

grants to the Society in two instalments: 50% on or before March 31 of each year of 
the Term, and 50% on or before July 15 of each year of the Term. 
 

5. General Conditions and Limitations 
 
A. Monies granted to the Society under this bylaw must be expended only: 

 
(1) by the Society;  

(2) for the purposes of the Central Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme during the 
Term in accordance with the terms of this bylaw; and 

(3) in accordance with the annual budget submitted to the City under section 5.B(1) 
and with the budget attached in Schedule B. 

B. The Society shall submit to the City, on or before September 1 of the preceding year: 
 
(1) an annual budget for the following year during the Term which contains 

information sufficient in detail to describe all anticipated expenses and revenues, 
which has been approved by a majority of the members present at a general 
meeting of the Society; and 

(2) a program, plan, or other information sufficient in detail to describe the Society’s 
activities for the following year during the Term to implement the Central 
Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme. 

 
C. Section 5.B does not apply to 2026. 

 
D. The Society shall account for the money granted and received under this bylaw by 

submitting to the City, on or before May 31 of each year of the Term except for the 
final year and by May 1, 2034 for the final year of the Term, annual audited financial 
statements for the preceding year, including an Auditor’s Report, Statement of 
Financial Position, Statement of Revenues and Expenditures, Statement of Changes 
in Net Assets, Statement of Cash Flow, and Notes in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Standards in form and content satisfactory to the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

E. The Society shall permit the City to inspect, during normal business hours on 
reasonable notice, all books of accounts, receipts, invoices, and other financial records 
which the Chief Financial Officer deems necessary or advisable for the purpose of 
verifying compliance with this bylaw. 
 

F. The Society shall not incur any indebtedness or other obligations in respect of the 
Central Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme beyond the sum granted by Council for 
each year. For clarity, this restriction does not prevent the Society from receiving or 
expending funds obtained from sponsorships, donations, membership fees, or grants 
not made pursuant to this bylaw, provided that such funds are used in accordance with 
this bylaw. 

 
G. If the amount of the Local Service Tax levied on parcels within the Central Lonsdale 

Business Improvement Area in a given year is insufficient to recover one hundred 
percent (100%) of the costs of the annual grant made to the Society in that year (the 
“Shortfall”), the amount of Shortfall is a debt owed to the City, and the City may: 
 
(1) increase the Local Service Tax levied within the Central Lonsdale Business 

Improvement Area in a subsequent year by an amount equivalent to the Shortfall; 
or 
 

(2) require the Society to repay an amount equivalent to the Shortfall, if the Shortfall 
occurs in the final year of the service. 

 
H. Any unspent annual funding remaining at the end of the Society’s financial year may 

be transferred to and held in a reserve account maintained by the Society. Monies 
held in the reserve account may be carried forward and expended on the Society’s 
future activities, programs, or unforeseen expenses for the Central Lonsdale Business 
Promotion Scheme only, subject to approval by a majority of the members present at 
a general meeting of the Society.  
 

I. It is a condition of the receipt and expenditure of the monies granted under this bylaw 
that the Society is in compliance with Parts 7 through 8 of this bylaw. 

 
6. Recovery and Tax Levy 
 

A. Subject to section 5.G, all of the monies granted to the Society under this bylaw shall 
be recovered in that year as a property value tax within the Central Lonsdale Business 
Improvement Area in accordance with section 6.B of this bylaw. 

 
B. In any year within the Term, the City shall impose a property value tax on land or 

improvements, or both, in the Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area that is 
classified as Class 5 [light industry] and Class 6 [business or other] under the 
Prescribed Classes of Property Regulation, B.C. Reg. 438/81, as amended from time 
to time. 

 
7. Insurance 
 

A. The Society shall carry at all times a policy of comprehensive general liability insurance 
in the amount of five million dollars ($5,000,000) on the following terms: 
 
(1) with the City named as an additional insured; 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

(2) containing a cross coverage provision; and 
 

(3) containing an endorsement to provide that the policy shall not be cancelled, 
lapsed, or materially altered without giving thirty (30) days’ notice in writing to the 
Corporate Officer of the City. 

 
B. The Society shall deliver proof of the insurance coverage set out in section 7.A to the 

Corporate Officer of the City on or before July 15 of each year of the Term. 
 

8. Society’s Constitution, Bylaws, and Meetings 
 

A. The City may withhold any payments of the grant referred to in section 4 of this bylaw 
if the Society alters its constitution or bylaws in such a manner as to, in the opinion of 
Chief Financial Officer, impair the Society’s ability to plan and implement the Central 
Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme.  
 

B. The Society shall provide written notice of every meeting of the Society’s members, 
annual or general, at least 14 days prior to the meeting, to the Corporate Officer of the 
City. 

 
C. The Society shall permit a representative from the City to attend any meeting of the 

Society’s members, annual or general, and to obtain a copy of any materials available 
to the Society’s members at such a meeting. 

 
9. No Joint Venture 

 
Nothing in this bylaw makes the City a partner, an agent, or a joint venturer with the Society 
in the planning or implementation of the Central Lonsdale Business Promotion Scheme or 
for any other purpose. 

 
10. Severability 

 
If a portion of this bylaw is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid 
portion must be severed and the remainder of this bylaw is deemed to have been adopted 
without the severed portion, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, clause or phrase. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

11. Schedules 
 
A. Schedule A – Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Boundaries. 
 
B. Schedule B – Proposed Year One (2026) Budget. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2025. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

Schedule A 
 

Central Lonsdale Business Improvement Area Boundaries 
 
Those lands shown in blue outline below are designated as the Central Lonsdale Business 
Improvement Area. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

Schedule B 
 

Category / Subcategory Balance Allocation
GENERAL & ADMINISTRATION $123,000.00  
Audit & Bookkeeping  $ 40,000.00 
Legal, Business Fees & Licenses $ 10,000.00
Professional Services / Consultants  $ 8,000.00 
Rent (office, utilities, cleaning) $ 32,000.00
Office Supplies & Equipment  $ 5,000.00 
Bank & Credit Card Fees $ 5,000.00
Telephone & Internet $ 8,000.00
Courier & Postage  $ 5,000.00 
Miscellaneous Admin $ 10,000.00
   
INSURANCE $7,000.00  
General Liability Insurance  $ 3,000.00 
Directors & Officers Insurance $ 2,000.00
Event Insurance $ 2,000.00
   
PAYROLL & STAFF $160,000.00 
Executive Director Salary  $ 95,000.00 
Coordinator / Assistant Salary $ 40,000.00
Employee Benefits  $ 10,000.00 
CPP, EI, EHT, WCB $ 10,000.00
Training & Professional Development $ 5,000.00
   
PLACEMAKING & COMMUNITY SAFETY $131,000.00 
Banners, Signage & Branding  $ 20,000.00 
Street Garden Planters & Landscaping $ 20,000.00
Cleaning & Maintenance  $ 25,000.00 
Murals, Public Art & Utility Wraps $ 20,000.00
Infrastructure (benches, lighting upgrades) $ 20,000.00
Security Patrols & Community Safety  $ 16,000.00 
Graffiti Removal & Prevention $ 10,000.00
   
FESTIVALS & EVENTS $145,000.00 
Signature Events (e.g. Halloween, Christmas, Canada 
Day, etc.)  $ 70,000.00 

Contracted Event Services  $ 25,000.00 
Entertainment & Performers $ 20,000.00
Sponsorship of Community Events $ 15,000.00
New Event Activations / Pilots  $ 15,000.00 
 
MARKETING & PROMOTION $108,000.00  
Advertising & Campaigns (print, radio, digital, OOH) $ 30,000.00
Branding & Graphic Design $ 20,000.00
Digital Marketing & Social Media $ 13,000.00
Storytelling: Photo/Video/Media Assets $ 20,000.00
Direct Mail Marketing & Brochures  $ 10,000.00 
Community Engagement Campaigns $ 15,000.00



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9138 Document: 2705439-v7 

MEMBERSHIP & BUSINESS ENGAGEMENT $29,000.00  
Membership Databases & CRM $ 7,000.00
BIABC & Other Membership Dues  $ 5,000.00 
Networking Events, Workshops, Guest Speakers $ 8,000.00
Advocacy (e.g. fair commercial property tax)  $ 5,000.00 
Business Recruitment & Retention Initiatives $ 2,000.00
Member Communications & Newsletters $ 2,000.00
   
WEBSITE DEVELOPMENT & ONLINE SECURITY $22,000.00 
Website Development & Upgrades  $ 10,000.00 
Hosting, Domain & Cloud Storage $ 3,000.00
Maintenance & Updates  $ 3,000.00 
Cybersecurity Services & Tools $ 3,000.00
Online Software Subscriptions $ 3,000.00
   
TOTAL BUDGET $725,000.00 $ 725,000.00

 
 
 



Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 

  PreCCNV11032025-1 | P a g e

Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 

Executive Summary 

The Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society presents this Progress Report to update Council on its 

accomplishments to date and to request formal direction to advance the petition process under Sections 215–220 of 

the Community Charter. With the City’s $30,000 start-up funding, Lonsdale Centre BIA Society has successfully 

completed its organizational, communications, and community engagement groundwork. The Society is now fully 

prepared to transition to the next stage toward official BIA establishment and operational launch in 2026, aligning 

with the City’s Great Street Project and long-term economic development objectives. 

Connecting Business – Building Community 

October 15, 2025 

Mayor and Members of Council 

City of North Vancouver 

141 West 14th Street 

North Vancouver, BC 

Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society Progress Report and Direction to Council to 

Advance the Petition Process under the Community Charter 

Dear Mayor and Members of Council, 

On behalf of the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society, I wish to extend our sincere appreciation 

for Council’s vision and support in helping us lay the foundation for a thriving, connected, and sustainable Business 

Improvement Area in Central Lonsdale. The $30,000 in start-up funding provided by the City has been used 

prudently and effectively. Lonsdale Centre BIA Society has now completed its foundational phase and stands fully 

prepared to transition to the petition stage toward formal BIA designation. 

1. Project Impact Summary

This initial investment has enabled Lonsdale Centre BIA Society to connect directly with local businesses and 

property owners, establish a strong community identity, and build partnerships across the BIA Boundary. The 

groundwork is now complete, and Lonsdale Centre BIA Society ready to advance toward formal establishment 

and operational launch in 2026. 

2. Lonsdale Centre BIA Society Leadership and Governance

The Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society is led by eleven members - an Executive Team and 

Board of Directors representing a diverse cross-section of local businesses and property owners. Together with four 

active volunteers, they oversee operations, strategic planning, and community engagement under one shared goal.  

Connecting Business and Building Community. 



                                                                                                                                                       
Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 

                                                                                                                                                                 PreCCNV11032025-2 | P a g e  
 

3. Vision and Mission 

Vision: A vibrant, safe, and prosperous Central Lonsdale where businesses thrive and our community connects. 

Mission: To support, promote, and enhance the Central Lonsdale business community through advocacy, engaging 

events, strong partnerships, and strategic improvements. 

These principles align closely with the City’s broader objectives for economic development, livability, and the 

Lonsdale Great Street Project. 

4. First-Year Priorities 

Our first-year priorities are designed to deliver visible community benefits: 

• Streetscape & Beautification: Banners, pole wraps, and local public art. 

• Safety & Sanitation: Graffiti removal, litter cleanup, and safe guard prevention. 

• Events & Placemaking: Cultural celebrations including Canada Day, Nowruz, and other community 

activations. 

• Marketing & Promotions: Local business maps, guides, and promotions. 

• Networking & Education: Regular meetings, advocacy sessions, and workshops. 

Each priority reflects direct community input and supports the City’s vision for a vibrant Central Lonsdale corridor. 

5. Community Outreach and Engagement 

With Council’s $30,000 start-up support, Lonsdale Centre BIA Society achieved measurable progress in outreach 

and awareness. 

• Direct Mail Campaigns: 

o February 2024 – 1,061 letters distributed to businesses and property owners. 

o August 2025 – 744 follow-up mailers for continued engagement. 

• Website Launch: 

o Live since July 2025 with over 1.1k visits, 755 unique visitors and 168 subscribers between July 

23 and September 23. 

• Community Activities: 

o Surveys identifying beautification, safety, and event priorities. 

o Door-to-door outreach and small group discussions. 

o A Public Information Meeting was held on September 9, 2025. Feedback gathered during this 

meeting and subsequent outreach confirms strong community support for BIA formation. 

These efforts have created a well-informed and supportive business community, ready for the next step toward 

formal establishment. 

6. Communications, Branding, and Public Awareness 

Lonsdale Centre BIA Society has built a consistent brand and communication network to serve the community. 



                                                                                                                                                       
Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 

                                                                                                                                                                 PreCCNV11032025-3 | P a g e  
 

• Brand Identity: Finalized logo and tagline — Connecting Business – Building Community. 

• Media Coverage: Full-page advertorial and homepage feature in North Shore News (August 20, 2025) 

supported by digital outreach. 

• Digital Presence: LCBIA’s Society website now serves as the core engagement hub. Social media rollout 

and a wayfinding app are planned post-approval. 

These initiatives position Lonsdale Centre BIA Society as a proactive partner in Central Lonsdale’s revitalization. 

7. Financial Summary of the $30,000 Start-Up Funding 

Lonsdale Centre BIA Society is committed to full accountability and transparent use of public funds. The initial $30,000 

provided by Council has been used prudently to establish the foundation of the BIA, with allocations as follows: 

City of North Vancouver ▼ 

Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society REVENUE 

The Grant - Funding the BIA – 2024/2025  $  30,000.00  

ITEMS EXPENSES 

Incorporation, registration, set-up costs, banking  $    2,000.00  

Contracted Services: coordinator, meetings & events, promo, design  $    8,000.00  

Directors & Officers insurance, events insurance  $    3,500.00  

Design & printing of flyers, info cards, postage  $    4,000.00  

Membership database & registration  $    3,000.00  

Preliminary website acquisition, hosting & software costs, online security  $    4,500.00  

Meeting expense, signage, room rentals, light catering, guest speaker honoraria  $    2,000.00  

Administration, phone, office expenses  $    3,000.00  

Total  $  30,000.00  

These investments have yielded tangible results — increased awareness, strong participation, and a clear operational 

framework for the BIA’s next phase. All expenditures have been documented and verified, ensuring full 

transparency in the use of public funds. 

8. BIA Boundary and Financial Framework 

The proposed Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society boundary, submitted in 2024, includes a 

balanced mix of Class 6 commercial, service, and mixed-use properties, encompassing both small and large 

enterprises. The area aligns with the Lonsdale Great Street Project boundary and is approximately twice the size 

of the Lower Lonsdale BIA, ensuring equitable representation. 

In our 8-year proposed budget, the Lonsdale Centre Business Improvement Area Society includes a 3% annual 

increase. This approach mirrors standard BIA practices across the province, ensuring stability and sustainability in 

long-term planning. This also  ensures the BIA can safeguard and keep pace with rising costs, and growing 

program needs, while maintaining consistent support for local businesses and community initiatives. 

 



                                                                                                                                                       
Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 

                                                                                                                                                                 PreCCNV11032025-4 | P a g e  
 

 

9. Alignment with the City’s Great Street Project 

The Lonsdale Great Street Project, launched by the City on January 10, 2025, envisions a more vibrant, 

inclusive, and people-focused corridor. As Mayor Buchanan stated: 

“This is our opportunity to reimagine Central Lonsdale as a more vibrant, inclusive, and people-focused place by 

fostering connection, enhancing livability, and creating the optimal environment for new and existing businesses.” 

LCBIA Society’s goals fully align with this direction. Our initiatives complement each phase of the Great Street 

Project, supporting beautification, safety, placemaking, and business activation. 

10. Partnerships and Community Support 

LCBIA Society’s work has been guided by collaboration with: 

• Business Improvement Areas of British Columbia (BIABC) 

• Lower Lonsdale BIA 

• Ambleside & Dundarave BIA 

We have also received letters of support from BIABC and neighbouring BIAs, along with recent BIABC 

newsletters, all enclosed for Council’s reference. 

• North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce Mandate:  

To connect, support, and advocate for businesses in the City and District of North Vancouver. 

We have also received endorsements from business owners and residents, expressing strong support for formal 

BIA establishment. 

11. Direction to Council – Petition Process under the Community Charter 

With all preparatory work completed, the Lonsdale Centre BIA Society Board of Directors now respectfully 

requests the City Council to proceed with the next step of the BIA establishment process pursuant to Part 7, 

Division 2, Sections 215–220 of the Community Charter. Upon completion of the petition process and Council 

approval, Lonsdale Centre BIA Society will transition into full operational status for the 2026 fiscal year. 

In accordance with this legislation, Council may, by bylaw, establish a Business Improvement Area following the 

required public notice and petition period. 

We respectfully request that Council initiate the formal petition process to advance the next phase of the 

BIA’s formation. 

 



  PreCCNV11032025-5 | P a g e

Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 

12. Looking Ahead and Closing – The Vision is Within Reach

On behalf of the Lonsdale Centre BIA Society, I extend my sincere gratitude to Mayor Buchanan, City Council, 

and City staff for your continued support and partnership. Together, we are building a lasting legacy of economic 

vitality and community connection in Central Lonsdale. 

Lonsdale Centre BIA Society remains committed to continued collaboration with the City and community partners 

as we move toward full implementation in 2026. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Shaun Mitha 

President, Lonsdale Centre BIA Society 



Document Number: 2643297 

_________ 
Director 

________ 
General 
Manager 

_________ 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & REAL ESTATE DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Linden Mulleder, Planner 2 

Subject: OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN AMENDMENT AND REZONING 
APPLICATION – 1540 ST. GEORGES AVENUE AND 215-235 EAST 
16TH STREET 

Date: October 15, 2025 File No:  08-3400-20-0160/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.  Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated October 15, 2025, entitled 
“Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. 
Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street”: 

THAT the following bylaws be considered for readings and referred to a Public 
Hearing: 

• “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw,
2025, No. 9131” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street,
Land Use Designation and Permitted Height Change);

• “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132”
(1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306);

THAT notification be published in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue 
and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental Housing Commitments) be 
considered for readings; 

AND THAT the community benefits listed in the sections “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” and the off-site works and infrastructure improvements 
listed in the section “Off-Site Works and Infrastructure Upgrades” be delivered or 
secured through agreements, including those listed in the section “Legal 
Agreements”, prior to or concurrently with final adoption. 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 2 of 18 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
1. Context Map (CityDocs 2645885) 
2. Architectural Plans, dated October 3, 2025 (CityDocs 2725450) 
3. Landscape Plans, dated October 3, 2025 (CityDocs 2725440) 
4. DIS Engagement Summary Report, January 2025 (CityDocs 2624742) 
5. Town Hall (Developer Presentation & Workshop) Summary Report (CityDocs 2720345) 
6. Advisory Design Panel (ADP) Resolution, January 21, 2025 (CityDocs 2628974) 
7. Advisory Planning Commission (APC) Resolution, May 14, 2025 (CityDocs 2678657) 
8. Integrated Transportation Committee (ITC) Resolution, June 6, 2025 (CityDocs 

2685342) 
9. Overview of Zoning Variances (CityDocs 2698038) 
10. Tenant Relocation Plan, dated October 15, 2025 (CityDocs 2728856) 
11. “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 

9131” (1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street) (CityDocs 2698100) 
12. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132” (1540 St 

Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306) (CityDocs 2698103) 
13. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-

235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental Housing Commitments) (CityDocs 2698098) 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report presents, for Council’s consideration, an Official Community Plan (OCP) 
amendment application, Zoning Bylaw amendment application, and Housing Agreement 
bylaw to enable the construction of two mixed tenure residential buildings with a total of 
249 residential units. One building is 12 storeys with 116 residential units (63 rental and 
53 strata) and the other building is 6 storeys with 133 residential units (all rental). In 
both buildings, 100% of the units are designed to Adaptable Level 2 standards. An 
amenity package of secured market rental units, Mid-Market Rental units, and a cash 
contribution is proposed by the applicant to support the proposed height and density.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Applicant: Adera Developments
Architect: Integra Architecture Inc.
Official Community Plan 
Designation: 

Residential Level 5 

Existing Zoning:  RM-1, CD-306, CD-425
Applicable Guidelines: N/A

 
  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 3 of 18 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
Both buildings are proposed to be constructed with mass timber. There is a large 
outdoor courtyard at the rear of the east building along the lane. A privately owned 
pedestrian mews with a walking path and landscaping is provided between the two 
buildings, with the outdoor amenity for the west building co-located.  
 
A summary of the development proposal is provided in Table 1.  
 
Table 1. Development Proposal Overview 
Element Proposal  
Density 3.26 FSR total  
Height East Building 

• 6 storeys
West Building 
12 storeys 

Unit Mix 249 residential units total 
 
East Building 
• 133 rental units* 

 
 
West Building 
• 63 rental units* 
• 53 strata units 
• (total of 116 units) 

  
*20 units (10% of all rental units) secured as Mid-Market Rental 
(MMR) in perpetuity, spread across both buildings. 

Unit Mix 
(overall 
development) 

Both Buildings Total 
• Studio – 46 (18.4%) 
• 1-bed – 133 (53.4%) 
• 2-bed – 41 (16.5%) 
• 3-bed – 29 (11.6%)

 

Unit Mix 
(each 
building) 

East Building (rental) 
• Studio – 22 (16.5%) 
• 1-bed – 75 (56.4%) 
• 2-bed – 18 (13.5%) 
• 3-bed – 18 (13.5%) 

West Building (strata portion) 
• Studio – 10 (18.8%) 
• 1-bed – 25 (47.1%) 
• 2-bed – 12 (22.6%) 
• 3-bed – 6 (11.3%) 

 
West Building (rental portion) 

• Studio – 14 (22.2%) 
• 1-bed – 33 (52.3%) 
• 2-bed – 11 (17.4%) 
• 3-bed – 5 (7.9%) 

Adaptable 
Units 

All 249 units designed to Level 2 Adaptable Design standards (100%)
  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 4 of 18 

Element Proposal  
Residential 
Amenity  

East Building 
• Indoor Amenity  

164.2 sq.m (1,768 sq.ft) 
o Indoor Gym 
o Lounge 
o Co-Work Space 
o Guest Suite 

• Outdoor Amenity  
995 sq.m (10,710 sq.ft) 
o Urban Agriculture 
o Flexible Use Turf 
o Children’s Play area 
o Patio/Terrace

West Building 
• Indoor Amenity  

148.6 sq.m (1600 sq.ft) 
o Indoor Gym 
o Lounge/Party Space 
o Bike Maintenance Room 

• Outdoor Amenity  
212 sq.m (2,282 sq.ft) 
o Outdoor Dining area 
o Children’s Play area 
o Fitness Deck 
o Outdoor Seating area 

 
Site Context and Surrounding Use 
 
The subject site is located in the Central Lonsdale neighbourhood, located at the corner 
of St. Georges Avenue and East 16th Street. The site is bound to the south and east by 
laneways. Frequent bus routes are available nearby on Lonsdale Avenue and East 15th 
Street. Essential destinations (i.e. employment, grocery stores, medical/pharmacy, 
banks, parks and active transportation, etc.) are within a few hundred metres of the site. 
 
The surrounding properties include residential, mixed-use, and institutional uses which 
range from 3 - 4 storey low rise apartment buildings to newly constructed 6 and 12-
storey residential buildings. There are also multiple large mixed-use developments with 
commercial space and 12 - 22 storey residential towers within one to two blocks of the 
subject site. One block to the south, across East 15th Street is the Lions Gate Hospital.  
 
The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the site are described in Table 2. 
 
Table 2. Surrounding Uses 
Direction Address Description Zoning OCP 

North 
1612 St. Georges 
Ave, 230 E 16th St 

Various 4 - 6 storey 
apartment buildings 

RM-1, CD 
zone based 
on RM-1 

Residential 
Level 5 
Max. of 2.6 FSR 

South 
 206-236 E 15th St Various 3 - 4 storey 

apartment buildings RM-1 
Residential 
Level 6 
Max. of 3.3 FSR 

East 250 E 15th St 

Two new 12-storey 
buildings and one new 
6-storey building, all 
residential.  

CD-726 

Residential 
Level 5 & 6 
Max. of 2.6 / 3.3 
FSR 

West 
 

1535 – 1565 St. 
Georges Ave 

Various 3 - 6 storey 
apartment buildings 

RM-1, CD 
zone based 
on RM-1 

Residential 
Level 5 
Max. of 2.6 FSR 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 5 of 18 

POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
The OCP land use designation for the site is Residential Level 5, which allows for mid-
rise residential buildings, up to six storeys and 2.6 FSR. The existing zoning is RM-1, 
and two Comprehensive Development Zones based on RM-1, all of which allow three-
storey apartment residential development up to 1.6 FSR.   
 
Policy alignment with the OCP and other City policies is shown in Table 3.  
 
Table 3. Policy Alignment 
Metro 2050 – Regional Growth Strategy
Strategy 1.2 
Focus growth in Urban Centres and Frequent 
Transit Development Areas.  

The proposed development is within the 
Lonsdale Regional City Centre. 

Strategy 1.3 
Develop resilient, healthy, connected, and 
complete communities with a range of 
services and amenities. 

The proposed development is located close 
to the hospital and other medical services, as 
well as a range of commercial retail and 
services on Lonsdale Avenue. It is close to 
two parks, the City Library, and the new 
Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre.

Strategy 3.3 
Advance land use, infrastructure, and human 
settlement patterns that reduce energy 
consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, 
create carbon storage opportunities, and 
improve air quality. 

Residents will be in close proximity to regular 
transit routes along nearby Lonsdale and 
East 15th Street, as well as nearby services 
and amenities, reducing dependency on 
personal vehicle use.  
 
The proposed construction is mass timber, a 
sustainable and renewable building material 
which reduces emissions.  

Strategy 4.1 
Expand the supply and diversity of housing to 
meet a variety of needs. 

The proposed development includes a mix of 
housing tenures (rental and strata) as well as 
a mix of unit sizes to meet a variety of needs. 

Official Community Plan 
Objective 1.1.4 
Support the role of the Lonsdale Regional 
City Centre as the urban core of the City, in 
part, by locating high trip-generating uses 
such as high density residential and 
commercial uses there. 

The proposed development is high-density 
residential within the Lonsdale Regional City 
Centre.  

Objective 1.1.3 
Balance the number of jobs to number of 
residents employed in the labour force in the 
City, reducing the need for longer commute 
distances for City residents. 

The proposed development provides new 
housing for residents close to a major 
employment centre (Lions Gate Hospital).  

Objective 1.3.1 
Ensure that new development is compatible 
with the established urban form of the City, 
reflecting the primacy of the Lonsdale 
Regional City Centre and the transition 
through mid- and low-rise buildings to lower-
density residential neighbourhoods.

The proposed development reflects the 
primacy of the Lonsdale Regional City 
Centre. The building heights will transition 
from the R6 designation to R5 across the 
street, and transition down from 12 storeys to 
6 storeys to the east.  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 6 of 18 

Objective 1.3.9 
Explore ways to activate laneways in the City 
including opportunities for varied uses, 
pedestrian and cycling activity as well as 
stormwater management and urban 
agriculture. 

The subject site has two large laneway 
frontages, which are activated through unit 
entrances and patios, as well as outdoor 
amenities and pedestrian/cycling access. 
While services and vehicle access are still 
provided from the laneway, the new condition 
will activate the laneways. 

Objective 1.4.1 
Consider the needs of households with 
children in the design of multi-family 
developments. 

The proposed development provides a mix of 
unit types, including 2- and 3-bedroom units 
suitable for households with children. Both 
buildings include generously-sized children’s 
play areas in their outdoor amenities.  

Objective 1.4.3  
Consider recreational, cultural and other 
community spaces as aspects of informal 
community living rooms, and essential ‘social 
infrastructure’, particularly in high-density 
neighbourhoods like Central/Lower Lonsdale.

The proposed development provides shared 
indoor and outdoor amenity spaces for both 
buildings. This ‘social infrastructure’ is a 
significant benefit in this high-density 
neighbourhood. 

Objective 1.5.6  
Ensure a sufficient number of new apartment 
buildings provide accessible units and that 
these accessible units are represented 
across various unit sizes. 

The proposed buildings have 100% of the 
units designed to meet Adaptable Design 
Level Two standards, which will provide a 
large number of new accessible apartment 
units within this area, well above the required 
minimum of 25%. 

Objective 2.2.1 
Designate land uses to bring people and 
destinations closer together, minimizing the 
need for private vehicle use and maximizing 
opportunities for walking, cycling, and transit 
as modes of travel. 

The proposed development will house more 
people close to many major destinations and 
services (Lions Gate Hospital, Central 
Lonsdale, and local transit networks). This 
enhances opportunities for walking, cycling, 
and transit for more people.  

Objective 2.2.3 
Encourage higher and medium density 
residential uses near jobs and services.

The proposed development provides new 
housing for residents close to a major 
employment centre (Lions Gate Hospital). 

Objective 2.3.8 
Encourage transportation options that reduce 
fossil fuel use, such as walking, cycling, 
transit, carpooling, and low-emission 
vehicles. 

The proposed development includes 
significant secure bicycle parking, as well as 
bicycle amenities in both buildings. The East 
Building includes at-grade access directly into 
the bike storage area. 

CNV Community Wellbeing Strategy 
Tactic 2.14 
Enable and promote housing at densities that 
reflect the City’s housing need, as 
established through the City’s Housing Needs 
Report. 

The proposed development is high-density 
residential with a mix of units types and 
tenure (strata and rental), achieving an 
increase of multiple housing types.  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 7 of 18 

Tactic 2.18 
Require new residential strata developments 
with 5 or more units to provide a minimum of 
15% family friendly units (units having 3 or 
more bedrooms). 

The proposed development does not meet 
this tactic for the strata portion. The unit mix 
of the strata portion only has 6 out of 53 
(11.3%) three-bedroom units.  
 
For reference, the overall number of three-
beds for the whole development is 29 out of 
249 total (11.6%) and for the rental portion it 
is 23 out of 196 (11.7%). These meet the 
City’s other requirement of 10% three-
bedroom units for rental housing.  
 
Design work began for the proposal before 
adoption of this policy. Due to the use of 
mass timber construction, the floor plates of 
each level are identical, meaning that the unit 
mix proportion is repeated on each level. The 
applicant has explored the possibility of 
increasing the number of market strata three-
beds but cannot do so without substantially 
altering the overall unit mix.  
 
Staff are supportive of the development 
regardless, which will achieve other 
Community Wellbeing Strategy tactics, such 
as a mix of tenures, mid-market rental 
housing, and accessible housing. The overall 
development still has 11% three-bedroom 
units proposed (29 in total), which provides a 
level of family friendly housing in line with 
previously approved developments.  

Tactic 2.21 
Support renters through the use of the 
City’s Tenant Displacement Policy and other 
regulatory tools. 

The existing rental buildings are occupied, 
and tenants will be receiving relocation 
assistance and compensation as per the 
City’s Residential Tenant Displacement 
Policy. The applicant’s Tenant Relocation 
Plan has been reviewed by Planning and 
Development’s housing team, and is in line 
with our requirements and expectations.  

Tactic 2.23  
Support alternative housing construction 
such as pre-fabricated construction options 
and new construction technologies such as 
mass timber, to expedite the construction 
process and reduce community impacts such 
as noise. 

The proposed buildings will be constructed of 
mass timber. Additional height for thicker 
floor plates is written into the Comprehensive 
Development zone.  

CNV Mobility Strategy 
Action 8A.i 
Prioritize and encourage a dense and diverse 
mix of housing types, jobs, services, and 
amenities in areas well-served by frequent 
transit. 

The proposed development provides high-
density residential buildings in an area close 
to the Frequent Transit Network.  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 8 of 18 

CNV Climate and Environment Strategy
Tactic 2.7  
Reduce the embodied carbon of building 
materials and construction projects.

The buildings are proposed to be made from 
mass timber, which has a lower embodied 
carbon value when compared to concrete. 

Council Strategic Plan 2022-2026
A City for People 
Deliver housing that aligns with the actions 
and needs established in the City’s Housing 
Action Plan. 

The proposed development is high-density 
residential with a mix of unit types and tenure 
(strata and rental), achieving an increase of 
multiple housing types.  

 
PLANNING ANALYSIS 
 
Official Community Plan Amendment 
 
The proposed development exceeds the maximum height and density in the OCP and 
therefore requires an amendment. The existing maximum height allowance is six 
storeys, and the applicant proposes an increase to 12 storeys for a portion of the site. 
The existing maximum density is 2.6 FSR, and the applicant proposes an increase to 
3.26 FSR. This would be achieved through an amendment from the existing Residential 
Level 5 land use designation to Residential Level 6. A description of each land use 
designation is provided in Figure 1.  
 
Figure 1. Residential Level 5 and 6 OCP Land Use Designations 
 

 
 
 
OCP Section 2.1.4 Building Heights remarks that considerations for increased height 
should include:  

• View impacts; 
• Contextual relationships; and 
• Livability or use of the buildings.  

  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 9 of 18 

View Impacts 
 
Overall, the impact to views is expected to be limited. While some buildings to the west 
and south may have impacts to eastern views or northern views to the mountains, the 
overall height increase fits with the neighbourhood context, being the Central Lonsdale 
area where taller buildings with a mix of heights is expected.  
 
Contextual Relationships 
 
The proposed development is located directly adjacent to lands already designated as 
Residential Level 6, with a maximum height allowance of 12 storeys (37 metres). Across 
St. Georges Avenue and at the corner of East 15th Street, lands are designated Mixed 
Use Level 4B, with a maximum height allowance of 22 storeys (68 metres). Several new 
buildings in the immediate area have been recently approved or constructed at these 
maximum heights.  
 
The proposed development would fit within the context of the neighbourhood, which is 
one of the highest density areas of the city. Furthermore, height steps down from 12-
storeys to 6-storeys. This ensures that the new development is compatible with the 
established urban form of the city, reflecting the primacy of the Lonsdale Regional City 
Centre and the transition through mid- and low-rise buildings to lower-density residential 
neighbourhoods.  
 
Livability or Use of the Buildings 
 
The proposed increase of allowable density allows for an increase in the number of 
residential units on the site. At the same time, increasing the height allows for a greater 
proportion of the site to be used as outdoor amenity, with green landscaping and 
replacement trees. When considered together, increasing both height and density can 
enhance site design, increase opportunities for additional outdoor amenities, and 
improve overall use and livability. 
 
Furthermore, the use of mass timber construction necessitates thicker floor plates, 
which results in a taller overall building height when compared to concrete or wood 
frame. Therefore, the application is seeking an amended OCP height maximum of 39 
metres.  
 
Density Bonus and Community Benefits 
 
The City’s Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, along with the OCP, allows 
for density bonuses beyond the base FSR in the Residential Level 5 and 6 land use 
designations, up to a certain maximum. The policy provides a number of community 
benefits options for projects seeking additional density and seeks to ensure the City 
receives value for additional density granted. These options include rental housing, mid-
market rental (MMR), and cash contributions, a combination of which are proposed for 
this development.  
 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 10 of 18 

The City’s Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy provides the opportunity for 
sites with existing rental units (such as the subject site) to satisfy the policy through the 
provision of secured market rental housing and MMR units in perpetuity. For this 
proposal the applicant proposes to provide secured market rental housing and MMR 
units, up to the maximum density in the R5 designation (2.6 FSR). This results in 176 
market rental units and 20 mid-market rental (MMR) units – all secured in perpetuity 
through the registration of a Housing Agreement. Density bonusing for rental housing is 
intended to achieve the City’s housing goals in the OCP and other policies. Therefore, 
in accordance with the City’s Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, there 
would be no cash contribution for this density bonus because secured market rental 
housing and MMR units are provided.  
 
The application also proposes an additional increase of density beyond the R5 
designation, up to 3.26 FSR, which is just below the maximum allowed in the R6 
designation. This density is in the form of strata market condominium units. To achieve 
this increase in density, which requires an OCP amendment, the applicant is proposing 
a cash contribution for community benefits, worth approximately $6.3 million.  
 
This contribution of $6.3 million is calculated at a rate of $190 per square foot for the 
additional density, which is 0.66 FSR. The rate of $190 per square foot is the rate 
stipulated in the City’s Density Bonus and Community Amenity Policy for development 
within the Regional City Centre.  
 
Together with the market rental housing and MMR units, this Community Benefit cash 
contribution will support the Community Amenity Reserve Fund and Affordable Housing 
Reserve Fund. Contributions are allocated in an 80/20 split respectively, as required by 
the Density Bonus and Community Amenity Policy. The funds shall be spent at 
Council’s discretion based on identified community needs.   
 
The community benefits are outlined in Table 4 and would be secured as conditions of 
receiving a density bonus, and of the OCP amendment application, should Council wish 
to proceed with the proposed project. 
 
Table 4. Community Benefits Summary  
Community Benefit Value 
A. Cash Contributions 

Contribution to Community Amenity Reserve Fund (80%) $5,041,643.80
Contribution to Affordable Housing Reserve Fund (20%) $1,260,410.95

B. In-Kind Benefits 
176 Market Rental Housing Units & 20 Mid-Market Rental Units

TOTAL VALUE $6,302,054.75
 
In addition to the items above, staff seek Council’s direction to secure the following 
items as conditions of this development: 
 

• Public art incorporated into the project with a value of $335,000. 
  



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 11 of 18 

Proposed Zoning Variances 
 
To allow for the construction of the proposed buildings, several variances from the 
standard zoning are required. A fully revised Comprehensive Development Zone has 
been prepared for the site (Attachment #10) and an overview of the proposed variances 
can be found in Attachment #8.  
 
The proposed variances are necessary to construct the new buildings on the property, 
and are supported by staff in order to achieve the intended form of development in the 
Residential Level 6 area. 
 
Landscaping and Tree Retention 
 
The City’s Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888, will apply to the property and its new zoning. A 
total of 25 trees are on the site today, all of which are proposed to be removed. Based 
on a report from a professional arborist, it was determined that 17 out of 25 trees had a 
‘Low’ retention value, based on their health and potential longevity in a developed 
environment. The other 8 trees were in direct conflict with the proposed development.  
 
Staff worked with the developer to explore the feasibility of retaining one or more of the 
healthy on-site trees, particularly a large English Oak tree and several Douglas Firs. For 
the English Oak, the tree’s location near the centre of the site strongly impacted the 
design of the parkade. For the Douglas Firs, all of which had a ‘Low’ or ‘Medium’ 
retention value, the upgrades to the laneways and required services would not allow the 
trees to survive the development process.  
 
To support the justification of the removal of these trees, the applicant has proposed a 
comprehensive replanting plan. A total of 78 new trees will be planted on-site, a 
replacement ratio of more than 3:1. The parkade is designed so that parts of the site will 
remain unexcavated with native soil for deep planting that will support medium-sized 
trees. Additionally, several locations on top of the parkade are identified for extra soil 
volume that will support medium-sized trees. With this proposed replanting plan in 
place, the removal of all 25 trees on site is acceptable to staff.  
 
The removal of the trees will require a Tree Removal Permit, and their replacement is 
as per the Tree Bylaw. Additionally, there will be a large number of new street trees 
planted in the public realm along St. Georges Avenue and East 16th Street as part of the 
development, adding to the City’s tree canopy on both private and public lands.  
 
Parking, Loading, and Transportation 
 
The applicant prepared a Mini Transportation Study to determine potential impacts to 
the local road network because of the development. Staff determined that minimal 
impacts would be felt, and that demand for parking would be satisfied by the provision 
of the proposed on-site parking. The proposed number of vehicle and bicycle parking 
stalls meets all requirements in the Zoning Bylaw, with no variances, as described in 
Table 5.   



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 12 of 18 

Table 5. Proposed Vehicle and Bicycle Parking 
 East Building  

(6-storey rental) 
West Building  
(12-storey rental & strata) 

Vehicle 
Parking 

Total of 80 stalls, comprised of: 
• 67 Resident parking stalls 
• 13 Visitor parking stalls 

 
Disability Parking: (already included in 
total 80 above) 

• 1 Visitor stall 
• 6 Resident stalls

Total of 93 stalls, comprised of: 
• 81 Resident parking stalls 
• 12 Visitor parking stalls 

 
Disability Parking: (already included in 
total 93 above) 

• 1 Visitor stall 
• 6 Resident stalls 

Bicycle 
Parking 

Total of 214 stalls, comprised of: 
• 201 Secure Residential Bike 

Parking stalls 
• 13 Short-Term bicycle parking 

spaces 

Total of 190 stalls, comprised of: 
• 178 Secure Residential Bike 

Parking stalls 
• 12 Short-Term bicycle parking 

spaces
Loading 
Spaces 

Not required by zoning 
 

• 1 residential loading stall 
provided for the East building, 
accessed directly from the lane 

Not required by zoning 
 

• None provided 

 
Off-Site Works and Infrastructure Upgrades 
 
The proposed development will provide off-site public realm upgrades and new 
municipal storm, sanitary, and water service connections consistent with the Subdivision 
and Development Control Bylaw. This includes frontage upgrades along St Georges 
Avenue and East 16th Street with the installation of new sidewalks, curb and gutter, curb 
extensions, street trees, street lighting, street furnishings, fire hydrants, road paving and 
reconstruction of both lanes adjacent to the proposed development site to the City’s 
standard.  
 
The proposed development will meet City’s stormwater management requirements and 
all 3rd party utility works will be undergrounded per the Bylaw, if applicable, and 3rd party 
service vaults and kiosks will be installed underground and on private property at the 
back of the lane, with appropriate screening. 
 
In addition to the bylaw required works, the development will secure the following:  
 

• A partial contribution of $215,000 in cash for a new traffic signal on St. Georges 
Avenue at East 17th Street intersection; 

• The existing sanitary system on East 16th Street is undersized and needs to be 
upgraded to meet current City standards. Sanitary main upgrade is required on 
East 16th Street from the manhole east of the lane to St. Georges Avenue. 
 

The offsite works and infrastructure upgrade requirements will be secured through legal 
agreements with the City.  
 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 13 of 18 

Staff will continue to work with the applicant to finalize offsite works and detailed design 
to meet City requirements. Should Council wish to proceed with the proposed project, 
provision of buildings grades (final elevation of the site at the property line) to the 
satisfaction of the City is required prior to Building Permit issuance. This is to ensure 
that the building and site design will align with the public realm.  
 
Residential Tenant Displacement Policy 
 
In 2021, Council amended the Residential Tenant Displacement Policy to enhance 
protection and compensation to long-term residential tenants displaced as a result of 
new development.  
 
The existing three buildings on site contain 63 rental units in total. At the time of 
application submission (September 2024), 42 of the units were occupied by tenants.  
The applicant has prepared a Tenant Relocation Plan in alignment with the 2021 
Residential Tenant Displacement Policy including compensation and relocation 
assistance (Attachment #9). A Relocation Coordinator was hired to communicate with 
tenants and provide relocation assistance. Tenants were first informed of the plans to 
redevelop the site in September, 2021, when a previous submission was made by the 
applicant for a rezoning application on the same properties. That application was 
cancelled and withdrawn by the applicant before being presented to Council.   
 
At the time of the submission of the current OCP amendment and rezoning application, 
in September 2024, a new letter was sent to the tenants informing them of the new 
development application. A tenant meeting was held in November, 2024. The letter and 
the meetings provided existing tenants with information on the compensation package, 
which includes a payment equal to four month’s rent, additional payment for tenants 
who have lived in the building for more than 5 years, and moving expenses. 
Compensation is summarized in Table 6.  
 
Table 6. Residential Tenant Financial Compensation 
Length of Tenancy Financial Compensation Amount 
Less than 5 years 4 months’ rent 
More than 5 years 4 months’ rent plus (total tenancy length in months - 60) x $25 
All tenants Moving Expenses 

• $1,000 for a one-bedroom unit; and  
• $1,250 for a two-bedroom unit 

o both adjusted to meet annual Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) for inflation from the date of the policy 

 
Under the Provincial Residential Tenancy Act, final notices to end tenancies cannot be 
delivered to tenants until the Owner has received all necessary permits and approvals. 
The notice must provide a minimum of four months prior to the eviction date. Before 
issuance of the demolition permit, staff will request another update from the Relocation 
Coordinator regarding the progress of relocating tenants and compensation as outlined 
in the Tenant Relocation Plan (Attachment #9). 
 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 14 of 18 

Legal Agreements 
 
Should Council support the rezoning, the following legal agreements will be prepared 
prior to final adoption: 
 

• Development Covenant (with Public Art provisions); 
• Housing Agreement;  
• Servicing Agreement;  
• Flooding Covenant; 
• Community Good Neighbour Agreement; and 
• Community Energy Agreement.  

 
ADVISORY BODY INPUT 
 
Advisory Design Panel 
 
The application was reviewed by the Advisory Design Panel on January 21, 2025. The 
Panel supported the application and passed the following resolution: 
 

“THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Official Community Plan 
Amendment and rezoning application for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-235 
East 16th Street and recommends approval subject to addressing the following 
issues to the satisfaction of the Development Planner: 

• The East 16th Street entrance to be made more prominent for first 
responder access; 

• Bike lockers are treated appropriately with fixed and motion sensor 
lights; 

• Expand the landscape areas further; 
• Consider expanding rooftop amenity access to more residents; 
• Design development on the tower cladding and proportions, including 

consideration of the mass timber appearance and an enhanced corner 
at St. Georges and East 16th Street; 

• Design development of the midrise cladding and materials, with 
consideration of the similar colours between buildings, and enhancing 
the façade along East 16th Street;  

• Consider installing a green rooftop to mitigate the heat island effect.  
• Explore opportunities to integrate further native plant species; 
• Explore ways to enhance the south end of the mews, by clearly 

defining the garbage pickup location, on-site loading, vehicle parkade 
entrance or relocation of these.” 

 
Several changes were made to the proposal in response to these issues, including a 
relocation and change of the entrances to both buildings to make them more prominent, 
changes in design for the cladding on both buildings, and changes to the south end of 
the privately owned mews to improve pedestrian safety, experience, and sightlines. 
Staff are satisfied with the changes as they relate to the feedback from the Panel.  
 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 15 of 18 

Advisory Planning Commission 
 
The application was reviewed by the Advisory Planning Commission on May 14, 2025. 
The Commission supported the proposal and passed the following resolution: 
 

“THAT the Advisory Planning Commission has reviewed the OCP Amendment 
and Rezoning Application for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th 
Street and recommends approval subject to resolution of the following to staff’s 
satisfaction:  

• Consider increasing the proportion of family sized units (defined as two 
or more bedrooms) in the development.”  

 
The City has two main policies that encourage family-friendly housing (defined as three-
bedroom units), being the Housing Action Plan and Community Wellbeing Strategy.  
 
While the proposal exceeds the minimum recommended mix of three-bedroom units 
from the Housing Action Plan (proposed 11.6% versus 10% minimum), it does not meet 
the recommended minimum three-bedroom units from the Community Wellbeing 
Strategy for strata three-bedroom units (proposed 11.6% versus 15% minimum).  
 
The applicant did not change the unit mix in the proposal after review by the Advisory 
Planning Commission. The overall unit mix represents a typical distribution for medium- 
and high-density development, with most units being studio or one-bedroom units.  
 
While the City has several policies to encourage family friendly housing and a mix of 
tenures and unit types, staff recognize that not every individual development proposal 
will help to achieve every policy goal.  
 
Staff are supportive of the proposed development with less than 15% of family friendly 
units as defined by the City’s Community Well Being Strategy, for the following reasons: 
 

• The proposed development provides new housing in the Lonsdale Regional City 
Centre with a mix of tenure, including market strata, market rental, and mid-
market rental, which meets several goals in the OCP, Community Wellbeing 
Strategy, and Housing Action Plan; 

• Due to the use of mass timber construction, which is a low-carbon sustainable 
method of construction, the floor plates of each tower level are identical, meaning 
that the unit mix proportion is repeated on each level, resulting in an overall unit 
mix limited by the proportion of area available on each floor; 

• The new units will have access to enhanced indoor and outdoor amenities, bike-
friendly design, and proximity to transit and amenities on Lonsdale Avenue, as 
well as the new Topo Park at East 16th & St. Andrews; 

• The proposed development includes 100% of units designed to Adaptable 
Design Level Two, providing 249 new accessible units across a mix of tenures, 
supporting several goals from the OCP, Community Wellbeing Strategy, and 
Housing Action Plan with regards to accessible housing.  

 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 16 of 18 

Integrated Transportation Committee 
 
The application was reviewed by the Integrated Transportation Committee on June 6, 
2025. The Committee supported the proposal and passed the following resolution: 
 

“THAT The Integrated Transportation Committee has reviewed the Official 
Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street and supports the project, making the following 
additional comments:  

• During construction, ensure pedestrian travel is maintained, including 
‘good neighbour’ agreements to work with other nearby construction 
sites;  

• Review traffic flow in laneway, ensuring turning movements from 
parkade in the lane are safe, possible, and do not impact the 
neighbourhood;  

• Review adjacent traffic controls in the neighbourhood to ensure they 
accommodate increased number of vehicle trips and improve the 
pedestrian and cyclist experience;  

• Advocate to the City to consider traffic calming measures on 16th 
Street, which may include bike-only through-ways, and local area bike 
safety improvements on key corridors as a result of increased trips 
being diverted from St Georges.”  

 
The recommendations of the ITC pertain only to site-specific design and site planning 
considerations. Staff have taken note of the suggestions and will consider the 
Committee’s suggestions as part of future work on East 16th Street.  
 
Based on a review of the Mini Transportation Study submitted by the applicant, and a 
review of local networks and infrastructure, staff are confident that the traffic controls at 
the nearby intersections, along with the upgrades and improvements that will be 
delivered as part of this development, will ensure safe traffic controls in the 
neighbourhood for the anticipated number of vehicles.  
 
COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 
 
Developer Information Session 
 
The applicant was required to follow the City’s procedures for community consultation 
suitable for a rezoning application, which includes a neighbourhood notification, site 
sign, and mailed notification to nearby properties.  
 
The applicant hosted an in-person Developer Information Session (DIS) on November 
26, 2024, along with a self-hosted website that offered a Virtual Developer Information 
Session available from November 26, 2024 – January 7, 2025. 
 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 17 of 18 

Over the public comment period from November 26, 2024 – January 7, 2025, a total of 
12 comments were received. The in-person DIS had 13 attendees. A summary of the 
comments and DIS is available in Attachment 3.  
 
The main feedback provided during the comment period was: 

• Concern with building height; 
• Concern that there would be insufficient vehicle parking spaces; 
• Concern that there would be too many vehicle parking spaces;  
• Concern with displacement of existing rental tenants.  

 
Staff Response 
 
As described in the Planning Analysis above, staff are supportive of the proposed 
increased height given the proposal’s inclusion of new housing in the Lonsdale Regional 
City Centre, and the Community Benefits that will be secured as a condition of the 
additional density. The location is an appropriate choice for increased height and 
density.  
 
Vehicle parking is provided as per the normal requirements in the Zoning Bylaw, being a 
rate of 1.05 stalls per unit for strata, and 0.6 stalls per unit for rental. Staff have 
assessed the transportation impacts of the proposed development and believe that 
these parking requirements will sufficiently service vehicle parking demand for the 
proposed uses.  
 
The applicant is also complying with the City’s Residential Tenant Displacement Policy, 
which includes compensation and relocation assistance for existing tenants.  
 
Town Hall 
 
On September 9, 2025, the applicant hosted a Town Hall, a City requirement for OCP 
amendment applications. The Town Hall was hosted virtually, facilitated by a third party, 
and was advertised through a new site sign, mailed notification to nearby properties, 
and newspaper advertisements. A total of 16 attendees were recorded at the Town Hall. 
The responses were mostly questions for clarification with some comments in support. 
A summary of the Town Hall and comments received is available in Attachment 4.  
 
Consultation with Inter-Governmental Agencies 
 
In accordance with Section 475 of the Local Government Act, consultation with various 
inter-governmental agencies needs to be facilitated as part of an amendment to the 
OCP. At the meeting of April 7, 2025, Council directed staff to refer OCP amendment 
applications to a certain list of agencies and groups. The relevant agencies for this 
application are as follows: 
 

• Metro Vancouver Regional District 
• North Vancouver School District (School District 44) 
• Conseil scolaire francophone de la Colombie-Britannique (CSF) 
• Squamish Nation 
• Tsleil-Waututh Nation 



REPORT: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

 
Page 18 of 18 

• District of North Vancouver 
• Vancouver Fraser Port Authority 
• Vancouver Coastal Health 

 
Referrals were sent to all agencies offering an opportunity for comments on the 
proposal. Responses with comments were received from the following agencies, and 
passed on to the applicant for consideration.  
 

• Metro Vancouver Regional District: support for the application in how it meets 
goals from Metro 2050, the Regional Growth Strategy; 

• Squamish Nation: comments from the Nations’ Climate Action Managers 
recommending climate resilient standards and designing for future climate 
impacts;  

• Vancouver Coastal Health: comments regarding access for emergency vehicles 
along St. Georges Avenue to Lions Gate Hospital during construction.  

 
The applicant acknowledged all comments. In response to the comments from 
Squamish Nation, the applicant committed to several sustainability and climate 
resilience measures, including the use of mass timber, engaging a specialized building 
envelope consultant to optimize the buildings’ efficiency, and compliance with Step 
Code requirements as per the BC Building Code and City Bylaws.  
 
Regarding comments from Vancouver Coastal Health, City staff will work with the 
applicant during the Building Permit phase to approve an appropriate Construction 
Management Plan and Traffic Management Plan that does not impact emergency 
vehicle access to Lions Gate Hospital.  
 
RELATION TO HOUSING TARGETS  
 
In June 2024, the Province issued a Housing Target Order (HTO) to the City of North 
Vancouver, mandating the completion of 3,320 net new housing units commencing July 
1, 2024 and ending June 30, 2029. This application proposes the creation of 249 units 
and the demolition of 63 units. Once completed, it would contribute 186 net new units 
toward meeting the City's Provincial housing targets. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
By achieving goals in the Official Community Plan and Regional Growth Strategy, such 
as an increase of housing in a central area close to transit and walkable amenities – 
and with a mix of unit types and tenure – the application represents good planning. Staff 
are supportive of the proposal and recommend the amendment to the OCP and Zoning 
Bylaw be approved.  
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 Linden Mulleder 
Planner 2 

 



St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

A
ve

E 15th St E 15th St

E 17th St

E 16th St

St
. G

e o
r g

e s
A

v e

Ea
st

er
n 

A
ve

2
6

5

1
2

8

1 5 6 5

1 6 5 0

1 6 0 5

1 4 4 1

3
2

8

2
1

9

1 5 5 2

3
2

4

1 4 0

1 6 2 6

1 6 1 2

1 6 1

1 4 8 0

1 6 1 8

2
5

7

1
3

7

1
6

1
2

1
6

5
0

1 5 5 0

3
2

0

1
3

5

1 5 4 9

1
3

2

1 5 3 6

3
1

6

3
2

5

3
1

9

1 6 1 0

1 5 2 4

2
3

5

3
0

7

3
3

3

2
1

5

1 4 1 5

1 6 1

3
2

0

3
2

8

2
4

9

1 5 3 6

2
1

3

3
2

3

1 5 0

1
4

3

1 5 1 4

1
5

5
5

3
3

4

2 3 1

2
1

4

2
2

6

1 5 0 4

2
2

8

3 0 8

1
3

6

3
2

8

3
2

4

1
5

4
0

1 6 3 6

2
1

5

2
4

1

1
5

4
5

3
1

7

1 5 3 5

1 5 4 4

1 1 5

2
3

6

1
2

1

2
3

1

2
5

1

2 3 0

3
2

9

1 6 2 1

1
2

0

1 6 2 9

2
5

0

1
1

2

2
2

5

3
1

6

1 5 5 0

2 6 0

2
3

5

2
0

6

Context Map: 1540 St. Georges  & 215-235 East 16th Street



E 16th Street 
Rental + Market Housing Development 

Issue 8 - OCP + RZ Resubmission 

CO NT ACT L 1ST 

c- Rld1......,..E16Mar1Pl'qilQILM1, 
aid RmEa11~1t1 Umlld~.Hp 
2200. 10156 CMiwnu1r SlrNI 
VMIO),Mlf,ICV7X 1KI -- =-•Al"(:fl .. <IUNIM. 

·20i0~ ..... t 
v--..-BC, V9C 15,4 

........... ~~Conluaing &9,-rs 
1«11WWIA ... 
v~.1Cvt.J1N5 

CMI .... 
lOO-AMl>C.-.0.W., 
~ . BCVS04Kt - Pttr)'•.-...0.:IMM 
112EMI~ 
v~.ecvsr,w - OHL CcnlYIIA• Ltcf 
950.,4090rt,tM .. SN.i; 
V""'°'11MOf, 8CvtC 1f2 

---- 504,648..4360 
Mdal•Biggilr IIO,l.&1$A3$S 
Mif'IMJ M'-"'Odl ISOl.037"'34,,1 _ ...... -- l(M61"4i220 

JNeyc:eFan 

Harri10nGIOD'Non 1SO,U30M22 

Donll0.My fTIW.ao.&6 

Mi::fltel P-M\llrtOl'I ISOU3SA111S ,_.,., 

l<hlll'I Vnl l<MMIM49trXL108 

""'"""' I04Mt,.449to!L1"'3 

- ·-malllllNlt..,..-n ---
ffllj~..-ct\c,owl 
~Oh-.u,..,."~ 
tll"J09:MJN811'9.-I\COM 

,_~~ 

---
~~9fo0d.Mel.C. 
fll~MOdlilll.CI 

we,,c.c. ....... 

Note: Drawings only to scale when printed on 2 4x36 sheets 

Civic Address. 
1540 St Georges Ave, 215-235 E 16th St 
North Vancouver, BC 

FIie Number PLN2024-00021 

Development Perm11 Number: NIA 

Building Permil Number NIA 

October 3, 2025 

A.O.t01 
A.0.-5Ciif 
A-0.1101 
~ ... .,. ...... ...... 

A•1,000 SIM 

A-1000 
A-1100 

A-1200 

A•2.000 Plan• 

A-2'100 ~1-P3P.,.,t\gl>'-'1 
A,2.101 ~1 •P2~Pwi 

A,2' 103 ~ l •l.e¥ell'oorlr-n 
A•2'14)4 e,ugl.--.:.,,,..----»ioo,i=.ii" 
A,:flOI !"Al •~t1Mfl~"1en-
A•'l.lOI &t,g1,.....,tl7f1oor~ 

A,:2' 2'01 ~ 2 • LAiYel I ,bor Pilanl Pl '4.lli.,._. 

~I: ~ !4::;~zut· -

A-4.000 Elev•t1on1 

A-4101 

A-4102 
A-4103 .. ,.. 

A·S,000 SK1ton1 

1!"!11•WNIE1tYMIOl'I 
D!9l•~IIMIIOl'I 

o..t•l •s«lbl'IWE 
A.&100 
A.&102 ... ,.. 
A-6.2(11 

91.00 1 • llecacn WI 
9U>Ql,ledlonNI 
8lO-O 2 • $edQn WE 

BUKi2•5.-dionNSI 
BI.D-02•s.dol'INS:2 

A•t,000 l 1.1pPftmt,ll•I 

,. • 40' 

119" • 1·-0· 
11'9" • l'.O" 
11'8° • 1\.(1" 

lit"• 1'-0' 
~~ 
l~I~ 
119" • 1·-0· 
119" • 1'-0" 
Ill"• l'-0" 
Ill"• l'-0" 
119" • 1'-0' 
I~ 

Iii"• l':.i:I' 
119° • 1'-0' 
119" • 1'-0' 
ll't" • l'-(1' 
119" • l'-0' 

11'1" • l'-0" 
ll'f' • 1',(I' 

ll't" . 1'-(1' 

119" • l'-0' 
119' • 1'-0' 
ur • 1·-0· 

Ill"• l'.0° 
Ill"• l'-(1" 
119' • l'-0" 
119" • 1'-0" 
ur • 1·-0· 

:::--::~::::::=:~---------
A-&200 Sl'lldoowSo,dy 

A,t.000 ArN 0--1,yl 

A'.!_~ ~1_•f$A~--- rn&•• 1'-0" ~~~aiR=• c,g,-------i-:r.;::::: :~: 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 
ww-N lrle,gri:Huch com 
T- 00461l84220 -------· ............ --..-·-------.. ~ .... -·. - ......... - ,.._. -

...... 
E16lh Strecrt 

Cover 

""' 
Oeto1Mr 3 2025 

• ·OCP • lt2R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''"'1 

A-0.000 

Attachment 2



DATA SHEET 
WEST SITE - BUILDING 1 

--· --

........... ,_ ..... 

.1:~:; ;::: 

... ,.._,..,_,,,, ... ,_,_ , .. , ... 

...,..... 
lnecrt 

•~•t Utt 1:t 'th 

•• 1111!-l"'~ -,,, ..... ,. ,., 

::: 

._.,.,...,11,r:1 c :em •.. 
···=--....... .. , ... _ 

... 
...................... 

, .. 

Cit W :C C'1 :I 

,= 

··-,., __ ., __ 
, __ .. __ 
•== '=="== ··-·-

.. __ ., __ ___ ..... _ 
, .. .., ·--~-·~·--.,, .... ,,,__ __ _,,._,::~--:s.---

-·---·-------_,., _____ .., __ ... , -·-·-----.. --.. --.... _ .... _,, ___ , ___ .., __ ..., .. __ _ 

- .... . .... -.... ---"--- .... ..... =·= 

·::: 

1fol:fi:li'.& :;.= 
... . ~.Mllfec:· .... 

:: ::: I :: ~·= I :: ?: 

~::: 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 00461l84220 -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Data • West Site 
(Bldg 1) 

""' 
Otto1M!'320H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.100 



DATA SHEET 
EAST SITE - BUILDING 2 

--· --

••t .... .. '" ... 

._.,.,...,11,r:1 :em ,, .......... .,, .. ,. , '., •.. 
···=--. ....., .. ,. --

"' -
J.i•--~-~~~~~~~~----------"-------

·--·--~~-ti'"-''--'''-"'"'--"--'""".,, .... ~~--...WJ'SL----':-=.._,,.·--"::::,..,_._ 

:::::.:.::.::. ---- "' = 
'" 

-·---·-----.. -_, .. ________ .. , 
_, .... _____ ., .. _,,_ ...... _ .... _ .. ___ , _,_ ... __ .... __ _ 

•= .,_ .. ___ _ ., ____ _ 
· .. ...: ,.. .. _. 

.... ..... =•= ~.:i . ....... _ , 

... . ~.Mllfec:· .... 

:: ::: I :: ~·= I :: ?: 

::::: 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 00461l84220 -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

... .... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Data • East Site 
(Bldg 2) 

""' 
Otto1M!'320H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.101 



0 CONTEXT PHOTO 

E) CONTEXT PHOTO 

CONTEXT MAP 

• PROPOSED 

E) CONTEXT PHOTO 

0 EXISTtNG S & 1 S STOREY 0 EXISTING 13 STOREY 
1.0CAL ON LONSOAI..E' ~IN LEASING C£NT'RE' G 

•

. . >',_,·· ,~,/-
·•·. .. . 

' ' I _: : .. - .,.i ... _J· ·. l I ;. , _ • j _ , 
'! -~J . • ~J . , l:-..... ,,,.. .. 

. I ~ - ,_ · --:rr-\..,~,.cJ 
-:::;,~ . ;>; . . ."_,. ~ ' 

131517THSTE 14317™STE 

G EXISTING TWO 12 STOREY e EXl:Sn4G 13 STOREY 
& ONE&STOA£Y 'ABBA" 
'CENT\JRY SYCRESScY' l515EAS~NAVE 
350 16TH ST E 

0 EXISTING 22 STOREY 0 EXISllNO 11 STOREY 
THE:ROYALSI" 140 t•THSTE 
1441 ST GEORGES AVE 

C, 

G 

0 CONTEXT PHOTO 

• EXISTING • OCP PERMITTED 

PROPOSED 8 STOREY 8 EXISTING t• STOREY 
RENTAL HOUSING 'll-iE SOVEREGN' 
2 1618 ST GEORGES AVE 1565 EASTERN AVE 

EXISTING 7 STOREY 0 EXISTING 12 STOREY 
'DAASV HOUSE.APARTMENTS' \JON'S GATE Pll>ZA' 
1401sntSTE 150 ISTHSTE 

EXISTING 11 STOREY 0 OCP PERMITTED 12 STOREY 
14t5STGEORGESIWE 202-228, 2'14, 228. 

228&2:J615™STE 

0 

e 

PROPOSED 13 STOREY 
RENTAL HOUSING 
1536 EASTERN AVE. 

EXISTING U1 STOREY 
'THE ROYALS' 
'14915THSTE 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

...... 

E16th Street 

Site Context -
Street View 

,.,., 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-0.200 



AERIAL VIEW - NORTHWEST 

0 EXISTING 6 & 18 STOREY 0 \.OCA&. ON LONSOAt.E 
1351TTHSTE 

0 EXISTING 7 STOREY 0 'OARBY HOUSE APARTMENTS' 
14015THSTE 

EXISTING 13 STOREY 
~N l.EASING CENTRE' 
14317THST E 

EXISTING 12 STOREY 
'UON"S GATE P\>ZA' 
HiO 15THST E 

e 

G 

- PROPOSED 

PROPOSED 8 STOREY 
RENT-'L. HOUSNG 
216 ttl ST GEORGESAVE 

EXISTING 11 STOREY 
iHEROYALS' 
U915n'iSTE 

AERIAL VIEW - NORTHEAST 

- EXISTING 
• OCPPERWTTED 

8 EXISTING 14 STOREY G PROPOSED 13 STOREY 
iHE SOVEREIGN' RENTAt.HOUSING 0 
1555 EASTERN AVE 1536 EASTERN AVE 

0 EXISTING 22 STOREY G EXIST~O 11 STOREY 
'THE ROYALS 1· 144 l•TI-ISTE 
1441 ST GEORGES AVE 

EXISTING TWO 12 STOREY 
&ONE&STOREY 
"CENTIJRY BYCRESSEY' 
360 1ffl-tSTE 

EXISTING 11 STOREY 
1415 ST GEORGES AVE 

e 

0 

EXISTING 13 STOREY ....... 
11515 EASTERN AVE 

OCP PERMITTED 12 STOREY 
202:-22&, 2:14, 226. 
228& 23615Tt1ST E 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

...... 

E16th Street 

Site Context -
Aerial Perspective 

,.,., 

• • oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-0.201 



"".SC 7 
-·-"=' 

l 

I 

"""• 

. 
I 

I 
Wll't,lt I 

I 

' I 
I 

·­--
w••• I

• w ..... l ..... 
,f: llltall • 

.-. • l tu .... ,!b,ll l 

1 { 
a • 

E ... a ~---L i.,"" 
... .. 

-~ .... 
rm ..--. ....... ....,u 

-- ' '""'" --r ! 

i' 
/ 

t 

"-""' ..... " -· ----d-<"=~~ i,=------ , ...... a I 

I """'" 1• • • • • •, I 

/ ~ J 1 • , ---
_Jr-' w• • i ...... I ----,, ..... ,, I . ,_ -=-; w,-11 , 

~ I U Ot,f t , I , ' , ' 
' w~~ , 

/ r-1• .1~ 

' J ' , I \ 

"""" 

l 

, 

' ' \ 
\ 
\ 

' . \ 
I ' 
l ! 

I 
I 
I 

' ' I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

L 
I , , , , , , , , 

,,,' 1 111111'1 

I ,,' 

_J-----
.... COMM(ACW, 

s ~·--M""""-
M(l(EOU!IE 
MUNICIP41... 

"'"" R>CA£AllONAL 

REBIDE~'TW. 

"""""' ......... ., ... I t«lt<WAV 

"""" M-t CWTCTOI\ 

,, .. 

I , .... LOCM. ~" • ,..,., 
"''"""' ........ 

OCP DESIGNATION - R5 MIO-RISE APARTMENT MEDIUM 0:NSITY 1 .6 FSR (MAX BONUS FSR 1.0 WI PUBLIC BENEFITS) 

~=== C....J--~· 

:: l! •• J .. ~: ... 
" 

@ City of North Vancouver Official Community Plan 

)-6 ] lco J 

.,, ..,, 
Q · 
0 
0 

C-1B 

LJ"" 

0 

c.o 

Q) ~i~~f North Vancouver Zoning Map 

OCP - MID-RISE APARTMENT MEDIUM DENSITY RS 

• 1.6 FSR (MAX BONUS FSR 1.0) 

• 1.0 FSR BONUS WITH PUBLIC BENEFITS: 

1) SECURE MARKET RENTAL HOUSING OR NON, 

MARKET RENTAL 

21 COMMUNITY AMENITY SPACE 

31 EMPLOYMENT GENERATION 

4) HERITAGE CONSERVATION 

• MAX HEIGHT 6 STOREY 

: i ! 

: : : : ! ! ! ! ! 

I 

CD-5n4 

APPLICABLE GUIDELINES: 

: : 

! ~ ! : 

[CJ 

• 2018 DENSITY BONUS ANO COMMUNITY 

BEN EFITS POLICY 

·MA BICYCLE NETWORK FOO CITY OF NV (ALL 

AGES AND ABILITIES) 

• ACTIVE DESIGr-1 GUIDELINES 

· ADAPTABLE DESIGN GUIDELINES 

• SUSTAINABLE DESIGN GUIDELINES 

• CPTED PRINCIPLES 

• RESIDENTIAL APARTMENT DEVELOPMENT 

PERWIT AREA(PENOING) 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T_..,,.., oo• 6ll8 ,no -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

... .... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Context - Zon Ing 
& OCP 

""' 
Otto1M!' 3 20H 

t 0 0CP • lt2: R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.202 



ST. A NDREWS 
AVENUE 

~!scape - 16th St. E 

EXISTING BUILCMNGS 
CfNl'UltY-~lUHSTf 

AfSIOE-'«IAl. 

0>---,,~=tr~~~~-~ts_c_a~pe_ -_S_t._G_e_o_r-ge_s ___ _ 

EXISTING BUILDINGS 
no~~~•r 

G) ~~~lscape - Midblock Mews 

SUBJECT PROPERTY 
1~ SlGl'OAGESAVI' •JU•2»U•lHSl 

iJIF$0f'(f"'I, 

OCP PERMrTTEO 
OEVELPMENT 

l02-22t.21• ,22t.22t62)0 15THS1 E 

• r•----------------; ,. ---•--------·---1 
' ~t••-T-••••••••••"',.1 

••---+--------+--.... • .. 

OCP Pl;RMITTl:O 
OEVfl.PMENT 

21n-2M,2:U, 221B. 22a62::M 15THSTE 

15TH 
STREET 

EAST 

15TH 
STREET 

EAST 

ST GEORGES 
AVENUE 

EXISTING BUILDING 
IW• t~SlGfOAQU"""' --

2 

1 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT EASTERN 
1(8,"WOOC-::or~~ASTt.JINM AVENUE 

3 

·~· 1 ' ' 

I I 
j_ __________ j 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ ~ .... _ _........ _____ _ 
-- .. -·-

...... 

E16th Street 

Streetscape 
Elevations 

,.,., 

f . OC, • RZ lt....,bmluio#l''.,1 

A-0.300 



PROJECT USE 

OCP AMENDMENT 

The central location of the subjo3ct site is in the Oty Centre, on St. Georges Avenue. It is 
lden~ifled as a candidate for rezoning in the Land Use Plan as Medium Density Aparlment 
development wllh tho maximum ol 6 storey In height ( 18·19m). Too Immediato neighbourhood 
OCP calls lor 12 s1orlos (37m) to tho south across the rear lano, Lions Clato Hospital Complex 
and high-rise mixed-use developmenls along Lonsdale, and St Georges Avenue to the south. 
The OCP calls ror 6 stories (18·19m) to the north side of E16th and northwest on St Georges. 

This proposal Intends to apply for an OCP amendment end Rezoning application of an oxlstlng 
proporty at 1540 St. Goorgos Avonuo (RM-1 zoning) to allow for a 12-storoy end 6-storoy 
residential development via a Comprehensive Development; based on R5 guideUnes and 
incentives 10 d8'1Jelop purpose-buih rental and strat.a units. 

This OCP amondmon1 request aligns with tho City of North Vancouver {CNV)'s broader goals 
of 'a· viorant, divorso and highly Nvablo community that Slrlvos to b8lanca /ho social, economic 
and environmental needs of oor community /ocal/y' through th9 following points; 

Response to Community Housing Needs: 
This amendment addresses current and emerging needs wllhin the corrmunlty, such as rental 
end markel housing Shortages. 6y doliverlng 196 purpose built rontel unlls Qncluding 20 MMR 
homes) and 53 markel condOs, Iha proposed change will conlribule 10 localing a mlxod 
housing solution specifically adjacent to Lions Gate Hospital, a major employment hub, and 
support oommunity growth. 

Compat,b,llty with Surrounding Land Uses: 
Tho proposed amendmonl has toon carofully doslgnod to l it harmonlouSly wilhln tho oxlstlng 
conteX1 ol the surrounding area. The residential project locat9s a 12 storey hybrid mass timber 
building on tt,e western 1J31d of the site, directly north of the OCP assigned 12-storey block ol 
206-236 E151h St. The remaining 2131d ol the site consists of a 6-storey residential build!ng tliat 
has boon designed to slop wllh the steop site grading a1 the east end of tho silo. This ma1n1a1ns 
t11e OCP1

~ propus4;Kl aujaceI1t;i tu me rooer,uy 00Inplet4;Kl nelgtItJoorlng rll1Ita1 tJIAkJlng~ ul IS amJ 
12-s·tories to the east of the lano. This compatibility is rollect9d in 100 neighbourhood silo 
sections thal domonst rato minimal disruption and positive Integration wllh OCP allowable 
dovolopmonts In tho luturo. 

Ben efils to the Community: 
Social Benelits: Toe project proposes the developmenl of purpose built rental and markel 
condo homes on lho same lot. Combining renlal and condo unll s promotes socioeconomic 
diversity wlthn tho same building and dovelopmont. This mi,od housing ·tenure helps croato e 
more lnclusko community whero paoplo from different Income brackets can interact and 
coo,c.ist. It can also help to reduce the social stigma often associated ·Nith rental hOusing. It 
fosters a more equitabkl living environment where residents of all income kivels are valued 
equally. Each building provides amenity spaces dedicated fo, the r resident use only. 
Rosldonts of both rental and condO units, In tho 12-storoy, will he•o aocoss to shar&d 
amenllles suCh as gyms, community rooms, and outdoor spaoes. This will lead to better­
maintained and more vibrant oommuna1 areas. By rostering diversity, inclusMty, and 
community engagement, co-k>cating rental and market condo units contributes to a more 
cohosivo, stablo and equitable urban environmont. 

Environmental Bonof11s: A 12-storoy hybrid mass l lmt>or building oilers slgnlllcanl 
envlronmentaJ benefits by reducing carbon emissions and utilizing r,enewable ,esources. 
Timber sequesters catbon, has a lower embodied carbon foo·tprint than concrete or steel, and 
enhances energy efficiency with Its natural Insulation properties, The use of mass limber, 
comblnod wllh olher materials, minimizes waste th rough prefaMcatlon and promotes recycling 
at the bui lding's end-of-1118. 11 01so mltlgetos Iha urban heal ISiand ettoc1 and support$ 
sustainable forest management, which helps preserve biodiversity. Addltlonally, timber's naturaJ 
aesthetic improves indoor air quality and occupant well-be!ng, contributlng to a more 
sustainable and eco-f~endly consiructlon approach. 

Add resslng Sito-Specific Constraints: 
The proposed site presents untiue constraints or opportunities that warrant the proposed 
amendment. The site slopes In excess of two floors from the northeast to southwest corner of 
the site. The apparent height of a 12 storey building located on the lowest oorner ol the site Is 
only 10 stMes when viewed from the 6 storey residential buildings et lhe east of tho site. This 
amendment Is designed to address !hose constraints offeclivoly whllo adhering to tho city's 
vision lor growth and developmen1. 

Compliance with Planning Principles: 
The proposed amendment is consistent w Ith key planning principles, Including sustainable 
development, efficient land use and urban design. The objective of the zoning height limits: is to 
prevent '"zoning cliffs• as outlined in the OCP. The current OCP outlines a change lrom 12 
-storeys on the north side of ts• Stroel to 6-stories at the south sido o f 16• Stroot - thus 
changing 6-storlos of bullclng he,ght across a 6m wide rear lane. It Is lhe opinion of lhe 
applicant that good planning principles should encourage a Change of building heights a l lul 
sueet divisions and not at Stnaller laneways as the streets are wider and the lront setbacks 
greater to accommodate a wider separation between buildings at differing heights. The project 
team believes this proposal edhores 10 CNV 's strategic planning framoworl< and supports long­
term growth obJectivos, 

In summary, the requested OCP amendment represents a thoughtful and strategic adjustment 
that aligns with the CNV's goals, address&s communrty needs, and integrates well with the 
existing urban fabnc. We rospocttully roquost tho City's lavourable consideration ol this 
amondmen1 10 support tho OCP variance at tho wost end of this slle lrom 6 to t 2-storios. 

REZONING RATIONALE 

RESIDENTIAL LIVABILITY 

The proposed development seeks to prov Ide rental and condo housing In a location lhat 
benefits from e:i:isling transit corridors. The proposal includes efficiently sized units and ground• 
breaking tall h)'brid mass timber construction. The CNV's forward-looking rental bonuses and 
parking relaxalkms are critical 10 the financial viability o f this application and have both been 
utillzod. 

Al this location, the 2014 OCP supports mid-rise, medium density apartment R5. The 
designation pe<mits an outright 1.6FSR wi1h maximum density bonus of 1.0 based on lhe 
public benelits of rental housing 1soclJl'e market or non-market), community amenity space, 
omploymont oanoratlon. and I or horitaoo consorvatlon. 

Tho proposed tDtal e,oa for ell uses Is 163,933 sq.ft. achieving an FSA ol 3.26. 

The inlont Is to provide 196 secured market rental housing units, of which 20 are Mid-Marl<et 
Rental units, plus 53 market oondo units. The project provides diverse sizes and layouts to 
provide housing at different income levels. The development provides a significant number ot 
lamily style unics wilh 29 threo-bodroom units ( t1.75%) and 41 lwo·bodroom units (16.5%) lhat 
are doslgnod to accommodate tho domand for a variety ol housing sizes. 

The development proposes one 12-storey building containing 63 rental and 53 condo units and 
one 6-storey building 133 rental units of residential t-.ousing. Both buildings contain ground 
level indoor a11d outdoor amenit)1 room over underground parking with a variety of uses 
Including gyms, party rooms, work spaces, a guesl suite and bike workshops. The 6-slorey 
building also proposes rool top outdoor common amonlly areas. 

Unit Type 
Studio 
t Bedroom 
2 Bedroom 
3 Bedroom 

406 • 439 sq It 
491 • 630 sq It 
1, 9 · 829 sq It 
922 · 964.0 SQ ft 

46 units 
133 units 
41 units 
29 units 

The proposal provides 3,698 sq ft of common indoor amenity and approximately 12,990 sf of 
outdoor spaoe. Parking Includes 173 undorground vohlclo spaces and 379 secure blcyde 
spaces, with an eddlUonal 24 short torm blcy,clo spaces. 

The proposal will provide ease of access to all common areas regard~ss ol physical 
capabilities. The project is designed 10 meet CNV'S Adaptable Design requiremenls wilh 100% 
of the units designed 10 moel L2 roQUlremenlS. 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC, 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, V'6C 1$,ll 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com r....,...,..., oo• 6tl8 ,no -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - . ........ - ·-. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Design Rationale 

""' 
Otto1M!'320H 

t 0 0CP • lt2: R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''"1 1 

A-0.400 



INTENSITY 

SETBACKS 

The site is a typical rectangular shape, with a frontage of approximately 388 feet. 
We propose the following setbaci.s: 

Front Yard (North · E 16th St) 
Rear Yard (South· Lane) 
Exterior Side Yard (East• St. GecrgesAve) 
Interior Side Yard (West PL) 

10'(3.06M) 
12'(3.66M) 
15'(4.57M) 
12'(3.66M) 

The p roposed setbacks provide an urban Interface with Iha stteet that Is consistent with 
adjacent properties under application. 

SITE COVERAGE 

Wo p ropose a site covorago o f a~proximatoly 46%. 

AFFORDABILITY STATEMENT 

Tho proposed dovolopment Is a mld•markot renlal development and will util,zo 
alfordoblllty measures Including: mass Umber/hybrid tall Umber construction, bicycle 
oriented design, and appropriately sized units. 20 of those homos will be secured et 
MMR rates, which will help families and individuals needing to secure hcusing at lower 
rents. Rents will be determined at time ol completion, based on prevailing market rents. 
We anticipate applying tor the CMHC funding untdor their construction financing aod 
post construellon programs. Ultimately, It Is unknown whothor tho prolOC1 will bo 
selected for such funding. 

196 new rental units will contribute to the diverse hOusing choices that that will appeal 
to downsizers and young families alike. The rental unit mix breakdoYm is as follows: 

18% sludio 
55% one-b8droom 
15% two-bedroom 
12% throe-booroom 

CPTED STATEMENT 
(CRIME PREVENTIO N THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN) 

The prolect has takOn CPTED ln10 oonslderation by ensuring lh8 following, but not 
limited to : 

Natu ral Surveillance 

Windows ovorlOOklng public and private areas 
Transparency at building entrances and exits 
Landscape design that provides surveillance ard vlsibillty 
Ensurtng prob lem areas are well Ill (pathways, slalrs, entnes/exits, parking, etc.) 
Providing visibility though screens/fences 
Solow grade aocoss stairs with no blind corners 

Natu ral Access ConVol 

• Clear1y ldentltlable point ol entries 
• Ellmlna10 design features 1hat pro~de acooss to roofs and upper lovels 

Natural Territorial Reinforcement 

Maintained premises and landscaplng such that It communicates an alert and active 
presenoo oocupylng tho space 
Display soourity system Slgnage at access points 
Schoduling activities in commcn areas to Increase proper uso, attracts more people 
and increases. the perception that these areas are controlled 

FORM 

SITE PLAN AND LANDSCAPE 

The 6•storey b1.1ilding is proposed to front E 16th Ave, while the 12-storey building is proposed 
to front St Georges Ave. A ramp in the lobby entry provides wheelchair access to the 6-s·torey­
whllo lhe lobby for tho 12·storey has al grade access 10 the sldowalk. Vehicle parkOdo access 
Is via 1h0 lane on tho south side o f lhO silo. Tho ground floor of tho buildings aro surrounded by 
a series of garden apartment patios. lnese patios provide some private outdoor space and 
private entrances to each groUld-floor unit. The patios are defined by planters and plantings. 

Public pedostrlan access has boon doslgnod through tho silo botwoen lho buildings, wl1h a 
IOcatlon for putllc an having boon soloctod at tho stan of this public access at E16th Avonuo. 

Exterior stairs to the parkades are provided <>n the southeast and southwest corners ot the site 
next 10 respectrYe bike storage rooms and is incorporated into the landscape. A 2.5 foot 
landscaped transition strip Is also provided to mitigate and soften the transition from tho lane to 
1he ramp. Tho ramp Is flanked on either side by outCIOor community garclOns and OP()n green 
space. The ramp descends under tho rnain courtyard between tho two buildings, with 
landscaping to transition the hardscape and sottscape. 

The northern elevation o f the 6·storoy build ing responds to the slope of the site by stepping 
down tho hill, while the soulhern olovation of the site has been designed to rospoct tho current 
neighbouring buildings with its s taggered setbaek and opon green spaces !hat activa1e tho 
taneway. 

FORM & MASSING 

Tho project consists of a 12-storey hybrid mass timber building at tho wost side of lhe silo and 
a 6 storey wood-frame bu!lding a t tho east, over a cOOCJete foundation with multiplo levels o1 
underground parking. The buildings follow a simple. modern, familiar North Vancouver 
vernacular that is consistent wtth neighbouring and proposed residential buildings and wll 
complement the neighbourhood's existing and new buildings. 

The archltectural character is West Coast contemporary Inspired by Its: CLT I mass timber 
construction and uses materials for lho o•lorlor of tho building lhat are high quality, durable and 
non-eombusUblo. The exterior cladding will use a natural pe1e11e or whllo, greys and woad 
tones. The buildings compliment each other :aesthetlcal1y but work to break OOwn their form and 
volume very dlffe,entty, 

The 6-storoy building at tho east along E16th stops along the grade to reduce Its overall height 
and length. Tho buildlrg length Is broken down Into dlgostlblo sections highlighting corners, 
accentuating balconies and fealurlng the lobby at the venlcally e,pressed firewall. Tho llal roof 
and hcrizontal line of balconies of the buildings emphasize the low profile of the buildings' 6 
floors, 'M'lich p,ovide an appropriate scale for the street level and neighbouring buildings. The 
feature colour I, lnlroduced to highlight and create aesthetic variety while the use of two sl orey 
balcony oloments bring tho scale down evon further. A rooflop amenity space allows roslclOnts 
10 enjoy lhe ~ews dawn 10 Iha water and of downtown Vancouver. 

The 12-storey btilding at the west is onented north-south to limit its shadOwing of adjacent 
properties to the nonh. Tho building's slender appearanoo is aocentuated with a highlight of 
wood-like claddi rg at tho south facado. Tho lobby feal.Jros heavy timber olomon1s slhowceslng 
tho buildings coro matorlal and ·tying In wllh thO similar lobby canopy doslgn of tho 6·stDroy. 
Tho north facade of tho bulidlng wll feature the 'primary• stair with vertical glazing to emphasize 
the active design and break down the building width. Trellis features on the roof decks will draw 
interest and provide a highlighted wood leatU1re. 

Both bulkllngs contain large glazing elements which w ill allow an abundance of natural light 
into tho lndMd.Jal units and placomonl of balconies provide both lacedo interest as well as 
directs views on all elevations. 

Access to community gardens, a kid's play space and outdoor greon space al10Y1s lhe 
opportunity for residents to soclalizo whllo enjoying tho south-facing roar courtyard. 
Landscaping a.els as a bulfor along tho slt o perlmoters as well as at lhe roof lovol to add 
privacy for both the occupants and neighbours. 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 
ww>N lrle,gri:Huch com r....,,..,..., oo• 6tl8 ,no -------· ............ --.-·-------.. ~ .... -·. - . ........ - ,.._. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Design Rationale 

""' 
Oeto1Mr3 2025 

•·OCP • lt2: R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.401 



VIEW OF LOBBY ENTRANCE TO BUILDING 1 (12 STOREY) 

-------· ............ --.-·-------.. ~ ... -·. - ......... - ,.._. -

Perspective 
________ ;;;;;::==~-Re-nd_••-= 

""' 
Oeto1Mr 3 2025 

• ·OCP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''"'1 

A-0.500 



OBBY ENTRANCE TO BUILDING 1 (12 STOREY) VIEW OF L 

A-0.501 



OF LOBBY E VIEW NTRANC E TO BUILDING 1 (1 2 STOREY) 

A-0.502 



VIEW LOOKING WEST ON ST. GEORGES AVE 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T~ 004 6tl8 4220 

... ------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Perspective 
Render 

""' 
Otto1M!' 3 20H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.503 



VIEW OF LOBBY ENTRANCE TO BUILDING 2 (6 STOREY) 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 00461l84220 -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Perspective 
Render 

""' 
Otto1M!' 3 20H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.504 



VIEW LOOKING WEST OF COURTYARD FROM LANE ""' 
Otto1M!'320H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.505 



VIEW OF PEDESTRIAN FRIENDLY MID-BLOCK CONNECTION ""' 
Otto1M!' 3 20H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-0.506 



TOPOGRAPHIC SUft\/EY Pl.AN or 
LOT I PLAN 9874, 
LOT 2 Pl.AN 9874, 
LOT 3 P\.AN 9874, 
AND lOT 1 Pl.AN 9386: 
AL. CY 81.0CK 32 DISTRICT LOT 5'19 

-o - ~;J~~~.Ntt\.."&c 
~ .... ~ ... ~1:" • .:t.,~n-=.. 

, 
~ 

~~•:n:1n.::-

I,: - ----.. ---=~~~~t,1, 

.,. 
Cl 

.-

BINNIE 

16"' STREET EAST 

L01 1 

L()fl 

/ 
• 15"' STRCCT EAST 

: ...... 

" 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

/ ~~("~.,, ✓--~ 
233(), Gran ,, / 
VircoJ~•. BC, V0C 1$4 

-· .,,,~ ""~ ~ 
WWY'f lrl&{lra•-IIH:h om 

' 
/ 

felct:iett, t.04W84 

/ / 
. . / ./ -

= 
~ / 

/ 

\ ! 1: ./ / 
LOT 4 

?: i I ,:~· 
,q / f·; ,, 

I 
,,,, 

"""7 n ~ - ,, >, .... , ,~ r .,, ,, 
_ _,-:i... 
.. V-'I' 

JI. 
j, .... 

~ ·" ,I ,., / 

.,, :,, 
/ 

...... 

E16th Street 

;. ... 

Survey Plan 

-· ----
.L-:...-·- · 
;=~~ 

~--)20.Z, 

l •Oat•ll....,......,._,•.,.• 

•r11•,." =~:1111• A-1 .000 



.. 

EXISTING 
MULTI-FAMILY 
(3 STOREYS) 

EXISTING 
MULTI-FAMILY 
(3 STOREYS) 

16THSTE. 

EXISTNG 
MUl.Tl•FAMILY 
(3 STOREYS) 

EXISTING 
MULTl•FAMlY 
(3STOREYS) 

•. 

----·-r 
i 
i 
i 
i 

I 
i 
i 

I 

_, 

EXISTI'lG 
MULTJ.FAMLY 
(JSTORE.YS) 

•. 

--7--- -----------------··· 
i 
! 

EXISTING 
MULTI-FAMILY 
(2 STOREYS) 

NEW 
DeJELOPMENT 
(6$TOREYS) 

NEW 
DeJELOPMENT 
(12 STOREYS) 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 
ww>N lrle,gri:Huch com 
T- 00461l84220 ---.. ~ ~ _,._,.,.. ·-· .............. -~. ··-­____ .... .__ .. ~ .. -·· - ......... - ..... , .. -

N 

• ' ••• lit .. - - -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Site Plan 

""' m•· • 1·-0· 

• ·OCP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''"'1 

A-1 .100 



EXISTING 
MULTI•FAMILY 
(3 STOREYS) 

EXISTING 
MULTI-FAMILY 
(3 STOREYS) 

16THSTE. 

' I 
I 

' ' I EXISTING 
I MULTl•FAMl Y 
: (3 STOREYS) 

' I 
' ' ~ 

(I) 

---------~----------------------

LANE 

ii; 

EXISTNG 
MUlTI-FAMILY 
(3 STOREYS) 

EXISTI'lG 
MULTJ.FAMLY 
(JSTORE.YS) 

.. -T·- ·-.. - ··-··-··- .. -··· 
i 
! 

EXISTING 
MULTI-FAMILY 
(2 STOREYS) 

NEW 
DeJELOPMENT 
(6$TOREYS) 

NEW 
DeJELOPMENT 
(12 STOREYS) 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 00461l84220 ---.. ~ ~ _,._,.,.. ·-· .............. -~. ··-­____ .... .__ .. ~ .. -·· - ......... - ..... , .. -

N 

• ' • •• lit .. - - -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Fire Department 
Response Plan 

""' m•· • 1·-0· 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-1 .200 



,,_,,_______ _________ - 1 - --- --- ------ - ----- --- " - ··-· 1 ··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-·· ··-··-··-··-··-.. -··-··-··- · __ ,, _______ ___ ____ _ 

e--

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

11 U lOI J!:1'1 - -f J • 11111 - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Overall - P1 
Parking Plan 

,.,., 
1J1t~ • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.000 



16TH STE. 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 

t~~Zf~ 

1!_...1· ~ n . . . .. - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Overall. Level 1 
Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1J1t~ • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l''UI 

A-2.001 



P.B,>----+-t-

P.O')----'-.__ 

~~~ u~ ~~i~~~ 

i ' 
~ i . I !i ·-.. ·- .. .. · .. . -· . ".. · .. . ··- - ,. ___ : .:= := -:-:-~-r·=-.·--=::,--~-,= 

4 ~ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 • P3 
Parking Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.100 



P.A.>---~-

P.B,>---++-

t ; ; i .... 
UP RP t• 

------------··-··-··-··-~ ----------------~ ---- -·- ; __ 

' ' ' '----' 

-"f 
- - - J 

I ' +--- +---~ +---+---+---+--- f--- +--- - +--- +---~ I 0."'109lrawi!•32..•h 

j 36 RESIDENTIAL 

! 

I 

.. - . . . . 

4 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ ll"I _ _........ _ ___ •• -- .. -·-

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 • P2 
Parking Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

• • oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.101 



e---

@---

e--

e---

©---

I 

I 
I 

I 

~ un ynt-•V'I PN ~ •• r '" ~ 
J---------------··-··-··-·•-f -----------------~--------·1~-··-··- · · ~ 

I 
I 

.. 
I ~ r;J I : 1r:a-_] _1a- :-w.a"' :"· : I 11 
i 11 ,: =i::::: '""~~- · - - - --f --;-~-.-~;;.;.--~---7r-- \ I · 
1 ~ l:fdt:=: I - - - i-;11, c~_-, -_~I~_:=_r~_-I=_J :,". \ MK H I WAtrR. __ .• 

1
, ___ .1~ 

,,. I .... ,w .... r············ t::::::11 rli't D ~ ········,1 . ...,_... . --j1,~ __ C::,,..,...,=T=Tp ~-- \ ! I i I 
.. l ! ~ -~ ~ ' 1, ~.. . . - ~ I'!!". !, I '-~ I 

( ST~ ~ ! i j j I \ ·:1 1::1::1=1=1=:d 

~ II\- , ~ 1--= - '·······j - /, 1 1 -- T 1\'~~T'---- t 
\ ~-- 7 . ··1· ~<;:;:-,:;-- - ~ 1··\·•f ·1· ../ I WEST '--!'\. I 

\ 

, 12 VISITOR [ , ,, ~ PARKADE1':"-. 
I i c,,,....... ooi•~ oi•••_. / ~"• ~ 

ii I \ !I ! ' I I ! '\.~ I 

, •. \ _ i ~~~~ i [/ ...... J · pl~;i~N 
;:, !!-0 l\ •!~ -: ·:- r- :~ _}_ l-:~.-· 
I 'I ,--- , _,, . . . , ., , . 1 ;;; ~ : I 

~'--'--'--~'¾', !\ I : \ /~ i !\: • ' ~~~"-""•:\,,~' '-y- I ,,/ .!. ' ::C !ii I =- - -= I: ~ -1_ -: ____ , ti~\: i I i ' ' : i i i I i _Ill if---:::::-:=-
. -h,1-ilt-A L.-:,-~;:-~ ::___ ;. __ ,,_.:::,.l·: +:-G.JUr. ~,llJi-l LG., ----------~ ~ : 

w 
1'1--' . J /\; "'"~~- I I 

"'·""", ""-:""r""' -........ --- : ----. ~>-.+i·--rrr· ! ! 'I , , I ! i , ' : I ~ ~ '- '--~---4·-:::.:.:: ~ I '., _, .. c: I . ,., _,I ~ :Ill ~ ., r , I l.---: ; .... ~ IC~. ' 0 I ....:..JI I j i j j I j j : : I 

I / / --- ~= -;~.I-~ J Uj_ r ·1:i-~-1= I . , : I ,! / "~ "" ' "" "" ! "" "" ; I 

' ~' ! J) ! i ------------- .: 
·-., .. 1! ;' ...... i~ •"'" I' I 

0.flOt' /~41 : / I 
~ •. ~ i 1 . I 

---- .. I ,,....-/' !I 7 RESIDENTIAL 1' ,' : 

' J / T"/ 1 ir-'\.-,..I ! r-v·-1 ~--'), ~• ' I 
- ------~F=l---'--n=o!....==,,,.._=.:#---'--\.==ii===l---'--b=nt,.,====;~,tt--- - - - - - - - - - - I 

t_ ----··----------··----- ----··------i------··--------·---··-- i ~ ____ _::_ __ ::g 
I :=,,,,.i;i,;;;, m;r.r=- Ul!:RGENCY [QTRIBUTl()N EMERr NCYOEMERATOR +IU.TION ::::.= . .. - ..... - ... - - ..... 5WDr I~ 

I ¥.ntrffi. •. .""""'N 1· -, 1· I< 
• i >< , I~ 

-- -r- -- -- -- -- -- T- -- -- - .. . ~ 

~ ~ ~~ 
I~ 
I~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC . 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

. . - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 - P1 
Parking Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

•• oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.102 



w 
~ 
(/) 
w 
<.'.) 
0::: 
0 
w 
<.'.) 

,...: 
(/) 

1.A 

16th ST E. 

,., 

LANE 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

' • u ~-, -. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 • Level 1 
Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

•• oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.103 



1.A 

,.c 

1.0 

1,G 

1.H 

11 

! ----r----
1 

I 

T 
i -----r·----
1 ·------..-•-·-

i i 
·- ·- ·j-·- -- _______ f ______________ ----------
' \~i ! ! ! ! ! 

i : ! ! ! ! I 
L_ __ _ __ -:r---------- --l ·-r·--r·------- -1- ··- ------------

6 ~~ 4 ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ ll"I _ _........ _ ___ •• -- .. -·-

' • u ~-, -f I J I • t W - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 - Level 2 
Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•. oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l'' .. I 

A-2.104 



e 
1.B 

1.C 

,.o 

1.F 

1 0 

1 H 

11 

? ·- ~--? r 
1-· t __ ~-=~] i t··-1·-~ -·1-· -·-·- -··-·i 

---------, --··1-·-· 
: I '~ ~ :;:µ...; I 

·-·-·+-·-·-·I , -Gij,fll~j-f--.jl \ , 
: I 

I 

I 
--•i •-·-·-Jt+-~~t-1-~~ 

I 
I ·-·-·r ·-·-· 
~ t ' 

·----~ -----~ -~M 

_____ I ___ _ 

! 
i 
! 
i 
I 

l-.lfl..-i 
) ! 

,Q i ' t -·-·-·-·-·t-·-·1 
, I , 

' I i 
I ' 
I ' 
I I 

·------ I : 

I I 
.I I': 
0 -1 

------ ~ l: 
I I I , 
I , 
I I 
I , 
I , 

I 
-·-·-i-·-·-

I I 

1 

I 1 __________ J : 

L----··-t··-··-··-1., .. -r-·-r·.l!Ml''YW... .. _.1 ________________ j 

~ ~~ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCH,TECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 0046ll84220 

• It 111n 

I I J 1 • t ill - - -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Bldg 1 · Level 3-6 
Floor Plan 

""' ,r,- • , .... 

l 0 0CP • lt2: R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-2.105 



lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 

t~~Zf~ 

!,.,,! u ~-, 

!-.' ~ :W-:" 

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 • Level 7 
Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l''UI 

A-2.106 



1.A 
----------7 

: I -----r -----
• I 
. I 
I I 
, I -----r -----1o-..,;,,;..-~~--~r.:r1,~r;....~--1l------ I 
1 

i -----i -------tl+--~~.--~· 
I 
I -----r-----

i: 

~ 
I I I , 
I . 
I I I , 

\ 

----------+-----i 

·1 ~ i. i il t ~ iiljiiiiiiiii,.., .. iiiiiiiiilll==.1.______ I 

i 
I 
I 
!i 
f: 

I 
I I 

---------- I 

! i i I 
l ~I ~-=--=!-~--~-f~-~~-~7-~-c='.'!_T~-........ ~ ... -=-- ~ ----------J 
I . . . . 

L__--- --f --- ------ ----i--f ---~---,M ----l-----·-··-··--·-
6 ~ ~ 4 ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
?!.'":-~...:..=:e::.: 

' • u ~-, -f I J I • t W - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 • Level 
8-12 Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t''"4r 

• . oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l'' .. 1 

A-2.107 



u 

,--------

1.A,)-.,-,~--

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 

t~~Zf~ 

!i-' 

...... 

!,.,,! u ~-, 

' ' -

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 • Lower 
Roof Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l''UI 

A-2.108 



I 

I 
I 

I 

1<0 @ @ @ 8 1J_ ... J_ j.,...,.. .. ,.... J_ j 
~ -··-··-··+ ··-··-··-·· .. .. . ·. -··_ .. •·-••---. -----------+---_· . ··------ nm . . ----··-_---- . r . ... .. ·. ..., .. . ---··~ 
I ! I -..·:'11'.\'":'ll!\" i ""i"ln· : ,n· : , ....... ~I"'/"'=" ~ ~ --="' ~=----=:~--=:::'"I--=-"="' I 
f 

\. 
1 

. ==1_ .... ____ .... ;~E-;~;;~----.... -1--1 ~ v:...at "=" v::- ~ ~ v.., .. -;.. r .. --:. ... .... II.. ~ .. -;. . ~ ,~ 

\ 

t,IKHIWATUl 1 .L. ff: ~•T•T~f•T•T•7 :"!'l-: - T .. ~ I I . : ,. ......... t ... r.:-... ····•·····=------·····'····' .............................. - ...................... ~ I ..... I • : 1 --i ~1=,::,:,::1::1 ~.,-i I _,.. _,... I 1 
~ : ' ' -----~------- .,., --- V ,I -- I I 
I . \ ' ' ·, =: ILJr .. TnT"'T"'T"'i;l ..____.__....,____.._____,__..._....._____, '\( 0, ~ ~ I · .___.___, ; I 
I ·T7l1'\. I~ ~ ___ \ i -i .. .,...._ ~ 1 ~ 

: I i ~J:loi, -=·- , \t 13 v1s1TOR \ \ J ! . ~ .__ .__ +-.__ .__ .__ ! 1' !f . ! 
~ ,I, '\(,. V "J I .__ "' I • ·1 

: ! i EA~ ", /\ / [\ I ~~~ I• 11 : 
I P~ R~~I'. ·• 1· ' I 1· ~ • I : .L,....,'sl ::::~==i ~~~~~~~~~ . l~~r==:-r==--,=1-.tj:,_, l•II 1

. !ii ~ .. ,,.;:;, - ~m,. • ..,,1.. 7 - - - - --:- -:~imt··<• ·.·,,.<.·.··1 · ~ 7 ~:"" ~::- -:.:- -:.:- 11,1 ·1 "", :I ~ , lil~tfT~.'dl.,.,u+JIL ~ ~ /".# _,_l ___ -t-1-- '\. , ii . f r, ..... l _ '"""°"'roo. ·- ·-· -·- ---~·-· -·-. -t- ··1,',~,-~- -~~ ~t -·-~·-· -·-·-· ' ij •! 1' ·---·~ -·-·-4

4
,ir t@ 

:c ~ ·, o,, ~(.&1lf;;;;~'=l=f°F~-~~~~~o,~'...Jl~-+--~---t---@•E==3t~ ' . . ' _Ul. ~- . -- -·-- ---- -·....J ------·--·-·_____!•. t@ ,-r r~~:~~~-~~~~r1~~~-=-~1 ~-=-~: 1 // ::: 1 
! .......................... -::-:::-:.::::-::!.--. ----. --. --. 0- ' !. ............ f-·--·-·----u----·1 I ! 11 :, ,, .I! 

~ , _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ •·- ~..... 67 RESIDEN~ - ~~ • • • ,,. - +·~ --
1 

ii : .... 1 ........................... 
1 
_T __ ,,:...-_ v ---~ :• ,, 

1 I I ~~ I .._.- .-- • 

I ----~-' I ~-..,I-->- ~ 1=--; I . : 

I~ -~ Al!~ ~ ~ ~JfflN. Rf~ ~ ~ :~ IIO~ .......! l llllrl(lltl#. I A~ ,.,. I IIOeEN'™l ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~llr\N.. IIOC(MP.lJ. ?' ,I} I 
: : ;_-- .... ... ·- •• ... ·- •• ·- ... ... ;." j 7 ~~ " i "'.:: .. ! ;_-- .... ... "f. ·- -;_-- ~ , : 
I I. -·· ~I : 1 1· % .. _.,..,OAAOI I 
f ----------- I i 16 ~,.. !~~ i i ~ i 

-·-·-·-·-·-·-·-·-·-·- ·-·-·-·-·L:~·-·- I I kv 
-.,·-! ~ i i

1 I ii ;,;,~!!H-t-Hµ :< I I: 
., .. ' ....... ---··-··-··-----·--i··-··-··------------~ 

I I 

~ ~ ~ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ .... -_........ ... _ .. -- .. -·-

. . - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 • P1 
Parking Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

t -OCP. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.200 



16th STE. 

• .u:-- f-----tt----, ..... t-----,11----1 .. ~ • 

LANE 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

... ... 
E16th Street 

Mezzanine 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.201 



16th STE. 

LANE 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 

t::"':\""w ,ntegra- a,ch.com 
~ ~i::n:,r-e- 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 

~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

- -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 • Level 2 
Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

•• oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.202 



i •• 
i 

1·-
1 

I 

i 

Ii 
~ 
I 
I 

I 

i 
i i I 

---------------------------r-·-·r·-------------- - \ 

i u ______________________________________________________ J _ --
i ! ! ! ! ! 
: ! ! ! ! ! _J·-··-1·-··-··-··--r-··r-··-··--·-··-··-··-··-----------1-··--r-··-··-·· 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 

t::"':\""w ,ntegra- a,ch.com 
~ ~i::n:,r-e- 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 

~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

- -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 • Level 3 
Floor Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-2.203 



i ., ... 
i 

1·-
1 

I 
I 

~ 

2.1 2 2 2.3 2.6 2 7 28 

I 
-·-t~.' ~iF~'-~ 

! i I ---------------------------,--r----------------~-

i i 
i i 
i i 
i i 
i i 

Ii I i i 

l1---------r 1-----------------------------1---1------ j -- . . .. 
.J·-··- j-- ··- ··- ··-t··t-··- ··-··--------·-··--·-··-··- ·i-··-t··-··-·· ··-··-··7 ··- ··-··- ··- 1r -·~---··- ··-r-··-··..J 

~ ~~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 

~ w>N lr1e,gr1H1rch com 
~-;pro, oo• 6ll8 ,no 

... -... ~ ~ _,._,.,.. ·-· ........ , ... ,,.-~, ··--____ .... .__ .. ~ .. -·· - ......... - ..... , ·• -
N 

J 1 . . .. - -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Bldg 2 • Level 4 
Floor Plan 

""' ,r,~ • , .... 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-2.204 



i ., ... I 

i 
1·-

1 

I 
I 

~ 

-·-t. 
! . I 
I I . . . I ------·-----·-------------·,·-r -·-·-·-·-·-·-·-·~-

i i 
i i 
i i 
i i 
i i 

Ii I i i 
Ii i i i Li---------1--1-----------------------------r---r------- J -- · · 

_J _____ j'- ··- ··- ··-t··t-··- ··-··--·-··-··--·--·-··-··- ·i-··-t··-··-·· ··------7 --- ·--·-- --- 1r ··~---··- ··-r-··-··..J 

~ ~~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 

~ w>N lr1e,gr1H1rch com 

~ ·"""" oo• 6ll8 ,no ... -... ~ ~ _,._,.,.. ·-· ........ , ... ,,.-~, ··--____ .... .__ .. ~ .. -·· - ......... - ..... , ·• -
N 

. .. - -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Bldg 2 • Level 5 
Floor Plan 

""' ,r,~ • , .... 

t 0 0CP • lt2: R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-2.205 



i ., ... I 

i 
1·-

1 

I 
I 

~ 

-·-t. 
! . I 
I I . . . I ------·-----·-------------·,·-r -·-·-·-·-·-·-·-·~-

i i 
i i 
i i 
i i 
i i 

Ii I i i 
Ii i i i !l==aaaaiLll!aaa!!.=~ • Li---------1--1-----------------------------r---r------- J -- · "'--=-~~w:-. 

.J·--·- j'- ··- ··- ··-t··t-··- ··-··--·-··-··--·--·-··-··- ·i-··-t··-··-·· ··--·-··7 --- ··-··- ··- 1r ··~---··- ··-r-··-··..J 

~ ~~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11', BC, 'V6C 1$11 

~ w>N lr1e,gr1H1rch com 

~ ·"""" oo• 6ll8 ,no ... -... ~ ~ _,._,.,.. ·-· ........ , ... ,,.-~, ··--___ _ .... .__ .. ~ .. -·· - ......... - ..... , ·• -
N 

. .. - -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Bldg 2 • Level 6 
Floor Plan 

""' ,r,~ • , .... 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-2.206 



lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 

t::"':\""w ,ntegra- a,ch.com 
~ ~i::n:,r-e- 604 688 4220 

::-::=--==:--.. -::~ :_n:_~-•-

• u ~-, 

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 - Level 7 
Floor Plan / Lower 
Roof Plan 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

OC.OW),2025 ,., .. , 
t . oc, • RZ R-.,bmluio#l 

A-2.207 



FU1'UR< 
0£VELOPMENT 

71-250 15th St E 

..... 

I 

~ 

I 
i 
i 

-- _____ -----______ ----______ ------ _____ ----_____ L068v em ___ -----_____ ------_____ ------____ -----

0.-..:i,.,,ora'l..,h • .,~ ... Je~v~a~ti~o_n_-_E_16_t_h_S_t __ _ 

$T, GeOROU AVE 

I 

t----~'ffi'ii=-t-----;_ ----------- i 

"" 

0 ..... L ... ou ... ,l~~ ... ~~le_v_at_io_n_-_L_an_e ___ _ 

I 
I 

i 

PARMOE 

~ 
I <$ <ip $(if) 

i 
~· 

1 

I! 

COURTYARD 

~ 

J __ 

L088V 

I 
!j ! 

~ !, I 

~.,_ 
. l!IV,,,o- --

! 
~ ; 
Ii' 

f 

ST. GE:ORGtSAVE 

fUTURI!! D!VELOPMl!!NT 

76-2501:khSt 

~ 

~ 
i 
i 
i lntegra 

ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

f J • 11111 - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Overall - Site 
Elevation 

,.,., 
1J1t·• t'-4r 

• . oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l'' .. I 

A-4.000 



141.61 ..,,.... 

aw.--~ I 
I 

:i~~, .... ~ ! 

----:iM-,_.+l 
i ----:~m+t 

----w~l 
i ----~ t 

----~ t 
i 

----~ I r 
----~~i 

i 
----~ · 

l 
---- ~ ~ 

----- j 
- - __ 1(11.1)1 

r_ -rr fV T f 
~ w 

Iii 
w 

"' .. 
II fR 

"' ,:: 

~ 

.. ,, ...... -­

.. ,1- - -.01----­.. ,, __ --
::1::. ~·-
.,, .. _ .... --­
.,1--~~ - -
01--..,. --.. ,, .. _ .... --

W txhlhlltJiitli """'_..,. __ 
e.,t - -­

· •on BIJU ... hbl 

-----
.,1 .. - .... 
•ti- -
•11 .. - .... ---
••I- ---

. 4 ... _..,. .. _ 

. ,i .. _ .... 

••- ------
: 
: 
: 

: 

-­:;-·--,.,., .... _ 
-----
::..-•--

:: ---

---------

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 

t~~Zf~ 

...... 

.. -

E16th Street 

r··-··7·· Bldg 1. East 

! 8-• <i C ~~~ l! =::'-------:2vat---,-ion~•··•_•"" . : ! ,,.. . 0'4" ....... 

l_ _____ j_ ____________ ~ ::'°a::::_ ... ~::::: 
A-4.100 



-----(-~- I 

! 
a~ .... 4' I· 

- - - - -::1:..~-
I 

-----t~-

- - - - -:ll,b 4' ! 
I 

---- 111111.- 4' i. 
-----#".-'}'~-

I 
117.02 "' : ""'™ 1 · 

-----ilt~-

I 
-----w~-

-----~ -

I 
-----~~-

I 
_,..,l• L.ca 

LOBBY 

i 
1.G 

~ 
u ti 

--t---+--+< ~ I 
I 

---- t-------
1 

----- :- -------

1 

,----- r -------

1 --------------
1 

.----- r-------
__ __ J ______ _ 

I 
----- , -------
----- ~-------

I 
1----- r -------

----- L-----­
I 

. -----r-------
____ J ______ _ 

I 
r-------

L .. _ --

.. ,, ...... ... ,_ --.01----­.. ,, __ 
-, .. _,_ 
.,, .. _ .... --­.,,--~~ --
01--..,. --.. ,, .. _ .... --

W txhlhlltJiitli ""'"_..,. __ ··-· •onBIJU ... hbl ·•-•it- -•---. -~- -·-­·•-
.. ,, .. _.,, --­u, .. _ ... --
.,, .. _..,. 
ttl­
•il,._"'7 
••I-

••"'- .... .. _ -..... _..,. 
••- ---

--_. __ ,.,.. .... _ 

:: 

: 

: -----
: 

,
8
----7 r-71 

• , ·-· ,~ui 
l_ _____ j_ ____________ ~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC . 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· ~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 - West 
Elevation 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

• • oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l''UI 

A-4.101 



~: 
ii 
Ill 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

;~ -----------------------------------... 
COURTYARD EXITS 

~ 
f: 
I 

~-------i------
1 ' 

___ ____ !_ __ __ _ 

! ------1------

------'- -----
! 

------1------

------!------
! 

- - - - - -,-- - - - -

------!------
! -- ----i- -----

------!------
i 

- HJ ' 

! 
------!- -----

! T-----
i 

.. ,, ...... ... ,_ .01----­.. ,, __ 
-, .. _,_ 
.,, .. _ .... --­.,,--~~ --
01--..,. --.. ,, .. _ .... --

W txhlhlltJiitli ""'"_..,. __ ··-· •onBIJU ... hbl 

•1' - -·--·-.,-··-·•-
.,, .. _..,. 
ttl­
•il,._"'7 
••I-

. 4 ... _..,. .. _ -..... _..,. 
••-

--_. __ ,.,.. .... _ 

:: 

: 

: 

: 

'3¥7g , 1 i owo, i i 
l ______ j_ __________ j 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 - North 
Elevation 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

•• oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-4.102 



~ 
Cl) 
w 

~ 
w 

" Iii 

LOBBY 

I 
I ----------+---------
1 
I 
I 

------------ i ---------

GARBAGE 
STAGING 

1 
I 
I 
I 

.. ,, ...... ... ,_ .01----­.. ,, __ 
-, .. _,_ 
.,, .. _ .... --­.,,--~~ --
01--..,. --.. ,, .. _ .... --

W txhlhlltJiitli ""'"_..,. __ ··-· •onBIJU ... hbl 

•1' - -·--·-.,-··-·•-
.,, .. _..,. 
ttl­
•il,._"'7 
••I-

. 4 ... _..,. .. _ -..... _..,. 
••-

--_. __ ,.,.. .... _ 

:: 

: 

: 

: 

'87~ ., 1 ' ' ' I BU>O' I I 
l_ _____ j_ __________ j 

A 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 - South 
Elevation 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

•• oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-4.103 



w z 
s 

I 

~ 
Fi 

IV~- ~ 

~~~ ~ 
I 

~ ! ~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ w R z ... ' s ~ ~ 

liW~ 

~,eooM'-

1\W~ 

EXIT 

t---..~~~~~r-~~~~Je~v~a~tio~n-'---B=ui~ld~in~g~2c..... __ -----------------------------

!; 
w 
I-

"' :,: 
,, 
I 

-- r--------
1 

~ 

=-=-~v.2- - - - - • 
- u 

-- i- --------

_J _______ _ 
I 

l_ ______ _ 

I 

East Elevation - Building 2 
ii!R.l.uf. I'# 

.. ,1 .. 
nl••­
ul .,. 
'-•1-­
ul-
1.11-.... - -.. 1-.--.. -ul-
.u1-

••I.__,~ --­
•11-.-u --­
"I•-" ---

W , X.,.,,.11,&uilih 

~•1 - ·-- ­u1-

•• -.,-·•­·•-

011 -
0,1-
.. 1-
.. 1-

= 

-w 

--·----

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
?!.'":-~...:..::-=.: 

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 - East & 
North Elevations 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t '-4r 

• • oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l'' .. 1 

A-4.200 



.. 
:;; 
:c 

= 
E 
I 
! -r-

-+-
I 

I 

- t -

-\; 

l 
Ill. --~-t"" 

~ 

.-. ~:-• . 

1111 

1•••··· 1111 ...... 
1111 1••---
1111 1-•-----1 

I I I OINQ2 0 I 

Iii II i II II II 
·- 1••-• 1 ·---,r•' 
!! :l~u1

1 
! Ill i17il 

• Ill :••· . _.,.=;, ., 
i II II 'I 

AMENITY 

I .. s 

--- r--------
__ J _______ _ 

~; i __ t _______ _ 

---~ --------

1 

--t --------
_L _______ _ 

.. ,1 .. 
nl••­
ul .,. 
'-•1-­
ul-
1.11-.... - -.. 1-.--.. -ul-
.u1-

,,1 .. -•~ --­
•11-.-u --­
"I--" ---

W ,X.,.,,.11 , &uilih 

~•1- ·--­u1-

••-.,-·•­·•-

011-
0,1-
.. 1-
.. 1-

= 

-w 

--·----

0 ~ i);J~ng 2 - South Elevation 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ ll"I _ _........ _ ___ •• __ .. _,_ 

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 • West & 
South Elevations 

1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-4.201 



! 

I 
I ' 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

-
i ~ <',!) I\.') ~ €?\\.'l €)l 

i 
,_ 

iffli -------------------------------- t 1---------+----+-+ -· a· i 15 ' --+ rT / 

' -· -· i a· T I ~D "f a- i5 a· ti' ' "r f--···-i--+ -· i a· T I "f a- I a· -· ---1 ---.J..+ "r nn ti' ... ,.., 
~ ! --

*~ 
-· i ~- i5 rn -r, ~- i5 ~- tl' -· 
-· -· , .. 

i i a· T I ;-• "f a- I a· i IT 
-· I g I 

•--
i; (i" ij m ju ij <i i5 (i" IT -· 

•·· 
I -- I- - - 1 --1--T--13i l (i i5 r I IKI) -· _,_ 
,-

:I II I q I II :. I · ___ _J ! --+-- ----- ---- IJ -t -]_ ___ -!§; 

! 
i 
i 

l - --·-

L .. 
- ----

- ----

- ----
---

~ --- : 

-
1 r 

.. ----.... . . ----.. 
I ·--------· 

Fi -. ------ I 

------- ' r·-
------- ' r·-

Fi 
-

. ------ I 

ll 
. 

··--··· I 

ll . ··----· ' 

··----· ' r·· 
FJ 

. 
..••••. I 

------- I Fi 

I ~ 

I ~--
" f" 

; ,!, 
-- ----I =M . ------- I I .:.=; 

I 

ir ~ 
,i i ··--------l--

[ 11 ~ ----

[ 11 ~ -- --

[ 11 ~ ----
r 11 ~ ----

r, 1 ~ .. --
[ 1 ~ ----
r, 11 ~ ----
[ l"K ~ ----
r 11 ~ ----

[ 11 ~ ----
[ i" - --

r lq RI :1,i~ 

I 
I 

I 

I 
i 

I 

H--

1·-·::: 
s +-M--
! ....... ---_......,._ 
i , ......... ~--i t~--~-i ,-
i_ 

--

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

• t 11 U lOI J!:1'1 - -. .. - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

Overall - Section 1··-··7---··-·.;-··-··1 WE 

v i I 
1

v 20,.2 ........ . . 0 ' c= ..... ~ ' ~ 
Bl.DO I 1J1t" • t '-4r , ..... , 

: : : OCMW),2025 •••••i 
l_ _____ j_ ____________ ~ t -OCP •AZR- bmluloli""" 

A-5.000 



@) I I COURTYARD ~ ~ (tp_ l.2 = - 1, 

~ ~hr:= -----------1./"----r--- ____ cl I 1,-, 
I i ---------- · - j i j ----

: I · ------;-- Hr·· i ~ -~ R1 ----
1 I ------- r · i r, T: R1 ----

11 I, - ; lit .. i r, -~~ R1 
I'::" if' 

I i --- --- r 1; " 
I 

II ___ I I I'::" ""V"./'" f71 ---- ij -.. . t; "'- Ki -r----i i I ~ -K R1 
_l ____ i ----- ; r- . , ~ 

! i - --- - ~ >·· i ~ -K Kl -, ---- I _ I 
L ---- I ------ I ij -.. i ~ 

' 

! 

ST. GEORGES AVE 

I 

-~~~~ 

-'-~--i~-.-
1 

-i-<H~ 
-! -~ a1in ..... 
I 
' ,I. • -1 'I' li!d, ..... 

-! ~m.,.:.-
I -,~-

-!~,.'tb., 

I 
-i 4--Wkoo. 

! I 
! i ------ - t. ·•· i r, K 
r---- 1 - ~ ; -·· i r, K ---- L-,~ 

-!+-<~ 
I 

~ :_ I - ~ r · 1 ~ 1~" 
T I ------ !.... , J171 h I 

"~ -t mr ,! r, - k l l~I ''""'' '. !+--

I _: ~ 

! 

~L=1J-~-~-J-~l~-~·-;1J~+-I tr==···=-=·· -11·1 : m I 

: ... II _ i __ __ . -

1

.: 

T ,. lT ·1 I ,. , nm-, - -I =j\ .I - T -

------ ·-1 

fl-- ·1[__ .;.~L Ji 
! : 

l ]_ ____________ ~ ------

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 ~vsc$~ 
VancO::~gra-· a,ch.com 
WWW· . 6()4 688 4220 

Telei:tione ---::-,: 

t~~E-::.: 

• , !,.,,! u ~-, 

!-.' ~ :W-:" 

...... 

E16th Street 

BLDG 1 • Section 
WE 

A-5.100 



E 16THAVE I LANE 

I "' :;,1~~--

I 
-l~"R<XSF--

1 

1;11u, 
mtl't'OOR- -

L ~ "'·"' i1~- -

r ~ 
111,H 
iiiMA.OOit -

I 

I 
~ i2l.:W 

r 
t1Wl"'COOR--

~ 123.tll 
lltn1:0CMII--

~ 120.0I t - fiR"'F'CTJ(JR- -

i 
I 
I 
I 
+- ~ 117.0Z 

ffMFl.""OOR- -

i 
I 
I 
I 
+- ~ nu, -
I 

SIM •LO<Ht 

I 
I 
+-
I ~ UU7 mm:ooll- -

I 

~ 107.IO 
JROFCOOR- -

- ~ - -
I 
I 101.01 

,rn7-~. 1 . . . 
I .. · I I 
L.-:r ___ j_ __________ j 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ ... -_........ ... _ .. -- .. -·-

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

BLDG 1 - Section 
NS 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-5.102 



-~w+--+ -
I ~y+ 

--~ 

I I I 
----------------------------------t-+----------1~--

i i i 

t--

t--

J- - -

~ lntegra I ARCHITECTURE INC . 

.,._ 2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
! \1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 

I 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• 

I --"-·-
I 

-t -J w - -

I 
-r 
) 
I 
-r 
_[ 

I 
-1 

f 

f 

...... 

E16th Street 

~~S~Sl.,_._. 
Ncwlh....__. ec 

'EJ7
E ·~tr · V · · V I ..... I I 

L_ ____ j_ __________ j 

BLDG 2 • Section 
WE 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•. oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-5.200 



~ 
~: 
~ 

LANE I 

----M.~--

- - --~ -
COWER1 

- - --~ -

----r.w=#-
I 

----mt~-

----~ - I 

I 

'l' 

6 
I 

~ ~ i 

i! 

<ff> <i;> 

......,., I .. _,., ..... 

i 

~ 

~ 

~ 
~ 
~: 
m 

I 
I I 

I 
E 16TH AVE 

<if> ~ I , I 
I 

i I 
I 

--1-
I 
I _J L_ 

I 

--1-

--!-
I 

--i-
- _j_ 

I 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
?!.'":-~...:..::-=.: 

. ' - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

BLDG 2 • Section 
NS 1 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

• • oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l'' .. 1 

A-5.201 



I i 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I , , , , , , 

. I ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ---~ -7-------------------t------i- ------t---i--t-----------t~ ----· 

. I ' ' . ' ' ' ' I 
__ -,.¥· _ J __________________ _ I I I 1 _ -I 

RROOf I 
I 

. I I 
-- -*~-7----------------t+-11-W ..... j,,,,,,,,i,1~-:'"'11--,+t,*1 ........ -c-++--+t--1=1:±=11- --i 

• I ---+4-i----------------. 1)1,1,1,1 .......... ~ ,""!~r-4,,t-,ilM,,l ..... lljio,,il-0--i,,11-.. i-.-~ - --: 

---~ - 7----------------~jli,l,l~~-+-~~ ...... ""+""illi+--++ ........ ---4::J:_;;J 
: I Oh lr~H I 

---~M-~ ----------------~-~~~l~l~!!Qt-,~~~~~~===tt: --i 
i I I • I I ---~r-4-i---------------- ~~=:::l=~::::!i:=~F!:::::j!:~~===:~===:~ - -· 
i I ll~lr-,t.l I 

----:}r~- ~-- ----------
i .._., i 

________________ 1_•-=_j __ _ 

E 16TH AVE 

--------- ··1 
9LD02 : 

I 
-----------~ 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

.. - - -

...... 

E16th Street 

BLDG 2 - Section 
NS2 

,.,., 
1.11"' • t'-4r 

•• oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-5.202 



..... METAL PANEL· 
iilll UGHT GREY 

...:I METAL PANEL · 
liiil CHARCOAL 

f!a:I METAL PANEL~ 
lllil ORANGE I BROWN 

f!al BRICK VENEER • 
llilil llGHTGREY 

... C.I.P. ARCHrTECTURAL 
~ CON<:RETE • GREY 

B.1 

A.1 

A.2 

A.J 

H.2 

D.3 

H.1 

G.2 

G.1 

F.3 

F.4 

F.1 

G.3 

~-1"""-
... 1- .... -
:1::::.- ::.:::. 
•lh 
•I~ 

:1:=:: 
-..1 ... - .. , .. , .. _ ... 

• ''""""raemn 
. ,1 ... - .. , --­.,,,-
::1::: 
·i-

,.,1 .. - .... 

::1:-_., 
.. 1-

•-f'"'-"' ··-•-'! .. _,,, 
•• - : 

19! MASS TIMBER· 
llllill WOOD 

,..,_ . --

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 00461l84220 -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Bldg 1 • Material 
Board 

""' 
Otto1M!'320H 

t 0 0CP • lt2:R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-8.000 



ml CEMENTITIOIUS LAP 
&Ill S IDING • GREY 

~ CEMENTrTIOUS LAP 
liil SIDING • DARK GREY 

~ CEMENTITIOUS PANEL 
iiiiil BOARD • BLUE 

ml CEMENffllOUS PANEL 
iilil BOARD • DARK GREY 

Z.6 

Z.9 

U.3 
T.2 

Z.8 

!B CEMENTrTIOUS PANEL 
iiliil BOARD · WHITE 

~ BRICK VENEER· iilil DARKGREV 
n!I CEMENTITIOUS LAP ~ C.l ,P. ARCHITECTURAL ~ MASS TIMBER • lill SIDING· ORANGE/BROWN iilil CONCRETE· GREY ~ WOOD 

2,2 

Y.2 
Y.1 

Z.7 

W.1 

W.2 
U.1 

W.4 

Z.4 

Y.3 
U.2 

...-,-,;:.nor- T,3 

Z .3 

Z .5 

,,, ... ,., ...... 
111-
1.•I -•• ,.,_ 
1.41-•• --
u l _,.,_ --­.. , ... ,.,_ 
.. , .. ~,. .,,.,._,.,. ", ... __,.,. 
.. ,,_ 
iul - - --

·•­·•­•--1•• 
••-

.. ,,_ ... ,_ 

... ,_ --
.,, .. __,,. 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2330,200 G-6fl'Jlle Street 
Varw;:w'-{11'. BC, 'V6C 1$11 
WW'N lrlE!'QrlHlfCh com 
T- 00461l84220 -------· .......... ,._ .. ___ _ -----.. ~ ... --. - ......... - ·-. -

....... 

E16lh Strecrt 

Bldg 2 • Material 
Board 

""' 
Otto1M!'320H 

t 0 0CP • lt2: R"'-'llffll..iiJ:''""1 

A-8.100 



March 21st@ 10:00 March 21st@ 12:00 March 21st@ 14:00 

w 

June 21st@ 10:00 June 21st@ 12:00 June 21st@ 14:00 

December 21st @ 10:00 December 21st@ 12:00 December 21st@ 14:00 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

...... 

E16th Street 

Shadow Study 

,.,., 

• . oc, . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1
' .. 1 

A-8.200 



WESTS TE 
1,549.39 m2 

I 
~'Jq::===="====~ -----j 

! 
I ~=.r ' u_. ____ __ _ _____ _.. .. _________ ,--1.. 

~~-~~vel 1 Floor Plan 

r··-··- ··-··-·-··--·-··--·, 

l---··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··....l. 

G)c...,.,~..,s .,,,,~.~L.,,: ~ve_l_3_-_1_2_F_l_oo_r_P_la_n __ _ 

r··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··, 

l.·-··- -·-··-··-··-··-·· ___ ....l. 

0- ~~ ~~.vel 2 Floor Plan 

r··-··-··-··-·-··-··-··- ··: 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

! 

I 
i 
I 

l ______________ _,._ _______ ___ ....l. 

0-~"'Sco~~-L~~~.w_e_r_R_o_o_f_P_la_n __ _ 

FSR AREAS INCLUDED 

~ RESIDENTIAL UNITS 

FSR AREAS EXCLUDED 

~ACTIVEOESIGN 

~~ ~PTMIUi OE.SIGH 

e=J ~&SER\IICES 

(EIIOPt:,.&,t,LCOKV,l;OfCI< 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 1 - FSR 
Overlays 

,.,., 
1J1t·• t'-4r 

• • oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-9.000 



T---··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··----------··-·----··-·· - .. _--~ 

.,.. ·--

-----7 
I 

= I 

I 
811Ct:$'10ft. I 
... I 

811CUTOll J ••• I 

I I "'"!~~ 

i I i~~:.~•1!, ~!'.~ ~:~ 
! I ------------------------------,i-:J, -----------

_i_ ______ __ _ __ _ ___________ _ _____ I __ ":!'." ··--·-··-·--·---·---

0-~ .. s"'~ .. "'~"'7"":~e_l ~1 ~F~lo~o~r_P_la~n~--

T··-·------------------------·-··-··-·-·-----------··-··1 

J_··-··--·--·-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··--~---·-·-J 

0-~ .. s"~"'~"7"":~e_l ~3_F_lo~o~r_P_la~n __ _ 

T -------------·-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··---- ~ -----1 

STAii" I 
I 
i 

~~::1== .. - ! 
J_·--·--··--·-·--··-··-··--·-··-··-··-··-··-··~----··-··j 

@ ~~.~7,vet 2 Floor Plan 

T··--------------------------·-··-··-·- ·--------··-··-··1 

1 l _____________________________ _ 
J_··-·---------·-··-··--·--·-··-··-··-··-··-··-··--··-··-··J 

0.__~ .. s-~-.~-~--'ic-'e_l _4_F_loo~ r_P_la~n __ _ 

FSR AREAS INCLUDED 

~ RESIDENTIAL UNITS 

FSR AREAS EXCLUDED 

~ACTIVEOESIGN 

~~ ~PTMIUi OE.SIGH 

e=J ~&SER\IICES 

(EIIOPt:,.&,t,LCOKV,l;OfCI< 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC_ 

2M·200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

Bldg 2 • FSR 
Overlays 

,.,., 
1J1t ~ • t'-4r 

• . oc,. RZ lt....,bmluio#l1
' .. 1 

A-9.100 



T---··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··----------·-··-··-··-··-··-··1 

I 
I 

I 
I _____________________________ _ 

J_ ______ __ _ __ _ ___________ _ _____ _ _________________ ,..!!::!DI:;!., ______ _ 

0-~ .. s ... ~ .. Pi~'-ii7v,,-v~el~S~F~l~oo=r_P_l~an~--

.L.·-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-~---·- ·-J 

0-~"'S"~"'~"7"":~e_l _7~/ _L~o_w~e_r _R~o~of_P~la_n __ _ 

r 

I I 
I 

I i 
I 

, I ------------------------------•• J"""'t:~='!:'$.EWQI"""'=!=-=--"~ ! 
j_··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-~---·-··j 

@ ~~-~7,vet 6 Floor Plan 

FSR AREAS INCLUDED 

~ RESIDENTIAL UNITS 

FSR AREAS EXCLUDED 

~ACTIVEOESIGN 

~~ ~PTMIUi OE.SIGH 

e=J ~&SER\IICES 

(EIIOPt:,.&,t,LCOKV,l;OfCI< 

lntegra 
ARCHITECTURE INC. 

2M-200 Gtan'Y1 $ieet 
\1¥lcwvar. BC. VSC 154 
www.lntegra-a,ch.com 
Telei:tione· 604 688 4220 -------· _ ,...._ __ ... ___ _ 
~ll"I _ _........ ____ •• -- .. -·-

...... 

E16th Street 

Bldg 2 • FSR 
Overlays 

,.,., 
1J1t"• t'-4r 

t -OCP . RZ lt....,bmluio#l1 ' .. 1 

A-9.101 



16TH STE. 

T -"--··-··--"---"--"----,-··---------------------,----------------1-··--··------------.. -- .. , 
'I I I i I 
I 

I I I I 

I 
I I I I 
I I I 
I I I 

I
I I i 

I I 
I l I 
I I I 

P+A 
~~ ,.,."-"""""' !M-... 111, • ......,. ......,_1(.,,,1 .... 

1tot1••11, 
+1011,N.i1t ---

ltt hWfdf(lfO(,~t 
S AU 1C'QSIIIMIJ 

ttffl!UedforO::, ~ t .. ,~ ~~ 

J ls!II.HdfofAMSutrnllllon 101411\/ll 
) k~lof0CPM•fld""""1tll:2'.2C);'~ 
1 k""'fd frorO, )(lill(MIU 

Adara 

Et&thStrNt 
1540 St. c.-ges Ave., 

215-~35 E 11th St. 
North Vaneouwr, IC 

........ , ... 

,.._.,. 
........ 

"' 
1:)00 

LO.O 

Attachment 3



1 1 

Undersized 
::.(7570 

7569: 

~ ::.( 3400 

U nderslzed ~ ::.( 3399 

LEGEtfO 

OlffCMIM)Ol'lCtC 

-0- Titll "'-OTt('Q)h lONl ANO ll!ON'J 

• WMYlOTltllt:>NltlT.-JN(O 

0 ~i.i'{~~v~OlifOIE ltITAIH(O 

X TitlltON •cMCVro 

~-•llf-.dlll~flllfl 
NtMK'--'~CMl~_.,._..""'°'t .... ~ 
1 .,_ • ..,._..,OIIPO!tb- --~•"' ,--i_,...,.,....-,in.un 

r::::=0~1,-,.-~ 
!:_IIP'l(-01V'1'1t,-IOU lM'dlc•"-'lf 

.,... • ... , ll 
. --------- LI '----------+---.. ' .. ' ' ' -··-·- .. - .. -·-·-y-··- - _ .. _.,_ - .. - -·-·-··- - .. - .. _ - .. - - -··-··-· -··-··,-.. - ----- _ .. _._._ .. _ .. ____ .. _._ .. , ·- _ .. _ .. _, ________ ,_ .. __ .. _ -1- .. _ .. _ .. _ .. _ .. ___ .. __ .. _ .. _ -

I I I I 
I I I I 
I ! I I 

I 
i l l 
I I I 

I I I I 

I I I l 
! i I 

' ' 

,.,."-"""""' 111, • ......,. ......,_1(.,,,1 .... 
1tot1••11, 
+1011,N.i1t ---

ltthWfdf(lfO(,~t 
S AU 1C'QSIIIMIJ 

ltffl!UedforO::, ~ t .. ,~ ~~ 

J ls!II.HdfofAMSutrnllllon 101411\/ll 
) k~lof0CPM•fld""""1tll:2'.2C);'~ 
1 k ""'fd fofO, )(lill(MIU 

Adara 

Et&thStrNt 
1540 St. c.-ges Ave., 

215-~35 E 11th St. 
North Vaneouwr, IC 

........ , ... 
Tree Management 

Plan 

,.._.,. 
........ 

"' 
1:)00 

L0.1 



I lllk'l:;;;;a=~--------------------------r-------------- -·--·- ---·- -·- ·--·,-·-----------·--·-,----------------,-------------- --7 
I I I ! 
I I . 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
i 
I 
I 
I 

P+A 
=::...- =--~: 

TIIOOJJll&tll -

Rtl1wN!forOC,~1 
5 IIU 2Q2S,IQIO) 

Rl'itlutdforOCP.-,,._ch«l1 
<I I U MHIOI~ 
l UJldforADPSubmmlOfl 2024/lllll 
l '"'-"dfQl'OCPA_..i.._,.,,1'Zl02~ 
I hutdforO, 2(121JO,Vt) 

E18thS1Net 
1540 St. c;_. Ave., 

215-235 E 18th St. 
North y.....,.._,., BC 

Landscape 
Offsite Plan 

L0.2 



K£Y U GlNDl 

9 ~<-=:,..,,, ~~= .... = .,., ............ 
@ ~si.- @-·--- ~~°:9' 
@ =~'- ~--- 1o~,~•a-t 
@ ::::;:z.-s.,._,,, ~--=: ... ~4 ~-""""' 
@ @~~~ ~,......,.. .... 
@ 

_,..,._ 
'2i)-.--ci.,· rl,••-.O. 

@ &-- ~-- @yuott~NO 

@ '--_..,.,,..,. @- ~s--000.c-. 

@ ·--.._w• ~,,,_....., ~ ....... 

16TH STE. lJ 

-----r--------------------------·-----,-··-----------··--··-··--·1 I , 

I ! 
' I 
I I 

! i 

@ ........ 

@..,,_ 
Qj) , ... 

7 
! 
I 
I 
I 
! 

P+A --­......... 

,~•oroc,~, 202s,,QIO) 

<I ;~for OCP,_,,._ctMri, MHIOI~ 

l UHdforADPSubmmlOfl 2024/lllll 
l '"'-"dfQl'OCPA_..i.._,.,,1'Zl02~ 
I hutdforO, 2(121JO,Vt) 

E18thS1Net 
1540 St. c;_. Ave., 

215-235 E 18th St. 
North y.....,.._,., BC 

Or#M'lf,lllt: 

landscape Key Plan 
• Ground level 

--CD 

L1 .0 



11:l'V UGCIID. 

@ Cl'<-I0'-"9 -- @~= .... = 
@ ~_...,SI,_ ·- ® ""' .. UN 

@ ~~,--- @-•-
'9 ::=:::..-*lltdt<lt @--= ... ~~ 
@ @ ~"=~ ·-@ -y·- (l;p-.--o.. 

@ ·-- @--
@ c-.-... w .. @-
le) =:...-: .. @ '-s-a;,,, 

16TH STE. 

-----,---------------·---------·.,--·-

@~s.-. 

f,=.iO:V 
@ _..., ..... a.. 

ii,--"'" 
,&,.. ..... * .. 
~ .... ._. 
'1,1-NO 
@ s..,..oooc-. 

fv- .... ..,,,. 

"' """"' 
@ "'r•......-

® ··-

I 
i 

---------,------------i----·-- --------, 
I I ! 
I I ! 
! ! ! 

P+A -­... _ -.•-"-
1'JIM_...., 
-KWll'lt 

,tooo,,.•11• ,..,nu,,. -

lebluedforotf'-~1 
S llll 2<12Sll!)()J 
•~•oroc,~, , ,u: ~~ 

l luutdfotADPSobn;.so,, 2(124111121 
2 1uued ro, oc, AIMN!mffllt' RZ 202~ 
I ls.SI.Hdb-OP 2<RlJOollll 

E18th StrNt 
1540 St. CieMt1N Ave., 

215-235 E 18th St. 
North v._, BC 

l>tM'ltflllt! 

landscape Key Plan 
- Rooftop 

--CD 

L 1.1 



16TH STE. 

" . -~ 

u::i.-r--·---n--n-----n-•-----------~-----y---------··-··-----·--------··--··---------, -- --------.. --,------·------,---~-----.. -------1--··-------·------··--
I I I I 

I I I I 
I I I 

I ! ! 

.. -~ 
• 
/. * ="';:"-•' 

,;./ ® Eiw:.-
/ @=·-,;. 

~ - "-""" 

P+A ~- ~~:. 
••OUJl•llf 
,_, • .i1t --

lltltwtdforOCP~ 
t JIU KQ'Wll)'(I) 

l'te-is,edforcx,~ 
• /IU: 20l5'0&'06 
I 11"-Md fix AM Sutmllllon 2m4/IV.U: 
J "Wfl:lfol'0CPMtfld-Vltl202~ 
1 i.Mdfot~ XQl,"O•.,U 

_, .. 
E16th Street 

1540St.GeorgesAve .. 
215-235 E 11th St. 

North Ve-r, IC 
o, ....... , .. 

Landscape Lighting Plan 
Grounolevel 

,.._.,. 

1:200 24-+14 

L1.2 



16THSTE. 

CJ 

t --
I I 

,---.. ---.. -··-.. --------------.. -----------r·----------.. ------.. _____________ .. _1_ .. __ .. ___ .. _________ . ---· --.. 1-·- ·-·-----··---.. -.. --r--· ---· -·----------1 

. ·-
® 1?-ii:-
<!> =·-

P+A -­~- ..,.--.. .... 
u1c.--,. 
-K't';II"' 

::::::::: --

lltltwtdforOCP~ 
t JIU KQ'Wll)'(I) 

l'te-is,edforcx,~ 
.. /IU: 20l5'0&'06 
I 11"-Md fix AM Sutmllllon 2m4/IV.U: 
J "Wfl:lfol'0CPMtfld-Vltl202~ 
1 i.Mdfot~ XQl,"O•.,U 

_, .. 
E16th Street 

1540St.GeorgesAve .. 
215-235 E 11th St. 

North Ve-r, IC 
o, ....... , .. 

Landscape Lighting Plan 
Roof level 

,.._.,. 

1:200 24-+14 

L1.3 



+110000 'tr.H(,,IAl)(fdVAJ'l(lo{ 

•fS0000 fo,()fS"-flt'VAftON 

+,SOOOCI IOT~OJST"ll~(Ll'l'AT'O"I 

+M'OOOO mf'Ofl'l"'-l(lf\\liJIIC», 

•IWOOW l!Jfl'UMOfli'l'MlrUVAlOQN 

+(IYtOOOO (M.Jot<il4c.tJC,((l,('l'A'f'IOl,I 

•IXOOOCI c:0fll'IGWl'M.VtUVAflON 

IIMftf\',TIO'IJOIIDU,11,ii 

· r ·· ·· · ·· · · ·· 1 -----_r _______________ T_ .. __ --- -------i 
I I I 
I , I , ! I 

..,.--.. .... 
~~, ... 
::::::::: --

lltltwtdforOCP~ 
t JIU KQ'Wll)'(I) 

l'te-is,edforcx,~ 
.. /IU: 20l5'0&'06 
I 11"-Md fix AM Sutmllllon 2m4/IV.U: 
J "Wfl:lfol'O(PMtfld-Vltl202~ 
1 i.Md fol'~ XQl,"O•.,U 

_, .. 
E16th Street 

1540St.GeorgesAve .. 
215-235 E 11th St. 

North Ve-r, IC 
o, ....... , .. 

Landscape Grading Plan 

,.._.,. 

1:200 24-+14 

L2.0 



P+A ~....,,.,.._....,._.., 
!.Ill-,.. H ILII-..... 

--.K'""''"" 
111)U•Ol,I 
1101/Ntllt _,...,.,_..._,.. 

it.hlwedforCX,~t 
SAU ~§lll)IOJ 

11:~forO:l'~t 
4 / ltz 2Cl2So'OMl6 

) lno.lldfofADfl'Sub,,illlon 202.,1\IU 
J lo1,1NlotOCll'Affltftlll'l'ltfWltl 1~""'°"'°6 
1 111,,tdlofM' 20HIM'U 

Ade,. 

Et&thStrNt 
1540 St.~• Ave., 

215"235 E 11th St. 
North Va-r, IC ....... , ... 

1:lOO 

L3.0 



Remarts 

. . r . . . .. . ---·- --·-·--··----··-,-----------··-··--··------ .. , --------------,-------------- --- -, 
! I ! I I 

' ' ' ! 

P+A ~....,,.,.._....,._.., 
!.Ill-,.. H ILII-..... 

--.K'""''"" 
111)U•Ol,I 
1101/Ntllt _,...,.,_..._,.. 

it.hlwedforCX,~t 
SAU ~§lll)IOJ 

11:~for<Xl'~t 
4 / ltz 2Cl2So'OMl6 

) lno.lldfofADfl'Sub,,illlon 202.,1\IU 
J lo1,1NlotOCll'Affltftdl'l'ltfWltl 1~""'°"'°6 
1 111,,tdlofM' 20HIM'U 

Ade,. 

Et&thStrNt 
1540 St.~• Ave., 

215"235 E 11th St. 
North Va-r, IC ....... , ... 

1:lOO 

L3.1 



IUkdl;;:-r-=-·--------- - -- l .. 7 ---
1 I 

i 
! 

• 
D 
D -IZ2 

,00 ........... »-,, .. ...,,, 
fCI' ....... '-'-..... 

==•=9'-.,.., 
:x:::--• IOClltlM9'.,._bM, 

!'="Ol5'fi• ,o,;i,-9',Wbnt. 

'°°""' .... WIIGN" ... Solt_Ofl,.., ........ 

-~-----·--------, 
I 
I 
! 
I 
! 

P+A ~ - _,._ww.. 
. _..., ~~11YI 

,_, .. ,,. 
l(Ol7J11Hlt -

~llmlHCl forOC~~t 
5 IIU' 2Gl5110'03 

- Mlo.otdf0tOCJ...,,_,,,._,1 
4 1 1\Z MIZStOl'Oi 
llJ.~fol'AOPSUbfflrlllon 2024tll'Zi 

2 btlHdforOO~...WIIZl02"'°"6 

E11th5tr.et 
1540 St. G-.au Ave.. 

215-235 E 11th St. 
North VaMOUVW, IIC 

Soil Depth Plan 
-On Site 

L3.2 



CNV111HllllmA 
QIJ$ff('Sttl,~Mf.A 

O'f~I.A'Mf#U 

• 

I 
i 
i 
i 
i 
i 

-·· -··-·--·--·--·- - . -··--·-·· - · · -·· -·· - ·· -·· - -~~.:r·-·· -·· --------- - . - ··-··-· · -·· -·· - ·· ---' 

ROOFTOP 

I.,......,..,~: - · ~ -~N~ta___,ilrl,,,.....,l'(ICl!l. :~=~~~=...:.:--._~~~--
""'"" r=~~~:t,>~~~.::"'MlclwK4 _10 .. IMiooul~ 

Otf,Sl1tt'!1P!'!!!"No1M: 

1, ~....-ccinw,m,1,p,o,,,dt,tc.,...NfuMO'f'V-.C:w,ig,t1'0II 
,._dH19'«1-,~Glltiolf!>Y""OM<SUtr,dn. 
~=o,wlconlmllNDQllooMdNSl,.,_fll!MdldbfN 

l,.(i\'of!tO""V_,,,,,w:,flttd,m,loc.l_.,dl ....... ~Md~dC---

r;~,:::;;:=.t:;:,."!.~~-.....,..OJ(-,d-" 
Vn ~ 
S.flo;wodl..,._GR~lxfflollnWbtdl~ 
" "°"'tvu•~not-c-ottd!llnlc­~~~:=:.._,~..,OQlliond ... ,..,_ .. 
l,lt,t,,,._ • ._. .... NINdncor,u,r,cNll""91NlrauptMMKt'i ·­~~~::::-l~ttOft("1dHOl'IIV""--•lll«~ 
W.h_...,..._or,.....W..Wh~chKll--.-.:1,ttJ!o,oOUI 
«<NCWMflN--,lllQIIIWIUl!l~.,,,_to61_,.o.cloc.li0fll..SH -~1!."~..::...:i.::.=..--=:=.:~~~'t. 
~C:::::or"::..'!.,~tld.,.....•_.......,. 

~~~WIDbt"~ d"tltNto°'-'d~Vr<_, 

1S.AAOd~frt;IIIKll'lftf'CIM'H!lh-P'CIICI0!1-..WQl1tlrM 
lllfll"ot( _ _,,.;,,,,..,,.__,.l<Mlo,,;,llidtN-
~C-Ww:,~ .. •-,16C'IN~l«IMMll!ld 

P+A 

~elsl.tedfo,OC!'~, 
S IRZ l(l;lS,l(lj(IJ 

lltl:!Mdtar oc, ~1 • ,u 2(0~ 

J ~tot~SabflrtllOft 2Wu,11u 
2 btuoedforOC!'~ flZ~~ 

-- E1&th Street 
1540 St. Georges Ave~ 

215-235 E 111th St. 
North v__,, BC 

Irrigation Plan 

--Q) ....... 

L4.0 



0 eUU.OING I & BIJILOING z 

P+A =:::...-- ,i'it!=~ 

--

-KWII.., ,., .. ,,. 
, .. ,111"" --

11th St. East Rental 
1540St.G-.-, 

NorthV-,BC 

~--Landscape Sections 

,,. 

LS.O 



EAST SIDE 

0 8ULOING 2 OUTDOOR AME MTV 

0 8Ull01NG 2 SOUTH 

0 BUILDlNG 2 EAST 

P+A ~-- -·-~ ,.._._ :.:!!:..~,.., 
,., .. ,,. 
, .. ,111"" --

llffll.lled fo, OCP Alnl'fl<tMnl 
S AU 2W5110'0J 

"-l-.UN:t for oc, ~ 
4 JIU 202!i0&'06 

J •wtc:tfo,AO,Slbfli.lon 20l4'11/U 
2 Uledff# OCf'An'IMdl'Nffllltt202oWMl6 

1 •twdforor 202W4'?J 

--11th St. East Rental 
1540St.G-.-, 

NorthV-,BC 

~--Landscape Sections 

,,. 

LS.1 



1 
·c:.::r:J/,.-::::://.·\/X~~~ 

0 CIP CONCRETE PAVING (PEDESTRIAN) 
1.1(1 

0 CONCRETE UNIT PAVERS (PECESTRlAN) 
1.1<1 

0 FITNE$$1YOGAOECK 
1;10 

0 HYORAPRESSEO SLAB 
1:10 

1 ' (.l~dtjlf!WGM(li,,Qtltd 

4 '(10Cll'M'11nd.~"{19111fft ....... --~ ,. __ 
__,,~,.,.Q ·---

1Vl"-3tn•,u~ .......... ~,..f-~ 
bWl'llll~lllfwTo~FOf'fXWU 

~-----)drlAibl,~~-

~~ ---­_,..,Ptf11)K. 

·--··~""' i:=~ ~"="~= 

24• al4" •l' T-M,d''-<IIS-b 

~~~~SW..lo 

~~CO":lnb_~Ot....,,_, 
~~!J)«tf'l,llif~«lmffl ....,.,tit,e,,,._i,w 
U.,5111w-p,,oot....,_,_ • .,..,.,,"""'_ 
11z·~1oo,,t•11tilw» -·-

J.-J.-...J.,.J,...'-!--'-/-!-',::;,~~:• .odfl91<lr-lN1Mtd-~b1oll 

:.~~'=~==~!:~ ~_,,..._,,..,..,...., ....... ~~~"::'~a-

19"ffldelfa\llll ~.,., 
J'OO.Oltllll_pl!( .... 
i~•W1110 
=::~ _.,_ 

to,.,._ ...... ICO-(f"lca-20t"9d)CJIS .. -~ ,..,-..c ... ~ 
~--~-~~~• -• ~• -llrQln11t.-..c,,.-.1111~ 

•, \ ~. ; ... ~• . ~. ~.: ';-• -'-;c-"-,'-C.-,,..,51NC1n1Mlllilw»M:11.rd1WC.1r.f"4" 

0 e~BBER AREA SURFACING • RUBBER HOLDS 

:;:;.:./;:,•·-""'". 
p,~No9..nh•­_,.......,_ 
1n·•••....i•. --

GRAVEL STRIP 
1:10 

0 ~~IFtCIAL TURF 

--· ~- ... :" : .. 
··, .·:. · .. ·~ -

!------------~-=.:.= Xl: 
,;.:.-:::..-:.'l.-_-:...~.::;:.,~=~. ~=-~~:··-.. :_._,_:_i~ 1_::.: .. _·.• .. ·_._··:~:··;··_:.;.:;_·'..•_::_ .. •.·.·,·.·_·.:•.-·~.~-~~.•·.·.:~.·-.. :,·, .: .. ~ .. _. ·_\ ,... ' 

-~ -;;_:.=:: . . . :: ... : _; . . :: :: :;/ ·. :. ·-::- =-~"5-
_ ;· •~ > ~·: ., : ' 

l)ON-SIM 

P+A 
~-~ =-~: 

,.,..,. .. 111 ,..,., . .. 1,. --

~ ,0,00'~~ 
5 A Z l'Ol~IOIOJ 

~b-00'.........._,., 
.. iti ~~ 

l • IOHdfor "°'Swb!,11.io., 202Al'1Vl2 
l b.ttdfc,OCf'~flU02-WMl6 
I . wtdfo, c,r 20U104'lJ 

--16th St. East~· 
1540 st. Cieorgel, 

NorthV-, BC 

0-. .... Tills 

Landscape Detail, 

....... 
L6.0 



., ........ 

0 CONC. RETAINING WAll ' ,o 

~lr--- ~~--C:-cc:!!,9fw'll 
~Ill~"'~ . ...... 

'ti:,•_.!! .. ~":~.------, ,-~., ..... 

11 

.=:-..:.:::.=:=-------------, ~=T~-=-=---------... 
11a,',(-••11aor-..... 1GO._ 
~ .... -.-L~0!""1 

. ....... 
(7\ .. .YALLEYST_s>NE:MOOUlAR_WALL~-----------------------------­\..:J '10 

Clri-M-flMMN 
==~-~11.riok.lN ...... ool....,...,,.., 
=-Wlfw P.,-...._l,frl,•llllll ..... (OII.CClll:lr ll)W""'~ll11." 

,,..,_,1,~•-ot'--"•1· .. -.. :~.-:-.:....--::.==~=~-~~ ..... 
£:,~~~~..,..__ 

P+A ~.,..._ =-~: 
IIIM7111UI.I 
000• •11• --

11ti.1Jfd101CXPA111111~ 
5 ~ 10.lYIO,Ol 

~uedb~Am~ 
<I RZ lOl:~ 
) llwed kw Al>Hu~/ffll.lon 202Mlll'22 
! lli!Ml0t0C"~11'Ul0l..,,,,.. 
1 11.-1 IOf Df' )Oho04123 

--1&tfl St. Ealt Rental 
1540St. Georgel, 

Nortfl v-r. IC 

O ........ Ulf. 

Landscape Details 

--
MCI 

L6. 1 



PREFABRICAlED METAL Pl.ANTER W.I SEATING ON ROOFTOP 
1:10 

,-E~~~~~~~~l ~~- :..:.....~~·!:~~ / , .... --- - ~~--------

t-- S(h50&1)!1M()"al!"• \t?'ICIOII: 

,..--m---,_- =:~---_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_---:;i,• 
•• · -~~a.-billl!ltr 

;:~:;;'.:'.~:;;~~:'..2:'."t-:~~:?-:,~r-{~_';::/.~I 
0 PRIVACY SCREEN 

1:i) 

II I I II 

LJ 
0 ~g-'NGE SEATIOO 

_,.,_..,.. .. -----.c: 

= D 

NOTt: 
1.PIIOYUlNGNHll!DSHOPMAWINGSJOll:ALl 
GATE HMOWARE AAOGATECOMPONl:NTSIOR: 
IUVIW'APl'tlOVAL 
2.AU PATOGATEAAE PO\NOER COAT 11.ACIC APISH 
AAO "4:TAI. FHSHB TO MATCH AACHIT(CTI.lfltlrJ.... 
3.CONTRACTOIITOF(LOMEASUII! AU LOCATIONS 
fOII: GA.TIS AJ«>COtRU.4 ATTACH""l:NT TO UTHOI 
HORIZONTM. OIi vum::AL SIJIUACE. 

G f~
0
sroMALUMINUM GATE 

0 BENCH 1·2d 

0 ~NICTABLE 

-~-

971.1 

..... 

31 

"'9#;(--.0:td"""" ,,,....,,_(io<,Mft~ 
Callow:~..i ...... ,Wood 
5ot.i 11 • U (~- wx~-M. 
C.O,,u•1t~­
..... ... ,Molrll;n9"'.......,,«lln'\ 
0-.lly..C 

2·xz·csox 50MM) Alt.MNIJM CHANNEL TOI' RAl • RU,ME 

"XI' (SOX 2.SMM) CHANNEL 

• XJAl"(IOOMMXl!IMM) AL.UMNUM VE~TICAL PANEIS 

Jll()fl RA.TU) HNGfS 

Ft.AMGE I\ATEAS Jl;fOUIRf.O P£R'SHOPOAAv.1MG,CONTP.ACTOII TO 
CONfl!IM vt.Rll::Al OIi: HOll:l2DNTAL A TTACHM[NT LOCATION. 

LlGlNO 

0 ::.:;;.~-
@ ~..':"~~,..._--~ 

© ==~~-
® f:':.~~ 

_.,......_,_,--=:=---·­
.1'::~-==·:r· --· -

-~ 
---,...--:t 

0 ~VABLE TABLES & CHAIRS 

P+A ---· -- :r,ts!.-=.t><, 
-IIC-s"!M 
,.,..,. .. 111 ,..,.,,.,.n• --

-.itwf-dto.00~ 
c AU lOl'!ilCW) 

lllitltwfdfo,O(J'~ 
) ,a 201S'0810f. 
lb.ttdforAM~lon 202..-1t122 
I •1UtC1f0t<Xl'~IIZlOZ~ 

--16th St. East~· 
1540 st. Cieorgel, 

NorthV-,BC 

0-. .... Tills 

Landscape Detail, 

--CD 

L6.2 



0 t ~nJRE SEATING 

LEGlNO 

@~-:..,..._.,vw 

®~=~~,r.._~ 
© ::.::.--~~ 

@~=-.::~~ 

16 518" 1 
[-42Jmm] J-

I 

~=--l 20112· 
(520mm] 

0 f'£ERACKS 

0 BOI.LARO LIGHTNG 21 no 

~ ~=--- -

tr ,-, .. : ----= --
i 1~ ~-- I --- ~0---·--

~ 
HINKLEY 

(8)Down ll911l 

-

I 

Otvttion 

MOU: H:OVIOl:POWUTOEACH HQLOCATION 

:t~~~f TOcOH~ R~~!f~H~~ All WAU + 
- PIIOVO E 5HOI' DR.A~ TIONS 

~:r':~~ c't}~~J'~"wsTALI.ATION ANO CU1'P4E£TS 
M.DG1aQ.120 

°" ' 
0 Eleario8BO 25 ,._ St-own 

l~"'-1~c.=: __ 
a1~-=---_§-~~·--
-= 

==--=---.:··----
~~- --~ I=- :• .. -:_-:. --
= - -1-=---

(C)UpLJGM {O)LEDStllngl.Jght 

D 
M.LIG21N10---­... , 

•:Qil'LED 

BL01 Bollard 
~---1:IOCfll».MrY 

-!-, 

, .!t -,i~- 1~ I -=- -..:::- --
4D}8ollaldLighl 

P+A ----- ....,._k 
111lat~ 
-KYS'lwt 

1Wt1Jll•111 ,..,., .. , .. --

5 ~fof'OO~ 10l5'1Ql'l)J 

4 ~r.;..oo~202'~ 

l•IOHdforAM~lo!'o l02A'll/.l:J 
l b.ttdforOCP ~RZl02-WMl6 
I .1Utdf0t01' lOUll)&r.lJ 

1 6th St. East--· 15405t. c._,..., 
NorthV-,BC 

Material Board 

L6.3 



===-== ====-._..:;:. _::L"<-"--­

=-~;;: ~zE:-= 

Qty: 1 

2$ ~y EQ UIPMENT 

0 SHRUB ANO GROUNOCOVl:R PLANTING 
B!O 

....... 

Qty: 1 

I • 

....... ,. 

-, _____ pltsl,(,.U,O.•--li{-fflo!-

--b-lOpllrf. ... 

0 Cl•-,.Col...,_lu! .... N~ifl 

~-~ 

PLAN 

r ------
SECTION 

~ cape 
MOUNTAIN CABIN PLAY HUT ... .-, ........ ; , .. •, 

·-•C..l'llr ....... ,-~-------...._....,. __ -.-. ... .,....aa ....... ....__._,_...,,.._...,~-
-..-•...,...._..,.. ... ..,. ..... ,. •• ..,.. .. .,._ .. 11111 

... _.....,1 111• 
~,-::.,:At-I_,. a,i 

-1,19~.,1. 

/ •- / 

..---"""l-•' ""' -~--··--~,u,.,.., .. 

-. ---·-----... •--o&-•-·---· . ..,_ _____ , .... ,, ............ _ 

0 TRELUS 
NTS 

,_.,,. __ 
•-oo--

---90 
~~-

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

0 TREE Pt.ANTlNG ,.,. 

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANnNG DETAIL 

P+A .....,._"'· 
~~ M 

1«>on1•111 
IIIOt1)Un6 -

Atls.ued b-oc, ~ 
S AU 10l511Qo'l)J 

-.i~ b-00~ 
4 ltZ 20lw&I06 

J .1we:1,c,..,o,,~-lot, 101.-,in:1 
2 Uledfot0CP~lt!202...o!ll'06 
I .Nf'df(ll l)P 10Hll)4f.ZJ 

--11th St. East Rental 
1540St.c;_,.., 

NorthV-,BC 

Material Board 

CD 

L6.4 



PIAV AREA & EQUIPMENT MIO-IILOCK MEWS 

BBQ STATION CUSTOM WOOD BENCH OUTDOOR WORKSTATION 

P+A ~-~~:w 
1.0-IM••lj ,.,.mm, --

~-Wfdfol(K~~, 
S lftZ 2~\/10(1) 

~11,wt(lfo,()(~~t 
• /IQ .olSl'OMII 
l llsuedforADfl"Submluk>n !!01411VU 

l lltwldfo!OC~Amffll!INN/ltzaol"°""°6 
1 luuMlfo.rO, JO,ll....,J 

Ad9r• 

E16th Street 
1540 St. Georges Ave., 

215-235 E 16th St. 
North Vancouver, BC ._ ... 

Precedent Images 

L7.0 



1

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION

Engagement Summary Report
Date: January 17, 2025

Prepared for: RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd. and RED East 16th Limited Partnership
Prepared by: Pooni Group

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 4 �



2

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

visitors.

proposal. The themes of comments are summarized as follows:

Support (83%, 10 respondents) for:
•

•

•

•

Concerns (17%, 2 respondents) related to:
•

new units.

•



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

table of contents.

4

5

11

12 Appendices

16

19

19

20

21



4

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

1. INTRODUCTION & PROJECT OVERVIEW

In response to municipal input, RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd. and RED East 16th Limited Partnership has 



5

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

2. DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION

A. Project Website

The project website, AderaEast16th.com

Launch and Updates
•

•

Engagement

project website are included in Appendix A. 

• Addressed Mailer; 
•
•
•

Addressed Mailer

Vancouver. 

Appendix B Appendix C. 



6

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

Site Signage

Appendix E. 

the public about the DIS. 

Appendix F. 

Stakeholder Outreach

• Lions Gate Hospital
•

C. In-person DIS

Event Details
Date: Tuesday, November 26, 2024

RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd. 

•
•
•

• Rhys Leitch

•
•

•

•
•



7

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

•

• Neighbourhood Context:
involved.

• Proposal Overview

• Policy Context

•

• Next Steps

Appendix G.



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

• Email: 

•

Project Email

Between November 26, 2024 and January 7, 2025, a total of 12 submissions

• Rental Housing: 4 comments

• Sustainability: 4 comments

• Needed Housing and Density: 4 comments

• Family and Community-Oriented Design: 2 comments

• : 2 comments

• Mixed Tenure Model: 1 comment

• Concerns from Current Tenants: 1 comment

3. FEEDBACK SUMMARY



9

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

• No Changes Suggested: 4 comments
with the proposal.

• 1 comment

• 2 comments

• 1 comment

• Public Space Enhancements: 1 comment

• 2 comments express concern about the 

the community.



10

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

•

•

•

•

•

•
but do not live there.

• None of the above

•

In summary,

•

•

•

A transcript of the comment form submissions can be found in Appendix H.



11

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

4. CONCLUSION



12

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

appendices.

16

19

19

20

21



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



14

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



15

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



16

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



17

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



19

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

 APPLICATION
TO LEARN MORE OR TO PROVIDE
INPUT ON THIS PROJECT:

COMMENT ONLINE BY:
January 7, 2025

AderaEast16th.com

 IN-PERSON DEVELOPER’S
INFORMATION SESSION 

Applicant:
ED Twelve E16

PROPOSED BUILDING

cnv.org/Applications
planning@cnv.org
604.983.7357

DATE: November 26, 2024

TIME: Drop in any time between 4:45PM – 6:45PM

LOCATION: Friendship Room at St. Andrews United
Church (1044 St. Georges Ave)

REGISTER: Not required

Sarah Bingham
RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd.
RED East 16th Limited Partnership
SarahB@adera.com
604-684-8277

PROPOSED BUILDING

LOCATION

1540 St. Georges Avenue & 215-235 East 16th Street

RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd. and RED East 16th
Limited Partnership have applied for an OCP Amendment and
Zoning Bylaw Amendment application to allow for two
residential buildings, six storeys and 12 storeys in height,
providing 248 homes (196 purpose-built rental homes and 52
strata homes). The proposal includes 173 vehicle parking
stalls and 201 secure bicycle parking stalls.



20

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 

1540 St. Georges Avenue & 215-235 E 16th Street (Adera East 16h)

PROPOSAL: RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd. and RED East 16th Limited Partnership 
have applied for an OCP Amendment and Zoning Bylaw Amendment application to allow 
for two residential buildings, 6 storeys and 12 storeys in height, providing 248 homes 
(196 purpose-built rental homes and 52 strata homes). The proposal includes 173 
vehicle parking stalls and 201 secure bicycle parking stalls.

To Learn More & Provide Feedback, visit us at AderaEast16th.com or scan the QR code:

Please join us for an applicant-led Developer Information 
Session (DIS):

DATE: Tuesday, November 26, 2024
TIME: 4:30PM - 6:30PM
LOCATION:

         (1044 St. Georges Ave)
WHAT TO EXPECT: This is a drop-in event with display boards 
for review, with project team members available to answer 
your questions. No presentation will be made at the event.

This meeting is required by the City of North Vancouver as part of 
the land use application process.

YOU’RE INVITED! 

QUESTIONS? Sarah Bingham
RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd.
RED East 16th Limited Partnership
SarahB@adera.com
604-684-8277

Linden Mulleder
Planning & Development
141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver
planning@cnv.org
604-983-7357

Adera East 16th News Ad.indd   1 2024-11-12   12:05 PM



21

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



22

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



24

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



25

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



26

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



27

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



29

ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



ADERA EAST 16TH DEVELOPER INFORMATION SESSION
ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 



[Adera Development (East 16th)]
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.  

1

RED TWELVE EAST 16TH ADERA PROJECTS LTD. & RED 
EAST 16TH LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Virtual Town Hall – Summary Report

Event Date: Tuesday, September 9, 2025
Time: 6:00PM
Location: Zoom Webinar
Attendance: (16 public attendees)
Comments or Questions: (17 comments received)

The following project team members, City of North Vancouver staff, and third-party facilitators 
were in attendance:

City of North Vancouver
Linden Mulleder, Planner 2

Applicant Team – RED Twelve East 16th Adera Projects Ltd. & RED East 16th Limited Partnership
Mackenzie Biggar - Vice President, Development & Sustainability
Adam Weir - Vice President, Construction
Grace Martin - Associate Development Manager
Michael Murdoch - Development Coordinator

Applicant’s Consultant Team
Rhys Leitch – Principal, Integra Architecture Inc.
Michael Patterson – Principal, Perry & Associates Inc. Landscape Architects
Kelly Bullivant – Senior Transportation Engineer, Binnie Transportation

Kirk & Co. 
Sam Oliphant – Senior Vice President
Anna Fraser-Low – Communications Assistant

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 5
�



 
[Adera Development (Red East 16th)]  
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.   
  2 

Background 

RED Twelve East 16th Adera Projects Ltd. & RED East 16th Limited Partnership are proposing a new 
multi-family residential project in the City of North Vancouver. The project is proposed to deliver a 
total of 249 homes, including 196 purpose-built rental units and 53 strata units. To move forward, 
the project requires an Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment and a Zoning Bylaw 
Amendment. As part of the application process, a virtual Town Hall was held to provide community 
members with an opportunity to ask questions and share feedback on the proposal. 

Adera Development Corporation is the development lead behind the proposal, working in 
partnership with RED East 16th Limited Partnership. Adera is responsible for coordinating the 
design, planning, and public engagement efforts for the multi-family residential development. The 
project team includes a range of consultants supporting the rezoning and OCP amendment 
process. 

Public Engagement  

On Tuesday, September 9, 2025, Adera hosted a Town Hall through a virtual Zoom webinar with 
residents who live and/or work in North Vancouver, with registration and third-party facilitation of 
the webinar provided by Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd (Kirk & Co.). The webinar was designed to allow 
participants to comment and pose questions on the proposed development application, which 
includes a rezoning and an Official Community Plan (OCP) amendment. 

The Town Hall included a presentation from Adera and their consulting team, followed by a 
question-and-answer session facilitated by Kirk & Co. 

Notification 

All event notification was planned, developed and implemented by Adera in accordance with City 
of North Vancouver public notification requirements: 

 Site Signs: Two public signs were installed by Adera at the development site on August 21, 
2025, and remain displayed as of the date of this report. The signs provided information 
about the virtual Town Hall and included a QR code for community members to register. 

o Refer to Appendix A to view site signage. 
 Newspaper Ads: A newspaper advertisement ran for two days, on August 27, 2025, and 

September 3, 2025, in the North Shore News. The ad included information about the virtual 
Town Hall and a QR code for registration.  

o Refer to Appendix B to view newspaper advertisement. 
 Neighbour Notification Letter: A letter was sent to 712 addresses within a 100-metre 

radius of the development site. The letter included details about the proposed development 
and information on the virtual Town Hall, along with a QR code for registration.  

o Refer to Appendix C to view the neighbour notification letter and notification map. 



 
[Adera Development (Red East 16th)]  
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.   
  3 

Participation  

A total of 16 attendees participated in the virtual Town Hall: 

 8 attendees live in the City of North Vancouver 
 5 attendees live and work in the City of North Vancouver 
 2 attendees preferred not to answer 
 1 attendee works in the City of North Vancouver 

Key Themes 

Key themes from the virtual Town Hall included: 

Supportive Comments 

Topic Summary Number of 
Mentions 

Support for the project A participant expressed overall support for the 
project, highlighting the benefits of more housing 
options and community growth. 

1 

Mid-market housing A participant comment positively on the inclusion 
of mid-market housing, noting its importance for 
people working in North Vancouver.  

1 

Mixed housing options A participant appreciation the combination of 
rental and condo units, recognizing it as good mix 
for the Lower Lonsdale community.  

1 

 
Questions 

Topic Summary Number of 
Mentions 

Construction timelines 
& impacts 

Participants asked when construction would begin; 
one participant noted concerns about noise and 
dust.   

3 

Tenant relocation 
process  

Participants asked when current residents would 
need to vacate and how the relocation process 
would be managed.  

2 

Unit sizes  Participants asked how rental units compare in size 
to condo units.  

2 

Transit and 
transportation 

Participants noted interest in cycling infrastructure 
and asked how the project would support active 
transportation and car share options. 

2 



 
[Adera Development (Red East 16th)]  
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.   
  4 

Sales and ownership Participants asked about condo pre-sales, sales 
thresholds for construction, and rental unit 
ownership after completion. 

2 

Tree preservation A participant asked whether large trees could be 
preserved and requested access to the arborist 
report.  

1 

Access to mid-market 
units 

A participant asked whether existing residents 
would be prioritized for mid-market units and how 
demand would be managed. 

1 

 



 
[Adera Development (Red East 16th)]  
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.   
  5 

Appendix A: Public Signage  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
  
 

 

 

  



 
[Adera Development (Red East 16th)]  
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.   
  6 

Appendix B: Newspaper Advertisement   

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
  
 
  
 
 
   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



 
[Adera Development (Red East 16th)]  
Kirk & Co. Consulting Ltd.   
  7 

Appendix C: Neighbour Letter 

 



January 30, 2025 

VIA EMAIL: sarahb@adera.com 

Sarah Bingham 
VP, Development & Sustainability 
Adera Development 
1880-320 Granville Street 
Vancouver, BC V6C 1S9 

Dear Sarah: 

Re: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 
215-235 East 16th Street (Adera Developments)

At the meeting on January 21, 2025, the Advisory Design Panel reviewed the above application and 
unanimously endorsed the following resolution: 

“THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Official Community Plan Amendment and 
rezoning application for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street and recommends 
approval subject to addressing the following issues to the satisfaction of the Development 
Planner: 

• The East 16th Street entrance to be made more prominent for first responder access.
• Bike lockers are treated appropriately with fixed and motion sensor lights.
• Expand the landscape areas further.
• Consider expanding rooftop amenity access to more residents.
• Design development on the tower cladding and proportions, including consideration of the

mass timber appearance and an enhanced corner at St. Georges and East 16th Street.
• Design development of the midrise cladding and materials, with consideration of the similar

colours between buildings, and enhancing the façade along East 16th Street.
• Consider installing a green rooftop to mitigate the heat island effect.
• Explore opportunities to integrate further native plant species.
• Explore ways to enhance the south end of the mews, by clearly defining the garbage pickup

location, on-site loading, vehicle parkade entrance or relocation of these.

AND THAT the Panel wishes to thank the applicant for their presentation.” 

The recommendations of the Advisory Design Panel pertain only to site-specific design and site planning 
considerations and do not, in any way, represent Council and staff approval or rejection of this project. 

Attachment 6



 
 

2 
 

Best regards, 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sarah Larisch 
Administrative Coordinator 
 
cc:    L. Mulleder, Planner 2 
 G. Martin, Adera Development, gracem@adera.com  

C. Marcyniuk, Adera Development, craigm@adera.com 
A. Weir, Adera Construction, adamw@adera.com 
T. Pershick, Adera Construction, timp@adera.com 
M. Patterson, P+A Landscape Architecture, mp@perryandassociates.ca 
S. Ju, P+A Landscape Architecture, sj@perryandassociates.ca 
S. Sachs, Integra Architecture Inc., shamuss@integra-arch.com 
R. Leitch, Integra Architecture Inc., rhysl@integra-arch.com  
 
 
 
 

  
  
 



Document Number: 2674272

May 22, 2025

VIA EMAIL: mackenzieb@adera.com

Mackenzie Biggar
Vice President, Development & Sustainability
Adera Development
1880-320 Granville Street
Vancouver, BC V6C 1S9

Re: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning for 1540 St Georges Avenue 
and 215-235 East 16th Street (Adera Developments)

At the meeting on May 14, 2025, the Advisory Planning Commission reviewed the above 
application and endorsed the following resolution:

“THAT the Advisory Planning Commission has reviewed the OCP Amendment and 
Rezoning Application for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street and 
recommends approval subject to resolution of the following to staff’s satisfaction:

Consider increasing the proportion of family sized units (defined as two or more 
bedrooms) in the development.”

The recommendations of the Advisory Planning Commission pertain only to site-specific design 
and site planning considerations and do not, in any way, represent Council and staff approval or 
rejection of this project.

Best regards,

Sarah Larisch
Administrative Coordinator

cc: D. Fergusson, Manger, City Design and Planning
L. Mulleder, Planner 2
G. Martin, Associate Development Manager, Adera Development, gracem@adera.com
R. Leitch, Principal, Integra Architecture Inc., rhysl@integra-arch.com

Attachment 7



Document Number: 2685342 

June 18, 2025 

VIA EMAIL:  mackenzieb@adera.com 

Mackenzie Biggar 
Vice President, Development & Sustainability 
Adera Development 
1880- 320 Granville Street 
Vancouver, BC V6C 1S9 

Dear Mackenzie: 

Re: Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning for 1540 St Georges Avenue 
and 215-235 East 16th Street 

At the meeting on June 6, 2025, the Integrated Transportation Committee reviewed the above 
application and endorsed the following resolution: 

“THAT The Integrated Transportation Committee has reviewed the Official Community 
Plan Amendment and Rezoning for 1540 St Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th 
Street and supports the project, making the following additional comments: 

• During construction, ensure pedestrian travel is maintained; including ‘good neighbor’
agreements to work with other nearby construction sites

• Review traffic flow in laneway, ensuring turning movements from parkade in the lane
are safe, possible, and do not impact the neighbourhood

• Review adjacent traffic controls in the neighbourhood to ensure they accommodate
increased number of vehicle trips and improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience

• Advocate to the City to consider traffic calming measures on 16th Street, which may
include bike-only through-ways, and local area bike safety improvements on key
corridors as a result of increased trips being diverted from St Georges.”

The recommendations of the Integrated Transportation Committee pertain only to site-specific 
design and site planning considerations and do not, in any way, represent Council and staff 
approval or rejection of this project. 

Best regards, 

Sarah Larisch 
Administrative Coordinator 

Attachment 8



 
 

2 
 

cc:    S. Tremblay, Transportation Planner 
 L. Mulleder, Planner 2 
 G. Martin, Associate Development Manager, gracem@adera.com  
 S. Sachs, Principal, Integra Architecture Inc., shamuss@integra-arch.com  
 B. Chong, Transportation Designer, Binnie, bchong@binnie.com 



Document Number: 2698038 
Page 1 of 4

Overview of Variances to Zoning and Parking Provisioning 

The following provides a summary and overview of the proposed variances to zoning and car 
parking provisioning associated with the project at 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 
16th Street.   

Table 1. Summary of Proposed Zoning Changes 
BASE RM-1 ZONE PROPOSED CD-306 ZONE 

Density 
Maximum 

1.6 FSR 3.26 FSR 

Height Maximum Three storeys, and 
13 metres (42.65 feet) 

Twelve storeys, and 
39 metres (127.95 feet) 

Six storeys, and  
20 metres (65.6 feet) 

Siting 6.096 metres (20 feet) from a front, 
rear, or exterior side lot line 

Front – East 16th Street 
• 3.0 m (9.8 ft.)

Rear – E-W laneway 
• 3.8 m (12.4 ft.)

Exterior Side Lot Line – St. Georges 
Avenue 

• 4.5 m (12.7 ft.)

Exterior Side Lot – N-S laneway 
• 3.4 m (11.2 ft.)

4.57 metres (15 feet) from an interior 
side lot line 

Interior Side Lot - West Building 
• 12.0 m (39.3 ft.)

Interior Side Lot - East Building 
• 4.0 m (13.1 ft.)

Building Width & 
Length 

Shall not exceed a horizontal width or 
length of 30.48 metres (100 feet) above 
third storey 

Waived 

Siting of 
Accessory 
Structures 

In the case of any Structure over 0.914 
metres (3.0 feet) in Height, 
(i) shall not be sited within 4.57 metres
(15 feet) of the
intersection of the Lot lines along two
Streets, or along a
Street and a Lane, or along two Lanes

Waived for exit stairwell and columns 

Driveway 
Crossing Width 

Maximum 6.096 metres (20 feet) Maximum 7 metres (23 feet) 

Bicycle Parking Secure Bicycle Parking Spaces shall be 
provided at the level of the grade, or at 
the first level of vehicle parking above 
or beneath the grade 

Varied to allow secure bicycle parking 
in the West Building to be at any level 

Inclusionary 
Zoning 
Requirements 
for Residential 
Development 

A minimum number of Inclusionary 
Housing units is required (10% of units 
for multi-unit rental building) 

Waived 

slarisch
FreeText
Attachment 9
�



   

 
Document Number: 2698038 

Page 2 of 4

Justification for Variances 
 
Density 
Full justification is contained within the report of the Planner 2, dated October 20, 2025, entitled 
“Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application – 1540 St. Georges Avenue & 
215-235 East 16th Street”: 
 
Height 
The RM-1 zone sets a maximum height of three storeys, and 13 metres (42.65 feet). The 
proposed buildings, being six storeys and twelve storeys, require variances to this height 
maximum, up to 39m and 20m.  
 
OCP Section 2.1.4 Building Heights remarks that considerations for increased height should 
include view impacts, contextual relationships, and livability or use of the buildings. For these 
considerations, staff found that: 

• Impacts to view is expected to be limited;  
• The buildings will provide a contextual relationship with other tall buildings in the area, 

and by stepping down in height to other mid-rise buildings; 
• The proposed buildings provide amenities and streetscape improvements on enhanced 

sites, improving livability and use.  
 
Staff support the variances to height on the following basis:  

• Alignment with OCP Section 2.1.4 Building Heights;  
• The proposed increase in height allows the construction of two buildings on the subject 

sites, within the density allowance of the R6 OCP land use designation; 
• A 39 metre maximum height for the 12-storey West building is necessary due to the 

slightly larger floor-to-ceiling heights required for mass timber buildings; 
• A 20 metre maximum height for the 6-storey East building is necessary to allow 6 

storeys of construction, which is anticipated in the OCP for this area.  
 
Building Setbacks 
The proposed development will result in a variation to the siting requirements for the RM-1 
zone, as outlined in Table 1 above.  The proposed setbacks are considered appropriate and 
consistent with other medium- and high-density development in the City’s residential areas. The 
setbacks still allow for suitable landscaping with tree plantings on all sides of the buildings. 
While the interior side lot setback for the East Building is smaller than the minimum requirement, 
the interior side lot setback for the West Building is much larger, resulting in a larger total 
separation between the two buildings than would normally be permitted in the RM-1 zone, which 
is appropriate for the tower format.  
 
The proposed siting is determined to be appropriate for the subject site.  
 
Building Width and Length 

The proposed development will result in a variation to the maximum building width and length 
requirements set for the RM-1 zone, specifically being 30.48 m (100 feet). The proposed 
development results in a maximum building width of 67.0 meters (220 feet) above the third 
storey.  
 
The building width and length standards are regularly varied in individual Comprehensive 
Development Zones to ensure a functional built form outcome is established in R5 and R6 
areas.  



   

 
Document Number: 2698038 

Page 3 of 4

 
Staff support this variance on the following basis:  
 

• The proposed North elevation has been designed with appropriate articulation along the 
length of the building, including a full step down of one storey in height in the middle of 
the building, broken with a colour change, and inclusion of attached balconies.  

• The building uses a variety of façade materials to differentiate different portions of the 
building, which appropriately breaks up the form of the building and reduces the 
perceived building bulk.  

• The proposed South elevation is broken up by a difference in setbacks for different 
portions of the building, allowing a large outdoor amenity area to be placed at the rear of 
the building, reducing the bulk and massing along the lane for a large portion of the site.  

 
Siting of Accessory Structures 
The intent of Zoning Bylaw Section 413(2)(d) is to ensure adequate vision clearance at Lane-
Street intersections, and driveways, by limiting the height of structures within a certain distance 
of the corner of the property. The applicant has proposed an exit stairwell structure within this 
area at the southwest corner of the site, where the structure is taller than the maximum 
permitted height of 0.91 metres, at approximately 1.4 – 1.9 metres. At the northeast and 
southeast corner of the site there are columns supporting balconies within this area as well.  
 
Staff support the variance on the following basis: 

• The exit stair provides a life safety exiting function from the parkade and has limitations 
on the possible locations on the site due to the building location, parkade size, and 
layout; 

• Some of the structure that extends beyond the height limit is guardrail, which is visually 
transparent, allowing vision clearance from both pedestrians and drivers; 

• The portion of the structure that is not transparent that extends beyond the height limit is 
relatively minor (~0.5 metres) which would be impossible to shrink without compromising 
the building code construction of a safe stairwell; 

• The City is requiring that the developer construct a curb bump-out on the north side of 
the lane where it meets St. Georges Avenue, directly adjacent to this location. This 
bump-out provides an additional 1-2 metres of distance between the structure and the 
intersection, further improving vision clearance when compared to existing conditions; 

• The columns are no more than 0.9 metres wide, only limiting vision in a small area, and 
are visually similar to high-branched trees, which are generally exempt from the vision 
clearance requirement in the zoning.  

 
Driveway Crossing Width 
The proposed development includes a driveway crossing that is 7 metres (23 feet) wide, which 
exceeds the maximum permitted width of 6.096 metres (20 feet).  
 
Given the anticipated vehicle movements from the shared parkade, the slightly increased width 
is proposed to ensure safe movements for vehicles entering and exiting at the same time. Staff 
are supportive of the variance.  
 
Bicycle Parking on Levels Below Grade 
The Secure Bicycle Parking Spaces for the West Building are located on P1, P2, and P3. Since 
each building has its own separate parkade, the parkade for the tower building is deeper to 
accommodate the required vehicle parking stalls, mechanical equipment, and service 
connections. Due to limitations with parkade design, including certain spaces which must be 
located on P1, the bicycle parking rooms have been distributed throughout several levels.  



   

 
Document Number: 2698038 

Page 4 of 4

 
All the bicycle parking rooms have easy access to the elevators for cyclists to reach the ground 
level, and would be accessible to residents via the parkade ramp as well. The proposed 
variance is acceptable.  
 
Inclusionary Zoning Requirements for Residential Development 
Local Government Act Section 482.93 states that an affordable and special needs housing 
zoning bylaw (i.e. Part 11 of the City’s Zoning Bylaw for Inclusionary Zoning) has no effect if an 
application is in-stream with the City as of the date the bylaw is adopted. This application was 
received by the City in October of 2024 and so the recently adopted Inclusionary Housing 
Zoning Bylaw has no effect. For clarity, this is written as “waived” in the Comprehensive 
Development Zone.  

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9131 Document: 2698100-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9131 

A Bylaw to amend “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Official Community Plan Bylaw,
2014, No. 8400, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9131” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and
215-235 East 16th Street, Land Use Designation and Permitted Height Change).

2. “Schedule A Land Use” of “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400” is amended, as
indicated in Schedule A attached to this Bylaw, by reclassifying the following properties:

3. “Schedule A Land Use” of “Official Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400” is amended, as
indicated in Schedule B attached to this Bylaw, by revising the maximum building heights
applicable for the following properties:

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2025. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

MAYOR 

CORPORATE OFFICER 

Land Description Land Use Designation
Lot Block D.L. Plan PID From To 
1 32 549 9874 007-355-084 Residential Level 5 Residential Level 6 

2 32 549 9874 009-440-330 Residential Level 5 Residential Level 6 

3 32 549 9874 009-440-381 Residential Level 5 Residential Level 6 

1 32 549 9386 009-677-313 Residential Level 5 Residential Level 6 

Land Description Maximum Height 
Lot Block D.L. Plan PID From To 
1 32 549 9874 007-355-084 Six storeys 39 metres 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9131 Document: 2698100-v1 

 
  

Amending Bylaw No. 9131 
SCHEDULE A Page 1 of 2 

 
 

 
SCHEDULE ‘A’ LAND USE MAP – AMENDMENTS TO LAND USE DESIGNATION 

 

 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9131 Document: 2698100-v1 

 
  

Amending Bylaw No. 9131 
SCHEDULE B Page 2 of 2 

 
 

 
SCHEDULE ‘A’ LAND USE MAP – AMENDMENTS TO MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT 

 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132 Document: 2698103-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9132 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700,
Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th

Street, CD-306).

2. Division VII: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby
amended by reclassifying the following lands currently having a civic address of 215 East
16th Street, and 235 East 16th Street and legally described below as henceforth being
transferred, added to and forming part of CD-306 (Comprehensive Development 306 Zone):

PID: 009-440-330 LOT 2 BLOCK 32 DISTRICT LOT 549 PLAN 9874 

PID: 009-440-381 LOT 3 BLOCK 32 DISTRICT LOT 549 PLAN 9874 

PID: 009-677-313 LOT 1 BLOCK 32 DISTRICT LOT 549 PLAN 9386 

from zones RM-1 and CD-425. 

3. Part 12 of Division VI: Comprehensive Development Zones of Document “A” of “Zoning
Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by:

A. Deleting the original text of Comprehensive Development Zone 425 in Section 1201
in its entirety.

B. Deleting the original text of Comprehensive Development Zone 306 in Section 1201
in its entirety.

C. Replacing the text of Comprehensive Development Zone 306 with the following:

“CD-306 Comprehensive Development 306 Zone” (1540 St. Georges & 215-235 East
16th Street)

In the CD-306 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking
shall be as in the RM-1 Zone, except that:

(1) In the CD-306 Zone, two Principal Buildings – the West Building and the East
Building – shall be permitted on the subject sites as shown in Schedule A:
Buildings and Setbacks;

(2) Gross Floor Area:

(a) Principal Buildings shall not exceed a combined Gross Floor Area of 1.00
times the lot area, provided that this amount may be increased to a



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132 Document: 2698103-v1 

maximum of 1.60 times the lot area through the provision of Adaptable 
Design subject to Section 423; 

 
(b) Notwithstanding 2(a), the maximum Gross Floor Area may be further 

increased, upon entering into a Housing Agreement with the City and the 
payment of a Community Benefit Cash Contribution, from the “Base 
Density” to the “Total Density” as follows: 

 
BASE DENSITY 

OCP Schedule ‘A’ 1.60 FSR 
ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 

ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 

CATEGORY 
DESCRIPTION 

ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 
(BONUS) 

POLICY 
REFERENCE 

Rental Housing 

Secured rental 
apartment units 
(total 196), of 
which 20 are mid-
market rental

1.00 FSR OCP Section 2.2 

Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution 

Provision of a 
Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution of 
$6,302,054.75 for 
an increase of 
density 

0.66 FSR OCP Section 
2.2.1 

    
TOTAL DENSITY 3.26 FSR 

 
163,934 sq.ft. 
(15,230 sq.m)

 

 
(3) Lot Coverage for Principal Buildings shall not exceed 50%; 

 
(4) Siting 
 

(a)  Setbacks from lot lines for Principal Buildings shall conform to the minimum 
distances identified in Schedule A: Buildings and Setbacks; 

 
(b)  The Siting of Buildings and Structures permitted elsewhere in this Bylaw 

may be exceeded for:  
  

i.  Where enclosed exit stairs or stairwells project beyond the face of 
the Principal Building, the minimum distance to an abutting Lot Line 
may be reduced by 1.75 metres (5.74 ft); 

ii.  Where unenclosed balconies or steps project beyond the face of 
the Principal Building, the minimum distance to an abutting Lot Line 
may be reduced by 2.0 metres (6.6 feet); 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132 Document: 2698103-v1 

iii.  Where a canopy at the front entrance of a building projects beyond 
the face of the Principal Building, the minimum distance to an 
abutting Lot Line may be reduced completely for the canopy;  

 
(5) Section 510(2), Unit Separation, shall be waived; 
 
(6) Section 510(3), Building Width and Length, shall be waived;  
 
(7) Section 413(2)(d) shall be waived at the southwest corner of the site for an 

parkade exit stairwell Structure, and at the northeast and southeast corners for 
columns no more than 0.9m wide (3 feet);  

 
(8) Height 
 

(a)  The West Building shall not exceed a Height of 39 metres (127.95 feet) as 
measured from the average Building Grades at the north property line; 

 
(b) The East Building shall not exceed a Height of 20 metres (65.6 feet) as 

measured from the average Building Grades at the north property line; 
 

(c)  The Heights of Buildings and Structures permitted elsewhere in the Bylaw 
may be exceeded for:  

 
i.  Mechanical rooms, ventilating machines, elevator overruns, parapet 

walls, architectural appurtenances, guard rails, Garden Structures, 
staircase and elevator structures by not more than 6.1 metres (20 
feet); 

ii. Fully screen mechanical equipment, located at least 2 metres (9.8 
feet) from the roof edge, by not more than 6.1 metres (20 feet); 

 
(9) Section 906(5)(b) shall be varied to allow one driveway crossing width of 7 

metres (23 feet); 
 
(10)  Section 10A05(1)(b) shall be varied to allow Secure Bicycle Parking Spaces in 

the West Building to be located at any level; 
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132 Document: 2698103-v1 

(11)  Part 11: Inclusionary Zoning Requirements for Residential Development, shall 
be waived.  

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 20<>. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
20<>. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 20<>. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 20<>. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132 Document: 2698103-v1 

CD-306 
  

Amending Bylaw No. 9132 
SCHEDULE A Page 1 of 1 

 
 

BUILDINGS AND SETBACKS 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 9133 

A Bylaw to enter into a Housing Agreement 
(1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street) 

WHEREAS Section 483 of the Local Government Act R.S.B.C. 2015 c.1 permits a local 
government to enter into a housing agreement for rental housing. 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025,
No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, Rental
Housing Commitments).

2. The Council hereby authorizes The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver to enter into
a Housing Agreement to secure rental housing commitments with the owner of lands having
a civic address of 1540 St. Georges Avenue and 215-235 East 16th Street, North Vancouver,
legally described as below, substantially in the form attached to this bylaw.

3. The Mayor and Corporate Officer are authorized to execute the Housing Agreement and
any documents required to give effect to the Housing Agreement.

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2025. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2025. 

MAYOR 

CORPORATE OFFICER 

Land Description
Lot Block D.L. Plan PID
1 32 549 9874 007-355-084
2 32 549 9874 009-440-330
3 32 549 9874 009-440-381
1 32 549 9386 009-677-313



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

PART 2 – TERMS OF INSTRUMENT 
 

RENTAL HOUSING AGREEMENT AND SECTION 219 COVENANT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, 
 
BETWEEN: 
 

RED EAST 16TH PROJECTS LTD., INC.NO. BC1290998 
SUITE 1880-320 GRANVILLE STREET 
VANCOUVER, BC 
V6C 1S9 
AS TO AN UNDIVIDED 6667/10000 INTEREST 
 
RED TWELVE E16 CONDO LANDS LTD., INC.NO. BC1486992 
SUITE 1880-320 GRANVILLE STREET 
VANCOUVER, BC 
V6C 1S9 
AS TO AN UNDIVIDED 2333/10000 INTEREST 
 
RED TWELVE E16 RENTAL LANDS LTD., INC.NO. BC1486987 
SUITE 1880-320 GRANVILLE STREET 
VANCOUVER, BC 
V6C 1S9 
AS TO AN UNDIVIDED 1000/10000 INTEREST 
 
(the “Owner”) 

 
AND: 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
a municipal corporation pursuant to the Local Government Act and 
having its offices at 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, British 
Columbia, V7M 1H9 
 
(the “City”) 

 
WHEREAS: 
 
A. The Owner is the registered and beneficial owner of the Lands. 
 
B. The City is a municipal corporation incorporated pursuant to the Local Government Act, 

RSBC 2015, c. 1 and the Community Charter, SBC 2003, c. 26.  
 
C. Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 (the “Land Title Act”) permits 

registration of a covenant in favour of a municipality in respect of the use of land or the 
use of a building on or to be erected on land, that land is or is not to be built on except in 
accordance with the covenant and that land is not to be subdivided except in accordance 
with the covenant. 

 
D. Section 483 of the Act permits a local government to, by bylaw, enter into a housing 

agreement that may include terms and conditions regarding the occupancy of the housing 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

units identified in the agreement, including respecting the form of tenure of the housing 
units, the availability of the housing units to classes of persons, the administration and 
management of the housing units and the rents and lease, sale or share prices that may 
be charged. 

 
E. The City has adopted a bylaw authorizing this Agreement. 
 
F. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 219 of the 

Land Title Act and section 483 of the Act. 
 
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) now paid by the City to 
the Owner and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which the 
Owner hereby acknowledges), the Owner and the City covenant each with the other as follows: 
 
1. DEFINITIONS 
 

(a) “Act” means the Local Government Act, RSBC 2015, c.1 as amended from time 
to time; 

 
(b) “Affordable Rent" means with respect to each Mid-Market Rental Unit a rent 

payment amount equal to 10% below the “Private Apartment Average Rents” for 
the corresponding bedroom type in the City of North Vancouver as established by 
CMHC’s Housing Market Information Portal for the year the tenancy is entered 
into; 

 
(c) “Agreement” means this agreement as amended from time to time; 

 
(d) “Commencement Date” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein; 

 
(e) “Council” means the municipal council for the City of North Vancouver; 

 
(f) “CMHC” means Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation; 

 
(g) “Director, Planning and Development” means the chief administrator of the 

Department of Planning of the City and their successors in function and their 
respective nominees; 

 
(h) “Dwelling Unit” means a dwelling unit as defined in the City of North Vancouver’s 

“Zoning Bylaw 1995, No. 6700” as amended from time to time; 
 

(i) “Lands” means those lands and premises legally described as: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Land Description
Lot Block D.L. Plan PID
1 32 549 9874 007-355-084 
2 32 549 9874 009-440-330 
3 32 549 9874 009-440-381 
1 32 549 9386 009-677-313 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

(j) “Mid-Market Rental Units” means the 20 Dwelling Units in the Residential 
Buildings to be constructed on the Lands that are rented to tenants for Affordable 
Rent; 

 
(l) “Maximum Household Income” means an annual gross household income 

determined by multiplying Affordable Rent by 12 to yield the households’ annual 
housing costs, and divide by 30% (0.30) to meet the standard definition of 
affordability; 

 
(m) “Rental Purposes” means an occupancy or intended occupancy which is or would 

be governed by a tenancy agreement as defined in Section 1 of the Residential 
Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78 as amended from time to time between the Owner 
and the tenant; 

 
(n) “Rental Units” means the Market Rental Units and the Mid-Market Rental Units; 

 
(o) “Residential Buildings” means the 12-storey and 6-storey buildings to be 

constructed on the Lands with 249 Dwelling Units, of which 176 Dwelling Units will 
be Market Rental Units, to be used for Rental Purposes, and 20 Dwelling Units will 
be Mid-Market Rental Units; 

 
(p) “RT Act” means the Residential Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78; 

 
(q) “Rezoning Bylaw” means the rezoning bylaw applicable to the Lands described 

as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 9132”;  
 

(r) “Section 219 Covenant” means a covenant pursuant to Section 219 of the Land 
Title Act;  

 
(s) “Tenancy Agreement” means an agreement, whether written or oral, express or 

implied, between the Owner and a tenant respecting possession or occupancy of 
a Rental Unit;  

 
(t) “Tenant Relocation Plan” means the Tenant Relocation Plan dated October 3, 

2025, as prepared by the Owner and approved by the City, to meet the 
requirements of the City’s Residential Tenant Displacement Policy, version H18 
and dated as of July 12, 2021, a copy of which is attached as Schedule A to this 
Agreement; and 

 
(u) “Term” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein. 

 
2. TERM 
 
2.1 This Agreement will commence upon adoption by the City’s Council of “Housing Agreement 

Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133” (1540 St. Georges Avenue & 215-235 East 16th Street, CD-306, 
Rental Housing Commitments) (the “Commencement Date”) and will continue until the date 
this Agreement is terminated in accordance with sections 2.2 or 8.3(c) (the “Term”). 

 
2.2 This Agreement will terminate immediately upon the removal or destruction of the Residential 

Building provided the Residential Building is not repaired or rebuilt following the destruction 
thereof. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

2.3 Subject to section 7.3, upon termination of this Agreement, this Agreement will be at an end 
and of no further force and effect. 

 
3. SECTION 219 COVENANT 
 
3.1 The Owner covenants and agrees with the City as a covenant in favour of the City pursuant 

to Section 219 of the Land Title Act, that during the Term of this Agreement, it being the 
intention and agreement of the Owner that the provisions in this Agreement be annexed 
to, and run with and be a charge upon the Lands, that notwithstanding the Rezoning 
Bylaw, the Lands will be used and built on only in strict compliance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement and that:  

 
(a) the Lands must not be subdivided or stratified; 

 
(b) the Rental Units in the Residential Building must be used for Rental Purposes only 

and all Rental Units must be owned and operated by the Owner, provided that the 
Mid-Market Rental Units may be operated by a non-profit entity engaged by the 
Owner and having expertise in non-market housing, with the approval of the 
Director, Planning and Development; and 

 
(c) no Rental Unit in the Residential Building must be occupied for any purpose except 

for Rental Purposes pursuant to a Tenancy Agreement. 
 
3.2 The Owner further covenants and agrees with the City that the Lands and any buildings 

or structures constructed thereon including the Residential Building must be developed, 
built, and maintained in accordance with all City bylaws, regulations and guidelines as 
amended from time to time. 

 
3.3 Section 7.1 and 7.2 of this Agreement are integral to and form part of this Section 219 

Covenant.  
 
4. TENANCY RESTRICTIONS 
 
4.1 The unit mix for Rental Units in the Residential Buildings will be no fewer than 29 three-

bedroom units, 41 two-bedroom units, 133 one-bedroom units and 46 studio units or as 
otherwise approved in writing by the Director, Planning and Development in their discretion. 

 
4.2 The  Mid-Market Rental Units will be provided in the following unit mix: 3 studio unit(s), 11 

one-bedroom unit(s), 3 two-bedroom unit(s), and 3 three-bedroom unit(s). The Owner may 
only change this mix with the approval in writing by the Director, Planning and Development 
with such approval to be granted in their discretion. The Owner will be entitled to determine 
the locations of the 20 Mid-Market Rental Units within the Residential Building. 

 
4.3 Notwithstanding the number of Dwelling Units that are required to be Mid-Market Rental Units 

as specified in the definitions for Mid-Market Rental Units and Residential Building in this 
Agreement, the Director of Planning and Development may, at their discretion, approve a 
change to the number of Dwelling Units in the Residential Building and, consequently, the 
number of Dwelling Units that are required to be Mid-Market Rental Units, provided that such 
number remains equal to or greater than 10% of the total number of Dwelling Units in the 
Residential Building. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

4.4 The Owner will enter into a minimum 1 year Tenancy Agreement for each of the Mid-
Market Rental Units which will convert to a month to month tenancy at the end of the 1 year 
term. If such a tenancy is ended prior to the end of the Term, the Owner must rent the Mid-
Market Rental Unit at Affordable Rent.  For greater certainty, at the end of each tenancy, 
the Mid-Market Rental Unit will continue to be rented as a Mid-Market Rental Unit at 
Affordable Rent, which obligation will be ongoing at all times during the Term. 

 
5. OWNER’S OBLIGATIONS 
 
5.1 Without limiting section 3.1 of this Agreement: 
 

(a) Management and administration: the management, administration, and associated 
costs with the management and administration of the Rental Units, including the 
Mid-Market Rental Units, will be borne by the Owner or its designated rental agent, 
unless otherwise approved by the City in writing and all Mid-Market Rental Units 
must be managed by one rental agent; 

 
(b) Compliance with Tenant Relocation Plan:  The Owner will fulfil all of the 

commitments set out in the Tenant Relocation Plan and if requested by the City at 
any time, will provide information to the City to confirm compliance with the Tenant 
Relocation Plan; 

 
(c) Advertisement: when the Mid-Market Rental Units first become available, the 

Owner will advertise such units for a minimum of one month on at least two 
common rental property search platforms that allow potential tenants to view 
available properties for rent in North Vancouver without payment of a fee or 
requirement for registration, and the Owner will feature the tenure restrictions set 
out in this Agreement prominently in all advertising of Mid-Market Rental Units. 
When a Mid-Market Rental Unit becomes available for a subsequent, new tenancy, 
the Owner will advertise the unit in accordance with the foregoing requirements for 
a period of at least one week; 

 
(d) Tenant Selection: the Owner will make the Mid-Market Rental Units available, both 

at the first tenancy and each subsequent tenancy, in the following order of priority: 
 

(i) If the Residential Building replaces an existing rental building, then tenants 
from the existing rental building on the Lands being replaced who have 
household incomes at or below the Maximum Household Income will be 
provided first right of refusal in the Mid-Market Rental Units, and have first 
priority, provided that if there are multiple applicants in this category for one 
unit, then applicant families with one or more dependents will have priority 
for units with two or more bedrooms and if applicants are equal in this 
regard, then applications will be considered on a first come-first-served 
basis;  

 
(ii) Households who have been displaced from redevelopment elsewhere in 

the City who have household incomes at or below the Maximum Household 
Income will have second priority, provided that if there are multiple 
applicants in this category for one unit, then applicant families with one or 
more dependents will have priority for units with two or more bedrooms and 
if applicants are equal in this regard, then applications will be considered 
on a first come-first-served basis 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

 
(iii) The Owner will then make any remaining Mid-Market Rental Units not 

rented by tenants from the existing building on the Lands available to 
tenants with an annual household income at or below that the Maximum 
Household Income who are either current residents of the City of North 
Vancouver or who work in the City of North Vancouver and have done so 
for at least six months, provided that if there are multiple applicants in this 
category for one unit, then applicant families with one or more dependents 
will have priority for units with two or more bedrooms and if applicants are 
equal in this regard, then applications will be considered on a first come-
first-served basis;  

 
(iv) If there are any remaining Mid-Market Rental Units not rented by tenants 

who meet the criteria in sections 5.1(d)(i) to (iii) after the expiry of the one-
month advertising period, then the Owner will make such units available to 
tenants who meet the Maximum Household Income requirement; and 

 
(v) Tenants in Mid-Market Rental Units must not have an ownership interest in 

a residential property in the City or in a neighbouring municipality which the 
tenant could otherwise occupy and the Owner will require confirmation from 
the prospective tenant that they meet this requirement at the time of 
tenancy; 

 
(vi) In determining whether a tenant meets the Maximum Household Income 

requirements or the requirement in section 5.1(d)(v), the Owner or its rental 
agent, so long as it acts honestly and in good faith, is entitled to rely on all 
information provided by the prospective tenant and the Owner will have no 
liability if the prospective tenant intentionally or unintentionally provides any 
incorrect information. The Owner is under no obligation to monitor or 
update the financial circumstances of the tenant once the lease is signed. 

 
(e) Rent Amount and Permitted Increases: Affordable Rent for Mid-Market Rental 

Units is to be determined at the time of tenancy. Rent amounts may be 
subsequently increased below or at the permitted annual rent increase then set 
under the RT Act;  

 
(f) Compliance with applicable laws: without restricting the foregoing, the Owner will 

comply with all applicable provisions of the RT Act and any other provincial or 
municipal enactments imposing obligations on landlords in relation to residential 
tenancies; 

 
(g) Performance: the Owner will perform its obligations under this Agreement diligently 

and in good faith; 
 

(h) Information Regarding Unit Availability:  If the City establishes a register for 
availability of Mid-Market Rental Units within the City, the Owner will provide to the 
City information regarding any Mid-Market Rental Units that become available for 
rent, in a form acceptable to the Director, Planning and Development;  

 
(i) Evidence of compliance: provided that the same can be done without breaching 

the Personal Information Protection Act, SBC 2003, c. 63 (as amended from time 
to time) the Owner will, on an annual basis at the time of Business License renewal 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

and upon any other request by the City, supply to the City copies of any 
documentation in possession of the Owner necessary to establish compliance with 
the Owner’s obligations under this Agreement.  

 
6. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 
6.1 The City may, acting reasonably, give to the Owner a written notice (in this section 6.1, the 

“Notice”) requiring the Owner to cure a default under this Agreement within 30 days of receipt 
of the Notice. The Notice must specify the nature of the default. The Owner must act with 
diligence to correct the default within the time specified. 

 
6.2 If the default is not corrected within the time specified, the Owner will pay to the City on 

demand by the City 200 percent of the difference between current market rent, as determined 
by a third-party appraiser, and Affordable Rent for each Mid-Market Rental Unit in default for 
the default year to the end of the Term of the Agreement. The monies collected from default 
will be deposited to the City’s Affordable Housing Reserve Fund.  

 
6.3 The Owner will pay to the City on demand by the City all the City's costs of exercising its 

rights or remedies under this Agreement, on a full indemnity basis. 
 
6.4 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that in case of a breach of this Agreement which is 

not fully remediable by the mere payment of money and promptly so remedied, the harm 
sustained by the City and to the public interest will be irreparable and not susceptible of 
adequate monetary compensation. 

 
6.5 Each party to this Agreement, in addition to its rights under this Agreement or at law, will be 

entitled to all equitable remedies including specific performance, injunction and declaratory 
relief, or any of them, to enforce its rights under this Agreement. 

 
6.6 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it is entering into this Agreement to benefit the 

public interest in providing housing for Rental Purposes, and that the City's rights and 
remedies under this Agreement are necessary to ensure that this purpose is carried out and 
that the City's rights and remedies under this Agreement are fair and reasonable and ought 
not to be construed as a penalty or forfeiture. 

 
6.7 No reference to nor exercise of any specific right or remedy under this Agreement or at law 

or at equity by any party will prejudice, limit or preclude that party from exercising any other 
right or remedy.  No right or remedy will be exclusive or dependent upon any other right or 
remedy, but any party, from time to time, may exercise any one or more of such rights or 
remedies independently, successively, or in combination.  The Owner acknowledges that 
specific performance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise) or other equitable relief may 
be the only adequate remedy of a default by the Owner under this Agreement. 

 
7. LIABILITY 
 
7.1 Pursuant to Section 219(6) of the Land Title Act, except for the negligence of the City or its 

employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will indemnify and save harmless each of the 
City and its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, employees, and agents, and 
their heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, successors and assigns, 
from and against all claims, demands, actions, loss, damage, costs and liabilities, which all 
or any of them will or may be liable for or suffer or incur or be put to by reason of or arising 
out of: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

 
(a) any act or omission, negligent or otherwise, by the Owner, or its officers, directors, 

employees, agents, contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is 
responsible;  

 
(b) the Owner’s default under this Agreement; and 

 
(c) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 

provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 
 
7.2 Except to the extent such advice or direction is given negligently, the Owner hereby releases 

and forever discharges the City, its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns from and against all claims, demands, damages, 
actions or causes of action by reason of or arising out of advice or direction respecting the 
ownership, operation or management of the Lands for the provision of housing for Rental 
Purposes which has been or hereafter may be given to the Owner by all or any of them. 

 
7.3 The covenants of the Owner set out in sections 7.1 and 7.2 of this Agreement will survive the 

expiration or the earlier termination of this Agreement and will continue to apply to any breach 
of the Agreement and to any claims arising under this Agreement during the ownership by 
the Owner of the Lands. 

 
8. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
8.1 The Owner agrees to reimburse the City for all legal costs reasonably incurred by the City for 

the preparation, execution and registration of this Agreement and notice of this Agreement 
which is required to be filed pursuant to the Act. The Owner will bear their own costs, legal 
or otherwise, connected with the preparation, execution or registration of this Agreement. 

 
8.2 Nothing in this Agreement: 
 

(a) affects or limits any discretion, rights, powers, duties or obligations of the City under 
any enactment or at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of 
land; 

 
(b) affects or limits any enactment relating to the use of the Lands or any condition 

contained in any approval including any development permit concerning the 
development of the Lands; or 

 
(c) relieves the Owner from complying with any enactment, including the City's bylaws 

in relation to the use of the Lands. 
 
8.3 The Owner and the City agree that: 
 

(a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 
 

(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, occupier or user 
of the Lands or any portion of it including the Rental Units and the Limited Common 
Property; and 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

(c) without limiting part 2 of this Agreement, the City may at any time execute a release 
and discharge of this Agreement in respect of the Lands, without liability to anyone 
for doing so. 

 
8.4 This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and any part into which any of them may 

be subdivided or consolidated, by strata plan or otherwise.  All of the covenants and 
agreements contained in this Agreement are made by the Owner for itself, its successors 
and assigns, and all persons who acquire an interest in the Lands after the date of this 
Agreement.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Owner will not be liable for 
any breach of any covenant, promise or agreement herein in respect of any portion of the 
Lands sold, assigned, considered or otherwise disposed of, occurring after the Owner has 
ceased to be the owner of the Lands. 

 
8.5 The covenants and agreements on the part of the Owner in this Agreement have been made 

by the Owner as contractual obligations as well as being made pursuant to section 483 of 
the Act and as such will be binding on the Owner. 

 
8.6 The Owner will, at its expense, do or cause to be done all acts reasonably necessary to 

ensure this Agreement and notice of this Agreement is registered against the title to the 
Lands, including any amendments to this Agreement as may be required by the Land Title 
Office or the City to effect such registration. 

 
8.7 The City and the Owner each intend by execution and delivery of this Agreement to create 

both a contract and a deed under seal. 
 
8.8 An alleged waiver by a party of any breach by another party of its obligations under this 

Agreement will be effective only if it is an express waiver of the breach in writing.  No waiver 
of a breach of this Agreement is deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver of any other 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
8.9 If a Court of competent jurisdiction finds that any part of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or 

unenforceable, that part is to be considered to have been severed from the rest of this 
Agreement and the rest of this Agreement remains in force unaffected by that holding or by 
the severance of that part. 

 
8.10 Every obligation of a party which is set out in this Agreement will extend throughout the Term 

and, to the extent that any obligation ought to have been observed or performed prior to or 
upon the expiry or earlier termination of the Term, such obligation will survive the expiry or 
earlier termination of the Term until it has been observed or performed. 

 
8.11 All notices, demands, or requests of any kind, which a party may be required or permitted to 

serve on another in connection with this Agreement, must be in writing and may be served 
on the other parties by registered mail, by facsimile or e-mail transmission, or by personal 
service, to the following address for each party: 

 
City: The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 

141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, British Columbia 
V7M 1H9 
Attention: Director, Planning & Development 
Facsimile: 604.985.0576 
Email: planning@cnv.org 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

 
The Owner: 

 
RED EAST 16TH PROJECTS LTD., INC.NO. BC1290998 
SUITE 1880-320 GRANVILLE STREET 
VANCOUVER, BC 
V6C 1S9 
AS TO AN UNDIVIDED 6667/10000 INTEREST 
 
RED TWELVE E16 CONDO LANDS LTD., INC.NO. BC1486992 
SUITE 1880-320 GRANVILLE STREET 
VANCOUVER, BC 
V6C 1S9 
AS TO AN UNDIVIDED 2333/10000 INTEREST 
 
RED TWELVE E16 RENTAL LANDS LTD., INC.NO. BC1486987 
SUITE 1880-320 GRANVILLE STREET 
VANCOUVER, BC 
V6C 1S9 
AS TO AN UNDIVIDED 1000/10000 INTEREST 

 
 
Attention: Mackenzie Biggar 
Email: MackenzieB@adera.com 
Phone: 604.648.4366 

 
Service of any such notice, demand, or request will be deemed complete, if made by 
registered mail, 72 hours after the date and hour of mailing, except where there is a postal 
service disruption during such period, in which case service will be deemed to be complete 
only upon actual delivery of the notice, demand or request; if made by facsimile or e-mail 
transmission, on the first business day after the date when the facsimile or e-mail 
transmission was transmitted; and if made by personal service, upon personal service being 
effected.  Any party, from time to time, by notice in writing served upon the other parties, may 
designate a different address or different or additional persons to which all notices, demands, 
or requests are to be addressed. 

 
8.12 Upon request by the City, the Owner will promptly do such acts and execute such documents 

as may be reasonably necessary, in the opinion of the City, to give effect to this Agreement. 
 
8.13 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties and their 

successors and permitted assigns. 
 
9. INTERPRETATION 
 
9.1 Gender specific terms include both genders and include corporations.  Words in the singular 

include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular. 
 
9.2 The division of this Agreement into sections and the use of headings are for convenience of 

reference only and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the construction of any provision.  
In all cases, the language in this Agreement is to be construed simply according to its fair 
meaning, and not strictly for or against either party. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 12 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

9.3 The word "including" when following any general statement or term is not to be construed to 
limit the general statement or term to the specific items which immediately follow the general 
statement or term to similar items whether or not words such as "without limitation" or "but 
not limited to" are used, but rather the general statement or term is to be construed to refer 
to all other items that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of the general 
statement or term. 

 
9.4 The words "must" and "will" are to be construed as imperative. 
 
9.5 Any reference in this Agreement to any statute or bylaw includes any subsequent 

amendment, re-enactment, or replacement of that statute or bylaw. 
 
9.6 This is the entire agreement between the City and the Owner concerning its subject, and 

there are no warranties, representations, conditions or collateral agreements relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement, except as included in this Agreement.  This Agreement 
may be amended only by a document executed by the parties to this Agreement and by 
bylaw, such amendment to be effective only upon adoption by City Council of an amending 
bylaw to “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133”. 

 
9.7 This Agreement is to be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of British Columbia and the laws of Canada applicable therein. 
 
9.8 This Agreement can be signed in counterpart. 
 
IN WITNESS OF THIS AGREEMENT the City and the Owner have executed this Agreement by 
signing the “Form C – General Instrument – Part 1” or “Form D – Executions Continued” attached 
hereto.  
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 13 
Bylaw, 2025, No. 9133 Document: 2698098-v3 

SCHEDULE A 
TENANT RELOCATION PLAN 

[see attached] 



P a g e  | 1 

Mackenzie Biggar 
Direct Line:  604.648.4366 

Email:  makcenzieb@adera.com 

October 15, 2025 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC  

To Whom It May Concern: 

Re: 215 East 16th Street, 235 East 16th Street, 1540 St. Georges Avenue, North Vancouver 
Tenant Relocation Plan 

Please find below the Tenant Relocation Plan (TRP), prepared in accordance with the City of North 
Vancouver’s Residential Tenant Displacement Policy (H18), for the proposed development at 215 East 16th 
Street, 235 East 16th Street, and 1540 St. Georges Avenue. 

Current Occupancy Summary  

A summary of existing tenancies for all three buildings is attached as Appendix A. 

Tenant Communication Plan 

Tenants will be actively engaged throughout the development application process. Support resources—
including those offered through the Tenant Resource & Advisory Centre (TRAC)—will be made available to 
all tenants. 

Correspondence to the tenants follows the timeline below. Copies of all correspondence will be submitted 
to City staff as required. 

1. Introduction Meeting – COMPLETE (September 7, 2021)
Tenants were invited to a virtual meeting outlining the development process, the Tenant
Displacement Policy, compensation information, and available support resources, including the
Tenant Relocation Coordinator. The meeting was led by Prospero and the Developer did not attend.
Correspondence/notification records are attached as Appendix B.

2. Tenant Information Meeting – COMPLETE (November 20, 2024)
Tenants were invited to a virtual meeting to provide an overview of the proposed plans, answer
questions, and allow for open discussion. The meeting was intended to ensure tenants had a clear
understanding of the project and available resources. The meeting was led by Prospero and the
Developer did not attend. Eight tenants attended, with the primary questions and concerns focused
on the BC Housing Rental Application process. Correspondence/notification records are attached
as Appendix C.

3. Development Information Session– COMPLETE (November 26, 2024)
Tenants were invited to attend an in-person public Development Information Session to meet the
project team, review the vision for the site, ask questions, and share feedback on the proposal. Two 
tenants attended the session. Correspondence/notification records are attached as Appendix D.



P a g e  | 2 
 

 
 

 
4. Town Hall Meeting – COMPLETE (September 9, 2025) 

Tenants were invited to attend a public virtual Town Hall meeting for the project hosted by the 
Adera team. Correspondence/notification records are attached as Appendix E.  
 

5. Public Hearing 
Tenants will be provided with information to attend the Public Hearing for this development when 
it receives First and Second Reading. This letter will include an update on the municipal process 
and a reminder about the resources available to them. 

 
6. Adoption of Bylaw letter 

Tenants will be provided with confirmation of Rezoning and Development Permit approval should 
the project be approved by Mayor and Council. This letter will include information about S.49 of the 
Residential Tenancy Act (requiring 4 months’ eviction notice once the Demolition Permit has been 
issued) and a reminder about the resources available to them. 

 
7. Eviction Notice 

After the Demolition Permit has been issued, tenants will receive an eviction notice in compliance 
with the Residential Tenancy Act. The letter will include a reminder of available relocation and 
compensation resources. 

 
Tenant Relocation Coordinator 
 
Prospero International Realty Inc. (Prospero) has been engaged as the Tenant Relocation Coordinator. 
Prospero specializes in the management of residential and commercial rental properties located in the 
Lower Mainland. They currently manage over 100 such properties; 5 of which are residential buildings 
located in the Lonsdale area.  
 
Prospero has experience with tenant relocation in eight other residential buildings in various municipalities, 
including the City of North Vancouver. Jeff Nightingale, VP Residential Properties at Prospero, will act as 
the Tenant Relocation Coordinator. 
 
Tenant Relocation 
 
Per the Residential Tenant Displacement Policy, the maximum rent for a comparable home should not 
exceed the greater of: 

a) 10% above the tenant’s current rent; or  

b) 10% above the most recently published CMHC median rent level, by number of bedrooms, for 
the City of North Vancouver. 

 
The current average rent as established by the CMHC is as follows: 
 
 

 
Number of Bedrooms 

Average Rent 
(2024 CMHC Rental Market Report1) 

Target Maximum Rent 
(Average Rent + 10%) 

Bachelor $1,608.00 $1,768.80 
One Bedroom $1,802.00 $1,982.20 
Two Bedroom $2,309.00 $2,539.90 

Three Bedroom $3,888.00 $4,276.80 
 

 
1 North Vancouver CY - Average Rent by Bedroom Type by Neighborhood, October 2024, Apartment, CMHC 



P a g e  | 3 
 

 
 

 
A status report that tracks the units found for each tenant will be provided to the City prior to the issuance 
of a Demolition Permit. Tenants that opt out of this home search service will be required to provide written 
notice to the Tenant Relocation Coordinator for submission to the City. Tenants may also change the 
criteria of the alternative units with written notice.  
 
Ongoing Tenant Support and Rental Options 
 
Since early 2023, Prospero has been actively supporting tenants at 215 East 16th Street, 235 East 16th 
Street, and 1540 St. Georges Avenue by providing monthly rental listings tailored to tenant needs and 
current rental rates.  

These listings regularly include nearby rental opportunities, many of which fall within the City’s established 
tenant relocation rent thresholds. For example, in May 2025, Prospero offered multiple units to tenants, 
with sample listings attached as Appendix F. These are sent to the building manager at the beginning of 
each month, then printed and distributed to tenants by unit number. To date, no tenants have requested 
additional support with securing replacement units, so no tailored listings have been provided. 

This consistent support gives tenants a greater window to plan their next steps and demonstrates an 
ongoing commitment to ensuring responsible and supported relocation. To date, no tenants have made 
special requests or asked for additional assistance in finding accommodation. 
 
Compensation 

All eligible tenants will be compensated with financial assistance equivalent to a minimum 4 months of 
their current rent. 

In addition to this baseline amount, tenants whose tenancy began five or more years prior to the date the 
Development Application is submitted will receive additional financial assistance based on the length of 
time they have resided in the building. This will be calculated at a rate of $25 per month for each full month’s 
tenancy beyond five years.   These compensation guidelines are directed by the City of North Vancouver 
Tenant Relocation Policy.  
 

Length of Tenancy  Financial Compensation Amount 
Less than 5 years  4 months’ rent 
More than 5 years  4 months’ rent plus ((total tenancy length in months – 60) x $25) 

If an eligible tenant moves out prior to approval of the rezoning application, financial compensation 
(including the moving expenses detailed below) will be provided to the tenant no later than immediately 
following final adoption of the rezoning bylaw(s). For all other eligible tenants, financial compensation will 
be provided to the tenant no later than the date they move out, regardless of whether a demolition permit 
has been obtained or an eviction notice has been served.   

Tenants will be compensated for moving expenses with a flat rate payment based on number of bedrooms. 
The below amounts should be adjusted upwards annually from the date the policy is adopted based on the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI):  

a) $1,000 for studio and 1 bedroom units;  

b) $1,250 for 2 bedroom units; and  

c) $1,500 for 3 bedroom and larger units. 

 

A copy of the Termination of Tenancy/Compensation Agreement in attached as Appendix G. 
 



P a g e  | 4 
 

 
 

Right of First Refusal  
 
Displaced tenants will be provided first right of refusal to live in the rental units of the new building. The 
Tenant Relocation Coordinator will document all tenants who want to return to the new building and the 
status of their tenancy prior to the issuance of an Occupancy Permit.  
 
Under the City’s Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, 10 percent of units will provide mid-market 
rent (MMR) units, as determined by CMHC. Displaced tenants will be provided first opportunity to rent these 
units if they meet eligibility requirements at the time the unit becomes available.  
 
A template of the Right of First Refusal letter is attached as Appendix H of this document. This letter will 
be resent to any tenants who have previously moved out and expressed that they wish to exercise their first 
right of refusal and any tenants moving out in the future who express they wish to exercise their first right 
of refusal.  

 
 
Development Application Approval 
 
Tenants will be provided with at least four months’ notice per the Residential Tenancy Act, after the 
Demolition Permit has been issued.  
 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact us if you require any additional information. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
RED Twelve E16 Adera Projects Ltd. 
RED East 16th Limited Partnership 
 
 
 
 
Mackenzie Biggar 
Vice President, Development & Sustainability



P a g e  | 5 
 

 

Appendix A: Current Occupancy Summary 

The following tables outline the current tenancy of the buildings: 
 

215 East 16th Street   
    

CURRENT TENANCY & COMPENSATION SUMMARY REPLACEMENT UNIT INFORMATION 
(Unit Tenant Relocated To) 

Unit 
Number 

Tenancy 
Type 

Unit 
Size  
(SF) 

Number 
Bedrooms 

Tenancy 
Start 

(MM/DD/YYYY) 

Tenancy 
End 

(MM/DD/YYYY) 

Rent  
($) 

Tenure 
Compensation 

Paid 
($) 

Moving 
Expenses 

Paid 
($) 

Right 
of First 
Refusal 

Tenant Replacement Unit Preferences 
(Prior to Relocation) 

Replacement Unit 
Number of 
Bedrooms 

Replacement Unit 
Rent Deferrals 

1 Month-to-Month 600 1 12/01/2017  1,459.00       
101 Month-to-Month 600 1 11/01/2016  1,449.00       
102 Month-to-Month 800 2 06/01/2015 09/30/2022 N/A 7,830.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
103 Month-to-Month 800 2 07/01/2013  1,705.00       
104 Month-to-Month 600 1 09/01/2018 07/31/2024 N/A 6,146.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
105 Month-to-Month 600 1 08/01/2015  1,465.00       
106 Month-to-Month 800 2 07/01/2019  2,088.00       
107 Month-to-Month 800 2 07/01/2013  1,705.00       
108 Month-to-Month 600 1 12/01/2007 04/30/2025 N/A 9,624.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
201 Month-to-Month 800 2 11/01/2002  1,615.00       
202 Month-to-Month 800 2 08/01/2013 02/29/2024 N/A 9,206.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
203 Month-to-Month 800 2 07/01/2020 09/30/2024 1,900.00 7,904.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
204 Month-to-Month 600 1 06/01/2020  1,395.00       
205 Month-to-Month 600 1 09/01/2014  1,406.00       
206 Month-to-Month 800 2 10/01/2010  1,747.00       
207 Month-to-Month 800 2 09/01/2012  1,880.00       
208 Month-to-Month 800 2 10/01/2015  1,918.00       
301 Month-to-Month 800 2 01/01/2018  1,907.00       
302 Month-to-Month 800 2 08/01/2021  1,925.00       
303 Month-to-Month 800 2 10/01/2018 04/20/2023 N/A 7,740.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
304 Month-to-Month 600 1 05/01/2016  1,486.00       
305 Month-to-Month 600 1 06/01/2021  1,551.00       
306 Month-to-Month 800 2 10/01/2004  1,450.00       
307 Month-to-Month 800 2 07/01/2018 12/31/2024 N/A 8,289.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
308 Month-to-Month 800 2 02/01/2015 09/30/2022 N/A 7,895.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
308 Month-to-Month 800 2 04/01/2023  2,771.00       



P a g e  | 6 
 

 
 

NON-ELIGIBLE (SHORT TERM) TENANCIES 
102 Month-to-Month 800 2 12/15/2024  2,300.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
104 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/01/2024  1,900.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
202 Month-to-Month 800 2 11/01/2024  2,400.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
203 Month-to-Month 800 2 12/01/2024  1,900.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
303 Month-to-Month 800 2 11/01/2024  2,300.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 
 
 
235 East 16th Street 

  

    
CURRENT TENANCY & COMPENSATION SUMMARY REPLACEMENT UNIT INFORMATION 

(Unit Tenant Relocated To) 
Unit 

Number 
Tenancy 

Type 
Unit 
Size  
(SF) 

Number 
Bedrooms 

Tenancy 
Start 

(MM/DD/YYYY) 

Tenancy 
End 

(MM/DD/YYYY) 

Rent  
($) 

Tenure 
Compensation 

Paid 
($) 

Moving 
Expenses 

Paid 
($) 

Right 
of First 
Refusal 

Tenant Replacement Unit Preferences 
(Prior to Relocation) 

Replacement Unit 
Number of 
Bedrooms 

Replacement Unit 
Rent Deferrals 

101 Month-to-Month 600 2 08/01/2021 06/30/2022 N/A 7,260.00 1,250.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
101 Month-to-Month 800 2 02/01/2023  1,442.00       
102 Month-to-Month 600 1 09/01/2012  1,027.00       
103 Month-to-Month 600 1 07/01/2021 08/31/2024 N/A  6,188.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested   
104 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/15/2019 01/31/2025 N/A  4,419.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested   
201 Month-to-Month 800 2 11/01/2020 03/31/2023 N/A  6,800.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested   
202 Month-to-Month 600 1 08/15/2009 12/31/2024 N/A 7,260.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
203 Month-to-Month 600 1 11/01/2012  1,059.00        
204 Month-to-Month 600 1 04/01/2015 04/30/2022 N/A  4,320.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
205 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/1/2019 10/31/2021 N/A  N/A      
206 Month-to-Month 600 1 07/15/2014  1,086.00        
207 Month-to-Month 600 1 04/01/1989  1,033.00        
301 Month-to-Month 800 2 09/01/2000 09/30/2021 N/A  N/A      
302 Month-to-Month 600 1 06/22/2014 06/30/2023 N/A 5,300.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
303 Month-to-Month 600 1 07/01/2017 05/31/2023 N/A 4,850.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
304 Month-to-Month 600 1 11/01/2018 4/30/2022 N/A 5,480.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested   
305 Month-to-Month 800 2 12/01/2013 09/30/2024 N/A 5,801.00 1,250.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
306 Month-to-Month 600 1 07/01/2019 9/30/2021 N/A 5,500.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
306 Month-to-Month 600 1 11/1/2021 9/30/2022 N/A 5,060.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
307 Month-to-Month 600 1 09/01/1989  1,071.00       



P a g e  | 7 
 

 
 

NON-ELIGIBLE (SHORT TERM) TENANCIES 
103 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/01/2024  1,850.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
104 Month-to-Month 600 1 02/01/2025  1,300.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
304 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/01/2024  1,850.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

1540 St. Georges Avenue   
    

CURRENT TENANCY & COMPENSATION SUMMARY REPLACEMENT UNIT INFORMATION 
(Unit Tenant Relocated To) 

Unit 
Number 

Tenancy 
Type 

Unit 
Size  
(SF) 

Number 
Bedrooms 

Tenancy 
Start 

(MM/DD/YYYY) 

Tenancy 
End 

(MM/DD/YYYY) 

Rent  
($) 

Tenure 
Compensation 

Paid 
($) 

Moving 
Expenses 

Paid 
($) 

Right 
of First 
Refusal 

Tenant Replacement Unit 
Preferences (Prior to Relocation) 

Replacement Unit 
Number of 
Bedrooms 

Replacement Unit 
Rent Deferrals 

100 Month-to-Month 800 2 04/01/2003  1,331.00        
101 Month-to-Month 800 2 12/01/2020 10/31/2022 1,470.00  5,880.00 1,250.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
101 Month-to-Month 800 2 04/01/2023  2,558.00       
102 Month-to-Month 600 1 06/01/2010  1,086.00        
103 Month-to-Month 600 1 020/1/2014  1,129.00        
104 Month-to-Month 600 1 03/01/2011  1,086.00        
105 Month-to-Month 600 1 01/15/2021  1,209.00        
201 Month-to-Month 800 2 04/01/1990  1,336.00        
202 Month-to-Month 600 1 03/01/2010  1,097.00        
203 Month-to-Month 600 1 01/01/2013 04/31/2022 1,060.00  5,515.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
204 Month-to-Month 800 2 08/01/2014 10/31/2021 1,279.00  N/A      
204 Month-to-Month 800 2 05/01/2023 07/31/2024 2,484.00 Abandoned the unit  No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
205 Month-to-Month 600 1 09/01/2010 04/30/2022 990.00  5,935.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
206 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/01/2019  1,209.00        
207 Month-to-Month 800 2 07/01/2019 09/30/2022 1,520.00  6,080.00 1,250.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
207 Month-to-Month 800 2 03/01/2023  2,558.00       
301 Month-to-Month 800 2 04/01/2015  1,401.00        
302 Month-to-Month 600 1 04/01/2015  1,145.00        
303 Month-to-Month 600 1 09/01/2015 08/31/2021 1,078.00  4,587.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
303 Month-to-Month 600 1 10/01/2021 10/31/2022 1,420.00  5,680.00 1,000.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
304 Month-to-Month 800 2 08/01/2016 11/30/2021 1,279.00  5,191.00 1,250.00 Yes No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
305 Month-to-Month 600 1 06/01/2011 11/30/2023 1,030.00  6,345.00 1,000.00 No No Additional Assistance Requested Info Not Provided Info Not Provided 
306 Month-to-Month 600 1 08/01/2016  1,150.00        
307 Month-to-Month 800 2 12/01/2018  1,539.00        



P a g e  | 8 
 

 
 

NON-ELIGIBLE (SHORT TERM) TENANCIES 
203 Month-to-Month 600 1 11/01/2024  1,800.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
204 Month-to-Month 800 2 01/01/2025  2,200.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
205 Month-to-Month 600 1 04/15/2025  1,500.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
303 Month-to-Month 600 1 05/1/2025  1,750.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
304 Month-to-Month 800 2 03/15/2025  1,850.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
305 Month-to-Month 600 1 03/01/2025  1,066.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 



P a g e  | 8 
 

 

 

Appendix B: Introduction Meeting Correspondence 

 

 



P a g e  | 9 
 

 
 

 

 



P a g e  | 10 
 

 
 

Appendix C: Tenant Information Meeting Correspondence 

Notice of Tenant Meeting 
 

 

  



P a g e  | 11 
 

 
 

 

Tenant Meeting Minutes 

 

 



P a g e  | 12 
 

 
 

Appendix D: Developer Information Session Invitations 

Notice of Developer Information Session 

 
  



P a g e  | 13 
 

 
 

 

Resident Mailer – Distributed to All Households Within 100m of the Site (Page 1 of 2) 

 



P a g e  | 14 
 

 
 

 

Resident Mailer – Distributed to All Households Within 100m of the Site (Page 1 of 2) 

 



P a g e  | 15 
 

 
 

 

Notification Signs – Erected on Site  
 

 

  



P a g e  | 16 
 

 
 

Appendix E: Town Hall Tenant Invitations 

Virtual Town Hall Invitation – Residents of 1540 St. Georges Avenue 

 



P a g e  | 17 
 

 
 

 

Virtual Town Hall Invitation – Residents of 215 East 16th Street 

 



P a g e  | 18 
 

 
 

Virtual Town Hall Invitation – Residents of 235 East 16th Street 

 

  



P a g e  | 19 
 

 
 

 

Resident Mailer – Distributed to All Households Within 100m of the Site  

 



P a g e  | 20 
 

 
 

 

Notification Signs – Erected on Site  

 

 

 
  



P a g e  | 21 
 

 
 

Appendix F: Ongoing Rental Options Communication Example 

 
MAY 2025 (Page 1 of 2) 

 

 



P a g e  | 22 
 

 
 

MAY 2025 (Page 2 of 2) 

 

 



P a g e  | 23 
 

 
 

JUNE 2025 (Page 1 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 24 
 

 
 

JUNE 2025 (Page 2 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 25 
 

 
 

JULY 2025 (Page 1 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 26 
 

 
 

JULY 2025 (Page 2 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 27 
 

 
 

AUGUST 2025 (Page 1 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 28 
 

 
 

AUGUST 2025 (Page 2 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 29 
 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 2025 (Page 1 of 2) 

 

  



P a g e  | 30 
 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 2025 (Page 2 of 2) 

 
 
 
 



P a g e  | 31 
 

 
 

Appendix G: Termination/Compensation Agreement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



P a g e  | 32 
 

 
 

Appendix H: First Right of Refusal Letter 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Document Number: 2717686 

_________ 
General 
Manager 

_________ 
CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
  OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Amelia Cifarelli, Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer 

Subject: 2026 GENERAL LOCAL ELECTION PLANNING UPDATE 

Date: October 15, 2025 File No:  09-4200-20-0077/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.  Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate 
Officer, dated October 15, 2025, entitled “2026 General Local Election Planning 
Update”: 

THAT the report of the Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer, 
dated October 15, 2025, entitled “2026 General Local Election Planning Update”, 
be received for information. 

SUMMARY 

This report provides an update on the 2026 General Local Election budget, offers clarity 
on what elements of the General Local Election can be delegated to the Chief Election 
Officer, and provides an overview of the draft Communications Plan for the upcoming 
election. 

BACKGROUND 

At the July 7, 2025 Regular Council meeting, Council passed the following resolution: 

THAT “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2025, No. 
9117” be referred back to staff to incorporate requested changes and report back 
to Council; 

THAT the component regarding All Candidates Meetings be referred back to staff 
for further research and report back to Council; 



REPORT: 2026 General Local Election Planning Update 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 4 

THAT staff create a strategic communications and engagement plan for general 
local elections to help guide development and implementation of potential new 
civic awareness, education and engagement opportunities; 
 
THAT staff be directed to explore what elements of election regulations can be 
delegated to the Chief Election Officer / Corporate Officer versus what should be 
included in a bylaw and report back to Council; 
 
AND THAT staff report back to Council in the fourth quarter of 2025 with 
anticipated initiatives, communication strategies and costs for the 2026 General 
Local Election. 

 
Staff are in the process of finalizing the amendments to the Election Sign Bylaw as well 
as the Election Bylaw and Automated Vote Counting Bylaw, and gathering a fulsome 
history on the previous All Candidates Meetings. A subsequent report will be brought 
forward later this quarter for Council’s consideration. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The planning for the 2026 General Local Election is currently underway. There will be 
some changes implemented in 2026 including aligning the hiring process for election 
workers, and updated communications strategies to reach eligible voters within the City. 
 
2026 General Local Election Budget 
A budget for the 2026 General Local Election has been incorporated into the 2026-2030 
Financial Plan for Council’s consideration. Each year, the City sets aside funding in a 
reserve for election years, with the expenses all incurred in an election year. Over the 
last election cycles, costs to implement elections have risen beyond the amount 
budgeted to be set aside each year, including technology, staffing costs and materials. 
A one-time top-up of $165,000 is being requested for 2026, and the annual amount set 
aside in the future for elections will increase. These changes will ensure there is 
adequate funding to implement a defensible and efficient election.     
 
Below is the Proposed 2026 General Local Election Budget: 
 

Line Item Cost
Remuneration $262,000 
Vendors $148,000 
Communications and Engagement $90,000 
General Expenses $25,000 

Total $525,000 
 
In 2026, there are new administrative process requirements in place for election 
workers including modernizing procedures to progress with industry best practices and 
aligning procedures more closely with Elections BC’s model. These requirements 
require additional resources from People & Culture and Finance to support the Election 
team, and the financial impact has been reflected in the proposed budget. 
 
 



REPORT: 2026 General Local Election Planning Update 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 4 

Communications Plan 
Legislative Services staff, in collaboration with Communications and Engagement staff, 
have begun work on a draft 2026 General Local Election Communications Plan. The 
Plan identifies three key priorities for the next local election: Youth Engagement, 
Increasing Accessibility, and Civic Awareness.  
 
The Public Participation Goal is to provide eligible voters within the City of North 
Vancouver balanced and objective information to assist them in understanding the 
democratic voting process and the candidates running for elected office, and to 
encourage eligible voters to cast their vote on General Election Day. 
 
The Plan will utilize a variety of tactics to reach the eligible voters in the City. The 
proposed Communications and Engagement budget for 2026 will cover a variety of 
enhanced and new tactics, which may include an addressed information bulletin 
(mailout), collaboration with non-partisan community groups promoting youth voting, 
short engaging civic education videos that can be shared on social media platforms, 
and enhanced use of the civic sites to increase civic awareness. 
 
Staff will evaluate the plans to assess and measure the community reach, where 
possible.  
 
Delegated Authority 
The Local Government Act, Community Charter and Local Elections Campaign 
Financing Act provide the legislative framework for municipal elections. The legislation 
outlines that the Chief Election Officer is responsible for many different aspects of the 
elections process including, but not limited to: 
 

• receiving candidate nomination documents; 
• declaring the candidates running for office; 
• setting up voting opportunities for qualified electors; 
• preparing ballots; 
• counting votes on general voting day and determining the election results; 
• recruiting, hiring and supervising election workers; and 
• upholding the City’s elections bylaw, including the Election Sign Bylaw. 

 
Municipal councils are responsible for appointing a Chief Election Officer and a Deputy 
Chief Election Officer through a resolution. An appointment report is currently being 
drafted for Council’s consideration and will be brought forward in this quarter. Municipal 
councils are also responsible for adopting election bylaws to govern the local process, 
under the framework of the Provincial Legislation.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The 2026-2030 Financial Plan is being prepared to provide sufficient funding to hold the 
2026 General Local Election, for Council’s consideration. 
 
 
 



REPORT: 2026 General Local Election Planning Update 
Date: October 15, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 4 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Planning for the General Local Election requires the collaboration of Legislative 
Services with Communications and Engagement, Information Technology, People and 
Culture, Finance, and Bylaw Services. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
This report supports Council’s strategic priorities of being a City for People and a 
Vibrant City by providing civic awareness, education and engagement opportunities for 
people to participate through voting and the governance of their community. 
 
 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 Amelia Cifarelli 
Director, Legislative Services and Corporate Officer 

 


	1 Agenda
	Proclamations
	Veterans' Week
	Indigenous Veterans' Day

	2 Minutes - Oct 20 2025�
	3 Minutes - Oct 27 2025�
	4 Bylaw 9126�
	5 Bylaw 9142�
	6 Advisory Committee ToR Updates�
	6-1 ADP ToR�
	6-2 APC ToR�
	6-3 CSAC ToR�
	6-4 HAC ToR�
	6-5 ITC ToR�
	6-6 SPAC ToR�

	Finance Committee Meeting�
	7 Draft 2026-2030 Financial Plan�
	7-1 Operating Budget�
	7-2 CAPP Budget
	7-3 Shipyards Budget
	7-4 Cemetery Budget
	7-5 Draft Capital Plan

	8 2025-2029 Revised Financial Plan�
	8-1 2025-2029 Revised Capital Plan�

	9 Bylaw 9145�
	10 Central Lonsdale BIA
	10-1 Map�
	10-2 Petition Letter
	10-3 Financial Statements�
	10-4 BIA Brochure�
	10-5 Bylaw 9138�
	Letter from LCBIA Society

	11 1540 St Georges Ave & 215-235 E 16th St
	11-1 Map
	11-2 Architectural Plans
	11-3 Landscape Plans
	11-4 Engagement Summary
	11-5 Town Hall Report
	11-6 ADP Resolution
	11-7 APC Resolution
	11-8 ITC Resolution
	11-9 Zoning Variances
	11-10 Tenant Relocation Plan

	12 Bylaw 9131�
	13 Bylaw 9132�
	14 Bylaw 9133�
	15 2026 General Local Election Planning Update�



